# New biomarkers in patients with chronic kidney disease, after kidney transplantation, in kidney donors and in acute myocardial infarction

Inga Strand Thorsen

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) University of Bergen, Norway 2024



UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN

# New biomarkers in patients with chronic kidney disease, after kidney transplantation, in kidney donors and in acute myocardial infarction

Inga Strand Thorsen



Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

Date of defense: 12.01.2024

© Copyright Inga Strand Thorsen

The material in this publication is covered by the provisions of the Copyright Act.

Year:	2024
Title:	New biomarkers in patients with chronic kidney disease, after kidney transplantation, in kidney donors and in acute myocardial infarction
Name:	Inga Strand Thorsen
Print:	Skipnes Kommunikasjon / University of Bergen

## Scientific environment

This work is part of the Internal Medicine Research Group at Stavanger University Hospital. The project startet in 2013 when the first patients were included at the outpatient clinic. The work for this thesis has been done at the nephrology department at Stavanger University Hospital.

Main supervisor Professor Lasse G Gøransson, Stavanger University Hospital and University of Bergen. Cosupervisor was Inger Hjørdis Bleskestad, Stavanger University Hospital.

We collaborated with Øyvind Skadberg, Grete Jonsson and Cato Brede at department of Clinical Biochemistry, Stavanger University Hospital, Stein Ørn and Cord Manhenke at department of Cardiology, Stavanger University Hospital. Anders Åsberg in the Norwegian Renal Registry and Oslo University Hospital, Anders Hartmann, Anna Reisæter, Thor Ueland, Pål Aukrust and Kristian Heldal at Oslo University Hospital.

As a PhD candidate, I have been affiliated with the Department of Clinical Medicine, Medical Faculty, University of Bergen. I received funding as a doctoral research fellow from the Western Norway Regional Health Authority (Helse Vest).

Laboratory analysis have been performed with the help of grants from the Norwegian Society of Nephrology (Nyreforeningen) and the Norwegian association for patients with chronic kidney disease, "Landsforeningen for nyresyke og nyretransplanterte", Stavanger University Hospital and Helse Vest.





### Acknowledgements

I would like to take the opportunity to express my gratitude to everyone who has contributed to this Phd project. I would not have been able to complete this thesis on my own.

To my main supervisor, Lasse Gøransson. I don't't know if this is the official version, but you headhunted me to the nephrology department in the end of 2012 when you called and encouraged me to claim an interest in research as a "ticket" to get that first job. It took a while to get funding, but you never lost faith. You have met my neverending questions with understanding and support. Your ability to find a positive spin to in all obstacles and negative p-values is remarkable. I doubt you expected it to take this long, I certainly did not. You are surprisingly efficient with the red marker, and my work would not be the same without your input, from "less words" to "more words", until today. You have been supportive through my pregnancies, Covid-19 and other delays. This could not have been completed without you.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor Inger Bleskestad for your support and input. And in department for biochemistry Øyvind Skadberg, Grete Jonsson and Cato Brede have been incredibly helpful with all of my questions, laboratory analysis and blood sampling. And Grete, who knew that ordering kits fram Japan using Libra could take months and moths?

Thank you to Stein Ørn who contributed with blood samples and input from the KOMPIS study to article 3 in the thesis.

The nephrology department at Rikshospitalet have been very helpful. Anders Åsberg in particular, you have answered all my questions rapidly, and you have checked and triple checked data from the Norwegian Renal Registry when I have questioned them. Anders Hartmann, you welcomed me when I came to Rikshospitalet to access the files of 5 years of transplant recipients. You gave me full access to the files (plakatene), and you trusted me to use your office and your computer, and you also included me in your work that week. Thanks to Anna Reisæter for your help with the biopsy results in study 2. And Kristian Heldal, thank you for your valuable input on article 4.

Thanks are also warranted to Thor Ueland and Pål Aukrust for your help, to Geir Egil Eide (UiB) for statistical advice, and to Ole Jakob Greve for your input on cardiac MRI.

Thank you Erna Harboe for giving me the support to finish this thesis while gaining my specialities in internal medicine and nephrology.

All of my collegues at the department of nephrology, you've given me room to finish this thesis while doing the clinical work that I like so much. I feel challenged and safe at the same time, and I love my job. Having your company kept me sane through this (sometimes) lonely phd-process, and you allowed me to socialize whenever I needed it. Even through Covid we were our own cohort, and again, I am sorry about that first quaranteen. And to all the girls, Hong, you are my fellow potato. Being around you is always entertaining and challenging. Eva, Kari, Helle and Kari, I thoroughly enjoy our female takeover of the kidney department. When I first started I was all alone with the men, but I am certain that we bring fun and social interactions to a new level. Bjørg, thank you for your help with the blood samples for study 1 and cakes, so many cakes. Øyunn, your presence at Forskertua the first few years were such a joy! I missed you towards the end!

Mum and Dad, your support and encouragement has been and still is important. I think my Dad is the only one who continuously through these years have asked me how the research was going. Jarle, I wouldn't get through day to day life without your love and support. You keep me grounded and remind me to take breaks and enjoy life! Espen (12), Mari (9) and Ola (5). My team, my (welcome) distractions, and my most important people, thank you for reminding me what life is all about. Nothing will ever be more important than you!

Stavanger, 2023

Inga Strand Thorsen

# Abbreviations and definitions

ANOVA	analyses of variance
AUC	area under the curve
AKI	acute kidney injury
BMI	body mass index
CaSR	calcium sensing receptor
CITP	c-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CKD-EPI	chronic kidney disease epidemiology collaboration
CKD-MBD	chronic kidney disease-mineral bone disorder
CMR	cardiac magnetic resonnans
CNI	calcineurin inhibitor
CTGF	connective tissue growth factor
CV	cardiovascular
CVD	cardiovascular disease
СуА	cyclosporine
DEXA	dual x-ray absorptiometry
DGF	delayed graft function
DOCA	mineralcorticoid deoxycorticosterone acetate
DMP1	osteocyte protein dentin matrix protein 1
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
EIA	enzyme immunoassay
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ESRD	end stage renal disease
FePO <sub>4</sub>	fractional excretion of phosphate
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FGF23	fibroblast growth factor 23
FGFR	fibroblast growth factor receptor
GBCA	gadolinium-based contrast agent
GFR	glomerular filtration rate

HD	hemodialysis
iFGF23	intact fibroblast growth factor 23
iPTH	intact parathyroid hormone
KDIGO	kidney disease improving global outcome
LV	left ventricular
LVH	left ventricular hypertrophy
LVEDVI	left ventricular end diastolic volume index
LVESVI	left ventricular end systolic volume index
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MBD	mineral bone disorder
MDRD	modification of diet in renal disease
MGP	matrix gla protein
MMF	mycophenolatmofetil
MR	mineralcorticoid receptor
MRA	mineralcorticoid receptor antagonist
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T cells
NGAL	neutrophil gelatinase associated lipocalcin
NO	nitric oxide
NRR	Norwegian Renal Registry
NSF	nephrogenic systemic fibrosis
OUS	Oslo University Hospital
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
PD	peritoneal dialysis
PINP	amino terminal propeptide of type I procollagen
PIIINP	amino terminal propeptide of type III procollagen
PLCr	phospholipase C-gamma
РТН	parathyroid hormone
PWV	pulse wave velocity
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

RCT	randomized controlled trial
RH	Rikshospitalet
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SD	standard deviation
sKlotho	soluble Klotho
SGLT2	Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction
SUS	Stavanger University Hospital
T <sub>50</sub>	Calcification propensity score
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
UACR	urine albumin to creatinine ratio
UPCR	urine protein to creatinine ratio
VDR	vitamin D receptor
VSMCs	vascular smooth mussle cells
25(OH)D	25 hydroxy-vitamin D
1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D	1,25 dihydroxy-vitamin D

### Abstract

#### Background

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) affects many people, and the incidence and prevalence is increasing worldwide. Patients with kidney disease have increased mortality and morbidity, and cardiovascular disease is the main reason for the increased risk of death and disability, with both accelerated arteriosclerosis and heart failure. Chronic kidney disease leads to disturbed mineral metabolism, reduced bone density and calcification of vessels and soft tissue.

Patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) need renal replacement therapy (RRT). RRT means dialysis or kidney transplantation. If the patients are old and frail, a conservative approach is an alternative. Dialysis is given as either hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis. Kidney transplantation is the form of RRT with best survival and quality of life. After transplantation the patients need immunosuppression for the rest of their lives, and they have increased risk of infections, cancer and cardiovascular disease (CVD) when comparing with the general population. Some patients with ESRD do not meet the requirements of kidney recipients due to comorbidities, high body mass index or other factors, these patients receive dialysis for many years. The waiting list for kidney transplantation is increasing, and living kidney donors is necessary to keep the waiting list stable. A living donor must undergo a medically unnecessary procedure, and donor safety is a concern in the short and in the long term. A potential donor undergo a thorough screening, and any known risk factor for kidney or cardiovascular disease leads to rejection of the donor. Earlier studies claimed that kidney donors did not have increased risk of kidney disease or death when comparing with the general population. Newer studies matching donors with equally healthy controls suggest increased long-term morbidity and mortality.

#### Objectives

Kidney function is a term that describes the kidney's ability to filter urine. Nephrologists use creatinine and glomerular filtration rate (GFR), as well as albuminuria to assess kidney function in everyday practice. The standardized tests are inaccurate, and new, improved methods to assess and predict outcome in patients with kidney disease would be welcome. In this thesis, we have explored several new biomarkers in different patient-categories with an aim to increase the knowledge about these biomarkers in different settings. The included biomarkers in this thesis are neutrophil gelatinase associated lipocalcin (NGAL), soluble Klotho (sKlotho), intact fibroblast growth factor 23 (iFGF23), intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), 25-hydroxy-vitamin D (25(OH)D) and collagen markers.

#### Methods

Study 1 was a cross-sectional observational single-center study that included patients with CKD stages 3-5, long-term kidney donors and healthy controls with an aim to establish the levels of NGAL, sKlotho, iFGF23 and vitamin D in these groups. Study 2 was a national prospective, observational cohort study of all first-time kidney transplant recipient in Norway from October 2007 to October 2012 that explored the association between vitamin D status 10 weeks post kidney transplantation and long-term graft- and patient survival. Study 3 was a single center observational study including patient with a first-time myocardial ST-elevation infarction investigating the time-dependent changes in iFGF23 levels and infarct size, left ventricular (LV) remodeling and systemic biomarkers of inflammation and collagen turnover following acute MI. Study 4 was a national, prospective observational cohort study that included 132 kidney transplant recipients from November 2012 to October 2013, exploring the relationship between vitamin D, sKlotho and iFGF23 measured 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant, and long-term graft- and patient survival.

#### Results

Study 1 showed increased levels of NGAL in kidney donors compared with healthy controls, which may reflect renal hyperfiltration or the reduced kidney function seen after kidney donation. iFGF23 and sKlotho did not significantly differ between donors and controls. As expected, in the patients with CKD, iFGF23 levels increased,

sKlotho levels decreased and NGAL levels increased when estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) declined.

In study 2, we found that vitamin D sufficiency 10 weeks post-transplant was associated with better graft and overall patient survival, better kidney graft function, and significantly less interstitial fibrosis in the kidney grafts, compared with patients with vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency. Furthermore, the association between vitamin D levels and all outcomes persisted in adjusted analysis with predetermined conventional risk markers.

In study 3, we found that iFGF23 levels were significantly decreased prior to, and at 2 days following revascularization in subjects with a first-time MI. iFGF23 levels normalized on day 7 in patients without heart failure. There was a gradual increase in iFGF23 levels, above normal, during one-year follow-up in patients with signs and/or symptoms of heart failure during the acute phase of the MI.

In study 4 we found that patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) at 8 weeks post-transplant showed reduced graft- and patient survival compared with the patients having higher vitamin D levels in the early post-transplant phase. sKlotho levels increased and iFGF23 levels decreased from 8 weeks to 1 year post transplant. sKlotho and iFGF23 levels did not influence graft- and patient survival.

#### Conclusion

In patients with CKD, biomarkers can help us estimate the risk of CKD progression, assess cardiovascular risk and determine metabolic abnormalities. The pathophysiology in CKD is complex, and involves many processes during its progression. A single biomarker is probably insufficient to meet all of those expectations, but maybe a panel of biomarkers could be useful in the future. Improved understanding in all aspects of CKD development and CVD risk is likely to enable the development of novel therapeutic interventions capable of reducing the risks associated with CKD, and to optimize the treatment for the individual patient.

### Sammendrag

Nye markører på nyreskade hos nyretransplanterte, nyre donorer, hos pasienter med nyresvikt og hos pasienter med akutt hjerteinfarkt

#### Bakgrunn

Kronisk nyresvikt affiserer mange mennesker. Både insidens og prevalens øker i hele verden. Pasienter med nyresykdom har økt sykelighet og dødelighet, og hjerte- kar sykdom er hovedårsaken til dette, med både økt arteriosklerose og hjertesvikt. Kronisk nyresvikt fører til endret mineralmetabolisme, redusert beintetthet og kalsifisering av kar og bløtvev.

Pasienter med ende-stadium nyresvikt trenger nyreerstattende behandling. Nyreerstattende behandling betyr dialyse eller nyretransplantasjon. Hos gamle og skrøpelige kan man velge en konservativ tilnærming. Dialyse gjennomføres enten som hemodialyse eller peritoneal dialyse. Nyretransplantasjon er den formen for nyreerstattende behandling med best overlevelse og livskvalitet. Etter transplantasjon, må pasientene stå på immundempende medisiner resten av livet, og de har økt risiko for infeksjoner, kreft og hjerte- kar sykdom sammenlignet med resten av befolkningen. Noen pasienter med ESRD kan ikke transplanteres som følge av komorbiditet som for eksempel høy body mass index, aktiv kreftsykdom eller alvorlig hjerte- og karsykdom. Ventelisten for nyretransplantasjon øker, og levende nyredonorer er nødvendig for å holde ventelisten stabil. En levende giver må gjennom et kirurgisk inngrep som ikke er medisinsk nødvendig, og donorens potensielle risiko er viktig både på kort og lang sikt. En potensiell donor går gjennom en grundig screening. Dersom man avdekker risiko for hjerte- kar sykdom eller nyresvikt blir donoren avslått. Tidligere studier fant at nyredonorer ikke hadde økt risiko for nyresykdom eller død når man sammenlignet med den generelle befolkningen. I nyere studier hvor man sammenligner donorer med en like frisk kontrollgruppe, ser man en økt risiko for hypertensjon, nyresvikt og noe redusert levetid etter lengre oppfølgingstid.

#### Mål

Nyrefunksjon er nyrens evne til å filtrere urin. Nefrologer bruker kreatinin, GFR og albuminuri til oppfølging av pasienter med nyresvikt i vanlig klinisk praksis. Disse metodene er unøyaktige og nye, bedre metoder til evaluering av nyrefunksjon og til å forutse sykdomsprogresjon hadde vært nyttig. I denne avhandlingen har vi sett på flere nye biomarkører i ulike pasient grupper for å øke kunnskapen om disse biomarkørene i ulike sammenhenger. Biomarkørene som er inkludert i avhandlingen er NGAL, sKlotho, iFGF23, iPTH, 25(OH)D og kollagen markører.

#### Metode

Studie 1 var en enkelt-senter, tverrsnitts observasjonsstudie som inkluderte pasienter med nyresvikt i stadium 3-5, nyredonorer som hadde donert nyre for >5 år siden samt friske kontroller. Målsetningen var å fastsette nivåene til biomarkørene NGAL, sKlotho, iFGF23 og vitamin D i disse ulike gruppene. Studie 2 var en prospektiv, kohort observasjonsstudie som inkluderte alle førstegangs nyretransplanterte i Norge fra oktober 2007 til oktober 2012. Studien undersøkte sammenhengen mellom D vitamin målt 10 uker etter transplantasjonen og langtids nyre- og pasient overlevelse. Studie 3 var en enkelt-senter observasjonsstudie som inkluderte pasienter med førstegangs ST-elevasjons hjerteinfarkt. Studien så på utviklingen av iFGF23 og infarktstørrelse, venstre ventrikkel remodellering og systemiske inflammasjons- og kollagen markører gjentatte ganger i løpet av det første året etter hjerteinfarktet. Studie 4 var en nasjonal, prospektiv observasjonsstudie som inkluderte 132 nyretransplanterte i perioden november 2012 til oktober 2013. Målet var å kartlegge sammenhenger mellom vitamin D, sKlotho og iFGF23 målt 8 uker og 1 år etter transplantasjon, med langtids nyre- og pasientoverlevelse.

#### Resultat

Studie 1 viste økt NGAL nivå hos nyredonorer sammenlignet med friske kontroller. Dette skyldes hyperfiltrasjonen etter nefrektomi, men det kan også ha sammenheng med redusert nyrefunksjon. Konsentrasjonen av iFGF23 og sKlotho var lik hos donorer og kontroller. Hos pasientene med nyresvikt økte iFGF23 og NGAL mens sKlotho falt etter hvert som nyresvikten økte.

I studie 2 fant vi en sammenheng mellom normal vitamin D 10 uker etter nyretransplantasjon og bedre nyre- og total overlevelse, bedre nyrefunksjon og mindre fibrose i nyrebiopsi tatt etter 1 år, sammenlignet med de transplanterte med vitamin D mangel eller utilstrekkelig vitamin D nivå. Assosiasjonene mellom vitamin D nivå og overlevelse vedvarte etter korrigering for kjente risikofaktorer.

I studie 3 fant vi redusert iFGF23 nivå i forkant av og 2 dager etter revaskularisering hos pasienter med akutt hjerteinfarkt. iFGF23 nivået ble normalisert etter 7 dager hos pasientene som ikke utviklet post-infarkt hjertesvikt. iFGF23 steg til over normalen i året som fulgte i pasientgruppen med tegn til hjertesvikt.

I studie 4 fant vi at pasientene med vitamin D mangel hadde signifikant dårligere både nyre- og total overlevelse sammenlignet med de andre 2 gruppene 8 uker etter transplantasjon. iFGF23 nivå falt signifikant mens sKlotho nivå økte signifikant fra 8 uker til 1 år etter transplantasjon. iFGF23 og sKlotho nivåene var ikke signifikant assosiert med langtids nyre- og total overlevelse.

#### Konklusjon

Hos pasienter med kronisk nyresvikt kan biomarkører hjelpe oss til å vurdere risiko for progresjon av nyresvikten, kardiovaskulær risiko og metabolske forstyrrelser. Patofysiologien ved kronisk nyresvikt er kompleks, og involverer mange prosesser etterhvert som nyresvikten progredierer. Bruk av en enkelt biomarkør er sannsynligvis utilstrekkelig, men i framtiden kan man tenke seg bruk av et panel med biomarkører. Forbedret forståelse av alle aspekter innenfor utviklingen av kronisk nyresvikt og utvikling av hjerte- og kar sykdom vil hjelpe til i prosessen med å utvikle nye terapeutiske strategier for å redusere risikoen for progresjon og bedre prognosen for sykelighet og dødelighet assosiert med kronisk nyresvikt. Dette vil kunne bidra til optimalisering av den enkeltes behandling.

### List of Publications

- Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Jonsson G, Skadberg Ø, Gøransson LG. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Fibroblast Growth Factor 23, and Soluble Klotho in Long-Term Kidney donors. Nephron Extra. 2016 Oct 12;6(3): 31-39. PMID: 27920796
- 2 Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Åsberg A, Hartmann A, Skadberg Ø, Brede C, Ueland T, Pasch A, Reisaeter AV, Gøransson LG. Vitamin D as a risk factor for patient survival after kidney transplantation: A prospective observational cohort study. Clin Transplant. 2019 May;33(5)e13517 PMID: 30844090
- 3 Thorsen IS, Gøransson LG, Ueland T, Aukrust P, Manhenke CA, Skadberg Ø, Jonsson G, Ørn S. The relationship between Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and cardiac MRI findings following primary PCI in patients with acute first time STEMI. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc. 2021 Feb 19;33:100727 PMID: 33665349
- 4 Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Åsberg A, Jonsson G, Skadberg Ø, Heldal K, Gøransson LG. Klotho and Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 are independent of vitamin D, and not associated witk graft- and patient survival after kidney transplantation. Transplantation Direct, accepted July 2023, in process of being published.

The published papers are reprinted with permission from Karger, Wiley, Elsevier and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. All rights reserved.

# Contents

Scientific environment	
Acknowledgements4	
Abbreviations	
Abstract9	
Sammendrag12	
List of publications15	
Contents16	
Introduction	
Background18	
Chronic kidney disease (CKD)19	
Renal replacement therapy (RRT)25	
Kidney transplantation	
Living kidney donors	
Patient survival in RRT	
Methods to evaluate kidney disease	
Biomarkers	
Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalcin (NGAL)	
Klotho40	
Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23)41	
Parathyroid hormone (PTH)46	
Vitamin D	
Phosphate	
Collagen markers	
Chronic kidney disease- mineral bone disorder	
Renal osteodystrophy	
Mineral metabolism after kidney transplantation	
Mineral metabolism after kidney donation	)
Cardiovascular disease (CVD)	
CVD in CKD	L
Methods to evaluate CVD in CKD73	
Aims and objectives	;
Overview over studies I-IV79	)
Materials and methods	
Patient population and study design	0
Materials	5
Statistical methods	1
Ethical considerations	4
Summary of results	
Paper I95	;
Paper II	5
Paper III	8
Paper IV10	1
Discussion	
Discussion of the methods104	4

D'auradaan	104
Biomarkers	104
Seasonal variation in vitamin D levels	109
Discussion of the results	
Kidney donation	111
Vitamin D and kidney transplant recipients	114
FGF23 and acute myocardial infarction	120
Clinical implications/Prognostic value	123
Phosphate binders	
Vitamin D	125
РТН	125
Old strategies to influence Klotho and FGF23	
New ways to target FGF23 and Klotho	126
Calcification inhibitors	
Strenghts and limitations	131
Conclusion and future prospects	133
References	
Paper 1-4	173

### 1. Introduction

#### Background

CKD is common, and in Norway the prevalence is 10.2% according to data from the second Health Study of Nord-Trondelag (HUNT II) (1). The same prevalence has been reported from the US (2) and the prevalence is increasing all over the world (3, 4).

In Norway, the main causes of ESRD are hypertensive nephropathy, diabetic nephropathy and glomerulonephritis, in this order (5). In the US, the main cause of ESRD is diabetic nephropathy, with hypertensive nepropathy in second place (6). Glomerulonephritis and "unknown" are more common causes for CKD in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa (7), these differences are related to the burden of disease moving from infections to lifestyle-related diseases and higher life expectancy in developed countries (8). In Norway, a cross-sectional study 10 years apart (HUNT 2 and HUNT 3) found a stable CKD prevalence at the two different time-points (11.3% vs 11.2%). They found a decrease in blood pressure, more physical activity and lower cholesterol levels the second time, most likely due to improved treatment strategies. In contrast, the prevalence of diabetes and obesity increased moderately with time (9).

Regardless of the cause, CKD is characterized by progressive destruction of renal parenchyma and loss of functional nephrons, which may ultimately lead to ESRD (10). In 1990, CKD was the 27<sup>th</sup> leading cause of death, rising up to 18<sup>th</sup> place in 2010 (7). Globally, CKD is one of the leading causes of death and disability (11). Cardiovascular (CV) mortality is 10 to 30 times higher in individuals with ESRD than in the general population when matched for age, sex and ethnicity (12, 13), and death seems to be a far more likely outcome than progression to ESRD in all stages of CKD. A 25-34 year old patient with ESRD has a 500-1000 times increased mortality when comparing to a healthy 25-34 year old, corresponding to an 85 year old in the general population (14). The high death rates in CKD patients might reflect accelerated atherosclerosis and heart failure (15).

#### Chronic kidney disease

CKD is defined as abnormalities of kidney structure or function, present for  $\geq$ 3 months, with implications for health. A CKD diagnosis requires one of two criteria documented for  $\geq$ 3 months: either eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> or markers of kidney damage, including albuminuria.

In 2002, a working group founded by the American National Kidney Foundation issued treatment guidelines where CKD was defined from stage 1 to 5, they also introduced a new system for stageing kidney disease, which has been widely adopted (16):

Stage	eGFR (/ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	Description
1	≥90	Kidney damage with normal or $\uparrow$ eGFR
2	60-89	Kidney damage with mildly $\downarrow$ eGFR
3a	45-59	Mildly to moderately $\downarrow$ eGFR
3b	30-44	Moderately to severely $\downarrow$ eGFR
4	15-29	Severely $\downarrow$ eGFR
5	<15 (or dialysis)	Kidney failure

For near-normal kidney function, additional signs of kidney damage are required, and findings should be present for more than 3 months. Kidney damage is defined as pathological abnormalities or markers of damage, including abnormalities in blood, urine tests or imaging studies, and could alse be summarized in a shorter version (16):

eGFR (ml/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	≥90	60-89	30-59	15-29	<15
Normal to mildly	No CKD	No CKD	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
increased albuminuria					
Moderately to severely	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	Stage 5
increased albuminuria					

Previously, there had been no commonly accepted definition of CKD, thus this new classification represented a paradigm shift in nephrology, shifting the focus from end-stage to less advanced disease, enabling more prevention (17).

The CKD-guidelines were updated in 2012, and they were adapted by Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcome (KDIGO) which are international kidney disease quality guidelines. The definition of CKD was not changed, but a classification of CKD was added to the guidelines. CKD is classified based on cause, eGFR category, and albuminuria category, with the inclusion of albuminuria being the biggest change (18). The 2012 KDIGO guidelines a model including eGFR categories, albuminuria categories and prognosis/ risk prediction in a red-orange-yellow-green "traffic light" color scheme was presented. This model is used in clinical practice today, figure 1.



Green: low risk (if no other markers of kidney disease, no CKD); yellow: moderately increased risk; orange: high risk; red: very high risk.

**Figure 1.** Traffic light model showing the prognosis of CKD based on eGFR and albuminuria category. *Reprinted with permission from Elsevier/ International Society of Nephrology (2).* 

Ageing is an unavoidable process of life, and the kidneys are also affected by this process. Renal mass decreases between 30 and 80 years of age, with the steepest decline after 50 years (19, 20). With longer life expectancy, the proportion of people over 60 years is increasing much faster than any other age group. This may influence the epidemiology of nephrology (20). In a large study on patients CKD stages 3-5, the incidence of both ESRD and death was inversely related to eGFR among patients of all ages. However, the relative frequency of these outcomes in patients with similar eGFR, varied considerably by age, where the older patients were more likely to die than to develop ESRD, and the younger patients were more likely to develop ESRD than to die (21).

Recently, it has been suggested that using the same levels of eGFR to define CKD in all patients, may classify many older people as having a disease, exposing them to

various investigations and hospital appointments, when the reality is that they have a normal, physiological age-related eGFR decline (22, 23). This trend is clearly demonstrated in figure 2, showing a clear reduction in eGFR with increasing age. All eGFR measurements done at the lab of biochemistry in Stavanger University Hospital (SUS) in 2018 are shown. Each person is included only once, and 108 993 individuals are included. Each person's highest eGFR is shown. The horizontal lines show the accepted CKD stages.



**Figure 2.** The relationship between eGFR and age. *The figure is made by Øyvind Skadberg, and is printed with his permission.* 

It the future, the CKD definition may include age-specific tresholds for eGFR. This would reduce the CKD prevalence substantially. Perhaps, in younger people, an age-related threshold could lead to earlier identification of CKD (23).

A large recent population-based study in Tromsø, Norway, found that healthy middle-aged women had lower eGFR than healthy men indicating a sex difference in kidney function, where more healthy women had CKD stage 3a. However, the women had a slower eGFR decline over time (24). These sex differences and the age-

related GFR loss seen in healthy people have relevance in the discussion whether the CKD definition should be age- and sex adjusted (24).

The progression of established CKD is variable and depends on several risk factors. Non-modifiable factors are race, age, sex and genetics, and the rate of progression is often faster in males (25) and older individuals (26). Often we, as nephrologists, cannot predict if an individual with CKD will progress slowly or rapidly. We focus on optimizing modifiable risk factors. The most modifiable risk factors are hypertension (27) and glycaemic control in patients with diabetic nephropathy (28). Proteinuria/ albuminuria is a reliable marker of disease severity and a strong predictor of CKD progression, (29-31), figure 3. The association between albuminuria and progression of CKD is independent of the underlying cause of CKD (32).



**Figure 3.** Hazard ratio with 95% confidence interval for ESRD associated with urine albumin excretion. *Reprinted with permission from JASN/ Clinical Epidemiology* (31).

Nephrologists focus on renoprotection in patients with CKD. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) suggest that renin-angiotensine II-aldosterone blockers in the form of ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers may slow CKD progression, and their effects include reduction in proteinuria (33, 34). ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers are well-established in the standardized care of CKD patients.

Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are a relatively new class of antidiabetic drugs that lower glucose levels by preventing glucose reabsorption in proximal tubules in the kidneys. This leads to a reduction in blood glucose levels, and and increased glucose excretion in the urine (35). Many studies have shown that SGLT2 inhibitors are beneficial in diabetic kidney disease, to prevent the progression of CKD (36, 37). SGLT2-inhibitors have an additional effect of weight loss which is very beneficial for most patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (38). SGLT2 inhibitors also lower blood pressure, reduce albuminuria and have beneficial cardio-protective effects (39, 40). SGLT2 inhibitors are effective in the treatment of patients with heart failure, and the use have been widely implemented by cardiologists worldwide, and SGLT2 inhibitors are included in the international AHA/ACC/HFSA Heart Failure guidelines from 2022 (41, 42). The mechanisms behind the beneficial effects of SGLT2 inhibitors are complex and still emerging, but clinical trials are focused on evaluating renoprotective effects of SGLT2 inhibitors in nondiabetic CKD patients. The antidiabetic effect of SGLT2 inhibitors decreases as eGFR declines, and in trials SGLT2 inhibitors were not indicated in diabetic patients with eGFR <45 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. However, accumulating evidence indicate that the nephron-protective and cardio-protective effects remain even at lower eGFRs, even though the antidiabetic effects are limited. The indications for SGLT2 inhibitors are broadening, and results from recent trials show the same effects in non-diabetic CKD patients with reduced CKD progression, reduced albuminuria and reduced risk of CVD death (43-46). In October 2022 refund for CKD patients without diabetes was approved in Norway, and prescription-rates are increasing.

Recent studies have shown that the novel nonsteroidal mineralcorticoid receptor antagonist (MRA), Finerenone, reduce the aldosterone-mediated proinflamatory effects that are involved in fibrotic remodeling processes, and has the potential to slow progression of CKD (47). In the FIDELIO-DKD trial patients with diabetes kidney disese who were treated with finerenone had a lower risk of CKD progression and death from renal causes than the patients included in the placebo arm. The finerenone patients also had lower risk of death, CV events, cerebral events and hospitalization for heart failure. Albuminuria was also reduced in the finerenone group (48). In the FIGARO trial patients with earlier stages of CKD were included. Finerenone reduced risk of death, CV events, cerebral events and hospitalization for heart failure. Albuminuria was also reduced in the finerenone group (48). In the FIGARO trial patients with earlier stages of CKD were included. Finerenone reduced risk of death, CV events, cerebral events and hospitalization for heart failure (49). Finerenone has just been approved for use in Norway in patients with CKD stages 3 and 4 as well as diabetes mellitus type 2, but there is no refund yet. If Finerenone will be added to the renoprotective regime of most CKD patients in the future is yet to be determined, but Finerenone was included in the KDIGO guidelines for patients with diabetes and CKD in 2022 (50). Additional new drugclasses are expected to follow, and the field of renoprotection will most likely expand in the years to come.

#### **Renal replacement therapy**

Patients with CKD stage 5 who progress to ESRD have to choose between RRT and conservative treatment. RRT consists of kidney transplantation or dialysis. Kidney transplantation is the treatment of choice for patients with ESRD, with lower morbidity and mortality compared with patients remaining in dialysis (51-53), but transplantation is not an option for all patients with ESRD.

Patients in dialysis are treated either with hemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD). HD is usually a hospital based dialysis treatment, where patients come to the hospital 3 times a week for 4-5 hours. A few patients administer HD at home, with regular appointments at the hospital. In HD, the patient's blood is filtered through an artificial kidney in a dialysis machine extracting excess water, waste products and electrolytes. HD-patients need an available acess point to the bloodstream via a permanent catheter, an AV fistula or an AV graft. PD, on the other hand, is done

daily, at home. The patients have a permanent peritoneal catheter operated into their abdomen, and infuse dialysis fluids into the abdominal space. The peritoneum functions as a filter, with an exchange of excess water, electrolytes and waste. The two forms of dialyses are equal in quality, and the choise of modality is based on several factors; patient wish, comorbidity, travelling time to the hospital, tradition of the nephrology department.

In Norway, there were 526 new patients in renal replacement therapy in 2021, 66.6 % were male and the median age was 67.3 years. 51 patients received a preemptive transplantation (before starting dialysis treatment). 155 started with PD and 321 started with HD (5). The number of new patients in RRT have been increasing since the 1980s, but are relatively stable from 2008-2021, with a slight decrease the last two years, figure 4.



New patients in RRT by year and treatment type

**Figure 4.** New patients in RRT, first treatment modality indicated by colour. *Reprinted with permission from The Norwegian Renal Registry (NRR) (5).* 

#### **Kidney transplantation**

Kidney transplantation has been a story of succes since the first successful transplantation in Boston, USA, in 1954 between two monozygotic twins. In Norway, the first transplantation was performed only two years later. Immunosuppression included steroids and total body irradiation, and the patient lived for 30 days. The first transplantation with a family kidney donor was performed in 1963, when a mother gave a kidney to her son. Azathioprine and steroids were used as immunosuppressive therapy, and the patient lived for 22 years with a functioning kidney graft. The donor (his mother) died when she was 92 years old (54).

Later in the 1960s, polyclonal anti-lymphocyte antibody preparations were used to prevent graft rejection (55). The development of immunosuppressive agents was crucial for organ transplantation to become a successful option for patients with end-stage organ diseases (56). Over time, a variety of agents that block different steps in the body's natural immune response have been incorporated into the practice of organ transplantation. But all immunosuppression agents pose a significant risk of opportunistic infections, neoplasias and other complications (56). Improvements in immunosuppressive treatment and infection control are the main causes of the reduction of short-term complications post-transplant (57).

In 1983, cyclosporine A (CyA) revolutionized the immunospressive treatment in kidney transplant recipients. The immunosuppressive effects of CyA was discovered in 1972 in Switzerland after a swiss microbiologist discovered a new fungus (Tolypocladium inflatum) when he was on vacation on Hardangervidda, in Norway, with his wife. He broght a sample back to his lab in Novartis (former Sandoz) in Basel, Switzerland for testing. The discovery was done during a screening program of fungus extracts (58). CyA showed superior immunosuppressive abilities with a selective action on T-lymphocytes, supressing antibody and cell-mediated immunity and chronic inflammation, without severe toxic or CV side effects (59).

Tacrolimus and CyA are both calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), and CNI-based regimes are the cornerstone of the maintenance immunosuppression in kidney transplant

recipients (60). Tacrolimus is a macrolide with immunosuppressive properties which inhibits the cellular and humoral immune response by various mechanisms, with a central effect on calcineurin inhibition. Tacrolimus was introduced in renal transplantation in the late 1990s, and a prolonged-release formula gives a more stable drug exposure (61). Evidence does exist that tacrolimus may be associated with better renal function than CyA (60), fewer acute rejection episodes and improved long-term graft survival (62). Tacroliumus is associated with lower lipid levels (63), and reduced need for antihypertensive and lipid-reducing drugs (62). On the other hand, tacrolimus has other side effects, such as increased incidence of diabetes mellitus, neurological and gastrointestinal side effects, therefore the choice of CNI should be individualized after considering the risks and benefits of each drug (64).

The antiproliferative agents used in kidney transplantation are azathioprine, mycophenolatmofetil (MMF) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors. They inhibit purin based synthesis required for T- and B-cell proliferation (56). The formerly used Azathioprin act by blocking all cells in mitosis, preventing rejection, but the drug comes with side effects on bonemarrow and cell linings in the gut causing anemias and diarrhea (59). With long-term use, the drug is consideres comutagenic, and there is a high risk of developing skin cancer (56). MMF is an inhibitor of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, which leads to a cytostatic effect on T and B cells and suppresses the formation of antibodies by B-cells (56). Side effects from MMF are mostly gastrointestinal, but some patients develop leukopenia (65). MMF was shown to be effective in preventing acute rejection when added to a CNI-based regime (60). Substituting azathioprine with MMF reduced the incidence of rejection from 35% to 16% respectively (66), and MMF is shown to be associated with longer graft survival than azathioprine (67). mTOR inhibitors are also antiproliferative drugs that inhibit the proliferation and differentiation of T and B cells and the production of antibodies, and the proliferation of non-immune cells such as fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells (68). mTOR inhibitors were approved in the late 1990s, and have been suggested as an alternative to CNI, because of CNI nephrotoxicity with longterm use. Unfortunately, mTOR inhibitors are not free of

side effects either, potentially causing anemia, thrombocytopenia, proteinuria, noninfectious pneumonitis, reduced wound healing and increased cholesterol, and data on long-term outcomes are conflicting (56, 69).

Induction treatment is used to provide intense immunosuppression in the early posttransplant period to prevent acute rejection (60). Induction treatment with monoclonal antibodies (basiliximab, daclizumab, alemtuzumab or anti-thymocyte globulin) has been shown helpful in preventing acute rejection episodes and reducing CNI dosages (69).

Steroids have anti-inflammatory, immunosuppressive and immune modulatory effects (56). Steroids bind to glucocorticoid receptors and inhibit the production of various pro- inflammatory cytokines (70). Steroids are used in the standard immunosuppression regimen, but concerns about side effects such as weight gain, diabetes, osteoporosis and hyperlipidemia have prompted increasing interest in steroid-free or low- dose steroid immunosuppression with a few trials indicating that with a potent combination of CNI and MMF, steroids could be withdrawn or the dose could be reduced in patients with a low immunological risk (69).

Belatacept is a fusion protein that binds to the CD80 and CD 86 molecule in antigen presenting cells and prevents their interaction with the CD28 molecule of Tlymphocytes, blocking co-stimulation (71). It is used to prevent acute cellular rejection, and an RCT showed similar patient and graft survival compared with a CyA based regime, with improved renal function (72). Belatacept is administered as an intravenous infusion every four weeks, for some patients this is preferable from an adherence perspective. But, the use of Belatacept is associated with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease in Epstein Barr negative recipients receiving an Epstein Barr positive kidney (73).

The standard immunosuppressive regimen in Norway, includes the use of basiliximab and methylprednisolone induction. The maintenance immunosuppression includes a CNI in combination with MMF and prednisolone. Initially, after being introduced, tacrolimus was the preferred CNI to patients under 50 years, and CyA to older patients, patients with high body mass index (BMI) or impaired glucose tolerance. From 2012, tacrolimus was the preferred CNI to all patients. mTOR og Belatacept is used instead of CNI in a few patients due to side effects and individual considerations.

Introduction of CyA significantly improved patient and graft survival (60). In the nineties early rejection episodes and graft loss were the major challenges in kidney transplant patients. With the use of newer immunosuppressive drugs, acute rejection episodes have been reduced from 50% to 20%. However, long-term graft survival has not improved similarly in the same time period (74, 75). Overall half-life of a kidney is around 15 years (76). Currently, the strategy for immunosuppression focuses on reducing adverse effects and improving renal function to prolong graft survival (60). Improvement of long-term graft survival is one of the major challenges in the field of kidney transplantation (77). Individually tailored immunosuppression regimes are considered a gold standard at the moment, with regimes fitted to the patients according to tolerance, side effects and compliance (69). Patients are not equal concerning the chances of rejection, risk of graft loss and occurrence of side-effects. Immunosuppressive strategies require a careful balance between too much and too little. With too much immunosuppression, the patients are at risk of infections, malignancies and nephrotoxicity, and with too little immunosuppression there is risk of rejection and graft loss (56).

In Norway, transplantation is offered to all patients considered to profit from it, if no contraindication in the form of severe comorbidity exists. There is no strict upper age limit, and patients over 80 years have been transplanted. In a 5-year follow-up study on Norwegian transplant recipients >70 years, there was no difference in graft survival when censored for death with functioning graft. Overall 5-year survival was lower in the older recipients, but this is as expected with higher age (78). We have one transplantation center in Norway, Oslo University Hospital (OUS), Rikshospitalet (RH). It is the largest solid organ transplant center in Europe.

The Norwegian Renal Registry (NRR) contains data reported annually since 1980 by all nephrology units in Norway on all patients receiving RRT. From 2018, all patients with CKD 5 were included in the annual reports. The NRR was formally constituted in 1994 as a collaboration between the Norwegian Renal Association and OUS, RH. Written informed consent is obtained from each individual patient before any information is sent to the registry. In 2012 the registry acquired status as a national quality register for all patients receiving RRT. The reporting to NRR is closely monitored, and the coverage for individuals and annual data are >99.9% and 96-98%, respectively.

In 2021, 231 kidney transplantations were performed in Norway. 16% were retransplantations. Preemptive transplantation was performed in 26% of all first transplantations in 2021. The 144 non-preemptive, first transplant recipients had been in dialysis for a median of 2.05 years, ranging from 7 days to 11.4 years (5).



# Performed renal transplantations

Figure 5. Renal transplantations performed in Norway, donor type indicated by colour. *Reprinted with permission from the NRR (5)*.

#### Living kidney donors

The short- and long-term effects of a unilateral nephrectomy on living donors have been important issues for more than 60 years. A living donor must undergo a medically unnecessary procedure, and safety-concerns have always been important. In Norway, living donors have been used for decades, and have been instrumental for keeping the waiting list stable. At the end of 2021, 391 patients were on the waiting list for a deceased donor kidney transplantation. The list is increasing year by year, and in 2021 the median waiting time for a deceased donor transplantation was 18 months for a first transplant and 14 months for a retransplant. To keep the recipient waiting list as short as possible, to minimize time before transplantation, it is important to keep the numbers of living donor transplantations as high as possible (5).

Early studies claimed that kidney donors neither had increased risk of mortality or kidney failure compared with the general population. However, donors are selected from a group of very healthy individuals thoroughly screened for conditions such as hypertension, kidney disease and CVD. Kidney donors do not mirror the general population. Newer studies match donors with equally healthy controls. Some studies found increased long-term morbidity for kidney donors, with an addional risk of hypertension, metabolic derangements particularly involving calcium homeostasis, proteinuria and CKD-development (79-83), whereas other studies have not found increased risk of CVD and death when comparing kidney donors and matched controls (84-86). A recent Norwegian study with long-term follow-up and matched controls found increased risk of ischaemic heart disease in kidney donors (87). This leads us into a difficult ethical dilemma and may influence the selection process of living kidney donors.

If kidney donors have increased morbidity and mortality after donation, this must be addressed in consultations prior to kidney donation. Providing this information to a potential donor is complicated, and demands an individual approach and enough time. The information provided could benefit from standardization, and for many donors it would be beneficial to receive written information describing potential longterm risks after donation in addition to the information given by their evaluating physician (88). All potential donors in Norway receive a booklet called "Til deg som har blitt bedt om å gi en nyre" with updated and thorough information about kidney donation. The brochure has information about possible risks and complications, and is used in the consultations before the donation. Fortunately, the number of donors with complications, both short- and long term are very low. The potential donors are thoroughly screened for comorbidities and risk factors, and donation is only recommended to potential donors if they are healthy in the pre-donation screening,

and appear well-informed as well as motivated to take this possible risk. The donors are followed by the nephrology departments across the country on a regular basis post-transplant, with regular reporting to the NRR. The follow-up is regulated, and it is based on the declaration of Istanbul on organ trafficking and transplantation tourism, and it is described in a national guide from the Norwegian health directorate (89, 90).



Figure 6. Front page of the brochure Provided to all kidney donors in Norway. Printed with permission from nephron.no

#### Patient survival in RRT

Mortality is increased in patients with reduced kidney function, and CKD is a strong predictor of premature death (12, 14). The relative risk of death in patients with CKD stage 5 is six times higher than in the general population (91). The hazard ratio for death is much higher than what can be explained from traditional risk factors like diabetes, lipids and hypertension. A total of 577 patients with CKD 5 in Norway died during 2021, 79 had never started RRT, 312 were in dialysis and 140 transplanted. Dialysis treatment was terminated and followed by death in 46 patients. Median age of death was 75 years, ranging from 23 to 96 years. Infections and cardiac complications were the most frequent causes of death, followed by malignant tumors (5).

Observational studies in kidney transplant recipients have shown that the risk of death was 68% lower after a successful transplantation compared with those remaining in dialysis (53). But, life expectancy among kidney transplant recipients remain inferior to age-matched controls from the general population. In the nineties, a renal transplant patient of 30 years had approximately the same CV risk as a 70-year-old person in the general population (91). And, a female transplant recipient between 40 and 44 years have a projected lifespan that is over 10 years shorter than a 40-44 year old female from the general population (92). The reasons for this are many, but it is very important to explore and identify the mechanisms behind the increased mortality. CVD is the number one cause of death, the second is the development of malignant disease, and the third is death from infection (57).

In Norway, patient survival is best in patients receiving a preemptive kidney transplant, followed by transplant recipients in PD and then transplant recipients in HD. The differences in survival manifests shortly post-transplantion, and continues in long-term patient follow-up, figure 7.



**Figure 7.** Patient survival in RRT in Norway from 2000-2021, showing better survival in transplant recipients compared with patients remaining in HD/PD *Reprinted with permission from the NRR (5).*
## Methods to evaluate kidney disease

Kidney function is a term that describes the kidney's ability to filter urine, the GFR. The volume of plasma cleared of an exogenous filtration marker eliminated exclusively by glomerular filtration (e.g. inulin or iohexol) per unit time is the GFR. The measurement of plasma clearance is time consuming, and repeated blood samples are necessary to calculate the clearance curve accurately. This of course, is not done regularly in the individual patient because it is time-consuming and expensive (93).

As a consequence, GFR is typically estimated by endogenous filtration markers (creatinine and/ or Cystatin C). The estimation of GFR is usually sufficient for clinical decision making, but at the early stages of CKD, the measured GFR is more accurate than the estimated GFR.

The most common endogenous filtration marker is creatinine. Creatinine is freely filtered by the glomerulus, and is secreted by the renal tubules. Creatinine is a breakdown product of dietary meat and creatine phosphate found in skeletal muscle, and its production in the body depends on muscle mass (94). The Creatinine Clearance (CrCl) rate approximates the calculation of GFR since the glomerulus filters creatinine freely (95). Serum creatinine and various formulas based on this cheap and available analyte, remains the cornerstone of the assessment of kidney function. The relationship between creatinine and GFR is non-linear, and under the influence of several variables. Numerous formulas to estimate GFR have been published over the years (96). The Cockcroft Gault formula gained worldwide acceptance from 1976 despite being based on only 249 patients (97). In 1999, the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) study presented the new MDRD formula, based on 1628 patients with CKD (GFR <60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>). The MDRD formula included urea, albumin, race, age and sex (98). The MDRD formula was widely accepted for many years, and the main concern was the formulas' inaccuracy in patients with GFR >60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) formula was developed as an alternative, using the highest available standards. The CKD-EPI formula also included creatinine, age, race and sex, and the CKD-EPI formula provides a more thorough estimate in patients with high GFRs (99). After a debate in the nephrology environment around the world, as well as in Norway, the CKD-EPI has been widely accepted. The CKD-EPI formula replaced the MDRD formula at SUS in January 2012.

There are several available GFR estimating equations with advantages and disadvantages. Recently a race-free CKD-EPI eGFR equation was developed (100). The recognition that race is a social and not a biological entity has called for the removal of race in clinical algorithms. As a response the National Kidney Foundation and the American Society of Nephrology created a task force that recommend to replace the older equations with a newer formula without race, CKD-EPI 2021, in clinical laboratories (100). The new formula performs similarly to the old CKD-EPI equation in transplant recipients (101), but in CKD patients the prevalence of CKD is slightly lower when using the new equation compared with the old CKD-EPI formula (102). The new equation has not implemented into routine care in laboratories in Norway at this time, but it will most likely be implemented in the future.

Cystatin C is another endogenous filtration marker that can be used to measure kidney function. Cystatin C is a protein synthesized at a constant rate by all nucleated cells. Cystatin C is not dependent on factors such as age, sex, race and muscle mass, and in certain groups of patients Cystatin C may be more useful that creatinine. After measuring Cystatin C, a Cystatin C based GFR is estimated, and the CKD-EPI formula is commonly used. Cystatin C has not been included as a routine laboratory test in most hospitals due to high costs and lack of evidence of added benefit. Cystatin C is a beneficial supplementary analysis in patients with high muscle mass, in children, the elderly and in individual with conditions affecting muscle composition (103). Cystatin C has not been measured in the present studies and will not be mentioned more.

In addition to blood tests measuring kidney function, nephrologists monitor their patients' proteinuria. The gold-standard for quantification is a 24-hour urine collection. An excellent correlation between 24 hour samples and single voided urine

samples has been found, preferably the first morning specimen, but a random specimen is acceptable (104), and is widely used in clinical practice. 24 hour urine collection is burdensome for the patients to perform, and errors due to incomplete collection is common.

KDIGO classifies normal to mildly increased albuminuria as urine albumine to creatinine ratio (UACR) <3mg/mmol (<30 mg/g), moderately increased albuminuria is UACR 3-30 mg/mmol (30-300 mg/g), and severely increased albuminuria is UACR >30 mg/mmol (>300 mg/g). Normal to mildly increased proteinuria is classified as urine protein to creatinine ratio (UPCR) <15 mg/mmol (<150 mg/g), moderately increased proteinuria as UPCR 15-50 mg/mmol (150-500 mg/g), and severely increased proteinuria as UPCR >50 mg/mmol (>500 mg/g). UPCR >3 g/day is indicative for nephrotic proteinuria (18).

There is a strong correlation between UACR and UPCR, especially when UACR >300 mg/g or UPCR >200 mg/g. The association is less accurate for lower UACR. UPCR measures the total urine protein excretion, including albumin, light chains and other globulins. UPCR also has the advantage of measuring fragmented albumin, a byproduct of tubular processing, not detected by UACR. UACR only accounts for the albumin concentration (105). In patients with certain diseases such as light chain disease, UACR and UPCR do not correlate, with a much higher UPCR due to light chains (13). There appears to be no concensus concerning the golden standars for evaluating proteinuria, but both UACR and UPCR should be used as a screening tool initially. After that, in early nephropathy UACR is of the greatest interest, especially with hypertensive or diabetic nephropathy.

Both albuminuria and proteinuria are important disease markers of CKD (31, 106), used at time of CKD-diagnosis, and during follow-up, to monitor the effects of therapy and the rate of progression. Both eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> and albumin/creatinine ratio  $\geq$ 30 mg/g are significantly associated with increased risk of all-cause and CV mortality independently of each other and other traditional risk factors (13).

#### Biomarkers

The above presented standard laboratory tests for kidney disease are inaccurate. New and improved methods to assess and predict outcome in patients with CKD would be welcome in the field of nephrology. A biomarker is defined as a parameter of structural, biochemical, physiological or genetic change that indicates the presence, severity or progress of a disease (107). An ideal biomarker is stable, undergo little degradation and show minimal variability (diurnally and longitudinally). The analysis should be accurate, reproducible and affordable. The information obtained from the biomarker should add to or improve existing tests, improve patients management or risk assessment (108). The below presented biomarkers will be discussed in more detail in at least one of the four studies presented in this thesis.

# Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalcin (NGAL)

NGAL is a protein belonging to the lipocalin family (109). NGAL was originally isolated from the supernatant of activated neutrophilic granulocytes (110). NGAL is also produced in other types of tissue, like the kidneys (109). The function of NGAL is largely unknown, but NGAL increases in cells under "stress" for instance during infections, inflammation, degeneration and neoplastic transformation (111). Initially NGAL was a marker of acute cellular stress, with no relation to kidney injury or kidney failure. It has later been shown that NGAL increases in plasma and urine in patients with acute renal failure and after aortocoronary bypass surgery (112). High NGAL levels is also associated with worse prognosis in patients with CKD (113-115) and after kidney transplantation (116-118). One study found that increased NGAL levels 1 week after donor nephrectomy was associated with eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> 6 months postoperatively (119). The hypothesis called the "forest fire theory" suggests that the increase in NGAL in CKD patients is the result of a sustained production of inflamed but vital tubular cells, whereas reduction of kidney function is a general loss of functional cells and nephrons (120). NGAL may

represent a time-real biomarker of ongoing kidney damage, and NGAL has been named the "troponin of the kidney" (121).

#### Klotho

Ever since its discovery in 1997, Klotho has been linked to reduced kidney function. Klotho was originally identified as an anti-ageing protein in a mouse model of human ageing, but at a later stage it has been shown to possess a number of biological functions (122-124). Klotho is expressed in different organs, but mostly in kidney tissue, especially in the distal tubuli cells, in the parathyroid glands, and in the choroid plexus in the brain (123, 125, 126). Klotho deficient mice and CKD subjects have similar phenotypes, suggesting a close link between Klotho and CKD (127, 128). Klotho also act as a co-receptor for the fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR), and the tissue specific Klotho expression determines the organ specificity for FGF23 (123). In animal studies Klotho has kidney protective abilities, importance in the calcium-phosphate homeostasis, anti-ageing and CV protective properties (122, 129). Klotho levels are quickly down-regulated in the presence of albuminuria (130), inflammation (131) and acute kidney injury (AKI) (132, 133). Serum levels of Klotho progressively decrease with age (134). Klotho has been reported to be closely associated with reduced kidney function (135-138), but other studies have reported stable Klotho levels in CKD stages 2-4 (139). Low levels of Klotho are associated with increased vascular calcification (140), and increased risk of CV events and mortality in patients with ESRD (141).

# Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23)

FGF23 is a member of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) superfamily, a family of 22 structurally related polypeptides with many functions (142). Being in the FGF family

is not defined by similarities in cellular actions, but by the presence of a 102 amino-acid long protein that mediates FGF binding to a particular family of cell surface receptors, called fibroblast growth factor receptors (FGFR) (143). The FGFs can be classified as intracellular (intracrine) FGFs, canonical (paracrine) FGFs and hormonelike (endocrine) FGFs by their mechanism of action (144).



Figure 8. Phylogenetic analysis divide the 22 FGFs into seven subfamilies, and three categories (different colors) based on their mechanism og action. *Reprinted with permission from Oxford University Press (142)* 

The intracrine FGFs act as FGFR-independent intracellular molecules that regulate the electrical exitability of neurons via voltage gated sodium channels. Intracrine FGFs are not secreted extracellularly (142, 145). The paracrine FGFs mediate biological responses by binding to and activating cell surface tyrosine kinase FGFRs with heparin/ heparin sulfate as a necessary cofactor for local signaling (142). The paracrine FGFs act as local paracrine signaling molecules with effects on embryonic development, cell proliferation and migration in neighbouring cells, acting from a small distance (142, 144).

The endocrine FGFs mediate biological effects in a FGFR dependent manner, but they bind to the heparin/heparin sulfate coreceptor with very low affinity. This reduced binding enables endocrine FGFs to function over long distances as endocrine hormones (142, 146). The endocrine FGFs use Klotho as a coreceptor to activate FGFRs (143). FGF23 binds to FGFRs using αKlotho as a coreceptor (123), and FGF19 and FGF21 use  $\beta$ Klotho (147) as their coreceptor (142, 148). FGFRs are widely distributed, but the tissue specific patterns of Klotho/ $\beta$ Klotho expression determine the specific function of the endocrine FGFs (146). FGF19 modulates cholesterol/ bile acid synthesis, FGF21 controls glucose and lipid homeostasis, and FGF23 is a potent regulator of phosphate and vitamin D metabolism (146).

FGF23 was initially discovered as a factor causing phosphate waisting in an inherited form of rickets, autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (149). FGF23 is secreted from bones after phosphate intake, and acts on the kidney to inhibit phosphate reabsorption in the urine. The goal is to maintain phosphate balance in the body (150). The high expression of Klotho in the kidney determines FGF23s' ability to target the kidney, and establishes an FGF23 driven bone/renal axis which allows FGF23 to function as a phosphatonin (146).

Intact FGF23 (iFGF23) is a small polypeptide of 251 amino acids, and is enzymatically cleaved into inactive c-terminal and n-terminal fragments. iFGF23 appears to be the biologically active form, and there is a strong correlation between iFGF23 and cFGF23 in patients without kidney failure (108). The c-terminal of the FGF23 molecule is responsible for binding to the FGF receptor (FGFR), with Klotho as an obligate co-receptor (151). In the kidney, this binding leads to an inhibition of the NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c channels, resulting in reduced absorption of phosphate (148). FGF23 further inhibits 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (Cyp27b1) in the kidney and stimulates 24-hydroxylase (Cyp24a1), leading to a reduction in the concentration of 1,25 dihydroxy-vitamin D (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D) (148). Thus FGF23 is a phosphaturic, antivitamin D hormone.

FGF23 also acts directly on the Klotho-expressing parathyroid gland where it inhibits parathyroid hormone (PTH) production (146, 151). But surprisingly, both high Klotho and high FGF23 is associated with hyperparathyroidism (152, 153).

FGF23 regulates phosphate metabolism in the kidneys, intestine and parathyroid glands by down-regulating the sodium-phosphate co-transporter in the proximal tubule and the gut and by decreasing PTH secretion and production via a Klotho-

dependent pathway (154). FGF23 levels rise quickly as renal function declines, to increase phosphate excretion (155). At a certain point, the mechanism is overloaded, and increased levels of FGF23 are associated with increased mortality in HD patients (156), in patients with CKD stages 2-4 (157) and in kidney transplant recipients (158). Increased FGF23 combined with reduced GFR predicts rapid progression towards ESRD (159), and in kidney transplant patients it might predict increased risk of death and allograft loss (158).

In the heart, there is no Klotho expression, and FGF23 levels are very low in a normal heart (154, 160). But recent evidence show that cardiomyocytes are able to produce FGF23 in a strained heart (161), and FGF23 production increases in cardiomyocytes in rodent models with acute MI (162). In situations with high levels of circulation FGF 23, such as advanced CKD, FGF23 levels can reach 1000 times above the normal range (155). In these situations, when FGF 23 levels in the heart are high (locally produced and/ or due to CKD), there is evidence that FGF23 can act directly on cardiomyocytes in a Klotho independent, fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4) mediated signaling pathway. This binding activates the phospholipase C-gamma (PLCx)/ calcineurin/ nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) signaling axis, which is known to induce left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) and hypertrophic growth of cardiac myocytes in response to other stimuli (154, 160, 163). The local production of FGF23 with local effects, gives FGF23 a paracrine ability in addition to its' endocrine activities (164).

Elevated levels of FGF 23 are associated with LVH (160) and myocardial fibrosis (154). There is a debate on wether FGF23 has a direct effect on blood vessels or not. Some studies report a link between circulation FGF23 and arterial stiffness (165), general atherosclerosis (166) and coronary artery disease (167), but others failed to find an association between blood vessel disease and FGF23 (168, 169).

The endothelial dysfunction seen in CKD is characterized by an imbalance between nitric oxide (NO) availability, upregulation of NO synthase and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (170). The imbalance between ROS production and antioxidant

defences leads to a condition called oxidative stress (171). Klotho possesses antioxidative properties and increase resistance to oxidative stress, which could contribute to Klothos anti-ageing properties (172). Klotho deficient mice show reduced NO synthesis in endothelial cells (173), and Klotho overexpression improves endothelial function (174). An in vitro study demonstrated the expression of Klotho on human coronary artery endothelial cells, confirming the role of Klotho in modulating FGF23 effects on oxidative stress (170). The study showed that FGF23 activates FGFR1, which in turn stimulates the secretion of Klotho, enhances NO release and increased ROS detoxification. ROS formation is also increased by FGF23, but the ROS formation is counterbalanced by the increased NO release. When blocking Klotho, the FGF23 stimulated NO synthesis is lost, this leads to enhanced ROS formation instead of ROS degradation, and reduced NO availability. In contrast to its effects on ROS formation, FGF23 stimulated NO release and ROS detoxification requires Klotho. With CKD comes Klotho deficiency, and FGF23 will then primarily promote oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction (170). In a mouse model, it was found that high levels of FGF23 inhibits endothelial relaxation in the mouse aorta due to increased superoxide, which inhibits NO bioavailability. This supports that high levels of FGF23 contributes in CVD (175).

In CKD, vascular calcification is very frequent, and with high levels of circulation FGF23 it is conceivable to imagine that there might be a local Klotho-independent FGF23 effect on blood vessels (164). The evidence of this is inconclusive at best, most studies did not find a direct association between FGF23 and blood vessels (176, 177), but others have found a possible link where FGF23 impairs endothelial vasodilatation by inhibiting NO availability, causing endothelial dysfunction (175). There is controversy regarding the expression of Klotho in vascular tissue (178). It has been suggested that the different expression profiles of Klotho in vessels are dependent of the origin of the vessels studied, as well as inconsistency in the methods used to detect Klotho (178). Figure 9 illustrates the many potential effects of FGF23.



45

**Figure 9.** Renal and extrarenal effects of FGF23 in CKD. Bone and kidney are the main sources of FGF23. In CKD FGF23 is excessively increased by several factors, including chronic phosphate load, calcium intake, secondary hyperparathyroidism, active vitamin D therapy, Klotho deficiency, activated renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS), iron deficiency, and inflammation. FGF23 regulates mineral metabolism in the kidney and parathyroid gland by utilizing Klotho as a permissive co-receptor. It also interferes with the immune system directly and/or Klotho-dependent mechanisms by acting on polymorphonuclear leukocytes and macrophages via activation of FGF-receptors FGFR2 and FGFR1, respectively. Experimental data suggest that FGF23 impacts on the vasculature and brain via both Klotho-dependent and Klotho-independent mechanisms. Finally, the heart has been identified as an off-target organ in which FGF23 stimulates cardiac growth in the absence of Klotho. CYP27b1 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase; PBMCm, peripheral blood mononuclear cell monocyte, ROS reactive oxygen species, NO nitric oxide. *Reprinted with permission from Springer Nature (179)*.

### Parathyroid hormone (PTH)

PTH is produced by four small parathyroid glands that are located in proximity to the thyroid gland. PTH is a single chain peptide composed of 84 amino acids. Intact and fragmented hormone is present and secreted by the parathyroid gland. The intact hormone represents a smaller fraction, but its portion is increased when calcium levels are low and decreased when calcium levels are high.

The main role of PTH is to regulate serum calcium levels, through effects on bone, kidney and intestine. When serum calcium levels are decreased, the calcium sensing receptor (CaSR) in the parathyroid gland is inactivated, leading to the release of preformed PTH within minutes. Increased PTH synthesis takes hours, and parathyroid hyperplasia is established within days of prolonged inactivation of CaSR, leading to increased PTH production (180). PTH then increases serum calcium by promoting the release of calcium from bone into the bloodstream, stimulating the kidneys to reduce calcium elimination in the urine while promoting phosphate elimination in the urine, and stimulating the kidneys to convert vitamin D from the inactive to the active form, which in turn increases the absorption of calcium from food in the intestine. Negative feedback mechanisms ensure that these actions are reversed when calcium levels are normalised (181).

In the bloodstream PTH has a short lifespan, with a halflife of less than 5 minutes due to fast uptake and cleavage in the liver and the kidneys. The fragments are referred to as C-terminal fragments and are variably sized, missing from 6 amino acids to half the molecyle. The c-terminal fragments have a longer half-life, exists in higher concentrations and are eventually cleared by the kidneys. In CKD, these fragments typically accumulate, hence the elevated PTH levels (182).

Secondary hyperparathyroidism (SHPT) is a major complication in patients with CKD, and the hyperfunction in the parathyroid glands develop early in CKD progression. The changes are related to proliferation of the parathyroid cells, including the downregulation of vitamin D receptors (VDRs), CaSRs and the cyclin-

dependent kinase inhibitor, as well as the upregulation of transforming growth factor- $\alpha$  in resected glands from hemodialysis patients (183).

The optimal PTH levels in patients with CKD is not known, but the KDIGO guidelines from 2017 suggest that in predialytic CKD patients with PTH levels rising persistently above the upper normal limit, modifiable factors such as hyperphosphatemia, hypocalcemia, high phosphate intake and vitamin D deficiency should be evaluated and treated. Vitamin D analogs and calcitrol should be reserved for those with severe and progressive hyperparathyroidism. In dialysis patients it is suggested to maintain PTH levels in the range of 2-9 times the upper normal limit. If PTH lowering treatment is needed, calcimimetics, calcitriol or vitamin D analogs are recommended. In patients with severe hyperparathyroidism and failure to respond to pharmacological treatment, parathyroidectomy should be considered (184).

## Vitamin D

Vitamin D was discovered in 1922 when it was discovered that heated, oxidized codliver oil could prevent rickets in rats (185). Vitamin D is a steroid hormone with many effects. One of the most important roles of vitamin D is to maintain skeletal calcium homeostasis. This regulation is mediated by promoting calcium absorption in the intestine, by increasing the number of osteoclasts to promote bone resorption, and allowing proper functioning of parathyroid hormone to maintain serum calcium levels within narrow limits (186). Vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) is primarily produced from 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin by exposure to sunlight, only a small amount comes from dietary sources or supplements (187). The formation of the active vitamin D metabolite, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D or calcitriol, requires a two-step hydroxylation, the first step takes place in the liver with the formation of 25(OH)D which is the major circulating form of vitamin D. 25(OH)D is biologically inactive, and must undergo a second hydroxylation in the kidneys where 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D production. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, in turn, inhibits the synthesis and secretion of PTH, providing a negative feedback regulation of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  (189). The levels of vitamin D are associated to the immune response and may have protective effects against CVD, cancer and infections (190). Vitamin D deficiency can result in lower bone mineral density and an increased risk of reduced bone density (osteoporosis) or bone fracture (191).



**Figure 10.** Overview of the vitamin D metabolism. 25(OH)D, Calcidiol; 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, Calcitriol; CYP2R1, cytochrome P450 2R1; DBP, Vitamin D binding protein. *Reprinted with permission from MDPI (Open Access) (192)*.

Serum levels of 25(OH)D is regarded as a marker of vitamin D body stores, and is used to evaluate vitamin D status (193). What represents an optimal 25(OH)D level is controversial. Levels <25 nmol/l are in the general population associated with muscle weakness, bone pain, fractures and elevated PTH levels. The Institute of Medicine (IOM) concluded in their 2011 report that a level >50 nmol/l would protect 97.5% of the population against clinical outcomes like fractures (194, 195). The KDIGO guidelines suggest using the same treatment strategies recommended for the general population on CKD patients (184). There is an ongoing debate whether 50 nmol/l is sufficient in both the general population and in CKD patients in particular. The second step in the formation of active vitamin D takes place in the kidneys and this process is disturbed in patients with CKD (196). Many studies use different reference ranges, so care must be given when considering the results.

Solar UV-B radiation is the major source of vitamin D in humans, and vitamin D status is influenced by season, latitude, time spent outdoor and exposure to sunshine. Concerns about skin cancer and increased focus on sun protection have influenced vitamin D levels in the general population (194). This is especially applicable in kidney transplant recipients who are recommended to be careful with sun exposure due to increased risk of skin cancer because of their immunosuppressive treatment (197).

A large number of observational studies indicate that vitamin D has a number of effects beyond the regulation of mineral metabolism. The VDR was discovered in 1969, and it was early established that the VDR is a cell nucleus-localized receptor. The almost universal presence of VDRs in the body, figure 11, may explain why 25(OH)D deficiency is associated with numerous diseases such as diabetes (198), CVD (199), cancer (200), respiratory tract infections including COVID 19 (201) and overall mortality (202).





On one hand, supplementary vitamin D has not shown a protective effect against the development of skin cancer (203), CVD, death, or stroke (204). On the other hand, it

is suggested that vitamin D has renoprotective abilities (205). In mice, it has been shown that vitamin D supresses the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS), and attenuates RAAS-induced fibrinogeses in the kidneys (206). Vitamin D has been shown to reduce glomerulosclerosis and proteinuria in animal models (207) and in human studies on patients with IgA (208) and diabetes nephropathy (209). There is an ongoing debate on vitamin D and extra-skeletal health, and weather it is a causality or just an association. Observational studies do not meet the criteria to establish a causeand effect relationship, and low levels of vitamin D may reflect bad news or poor health in general (210).

### Phosphate

Phosphate homeostasis is maintained by a balance between dietary intake, intestinal absorption, mobilization from bone and renal excretion (211). Phosphate regulation is coordinated by a complex crosstalk between bone, intestines, kidneys and parathyroid glands. Dysfunction in this system leads to an increased risk of CV morbidity and mortality (212). Hyperphosphatemia occurs when eGFR declines, and controlling phosphate load by reducing dietary phosphate intake is an important early intervention in the treatment of CKD (212). In early CKD, phosphate levels are normal due to increased fractional excretion of phosphate in the urine. Recently it has been shown that high dietary phosphate load in early CKD increases phosphaturia, which in turn leads to a faster progression of CKD. This acceleration in CKD progression might be mediated through renal tubular injury (213). To maintain normal levels of phosphate in early CKD, elevated FGF23 levels are necessary to counteract phosphate retention and to reduce phosphate reabsorption (155). High phosphate levels have been shown to increase blood pressure in subjects with (214) and without CKD (215), suggesting that high phosphate levels may contribute to hypertension in CKD patients as well as in the general population. Hyperphosphatemia is associated with LVH (216). High phosphate triggers vascular calcification through a complex process where vascular smooth muscle cells (VSCMs) synthezise increased levels of collagen, leading to deposition of collagen-

rich extracellular matrix which increase vascular tissue mineralization (217, 218).

#### Collagen markers

Type I and III collagens are the major structural proteins of the extracellular cardiac matrix in the human heart (219). Amino terminal propeptide of type I procollagen (PINP) and amino terminal propeptide of type III procollagen (PIIINP) are cleaved from procollagen type I and III in the synthesis of collagen type I and III, and they may be used as markers of this process. C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (CITP) is a marker of collagen type I degradation, and it increases shortly after MI (220), the increased levels are maintained beyond the subacute healing phase (221).

Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) is a member of the CCN family of matricellular proteins (222). CTGF is a key signaling and regulatory molecule involved in several different processes, both biological processes such as cell proliferation, wound healing, angiogenesis, and pathological processes such as tumor development and tissue fibrosis (223). CTGF has also been found to be a potential independent predictor of ESRD (224). The underlying mechanisms of CTGF are not completely understood, but the accepted theory is that interactions between different domains in CTGF and other regulatory proteins contribute to the many effects (223).

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) is a multipotent growth factor belonging to the transforming growth factor superfamily (225). TGF- $\beta$  is found in all tissues, but is particularly abundant in bone, lung, kidney and placental tissue. TGF- $\beta$  is produced by many parenchymal cell types (226). TGF- $\beta$  is a multifunctional peptide with effects on cell differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis and matrix production. TGF- $\beta$ also antagonize many immune responses, and is a potent negative regulator of immune responses (227). TGF- $\beta$  can be a proto-oncogene and a tumor suppressor, depending on cell context and tumor stage (228). Renal fibrosis is characterized by excessive deposition of extracellular matrix that replaces functional renal parenchyma and leads to CKD. Elevated TGF- $\beta$  levels is highly associated with the progression of renal fibrosis (229). TGF- $\beta$  is also involved in healing after MI, where TGF- $\beta$  inhibits the expression of FGF23 in cardiomyocytes in the healing phase allowing the scar to mature faster (230).

## Chronic kidney disease- mineral bone disorder

In 2005, the term chronic kidney disease- mineral bone disorder (CKD-MBD) was introduced to describe a broad clinical syndrome that developes as a systemic disorder of mineral and bone due to CKD. The syndrome is manifested in bone and mineral laboratory abnormalities, histological bone disease, and calcification of vasculature and other soft tissues (231, 232). Several organ systems are involved in the mineral metabolism, including the kidneys, the intestine, the skeleton and the parathyroid glands. Disturbances in the mineral metabolism develop early in CKD (184, 233), and becomes gradually more prominent as eGFR declines towards ESRD (234).

The recognition of mineral bone disorder (MBD) as a risk factor for premature mortality and CVD began with observations about risks related to high phosphate and high calcium (235). For many years, arterial calcification in CKD patients was considered a result of high calcium levels and high calcium phosphate ion products resulting in super saturated plasma (236). Newer studies have shown that arterial calcification is a regulated process where plasma constituents maintain minerals in solution and inhibit their deposition in tissues (237). Many proteins involved in bone metabolism can be expressed in arterial tissues, reflecting changes in the phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (238, 239). When exposed to high phosphate concentrations in culture, human VSMCs differentiate towards osteoblast-like cells (240). Arterial calcification is considered an active process with similarities to bone formation, supporting CKD-MBD as a clinical syndrome (241). Calcium and phosphate disturbances in ESRD are associated with renal osteodystrophy, and an inverse relationship between arterial calcification and bone density/ turnover is seen in uremic patients (242).

Before the discovery of the new biomarkers Klotho and FGF23, the sequential changes CKD-MBD were believed to be the result of decreased functional renal tissue with a reduction in 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D production and phosphate retention. The ability to filter and excrete phosphate is progressively compromised when kidney

function declines, starting in CKD stage 3, requiring a higher fractional excretion of phosphate in the urine to maintain balance. The fractional excretion of phosphate is controlled by FGF23 and PTH (243). The reduction in vitamin D levels result in a reduced calcium uptake from the intestine and increased PTH levels. The secretion of PTH increases when kidney function declines as a compensatory response to deteriorating mineral metabolism (high phosphate, low 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, low calcium). PTH levels start to increase when eGFR falls below 45 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> (233). This clinical entity is SHPT, and includes the biochemical characteristics of CKD-MBD (244).

Elevation in FGF23 has been found to precede the reduction in vitamin D levels, and to be the strongest independent predictor of reduced active vitamin D levels (155, 159). An increased level of FGF23 has been suggested as the main trigger for MBD, and a sequence has been postulated in which a reduction in Klotho levels precede changes in FGF23 and PTH levels, figure 12 (136).

As FGF23, and then PTH rise in CKD, they exert opposing effects on vitamin D metabolism, PTH stimulates  $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase, and FGF23 inhibits it (159, 245).

FGF23 acts directly on the Klothoexpressing parathyroid glands where it inhibits the production of PTH (146). Rising FGF23 creates a state of vitamin D deficiency that lowers calcium and also elevates PTH (152, 243). In the kidney, PTH increases calcium reabsorption (246). Adding to this physiological spiral in CKD is the reduction in the expression of  $\alpha$ -Klotho, the coreceptor of FGF23 (247). It has also been suggested that CKD is a state of Klotho deficiency (247).



Figure 12. Proposed time profile of disturbances in mineral metabolism and prosphate-regulating hormones with CKD progression. Normal range in the grey box. The x-axis represents decline in kidney function. *Reprinted with permission from Oxford University Press* (245)

## **Renal osteodystrophy**

From the 1940s the term renal osteodystrophy has been used to describe the abnormalities in bone morphology that follows CKD: osteitis fibrosa, osteomalacia, osteoporosis and osteopetrosis (232, 248). Renal osteodystrophy is an important cause of morbidity and reduced quality of life in patients with CKD. Osteoporosis is a term used to describe fragile bones in the general population, and is evaluated with dual x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA). Renal osteodystrophy is used to describe fragile bones prone to fractures in patients with CKD. Renal osteodystrophy comes from a combination of bone turnover (assessed by bone biopsy), bone density (assessed by DEXA) and bone architecture (249). To diagnose renal osteodystrophy a bone biopsy is the gold standard. This is not used widely in clinical practice due to its invasiveness and lack of interpretation abilities (231, 248).

The main component in renal osteodystrophy is the abnormal bone turnover. Bone disease with high turnover (or osteitis fibrosa) is associated with hyperparathyroidism, and bone disease with low turnover (or adynamic renal osteodystrophy) is associated with PTH-resistance or oversuppression of PTH release (250). Adynamic renal osteodystrophy is most prevalent, and is seen in CKD stages 3-5 and in dialysis populations (250, 251). The abnormal bone turnover starts early in CKD, and there are many variables to consider such as age, sex, race, the use of steroids, nutritional status and time with CKD (249).

Renal osteodystrophy is associated with increased levels of PTH, and PTH levels have been used as a surrogate marker of bone turnover, together with levels of calcium, phosphate and alkaline phosphatase to diagnose, treat and monitor renal osteodystrophy (231). The specificity of PTH as an indicator of bone health has been questioned, especially in the early days due to the lack of specificity in the many assays used (249).

After the introduction of CKD-MBD as a clinical entity, renal osteosystrophy was reserved for the bone histological features included in CKD-MBD.

#### Mineral metabolim after kidney transplantation

A successful kidney transplant restores kidney function and alters many of the abnormalities of MBD developed in the course of CKD prior to transplantation. It is debated whether the changes are completely reversed or just altered (252). The reality is that biochemical parameters of mineral metabolism often remain impaired in kidney transplant recipients, with persistent hyperparathyroidism, hypophosphatemia and hypercalcemia (252).

A decrease in serum calcium is usually seen immediately post-transplant. This is most likely due to the abrupt cessation of calcium or vitamin D supplements together with the reduced ability to mobilize calcium from bone as a result of PTH reduction (253). The hypocalcemia is usually mild. The "normal" kidney transplant recipient presents with calcium levels that increase to a plateau after 3-6 months before slowly decreasing (253). However, severe hypocalcemia and hungry bone disease may be seen after parathroidectomy (254). Hypercalcemia is present in 13% of long term kidney transplant patients with eGFR >45 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> (255). Severe hypercalcemia can cause AKI in the graft because of vasoconstriction and reduced graft perfusion (254). In most cases, the hypercalcemia is mild and asymptomatic, and can be managed with adequate fluid intake and avoidance of medications that increase calcium levels, such as tiazid diuretics, calcium supplements and vitamin D supplements in cases with adequate vitamin D levels (254).

Hypophosphatemia is observed in up to 90% of transplanted patients shortly posttransplant. The lowest levels are shown after about 1 month, after which the levels return to normal (256). The hypophosphatemia is usually self-limiting and asymptomatic. Hyperphosphatemia may be seen in patients with delayed graft function (DGF), or in transplant recipients with severely reduced graft function and a low eGFR post-transplant (254).

In patients with ESRD, FGF23 levels may be up to 1000 times higher than in healthy individuals (156), and the levels are reduced by >95% immediately post-transplant. Studies have demonstrated that FGF23 levels decline to levels comparable to CKD

patients matched with the same eGFR within 1 year post-transplant (256-258). Studies have found reduced FGF23 levels as early as the fifth (259) and seventh (260) day post-transplant, suggesting a renal elimitation of FGF23. Another study on 18 kidney transplant recipients found that FGF23 levels decreased by 89% from before transplantation to 3 months post-transplant, FGF23 levels remained stable throughout the rest of the study period which remained until 1 year post-transplant (257). One study on 52 kidney transplant recipients found that FGF23 levels were elevated before transplantation, but decreased to normal levels within 3 months post-transplant as eGFR normalized. Vitamin D levels remained low and PTH levels remained elevated post-transplant (258). However, one study reported elevated FGF23 levels 3 months post-transplant (261), and other studies have showed persistently elevated FGF23 levels in transplant recipients 1 year post-transplant (256, 262). Even in long term kidney transplant patients (>10 years post-transplant) with a well-functioning graft the levels of FGF23 have been found increased compared with normal controls (263). Elevated FGF23 is associated with decreased post-transplant eGFR (264, 265), increased risk of graft loss (158), as well as cardiovascular (266) and all-cause mortality (158, 266) in the long-term kidney transplant recipients.

One study found that Klotho levels decreased initially post-transplantat in the postoperative phase, with a gradual increase over the next 12 months of follow-up. Klotho levels were highest at 12 months post-transplant, with a higher average than before transplantation (262). Another study found that Klotho levels at 7 days and 1 month post-transplant were similar to Klotho levels pre-transplant, but the levels started increasing at 4 months post-transplant (260). Klotho levels after  $\geq$ 1 year posttransplant was significantly lower in transplant recipients when comparing with healthy controls, but their eGFRs were also differing (267). Another study on long term kidney transplant recipients (>10 years post-transplant) with a well-functioning graft found a non-significant decline of Klotho (263), this could be an expected decline due to 10 years of ageing in the long period of follow-up.

Reduced serum levels of vitamin D are prevalent in CKD patients and in kidney transplant recipients (233, 257, 258, 268). Most renal transplant recipients have overt

vitamin D deficiency, a condition that may be associated with DGF (269), decline in graft function (190), and vitamin D levels usually remain low for a prolonged period post-transplant (270). Vitamin D defeciency is found in both summer and winter time, and seasonal variation does not explain the deficiency (271, 272). Many transplant recipients benefit from vitamin D supplementation if serum levels are low.

SHPT in advanced CKD results from multiple stimuli, including hypocalcemia, hyperphosphatemia, low vitamin D levels and skeletal resistance to PTH, which in turn results in continuous stimulation of PTH synthesis and secretion (254). The cell turnover in a normal parathyroid gland is very low, the VDRs, CaSr, FGF23 receptors and Klotho receptors are downregulated in diffuse or nodular hyperplastic parathyroid glands. An increase in gland mass prior to kidney transplantation is therefore believed to regress very slowly, and may partially explain why hyperparathyroidism, in some transplant recipients, persists for years. Another possibility is the development of a parathyroid adenoma prior to transplantation, PTH levels will remain high for a long time, and parathyroidectomy may be indicated (255, 273). This was confirmed in a histological study where the parathyroid glands of transplant recipients with persistent SHPT were examined. The study revealed that SHPT post-transplant depends on the pattern of hyperplasia before transplantation. They found restoration of VDR and CaSR expression, and with diffuse hyperplasia there was a strong tendency for SHPT-regression. In recipients with at least one nodular hyperplastic gland, they found very low SHPT reversibility, and surgical intervention should be considered (183). Elevated levels of PTH is seen in as many as 25-60% of transplant recipients after 1 year (274-276). A norwegian study found elevated PTH levels in 52% of kidney transplant recipients with normal kidney function >1 year post-transplant (255). Studies suggest that hyperparathyroidism is associated with vasoconstriction and tubulointerstitial calcification, which again could lead to graft loss (275, 277).

CKD results in renal osteodystrophy, and transplant recipients are, as mentioned earlier, at risk of bone disease before transplantation. In the first 12 months posttransplant the medication is intense, and the bone loss is the most pronounced (254, 278). If kidney function is normalized, markers of bone turnover and DEXA scans may return to normal levels with time (279), but the risk of hip fractures is still increased (280). A bone biopsy study, in transplant recipients with good graft function and minimal doses of corticosteroids, found that there was an elevated incidence of alterations in bone turnover when measured 2-5 years post-transplant (281). As kidney transplant recipients grow older, the long-term influence of immunosuppressive medication together with age related osteopenia and osteoporosis dispose kidney transplant recipients to bone related disease, and this should be addressed regularly by the nephrologist following the patient (254).

#### Mineral metabolism after kidney donation

Living kidney donors provide a unique setting to evaluate the effects of nephrectomy in otherwise very healthy indivuduals. The short-term risk of kidney donation is well established, with a 0.03% risk of mortality and less than 1% risk of morbidity (86). Immediately following a unilateral nephrectomy, renal blood flow increases by approximately 40%. This is associated with glomerular hypertrophy and an increase in renocortical volume. Adaptive hyperfiltration by the remaining kidney is maintained at a constant level for at least 6-8 years after donation (282, 283), and donors usually present with a rapid increase in GFR after donation (284), before stabilizing after a few months (285).

The question of changes in the mineral bone metabolism after living kidney donation is a matter of debate, and the results are somewhat concerning (286). In the first days after nephrectomy, results may be influenced by postoperative changes, iv hydration and post-operative inflammation. Within the first few days, donors present with transient dilution hypocalcacemia and SHPT. Urinary phosphate resorption decreases (287).

In a more chronic stage, 6-12 months post kidney donation, donors have lower eGFR and I,25 (OH)D compared with pre-donation levels (287, 288), with unchanged 25(OH)D (287). PTH levels increase (289), and one study showed 23% higher PTH at 6 months post donation. Higher PTH results in decreased plasma phosphate levels and renal tubular reabsorption of phosphate, the same study presented 5.4% lower phosphate 6 months after donation (290). In a study on 9 donors and no controls, FGF23 levels remained unchanged 6 months after donation (291), but in another study on 21 donors, FGF23 was increased after 1 year (288). In an even larger cohort of 198 individuals, FGF23 and PTH were elevated 5 years post donation (292). One study found a significant reduction in Klotho post kidney donation, but there was not a similar increase in the kidney recipients. The patients were only followed for 5 days post operatively (293). Another study found a rapid drop in Klotho day 1 post donation, and Klotho levels remained lower than baseline at 1 year post follow-up

(294). Different studies have shown circulating Klotho levels that were lower than pre-donation, but higher than immediately post donation at 6 and 12 months after donation (287, 288).

The understanding of long-term adaptations to kidney donation is still under investigation, and living kidney donors are essential to keep the waiting lists for a kidney graft under control. Healthy kidney donors after donation is key when recruiting potential donors, and long-term follow-up is necessary as a surveillance tool to establish the potential long-term health risks for the donors. The results from this follow-up will influence the selection and screening process initiated before kidney donation, which is essential to maintain living kidney donation as a safe firstchoice for patients with ESRD (295).



**Figure 13.** A kidney from a living kidney donor being transplanted. *Published with permission from Dr. Francisco Salcido-Ochoa, www.franciscokidneycentre.com* 

#### Cardiovascular disease

CVD is a general term for diseases that involve the heart and/ or blood vessels. It is usually associated with a build-up of fatty deposits inside the arteries and an increased risk of blood clots. The traditional risk factors for CVD are smoking, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes, inactivity, obesity, a family history of CVD, age and male gender. The main types of CVD are coronary heart disease, stroke and transitory ischaemic attacks, peripheral arterial disease and aortic disease. Coronary heart disease occurs when the flow of oxygen-rich blood to the heart muscle is blocked or reduced. This puts strain on the heart, and can lead to angina, MI or heart failure. According to the WHO, CVDs are the number 1 cause of death globally; more people die annually from CVDs than from any other cause of death (296).

## CVD in CKD

CVD and CKD are closely interrelated, and disease in one organ system causes dysfunction of the other, often leading to failure of both organs. Many studies focus on CVD in patients with ESRD, but recently large studies have demonstrated that CVD risk increases very early in the history of CKD, probably as early as eGFR <75 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> when creatinine levels may be within the normal range (13). It is shown that there is an inverse relationship between eGFR and the hazard rate of CV events (297), figure 14.

CVD is the most common cause of death in patients with CKD (14). 50% of all patients with CKD stages 4 and 5 have CVD (298), and CV mortality accounts for 40-50% of all deaths in patients with CKD stages 4 or 5, compared with 26% in controls with normal eGFR (14, 299).



Figure 14. The inverse relationship between eGFR and hazard rate of CV events *Reprinted with permission from Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci (297).* 

The risk of CVD is higher than the risk of developing ESRD in patients with CKD, and CKD should be considered an important risk factor for CVD (14, 300). CV risk is increased both by decreased renal function and albuminuria (301), and albuminuria is a marker of CV risk and mortality independent of eGFR (302). Early detection of proteinuria, leads to more aggressive intervention, which may reduce CV risk (303). The 2021 ESC guidelines in CVD prevention added albuminuria to renal function as a CV risk stratification (304), as a tool to better identify patients that should be treated with RAAS inhibitors and more recently SGLT2 inhibitors (305).

CKD patients often presents with the traditional CVD risk factors of age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus and hypercholesterolemia. These traditional risk factors are common, but they do not explain the increased risk of CVD in CKD. Standard CVD-modifying drugs like statins have, unfortunately, failed to improve CV mortality in CKD as much as they do in the general population (306). This suggests that there might be other explanatory mechanisms for CVD in patients with CKD. Arteriosclerosis, arterial stiffening and abnormal cardiac structure appear to dominate, and CKD patients are influenced by additional "CKD-risk factors" like anemia, mineral metabolism abnormalities, proteinuria, malnutrition, volume overload, inflammation, high phosphate and time in dialysis (307, 308). In the 1980s and 90s, echocardiographic studies identified common changes in cardiac structure and function in patients with ESRD. The changes included increased LV mass, LVH, LV dilatation, LV systolic dysfunction and myocardial fibrosis. These changes are termed uremic cardiomyopathy, and the severity of uremic cardiomyopathy as measured by LV mass is a powerful predictor of CV mortality (309, 310). These structural changes appear early in the course of CKD (311).

Myocardial fibrosis has been suggested as the main cause of uremic cardiomyopathy, and in the 1990s a post-morten study found myocardial fibrosis in 91% of patients with ESRD without significant coronary lesions. The amount of fibrosis correlated with time in HD (312). In the early 2000s another study comparing myocardial biospies in HD patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and other patients without CKD but with cardiomyopathy found high levels of myocardial fibrosis and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in the dialysis patients. The amount of fibrosis was a prognostic marker of CV mortality within 3 years (313). Studying myocardial fibrosis in ESRD is challenging, since myocardial biopsies are not without risk, especially in patients with ESRD and comorbidities (314).

Arterial calcification is a common complication of CKD, and the presence and extent of arterial calcifications are independently predictive of CVD beyond conventional risk factors (241). Vascular calcification is an active cell-regulated process in which ectopic deposition of calcium-phosphate salts occurs in blood vessels or cardiac valves (212).

Media calcification is associated with stiffening of the blood vessels, and it occurs in arteries of any size (212). Media calcification is associated with ageing in the general population. It is significantly more common in patients with metabolic disorders, such as metabolic syndrome, CKD or diabetes mellitus (237, 241). Media calcification may be called media sclerosis or Mönckeberg's media sclerosis, named after Möckenberg, a German pathologist who first described the non-atherosclerotic pattern of calcification (240). Media calcification is organized along the elastic lamellae, and is associated with VSMCs (238, 315) which makes up the majority of

the cells in the media. In uremic conditions, VSMCs are reprogrammed into distinct osteoblast-like cells with a secretory phenotype, secreting typically bone-associated proteins (316, 317). As a result, the CV calcifications seen in CKD are accelerated, and even children with CKD may have significant vascular calcifications (318). High phosphate levels also promote media calcification and stiffening of arterial walls (212), contributing to hypertension and LVH (240), figure 15.

Intima calcification is calcification of the innermost layer of vasculature (212). Intima calcification is a progressive feature of atheriosclerosis that occurs when minerals are deposited within atheriosclerotic plaques in the intima of the arterial wall (237). It is associated with the development of plaques and occlusions. It is frequently seen with age, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia and smoking in the general population. It is a discontinuous process that involves the endothelialium, as well as monocytes, macrophages and VSMCs in lipid-rich regions (315), figure 15.



**Figure 15.** Schematic illustration of vascular calcification showing the difference between intimal and medial calcification. Normal vessel in the middle. *My own illustration*.

Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory process where the immune system interacts with risk factors to initiate, proliferate and activate arterial plaques (319). Stable plaques are characterized by a chronic inflammatory infiltrate, and vulnerable plaques are characterized by an active inflammation involved in the thinning of the fibrous cap, predisposing the plaque to rupture (320).

As recently as 20 years ago, vascular calcification was viewed as a passive process with deposition of calcium and phosphate, where high levels was a disposing factor (321). More recently, it has been established that vascular calcification is an actively regulated, multifactorial process involving several factors in the so called "uremic milieu" as well as the traditional risk factors (322, 323).

A combination of media and intima calcification is seen in CKD patients, but in young CKD patients the calcification is almost exclusively medial (237). In clinical care, the two forms of calcification are indistinguishable, and general CVDprevention is advocated to CKD patients just like to the general population (stop smoking, physical activity, treatment of obesity, controlling lipids, blood pressure and glucose levels). In addition, controlling calcium and phosphate levels, avoiding oversuppression of parathyroid activity and adynamic bone are important preventive measures (237). Patients with CKD often have severe calcification in their arterial vascular tree, figure 16.



**Figure 16.** X-ray showing extensive diffuse calcification of the arterial vascular tree in both lower limbs. *Archive photo.* 

A severe form of vascular calcification in CKD is uremic calcific arteriolopathy, or calciphylaxis, caused by calcium deposits in the dermo-hypodermic arterioles (324). Calciphylaxis leads to necrosis of the skin, and has a high mortality rate (325). The mechanicm behind it is unclear, but high calcium-phosphate product in combination with an active cellular process is the most likely explanation (326).

Calcification of the heart valves are also common in CKD, and the rate of progression is often very fast. There is an association between high phosphate levels, hypertension, hyperparathyroidism and hyperlipidemia and the development of aortic stenosis (327). The most common heart valve requiring intervention is the aortic valve (328).

LVH is present in 1 of 3 patients with CKD, and in 70-80 % of patients with ESRD (14). Patients with CKD have characteristic LVH changes in the myocardium with myocardial fibrosis, collagen deposits and cardiac hypertrophy which together represents uremic cardiomyopathy (329). Many factors contribute to LVH in CKD,

such as systolic hypertension, arterial stiffness and LV overload and volume overload (329, 330).

In addition to the structural changes seen in CVD in CKD, altered mineral metabolism contribute to increased CV mortality. The risk factors include dysregulated phosphate metabolism, hyperparathyroidism, low vitamin D levels, elevated FGF23 levels and reduced Klotho levels (143). Recently, mineralcorticoid receptor (MR) activation has emerged as an additional mediator for CV injury and CKD progression (331).

High FGF23 is associated with poor clinical prognosis, and adverse events such as all-cause and CV mortality, CV events and heart failure (156, 332-336) in the general population, as well as in patients with CKD (337). FGF23 has a complicated relationship with its coreceptor Klotho, where Klotho deficiency increase FGF23, and high FGF23 exaberate Klotho deficiency via low vitamin D (247). To determine the exact role of Klotho and FGF23 in CVD is challenging, because Klotho primarily functions as a membrane-bound receptor in tissues which are not usually sampled in human experiments. Cleaved and alternatively spliced forms of Klotho circulate, but their role is not yet established (338). Current methods to measure circulating Klotho have significant limitations due to assays and sample instability, and it is difficult to draw any conclusions about Klotho's role in CVD due to differing results (139, 339). However, it has been shown that reduced Klotho is associated with the presence of coronary artery disease independently of other CV risk factors (340). Klotho expression is stimulated by VDR activators that bind to elements in the Klotho gene promoter that is vitamin D responsive (341). Klotho expression is suppressed by aldosterone, angiotensine II, FGF23, inflammation, oxidative stress, uremic toxins, hypoxia and TGF- $\beta$  (342). Klotho reduces hypertension, have renoprotective abilities, attenuates tissue fibrosis, reduces CKD progression and attenuates vascular calcification (245, 342). The kidney is the main source of Klotho, and it is not surprising that Klotho levels are low in CKD patients (247, 343).

FGF23 is related to LVH and diastolic dysfunction (160, 335, 344, 345). In children on HD with preserved EF, elevated FGF23 was associated with lower left atrial global longitudinal strain, which is an early indicator of cardiac remodeling (346)

Experiments show that FGF23 elevate intracellular calcium levels in isolated cardiomyocytes as well as increase contractility in ventricular muscle strips from mice and primary cardiac myocytes (160). Klotho-expressing cells respond to FGF23 with activation of the Ras/ mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade (151). In myocytes, FGF23 activates FGFR4 and subsequently the PLCs/ calcineurin/ NFAT signaling pathway. This stimulus induce hypertrophic growth of cardiac myocytes (154, 160, 347), figure 17.



**Figure 17.** Schematic overview of FGF23 signaling in 'classic' target cells (kidney/ parathyroid) and cardiac myocytes. Left: In the kidney and parathyroid glands, FGF23 signaling requires FGFR and the coreceptor klotho. FGF23–klotho binding to FGFR stimulates autophosphorylation of the receptor tyrosine kinase and induces signaling mainly through the Ras/ MAPK pathway. Right: In the heart, binding of FGF23 to FGFR on cardiac myocytes stimulates receptor activation independent of klotho, which is not expressed in cardiac myocytes, and signals primarily through the PLCx/ calcineurin/ NFAT pathway. *Reprinted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.* (348).

These findings described above have been supported by animal models with elevated FGF23, such as FGF23 injections in mice, FGF23 injections in klotho deficient mice, high phosphate diet in mice, and renal ablation in rats, showing the development of LVH. Taken together, this supports that the heart may be capable of directly responding to circulating FGF23 (154, 160, 348, 349). Mice lacking FGFR4 do not develop LVH when injected with FGF23, but mice with high FGFR4 expression and normal FGF23 show increased PLCx/ calcineurin/ NFAT signaling and development of LVH, supports that FGF23/ FGFR4 signalling acts as a pro-hypertrophic signaling pathway in the heart (154).

A recent study on mice with cardiorenal syndrome, where mice were subjected to MI for 12 weeks to induce cardiorenal syndrome, showed that the elevated FGF23 levels caused by MI promoted renal fibrosis and decreased Klotho levels in the kidneys (350).

Another potential pathway contributing to LVH is the FGF23 effects on renal handling, where FGF23 upregulates the natrium chloride cotransporter in the distal tubule by promoting natrium reabsorption with volume expansion and hypertrophy (351). Mice exposed to mineralcorticoid deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) displayed elevated FGF23 levels, hypertension and end-organ damage (352, 353). These changes were reversed by the administration of the MRAs spironolactone and eplerenone (353, 354).

Several CVDs such as hypertension, calcified heart valves and heart failure are associated with elevated PTH (355, 356). Increased PTH is also associated with increased myocardial electric vunerability, a trigger for cardiac arrhythmias (357). The sustained activation of the parathyroid glands in ESRD patients induces parathyroid hyperplasia, and elevated PTH levels lead to high phosphate and hypercalcemia, increasing the CV risk in these patients (358). Chronic hypercalcemia is related to calcification of cardiac valves and vessels (359). Parathyroidectomy has been shown to reduce the risk of arrythmias (360) and reduce cardiac hypertrophy (361) in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. At the cellular level, PTH- dependent pathways participate in pathophysiological processes involved in cardiomyocyte function, such as contraction, proliferation and apoptosis (362). Cardiomyocytes incubated with PTH show an increase in cellular contractions per minute and premature cell death (363). Both clinical and experimental studies suggest that PTH is associated with cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy implicating that high PTH has damaging effects on the heart (364). Hyperphosphatemia is an independent risk factor in the progression of coronary artery calcification in patients established in peritoneal dialysis (365).

Studies have shown that vitamin D have a role in cardiac remodeling (364). In a rat model of hypertension, treatment with paricalcitol (active vitamin D analog) inhibited the development of LVH, without influencing the blood pressure (366). In a similar model, paricalcitol has been used to prevent the progression of pre-existing LVH and the development of heart failure (367). In a different model, with surgically induced MI in mice, paricalcitol reduced the development of heart failure by reducing infarct size, inflammation and fibrosis (368). VDR also inhibits NFAT genes which can explain the cardioprotective properties provided by VDR activator administration (369). Many studies show an association between low vitamin D and CV events and mortality, but they fail to confirm the clear trends found in animal models. The studies show associations and cannot prove a cause-and-effect relationship (199, 370). In metanalysis and reviews it has been suggested that low vitamin D is a marker of poor health in general, as an alternative to a risk factor for CVD (371, 372).

Patients with CKD are in a state of "chronic inflammation", where an inverse relationship between eGFR and inflammatory cytokines exist (373). This chronic inflammatory state also contributes to the increased morbidity and mortality seen in patients with CKD (295). In CKD patients without CVD manifestations (known coronary heart disease, heart failure, arrhythmias or severe hypertension), increased FGF23 and decreased Klotho levels were associated with cardiovascular remodeling, measured by echocardiography, pulse wave velocity (PWV) and calcification score (374).

After kidney transplantation the risk of cardiovascular events remain elevated, despite the partial or complete resolution of uremia-associated metabolic derangements (323). Studies have demonstrated progressive coronary arterie calcification and aorta calcification in stable kidney transplant recipients (375). Persistent hyperparathyroidism is associated with hypercalcemia (376) which induces vasoconstriction and vascular calcification (377). Low-grade systemic inflammation is an established complication to kidney transplantation, where the graft continuously stimulates the innate and the adaptive immune responses (323). This leads to production of inflammatory cytokines which increase VSMC differentiation leading to mineralization (378). Inflammation is intertwined with oxidative stress which also promotes vascular calcification (323, 379). Immunosuppressive drugs have a role in the calcification process due to their effects on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Steroids, CNIs and mTOR inhibitors are major determinants of post-transplant diabetes mellitus (380). mTOR inhibitors are linked to hypercholesterolemia (381). Experimental data suggest that immunosuppression directly affects VSCMs and endothelial cells by inhibiting NO synthase, which promotes atherosclerosis and induce VSMC calcification (382, 383). Kidney transplant recipients are also subjected to the traditional risk factors for CVD, including diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia and old age which contribute to vascular calcification (323). A recent study found an inverse relationship between bone mineral density and abdominal aortic calcification in kidney transplant recipients examined within 6 months posttransplant, supporting the existence of a bone-vascular axis post-transplant, which may help us target the increased risk of CVD post-transplant if addressed properly (384).

Aldosterone is important in blood pressure control and extracellular volume regulation. Aldosterone raises blood pressure by actions on the vasculature and central nervous system through MR- dependent and independent mechanisms (331). The MR is located in many tissues, endothelial cells, VSMCs, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes (385), as well as in the kidney's distal tubule, collecting duct, podocytes and mesangial cells (386). In diabetes and CKD, MR activation promotes detrimental effects including podocyte injury and albuminuria, reduced renal blood
flow and increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines, which can lead to progression of CKD (386-388).

Patients with primary aldosteronism have increased risk of developing CVD (389) and kidney disease (390), and these outcomes can be mitigated by MR antagonist therapy (389, 391). A recent study showed that serum aldosterone concentrations are inversely correlated with eGFR and proteinuria, and associated with progression of CKD (392). This was independent of diabetes, suggesting that MR agonist therapy should also be investigated as a renoprotective method in patients without diabetes (392).

In VSMCs the effect of MR stimulation by aldosterone is the triggering of an osteogenic cascade leading to calcification (393). Spironolactone has been shown to reduce this calcification in mouse models (394). Vascular calcification in CKD is also a result of reduced phosphate elimination followed by hyperphosphatemia and precipitation of calcium-phosphate (395). Hyperphosphatemia is associated with upregulated aldosterone synthase, which is the terminal enzyme in the aldosterone biosynthesis pathway, leading to elevated aldosterone levels as a result of high phosphate levels (394, 395). Aldosterone also upregulates bone expression of FGF23 (353), leading to additional effects on the heart, kidneys and vasculature (331).

Obesity is a traditional risk factor for CVD, and the incidence is increasing worldwide (396). Aldosterone levels are elevated in obese individuals, caused by a leptin-mediated upregulation of aldosterone synthase (397) contributing to hypertension. In a mouse model spironolactone reduced the leptin-mediated endothelial dysfunction (397). Leptin also stimulates FGF23 synthesis in bone in mice (398, 399), suggesting leptin as a possible FGF23 regulator in humans.

In conclusion, an intricate interaction between several factors interact to influence the development of CVD in patients with CKD.

## Methods to evaluate CVD in CKD.

In the following section, the methods used to evaluate CVD in the studies included in the thesis are presented. Evaluations such as ecchocardiography and computer tomography of the coronary arteries have not been used in these studies and will not be presented in detail, even though they are important clinical tools in the evaluation of CVD.

#### Pulse wave velocity (PWV)

PWV is the velocity at which the blood pressure pulse propagates through the circulatory system. PWV is the gold standard as a non-invasive measure of arterial stiffness. Measurement of carotis to femoral PWV is recommended (400), and the measurement predicts future CV events and all-cause mortality independently of conventional risk factors (401). Calcification of central arterial vessels contribute to elevated PWV. PWV is recognized as an indicator of target organ damage and a useful additional test in the investigation of hypertension (402).

## *Calcification propensity score* $(T_{50})$

 $T_{50}$  is a blood test evaluating the anti-calcifying buffering system capacity, where the ability to resist calcification by measuring the calcification inhibitory forces present in individual blood samples is tested. Short  $T_{50}$  is consistent with accelerated transformation and low calcification resistance, whereas delayed transformation reflects intact calcification resistance (403).

## Coronary angiography

Invasive coronary angiography is the gold standard in the diagnosis of coronary artery disease (404). The procedure access the coronary circulation of the heart using a catheter, and is used for diagnostic and interventional purposes. Through injection of contrast agent and illumination with x-rays, the procedure allows the recognition of occlusion, stenosis, restenosis, thrombosis or aneurysmal enlargement of the arteries (404). The patient is awake during the procedure. The phycisian has the ability to inflate a balloon or insert a device (stent) that will improve blood flow to the artery (404). In study 3, all patients presented with ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI). Acute percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) was performed according to international guidelines (405), the details of the PCI procedure itself with regards to choise of catheters, guidewires, balloons, stents and concommittant therapies were a clinical decision made by the operator.

Although individuals with CKD have worse prognosis in the setting of an MI, they are less likely to receive an early invasive strategy as recommended by international guidelines (406). Studies have shown that invasive management was associated with lower in-hospital mortality with both STEMI and NSTEMI in all patients with CKD when compared with a conservative strategy (407). When choosing an invasive strategy, measures to prevent AKI should be taken. Current guidelines recommend low-volume iso- or hypo-osmolar contrast materials during the catheterization of individuals with CKD. Adequate hydration before and after the intervention is also important to prevent AKI (408, 409).

### Cardiac MRI

Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) is one of the best tools available for the assessment of myocardial function and damage following an MI. CMR visualizes LV-morphology and function with high reproducibility and accuracy (410). Contrast enhancement techinques allow the exact description of infarct size and shape, depth and location. Large infarcts with prolonged obstruction in the infarct-related artery are characterized by dark, central zones surrounded by hyperenhanced regions, and reperfused infarcts with less dysfunction have uniform signal hyperenhancement (410, 411). CMR is accepted as the gold standard in assessment of LV-remodelling, due to CMR's 3D imaging technique and its ability to accurately define the deformed ventricle (412).

Contrast based CMR improves views of the heart muscle and blood flow, and uses gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs), where the contrast is distributed in extracellular fluid. The contrast allows the visualization of scar tissue and oedema following MI. This is an accurate, non-invasive method that can visualize very small infarcted areas. Contrast-enhanced CMR is also used to evaluate diseases like cardiomyopathy and myocarditis (413). In an acute setting, contrast MRI in combination with cine MRI can be used to distinguish between acute MI (hyperenhanced and with contractile dysfunction), injured but viable myocardium (not hyperenhanced but with contractile dysfunction) and normal myocardium (not hyperenhanced and with normal function) (411).

Free gadolinium ions are toxic, and ligands are used to create chelates for safe use in humans. Based on the formula the GBCAs are classified as linear or macrocyclic (414). There has been concern regarding cerebral depositions after repeated GBCA adminitrations, with studies suggesting that linear compounds have higher likelihood of deposition than macrocyclic compounds. As a preventive measure, the European Medicines Agency suspended the marketing authorization for linear GBCA types (except for hepatic imaging) (415). At SUS, the contrast agent Dotarem is used for CMR, this is a macrocyclic compound.

Imaging studies using CMR have redefined uremic cardiomyopathy in CKD as a forsiktighetdistinct phenotype consisting of prognostically significant changes including LVH, left atrial dilatation, diastolic dysfunction and myocardial fibrosis. Initially, standard MRI contrast in the form of gadolinium was used in CKD and dialysis patients (416). Reports on the potential toxic effects of gadolinium, and the

association between gadolinium contrast and nephrogenic systemic fibrosis (NSF) in patients with decreased renal elimination were concerning (414). The risk for NSF led to the use of lower doses of contrast and lower-risk gadolinium agents (gadobutrol, gadoteridol, gadoterate). These measures appear to minimize the risk (417). Nevertheless, most nephrologists and radiologists consider eGFR <30 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> as a contraindication for an MRI with gadolinium constrast to avoid the risk of NSF (414), this is also the limit used by the radiology department at SUS for CMR.

Non-contrast native T<sub>1</sub> relaxation time is a viable alternative to the use of gadolinium contrast, and has been shown to correlate with cardiac fibrosis in histology samples (418). T<sub>1</sub> time reflects the longitudinal recovery time of hydrogen atoms following their excitation. At any given magnetic field strength, each type of tissue has a normal range of values. A significant variation from the normal range represents tissue pathology (419). CMR has a unique ability to provide a non-invasive examination of cardiac structure and function, arterial function, myocardial tissue characterization (T1 mapping and inversion recovery imaging) and myocardial metabolic function (spectroscopy), and is an ideal method to provide insights into the mechanisms leading to uremic cardiomyopathy (420).

Studies on patients with ESRD, showed significantly increased  $T_1$  time suggesting that this represents cardiac fibrosis found in uremic cardiomyopathy (419, 420). A study on 134 predialytic patients with CKD stages 2-5 without myocardial ischemia with CMR found an inverse relationship between interstitial myocardial fibrosis (measured by native myocardial  $T_1$  time) and eGFR. Exercise tolerance measured by stress echocardiography decreased, LV mass increased and serum biomarkers of fibrosis and heart failure increased as kidney function deteriorated (421). These findings support the hypothesis of very early onset of fibrosis in the development of CKD, as well as the hypothesis of diffuse myocardial fibrosis as a driver of myocardial dysfunction and uremic cardiomyopathy in CKD.

# 2. Aims and objectives

Overall objectives

Paper 1:

To establish the levels of NGAL, sKlotho, iFGF23 and vitamin D in patients with CKD stages 3-5, kidney donors and healthy controls.

Paper 2:

To explore the association between vitamin D status 10 weeks post kidney transplantation and long-term graft- and patient survival.

Paper 3:

To investigate the time-dependent changes in iFGF23 and the relationship between circulating iFGF23 levels and MI size, LV remodeling and systemic biomarkers of inflammation and collagen turnover following acute STEMI.

Paper 4

To explore the relationship between vitamin D, sKlotho and iFGF23 measured 8 weeks and 1 year post kidney transplantation and long-term graft- and patient survival.

## **Overview over studies 1-4:**

Study 1: NGAL, iFGF23 and sKlotho in long-term kidney donors



Study 3: FGF23 and cardiac MRI findings in patients with acute first time STEMI



## Single-center observational study

**Study 4**: Klotho and FGF23 are independent of vitamin D, and unlike vitamin D, are not associated with graft- and patient survival after kidney transplantion



CKD: chronic kidney disease, iFGF23: intact fibroblast growth factor 23, NGAL: neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalcin, NRR: Norwegian Renal Registry, tx: transplantation,, Vitamin D: 25(OH)vitamin D

## 3. Materials and methods

## Patient populations and study design

Paper 1:

All patients with CKD, kidney transplant recipients and kidney donors that are followed by the nephrology department at SUS are registered in a clinical database (Nephrobase) which is used in every visit to the department. To identify eligible patients to be includeed in Study 1, we did a search in Nephrobase for kidney donors with eGFR  $\geq$ 60 ml/min/m<sup>2</sup>. We included donors with normal eGFR to avoid confounding with regard to the biomarkers, and we included donors with a follow-up >5 years since nephrectomy (422).

We also included patients in CKD stages 3 and 4 in connection with planned appointments at the department in October and November 2013. Patients with CKD 5 were included from the HD unit. Patients with severe comorbidities and a limited lifeexpectancy, as well as previously parathyroidectomized patients were excluded to avoid confounding. Controls were recruited among collegues and friends who regarded themselves as healthy. Only age and gender were recorded. Patients and controls were included after giving written, informed consent (422).

Study one was a cross-sectional observational single-center trial. 35 kidney donors, 35 healthy controls, 22 patients with CKD stage 3, 18 patients with CKD stage 4 and 20 patients with CKD stage 5 were randomly included.

#### Paper 2:

All adult first-time single kidney transplant recipients in Norway from October 15, 2007-October 15, 2012 were included. Patients who received a combined transplantation with kidney and pancreas were excluded, as well as second, third and fourth time kidney recipients. We aimed to avoid possible influences by previous kidney grafts or complications due to the pancreas grafts. We ended up with a cohort of 762 first-time kidney recipients, figure 18 (423).



Figure 18. Flowchart showing the inclusion prosess in study 2. *Reprinted with permission from Wiley (423)*.

Approximately 10 weeks post-transplant, all patients were examined at the laboratory for Renal Physiology at OUS, RH. At this investigation, vital signs, blood pressure, and clinical chemistry data were captured. In addition, patients were subjected to an aortic (carotid-femoral) PWV investigation. Plasma and serum samples for analysis of 25(OH)D, NGAL, and  $T_{50}$  were obtained and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C in the Diagnostic and Treatment biobank "Nyrefysiologisk laboratorium" (Biobank nr 266-2005-142234). 25(OH)D was measured en bloc from the biobanked serum on the complete cohort in 2015 (423).

Patients with a functioning kidney graft 1 year post-transplant were invited to OUS, RH for clinical examination and a laboratory follow-up. At 1 year follow-up we have data on 710 of the patients. From 2009, a routine protocol kidney graft biopsy was included in the 1 year examination. Long-term outcomes were obtained from the NRR where annual data are collected on the entire Norwegian transplant population. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before any data or biological material was included in the NRR and the biobank at OUS, RH. Patients were followed from time of transplantation until graft failure, death, or end of study on October 18, 2017 (423).

Study 2 was a national prospective, observational cohort study that included all firsttime kidney transplant recipients between October 2012 and October 2017 in Norway.

Study 3 included patients with their first-time STEMI, typical chest pain and STelevations on ECG. The patients were recruited if they had acute proximal/ midoccluded single vessel disease and went through a successful revascularization with a primary PCI defined as TIMI 3 flow, and no significant residual stenosis. Patients were excluded if they had evidence of previous MI based on history, ECG or angiography, or if they had more than single vessel disease on angiography or CMR. Patients were also excluded if they had severe co-morbidities, reinfarction during the first week or contraindications against CMR. A total of 42 STEMI patients fulfilling all these criteria were included (424).

All patients were treated according to standard PCI procedure, with aspirin, clopidogrel, heparin and statins. Post-MI, the patients were treated according to current guidelines with ACE inhibitor/ angiotensin receptor blockers, diuretics and beta-blockers. They were treated with an aldosterone antagonist if indicated, in accordance with the criteria used in the EPHESUS study (424, 425). Patients with LV dysfunction as documented by LVEF of 40 percent or lower, and heart failure as documented by the presence of pulmonary rales, chest radiography showing pulmonary venous congestion. In patients with diabetes who met the criteria for LV dysfunction after acute MI, symptoms of heart failure did not have to be demonstrated, since such patients have an increased risk of CV events similar to that of nondiabetic patients with symptoms of heart failure. In our cohort, 8 patients were treated with an aldosterone antagonist. They all had LVEF <40% and clinical signs of heart failure post MI, using +/- indication for aldosterone antagonist to divide the group. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before inclusion (424).

Study 3 was a single center observational study including patients with a first-time STEMI due to an occlusion of a single, large coronary artery, successfully revascularized with PCI. The included patients were followed with repeated CMRs and lab tests during a 1 year follow-up period.

A total of 236 patients received a kidney only transplant in the period of November 19, 2012 to October 31, 2013, 170 from a deceased donor and 66 from a living donor. Thirtyfour of 236 were re-transplantations. Approximately 8 weeks post-transplant all patients are examined at the laboratory for Renal Physiology at OUS, RH. Vitamin D levels were measured as a part of the follow-up at week 8 post-transplant. We randomly selected 132 patients based on vitamin D measurement at the 8 week investigation without taking any other information into consideration The aim of the study was to explore the relationship between sKlotho and iFGF23 measured 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant with long-term graft- and patient survival in a cohort of kidney transplant recipients with deficient and non-deficient vitamin D levels. Patients with a functioning kidney graft 1 year post-transplant are invited to OUS-RH for clinical examination and laboratory follow-up. One hundred and twenty-eight of the 132 patients included attended the 1 year follow-up. In the routine in-depth investigations at both 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant, vital signs, blood pressure (BP) and blood samples for clinical chemistry were obtained. All patients were examined with aortic (carotid-femoral) PWV using SphygmoCore® (426) at 8 weeks and 1 year.

Plasma samples for analysis of sKlotho and iFGF23 were obtained and stored at -70°C in the Diagnostic and Treatment biobank "Nyrefysiologisk laboratorium" (Biobank nr 266-2005-142234). Plasma samples for analysis of sKlotho and iFGF23 were sent to Stavanger and measured en bloc at Stavanger University Hospital, and the biomarker results were not reported to the treating phycisians (426).

Long-term outcomes were collected from the NRR. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients before any data or biological material was included in the NRR and the biobank at OUS, RH. The patients were followed from time of transplantation until graft failure, death or end of study March 01, 2022 (426).

Study 4 was a national prospective, observational cohort study that included 132 kidney transplant recipients.

## Materials

#### Paper 1

Blood samples and urine samples were collected one time per person. Routine hematological and biochemical analyses were performed in the biochemical laboratory at SUS. Urine samples were analyzed for albumine, creatinine, calcium, phosphate in all participants, except the CKD 5 patients, since many HD patients are anuric. The biomarkers were measured en bloc. 25(OH)D, iFGF23 and sKlotho were analyzed in serum, NGAL was analyzed in EDTA plasma.

25(OH)D was quantified by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization with 4-phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione reagent (PTAD; Sigma-Aldrich, St.Louis, Mo, USA), and analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection (422, 427). iFGF23 was measured by a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit from Kainos Laboratories Inc. (Tokyo, Japan). sKlotho was measured by a commercially available ELISA kit from IBL (Immuno-Biological Laboratories GmbH, Hamburg, Germany). NGAL was measured with a commercially available ELISA kit with microwells precoated with a monoclonal antibody raised against human NGAL (KIT 036; Bio-Porto Diagnostics, Gentofte, Denmark). The analysis were performed in accordance with the manufacturers' protocols. Freshly thawed samples were measured in duplicate, and the reproducibility of the method was monitored by analyzing 3-5 aliquotes of a serum control with each assay (422).

The fractional excretion of phosphate (FePO<sub>4</sub>) and calcium (FeCa<sub>3</sub>) was calculated according to the following formula: FePo<sub>4</sub>: (urine-phosphate x serum creatinine) x 100/(serum phosphate x urine creatinine). FeCa<sub>3</sub>: (urine-calcium x serum creatinine) x 100/(serum calcium x urine creatinine).

Blood samples were collected from fasting patients, and routine laboratory samples were analyzed at the biochemical department at OUS, RH. 25(OH)D,  $T_{50}$ , and NGAL were analyzed in biobanked serum at SUS, Calciscon AG, and OUS, RH, respectively (423).

Serum creatinine values were calibrated to the isotope dilution mass spectrometry method (reference range: females 45-90 µmol/L; males 60-105 µmol/L), and eGFR was estimated using the CKD-EPI equation (99).

Serum 25(OH)D was quantified by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization with 4phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione reagent (PTAD, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and analyzed by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection at the laboratory of medical biochemistry at SUS (423).

NGAL was analyzed by enzyme immunoassay (EIA) using antibodies from R&D systems (Stillwater, Minnesota, USA). Inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation are 4.8% and 2.3%, respectively (423).

 $T_{50}$  was determined using a method that measures the time of in vitro transformation from primary to secondary calciprotein particles. 40 µL serum was exposed to high and supersaturated concentrations of calcium (35 µL) and phosphate (25 µL) solutions in triplicate in 384-well plates. The transformation step was monitored at 37°C using time-resolved nephelometry (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany). Nonlinear regression curves were calculated to determine T<sub>50</sub>. The analytical coefficients of variation of standards precipitating at 120, 260, and 390 minutes were 7.8%, 5.1%, and 5.9%, respectively (403, 423).

PWV measurements were done in the morning with patients in a quiet room. PWV was measured with the SphygmoCor® apparatus version 8.0 (AtCor Medical, New South Wales, Australia) and a validated tonometer (SPT-304, Millar Instruments, Houston, Texas). Pulse waves in the carotid and contralateral femoral artery were measured sequentially, with femoral measurements done on the non-transplanted

side. Integrated software was used to calculate carotid-femoral pulse wave transit time with a simultaneously recorded electrocardiogram as reference. Pulse wave travel distance was measured as the distance from the suprasternal notch to the umbilicus plus ten cm based on recommendations by the manufacturer (423, 428).

From 2009, a protocol graft biopsy was obtained 1 year  $\pm$  2 months post-transplant. Two cores were obtained with ultrasound guidance using an 18-gauge spring-loaded biopsy gun, one for histology (hematoxylin-eosin and saffron, periodic acid-Schiff, and Masson trichrome) and one for C4d. Both biopsies contained at least one glomerular and one arterial profile and sufficient tubulointerstitial tissue to grade inflammation (i), tubulitis (t) interstitial fibrosis (ci), and tubular atrophy (ct). Oneyear biopsy data were available in 510 of the 584 kidney transplantations done after 2009 included in this study. Some recipients did not have a functioning graft 1 year post-transplant, some refused the procedure, or were already biopsied on indication. Protocol biopsies were assessed by one of four dedicated renal pathologists and graded according to revisited Banff 2007 classification. Interstitial fibrosis was scored from zero to three and categorized into two groups with score zero and one vs two and three (423, 429).

The patients were followed with CMR at 4 time-points during the first year following infarction: at 2 days, 1 week, 2 months and 1 year. The CMR examinations were used to assess infarct size and LV volumes and LVEF. Blood samples were drawn at admittance (before revascularization), and at the same time points as the CMRs. The CMR images were ECG-gated and obtained during breath holding. Patients were scanned in a supine position by a 1.5 T whole body scanner (Intera<sup>™</sup> R10, Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) using a dedicated cardiac coil. Resting LV function was determined with cine images using a steady-state free precession technique. For first-pass perfusion, a turbo field echo sequence with three short-axis slices per heartbeat (prospective triggering) and a selective saturation recovery prepulse was used. Gadolinium-based contrast agent (Omniscan<sup>™</sup>, Amersham Health, Little Chalfont, UK) was given at a dose of 0.075 mmol/kg. Immediately following the completion of the first-pass imaging, another 0.175 mmol/kg of contrast agent was infused, and 10-15 min following the latter infusion-delayed hyper enhancement images were acquired. All post-processing was performed on the View Forum<sup>™</sup> Software (Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) in a random, blinded fashion. Assessment of left ventricular end diastolic volume index (LVEDVI), left ventricular end systolic volume index (LVESVI), and LVEF was done by short-axis volumetry. Infarct size was assessed manually with plainimetry on each short-axis slice by delineating the hyper enhanced area from the non-enhanced myocardium (221, 424)

At the time of study 3, the contrast agent Magnevist (gadopentetate dimeglumime) was used as a standard for CMR. This is a lineær compound, and is not used today due to the risk of NSF. The contrast agent used today is Dotarem (gadoterate meglumine), which is a cyclic compound. The amounts of contrast agent is the same before and now, and contrast is given twice during the examination. First for perfusion, 0.075 mmol/kg (0.15 ml/kg), and then the rest of the contrast 0.25 mmol/kg (0.5 ml/kg) minus the perfusion bolus.

Venous blood samples were collected on admission to the hospital, immediately prior to PCI, and 2 days, 7 days, 2 months and 1 year following MI. The pyregen-free blood collection tubes were immediately immersed in melting ice (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid-containing tubes, plasma) or placed in room temperature (tubes without any additives, serum) and centrifuged within 20 minutes at 2500*g* for 20 minutes to obtain platelet-poor plasma, or centrifuged at 1000*g* for 10 minutes after coagulation (serum). All samples were stored at -50 °C and thawed only once. Biomarkers were analyzed in one run, after the study was completed (424).

Plasma iFGF23 was measured by commercially available ELISA kits from Immutopics International, San Clemente, CA, USA. Freshly thawed samples were measured in duplicates, and the reproducibility of the method monitored by analyzing 4 aliquots of a control with each assay. Serum levels of CTGF were determined by a sandwich ELISA (430). The concentration of transforming growth factor b1 (TGFb1) was measured by EIA (R&D Systems) (431). Serum 25(OH) vitamin D were quantified by liquid–liquid extraction, derivatization with 4-phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione reagent (PTAD, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection (427). In this study, levels of serum 25(OH) vitamin D are termed deficient <30 nmol/1 (<12 ng/mL), insufficient at 30–50 nmol/L (12–20 ng/mL), sufficient at >50 nmol/L (>20 ng/mL) (424). PINP, (PIINP) and CITP were analysed using a radioimmunoassay from Orion Diagnostica (Finland). The lower detection limit was 2.0 ng/mL for PINP, 0.20 ng/mL for PIIINP and 0.50 ng/mL for CITP respectively (424).

Blood samples were collected from fasting patients, and routine laboratory samples including 25(OH)D were analyzed at the biochemical department at OUS, RH. iFGF23 and sKlotho were analyzed in biobanked serum at SUS.

Serum creatinine values were calibrated to the isotope dilution mass spectrometry method (reference range: females 45-90  $\mu$ mol/L; males 60-105  $\mu$ mol/L), and eGFR was estimated using the CKD-EPI equation (99, 426). Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) results were given in % and converted to mmol/mol using the formula: IFCC HbA1c mmol/mol= (10.931\*NGSP-HbA1c)-23.524 (432).

25(OH)D, including both 25-OH Vitamin D2 and 25-OH Vitamin D3 was measured in fresh serum samples by reversed-phase liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection. We used the National Institute of Health definition for vitamin D levels, with vitamin D deficiency defined as serum 25(OH)D concentrations <30 nmol/L (<12 ng/mL) (195) , and we pooled insufficiency 30-50 nmol/L (12-20 ng/mL) and sufficiency >50 nmol/L (>20 ng/mL as non-deficient vitamin D levels (≥30 nmol/L) to increase the clinical relevance and the statistical power (195, 426).

iFGF23 and sKlotho were measured in EDTA-plasma by commercially available ELISA kits from Immutopics International (San Clemente; CA, USA) and IBL (Immuno-Biological Laboratoires GmbH, Japan), respectively. Freshly thawed samples were analyzed in duplicates, and the mean value reported. Coefficients of variation between duplicates were <17% for sKlotho and <16% for iFGF23. The intra- and inter-assay variability of the methods were <11% and <12% for iFGF23, respectively, and <13% and <12% for sKlotho, respectively (n=3-6). iFGF23 in EDTA-plasma based on 8 healthy adults measured in the same local laboratory was mean 43.9 pg/ml (±19pg/ml) (424). sKlotho measured by IBL ELISA kit in serum from 142 healthy subjects, was reported to range from 239 to 1,266 pg/ml, with a mean of  $562 \pm 146$  pg/ml, in the original publication on the method (433).

## **Statistical methods**

## In general:

Descriptive statistics are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) when normally distributed, median and range when not normally distributed.

The level of statistical significance is defined as p <0.05. All statistical analysis were conducted using SPSS versions 22.0-26.0.

#### Paper 1

NGAL, sKlotho and iFGF23 were logarithmically transformed to obtain normal distribution.

The variables were compared between the different groups by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Mann-Whitney U test and Kruskall-Wallis test gave similar results. We used a multiple regression model with the biomarkers NGAL, iFGF23, and sKlotho as dependent variables to explore the possible effects of the independent variables age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, phosphate, iPTH, albumin-corrected calcium, creatinine, and the other 2 biomarkers on the dependent variables. NGAL, iFGF23, and sKlotho were used as dependent variables in 3 different models. We excluded nonsignificant variables using a backward selection model. We performed the analysis on the complete study population to ensure an adequate sample size (422).

Survival analysis was performed using Kaplan-Meier estimate and Cox proportional hazard analysis including 25(OH)D and other relevant parameters as explanatory variables. The selection of variables to be entered into the Cox regression model was based on clinical knowledge and previous publications. The proportionality assumption was checked using a log-minus-log plot.

To compare the different variable distribution between vitamin D groups, ANOVA was used in numeric variables and chi-square in categorical variables.

A linear regression model was performed with vitamin D as dependent variable and sex, age, BMI, 10-week eGFR, iPTH, calcium, phosphate, albumin, pre-transplant diabetes, combined vascular morbidity (a history of coronary and/or cerebral and/or peripheral vascular disease), time in dialysis, rejection episodes, and donor status (living vs deceased donor) as independent variables measured at 10 weeks post-transplant.

Three different multivariable Cox regression models were performed using death, graft failure, and death-censored graft loss as dependent variables. Sex, age, BMI, 10-week eGFR, iPTH, calcium, vitamin D, phosphate, albumin, pre-transplant diabetes, vascular comorbidity, time in dialysis, rejection episodes, and donor status were used as independent variables in all models. All adjustment variables were set to their empirical means when computing the adjusted survival curves. Patients without events were censored on October 18, 2017. The results in the Cox model remained unchanged whether vitamin D was treated as a continuous or a categorical variable.

ANOVA and paired samples *t* tests were used to compare creatinine levels at 10 weeks post-transplant and at 1 year (423).

Area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for each biomarker at different time points during 1-year follow-up, and correlations were measured cumulatively. ANOVA was used to test for differences between the variables measured at multiple time points, with Bonferroni post-hoc testing where appropriate. Univariate correlations were performed using non-parametric methods (Spearman). Nonparametric tests (Mann-Whitney U, Kruskal-Wallis) were used to test for differences between groups.

## Paper 4

To compare the different variable distribution between the two vitamin D groups, ANOVA was used in numeric variables and chi-square in categorical variables.

ANOVA and paired samples t-tests were used to compare variables measured at 8 weeks post-transplant and in the end of 2020.

Survival analysis was performed using Kaplan-Meier estimate and multivariable Cox proportional hazard analysis including iFGF23, sKlotho, vitamin D, age, BMI, eGFR, HbA1c and haemoglobine measured at 8 weeks as independent variables. The selection of variables was based on clinical knowledge and previous publications. The proportionality assumption was checked using a log-minus-log plot. Two different Cox regression models were performed using uncensored graft loss (including death and death censored graft loss) and death as dependent variables.

To compare variables measured at 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant, a 2 sided pvalue was estimated using paired sample t-test in normally distributed variables and Wilcoxin Signed Ranks test in not-normally distributed variables (426).

#### Ethical considerations

### Paper 1

All participants drew blood and delivered an extra urine sample to be included in the study. The donors, controls and patients were not informed about their biomarker levels, but controls with deviating standard laboratory levels were informed. One of the controls had albuminuria, and he was informed about this via telephone. He was asked to contact his primary phycisian for control and blood pressure measurement.

#### Paper 2

The kidney recipients were examined at 10 weeks as a part of their standardized posttransplant follow-up. They agreed to draw a few extra tubes of blood at the same time as standard blood testing. They were not subjected to extra examinations or reporting besides the normal follow-up post kidney transplantation.

### Paper 3

The patients with MI were given standard treatment in the acute fase of the MI. They were given the opportunity to be followed with extra CMRs during the next year. Many patients feel important and extra safe when being included into a study, and may be extra careful with self-care and adherence to doctor's advice/ intake of medication, others may have felt that the follow-ups were close in time and a hassle to do. The patients were given repeated doses of a contrast-agent that is taken off the marked after the study was completed, but no reports on averse events have been filed.

#### Paper 4

The kidney recipients were examined at 8 weeks and 1 year as a part of their standardized post-transplantant follow-up. They agreed to draw a few extra tubes of blood at the same time as standard blood testing. They were not subjected to extra examinations or reporting besides the normal follow-up post kidney transplantation.

## 4. Results

Paper 1

Long-term kidney donors with eGFR >60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> had significantly increased levels of NGAL when comparing with controls 5-38 years (median 15) after kidney donation. As expected, we found increasing levels of log NGAL with declining kidney function, figure 19. In the donors, there was no association between NGAL levels and time since nephrectomy, NGAL levels and age, or NGAL levels and 1st-degree relationship between donors and recipients.



**Figure 19.** Boxplt showing the distribution of NGAL in the different groups. *Reprinted with permission from Karger (422).* 

In a multiple regression analysis using log NGAL as the dependent variable and age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, phosphate, iPTH, albumin-corrected calcium, log sKlotho, log FGF23, and creatinine as independent variables, only creatinine remained in the model using a backward selection model (422).

log iFGF23 levels were nonsignificantly higher in donors than in controls. As expected log iFGF23 levels increased significantly with declining kidney function. There was no difference in log sKlotho levels between controls and kidney donors. log sKlotho levels declined with declining kidney function, and the log sKlotho levels were significantly lower in patients with CKD stages 4 and 5 than in controls (422).

In the 762 kidney transplant recipients, 148 (19%) had 25(OH)D levels <30 nmol/L (vitamin D deficiency), 351 (46%) had 25(OH)D levels from 30 to 50 nmol/L (vitamin D insufficiency), and 263 (35%) had 25(OH)D levels >50 nmol/L (vitamin D sufficiency) 10 weeks post-transplant. None had 25(OH)D levels >125 nmol/L.

During a median follow-up of 82 months after the 10-week post-transplant control, 118 (15%) recipients died, and 172 (23%) patients lost their grafts. Patient and graft survival were significantly better in patients with vitamin D sufficiency at 10 weeks post-transplant compared with patients with vitamin D insufficiency or deficiency. Eighty-six percent of the transplant recipients with sufficient vitamin D levels were alive with a well-functioning graft after 5 years using Kaplan-Meier survival estimates, compared with 79% and 76% of the patients with vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency, respectively (P = 0.006) (423).

Using death as the main end-point, the risk of death was 2.3 (1.5-3.6) times higher in patients with vitamin D insufficiency and 1.8 (1.1-3.1) times higher in patients with vitamin D deficiency compared with patients with vitamin D sufficiency, figure 20.



Figure 20. Overall survival in patients with vitamin D insufficiency, deficiency and sufficiency. *Reprinted with permission from Wiley* (423).

In multivariable analysis, the patients with vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency had a higher risk of graft failure or death when comparing with patients with sufficient vitamin D levels. Using graft failure as the main end-point, censoring for death with functioning graft, the results show the same tendency with increased risk of graft failure with vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. When using graft failure as the dependent variable, 10-week eGFR and rejection episodes were significantly associated with graft loss, showing that low eGFR and acute rejections are all independent risk factors for graft loss. Vitamin D level at 10 weeks post-transplant was associated with graft failure and death in all three Cox models (423).

NGAL was not significantly different between the groups of patients with vitamin D insufficiency, deficiency, and sufficiency. Median aPWV at 10 weeks showed no significant difference between the vitamin D groups of patients. Mean  $T_{50}$  was significantly higher in the vitamin D sufficient group of patients compared with the patients with vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency (423).

One-year post-transplant follow-up laboratory samples were analyzed in 710 of the 762 transplant recipients. In the group of patients with vitamin D deficiency (137 patients) and insufficiency (322 patients), the creatinine levels increased insignificantly. In contrast, patients with vitamin D sufficiency (251 patients) had a significant decrease in creatinine. Creatinine increased  $\geq$ 20% from week 10 to 1 year post-transplant in 106 individuals (15%), 26 patients (20%) in the group with vitamin D deficiency, 55 patients (17%) with insufficiency, and 23 patients (9%) with vitamin D sufficiency (P = 0.004).

In the 1-year protocol biopsies, interstitial fibrosis was scored into four categories according to the Banff classification, score zero to three. There was significantly more interstitial fibrosis, that is, biopsies with fibrosis scores two and three compared with scores zero and one, in patients with vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency compared with the group of patients with vitamin D sufficiency (P = 0.022) (423).

Several significant patterns were revealed comparing the pattern during follow-up in MI patients. First, iFGF23 was significantly lower day 0 and day 2 compared with the levels measured in healthy adults, with a significant increase in concentrations during follow-up reaching levels comparable/ higher than healthy adults on day 7 with the highest concentrations at 1 year, figure 21.



Figure 21. FGF23 measurements at different timepoints. Mean  $\pm$  SD in red. *Reprinted* with permission from Elsevier (424).

Second, CITP increased significantly from day 0 to day 2, and remained elevated throughout the observation period indicating a prolonged increased collagen type I degradation following MI. Third, in contrast to this pattern, PINP showed a late, significant increase from day 0 reaching the highest level at 1 year, suggesting a slower increase in collagen type I synthesis. Fourth, PIIINP showed a rapid increase during the first week, with persistent elevation for the rest of the observation period, suggesting a rapid increase in type III collagen synthesis. Finally, there was no significant changes during follow-up in 25(OH) vitamin D, CTGF, TGF- $\beta$ , creatinine, calcium, phosphate and iPTH levels. There was no correlation between iFGF23 levels and the other biomarkers at any time-points. However, there was a strong correlation

between the AUC of FGF23 and CTGF during the 1-year follow-up (r = 0.53, p < 0.01).

In the whole group of patients there was a significant reduction in infarct size and myocardial mass from day 1 to 1 year post MI. LVEF increased from 47.2% at baseline to 52.7% at one year follow-up. LVESVI and LVEDVI did not change significantly. In the group as a whole, there was no correlation between iFGF23 levels and the CMR findings at any time-points.

The studied cohort was divided according to the presence or absence of LV dysfunction or heart failure during the acute course of the MI. A total of 8 patients had LVEF <40% and signs of acute heart failure. These patients had larger infarct sizes, lower LVEF and increased LVEDVI and LVESVI on CMR, figure 22.



**Figure 22.** (A) LVEF, (B) infarct size, (C) LVEDVI and (D) LVESVI in patients with and without heart failure. *Reprinted with permission from Elsevier (424)* 

The 8 patients with heart failure were treated with aldosterone antagonists following revascularization. iFGF23 levels were higher at all time-points in this group, figure 23. In the patients with acute heart failure, there was a significant correlation between the AUC of the iFGF23 concentrations 7 days post MI and CMR findings on day 7, with LVEF, infarcted mass and infarct size in percent of LV mass (424).



**Figure 23.** iFGF23 levels in patients without and with heart failure post MI. *Reprinted with permission from Elsevier (424)* 

## iFGF23, sKlotho and vitamin D status 8 weeks post-transplant

Of the 132 selected kidney transplant recipients, 49 (37%) had 25(OH)D levels <30 nmol/L, 83 (63%) had 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L. Mean age was 51.1 years, 58% were male. There were no significant differences in iFGF23 levels (p=0.17) or sKlotho levels (p=0.37) between the vitamin D groups at 8 weeks. Median follow-up time was 7.4 (1.2-8.1) years (426).

## FGF23, Klotho and vitamin D status 1 year post-transplant

In total 128 of the 132 patients attended the 1 year follow-up at the transplant center. In 4 of the 128 attendees, vitamin D was missing, all other measurements were registered. In the cohort as a whole, vitamin D increased from mean  $43\pm20$  nmol/L 8 weeks post-transplant to  $60\pm26$  nmol/L (p<0.001) 1 year post-transplant. Thirteen patients (11%) had 25(OH)D levels <30 nmol/L, and 111 patients (87%) had 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L 1 year post-transplant. In the whole group, iFGF23 levels decreased from median 110 (15-1990) pg/mL to 89 (32-727) pg/mL, (p<0.001) from 8 weeks to 1 year post-transplant. In the same period, sKlotho leves increased from mean  $417\pm129$  pg/mL to  $637\pm207$  pg/mL, (p<0.001), eGFR increased from mean  $62\pm19$  mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> to  $73\pm25$  mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, (p<0.001), and iPTH levels decreased from median 10.5 (2.3-132.2) µmol/L to 8.9 (2.3-72.5) µmol/L, (p<0.001) (426).

## Graft survival and overall survival

During the follow-up period, a total of 36 grafts were lost, 27 (75%) of these were due to death with a functioning graft. Overall, graft survival was significantly different between the two vitamin D groups. Twenty (41%) of the patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) at 8 weeks post-transplant suffered graft loss or death compared with 16 (19%) in the non-deficient vitamin D group ( $\geq$ 30 nmol/L), p= 0.007 (426).

Crude Kaplan Meier estimated 5 year uncesored graft survival was  $84\% \pm 5\%$  (SE) in the patients with deficient vitamin D levels, compared with  $94\% \pm 3\%$  in the patients with non-deficient vitamin D levels, (p= 0.014). After 7 years follow-up, the uncensored graft survival was  $74\% \pm 6\%$  and  $84\% \pm 4\%$ , respectively (p=0.007), figure 24 (426).



						(days)	
<30	49	48	47	43	40	36	
≥30 nmol/L	83	82	81	81	75	70	
(vitamin	D leve	ls/ days	of follow	-up)			

**Figure 24:** Kaplan Meier plot showing overall survival in patients with vitamin D deficiency, insuffiency and sufficiency. *Reprinted with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health Inc. (426)* 

In the multivariable Cox regression models with uncensored graft loss as the dependent variable, high age, high HbA1c, low hemoglobin and low vitamin D were associated with uncensored graft loss. In the Cox regression model with patient survival as the dependent variable, high age, high HbA1c and low vitamin D were associated with death. sKlotho, iFGF23 and eGFR at 8 weeks were included as variables in both models, but had no impact on the dependent variables. Haemoglobine did not influence the model with death as dependent variable (426).

In the adjusted model, the patients with vitamin D levels  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L nmol/L, had a hazard ratio for uncensored graft loss of 0.46 (0.23-0.95) compared with patients with vitamin D levels <30 nmol/L. Using death as the main end-point, the patients with vitamin D  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L had a risk of death of 0.40 (0.17-0.92), compared with patients with vitamin D levels <30 nmol/L (426).

## 7 year patient follow-up

Ninety-six (73%) of the 132 patients still had a functioning graft 7 years posttransplant, 29 (59%) of the 49 patients with deficient vitamin D, and 67 ((81%) of the 83 patients with non-deficient vitamin D levels post-transplant, (p=0.007). Mean eGFR was 64 mL/min/ $1.73m^2$ , with no significant difference between the two vitamin D groups. iPTH remained elevated above the normal reference range in both groups with a higher mean level in the whole group of patients 7 years compared with 8 weeks post-transplant, median (range) 10.5  $\mu$ mol/L (2.3  $\mu$ mol/L-132.3  $\mu$ mol/L) at 8 weeks vs 11.0  $\mu$ mol/L (2.7  $\mu$ mol/L-44.7  $\mu$ mol/L) after 7 years (426).

## 5. Discussion

## Methods:

The groups of patients included in these 4 studies do not overlap. They include different groups of patients representing a large portion of the patients followed in a nephrology department, as well as patients with acute MI without kidney disease and healthy controls. This gives us a broad overview of the selected biomarkers in many different patient categories.

## Biomarkers

The quality of commercially available immunoassays to measure biomarkers is no guarantee, and all assays should be evaluated carefully. When using differing kits and different labs (technique), each laboratory has to establish a reference range, and results in published studies may not be automatically comparable.

The same person in the laboratory of biochemistry at SUS performed the biomarker analyses done locally in all 4 studies.

#### Klotho:

When study 1 was performed, three different Klotho kits were available for purchase. The IBL kit used in study 1 was most widely used at the time, and it showed a withinrun variation of 4%. There is a vast increase in available kits, but we chose to use the same IBL kit in study 4 as well. In study 1 we analysed sKlotho in serum, and in study 4 we analysed sKlotho in EDTA-plasma due to sample availability. A good agreement between serum and EDTA plasma in 3 different Klotho assays have been established in one study ( $R^2=99$ ; n=20) (434).

#### FGF23:

Intact FGF23 (iFGF23) is enzymatically cleaved into inactive c-terminal and nterminal fragments. Different types of assays exist for FGF23 testing, those targeting the iFGF23 and those targeting terminal fragments (cFGF23). The cFGF23 kits measure both cleaved and iFGF23. The best way of analyzing FGF23 is a matter of debate. iFGF23 appears to be the active form of the hormone. The two assays show poor agreement, especially in healty subjects (435-437). As kidney function is reduced, the agreement between the assays improves (437). Some studies have shown a steeper cFGF23 slope as kidney function is reduced, supporing an accumulation of c-terminal fragments or reduced renal elimination (435, 438, 439), However, this is not consistent with other reports which claim that during disease progression, iFGF23 increases as cFGF23 decreases, suggesting a reduced cleavage of the intact form, or an increased production of iFGF23 by bone in advanced CKD (108, 438).

A comparison between the two assays is a challenge, since the assays lack standardization between them, and they measure two different forms of FGF23. The results are given in different units, cFGF23 is expressed as RU/mL, and iFGF23 as pg/mL. The assays display different analytical performance (440). There are also more than one available cFGF23 and iFGF23 kits on the market, and the analytical agreement is variable at best, and the performance of the assays vary in precision, range, detection limits and sample matrices (441). There is need for standardization and the development of an international standard, if such kits are to be imported into clinical practice (442). Thus, FGF23 concentrations reported in different studies are not necessarily comparable because there are two different tests, the assays are not standardized and there are differences between laboratories because of the manual nature of the assays (443). We decided to use the concentration of the biologically active intact FGF23 with a half-life of about 1 hour.

In study 1 iFGF23 was analyzed using the commercially available ELISA kit from Kainos Laboratories Inc (Tokyo, Japan). The level of iFGF23, measured with Kainos ELISA kit, in 104 healthy adults from Japan was reported to be in the range of 8.2-

54.3 ng/l (ng/L=pg/ml) (444), and a reference range of 10-50 ng/l has been suggested based on these results (445). In our 35 healthy controls FGF23 was 51.5 pg/ml ( $\pm$ 15.4 pg/ml) (422). In studies 3 and 4 we chose a different supplier for iFGF23, partly because it had a much lower prise, and the reproducibility was reported as high, and variation as low. iFGF23 was analyzed in one session per study, using ELISA kits from Immunotopics Int. (San Clemente, CA, USA). The reference interval for iFGF23 in this kit was 43.9 pg/ml ( $\pm$ 19.0 pg/ml) based on samples from 8 healthy adults measured in the same laboratory (424).

The iFGF23 kits from both Kainos and Immunotopics are sandwich ELISAs that measure antigens between two layers of antibodies (capture and detection antibody). The kits measures active, full length FGF23. The Kainos assay has been used in many studies, and has been used for a long time. The ELISA kits are not approved for clinical use, and are marked for research only (444, 446).

The interest of this biomarker has stimulated the development of automated methods as a way to overcome the limitations of the ELISA kits. An automated chemiluminescent iFGF23 assay has been developed more recently. The advantages are shorter run times, smaller sample volumes and a wider analytical range (108). Some European countries, including Norway, have approved the use of such a chemiluminescence immunoassay for measuring iFGF23 (Liaison FGF23), which is superior to the manual assays when it comes to performance and accuracy (443, 447). In Norway, plasma can be sent to OUS, hormonlaboratoriet, for FGF23 analysis. The development and implementation of automated assays like this is a step towards standardization, where measuring FGF23 can be included in routine clinical work if indicated. If therapies aimed at FGF23 reduction prove useful, routine measurement of this hormone might be useful. However, this warrents that the different preanalytical and analytical issues are addressed. Reference intervals and clinical decision limits are necessary before inserting this into standardized care. In patients with X-linked hyperphosphatemia treated with burosumab (Crysvita) this could be very beneficial (447). In CKD, FGF23 research has changed the understading of the physiological mechanisms of CKD-MBD, but it has not been implemented into

clinical use in CKD patients, despite its promise in research. FGF23 measurement is expensive and the therapeutic strategies are still limited. With time, this might change (440).

## NGAL:

Serum NGAL was measured in studies 1 and 2. In study 1 the analysis was done at SUS, and in study 2 the analysis was done at OUS, RH. The chosen kits are not the same, and results may not be completely comparable. Kits are chosen based on price, availability and experience at the lab doing the analysis.

In study 1 NGAL concentration in EDTA-plasma was measured by a commercially available ELISA kit, with microwells pre-coated with a monoclonal antibody raised against human NGAL (KIT 036, Bio-Porto Diagnostics, Gentofte, DK) (448). In study 2 NGAL was analyzed by enzyme immunoassay using antibodies from R&D systems (Stillwater, Minnesota, USA) (423).

There are several ELISA kits to measure serum NGAL on the market, and the results may not be comparable between different kits and different labs. It is possible to measure serum NGAL and urinary NGAL, and both measurements appear to be valuable biomarkers for AKI. NGAL is produced in many organs, and increase as a part of inflammation. A two-compartment model has been suggested for NGAL in the kidneys, where uNGAL is produced from in the distal part of the nephron within hours of an injury. Proximal tubule NGAL come from systemic NGAL which often comes from extrarenal sources (449). Many studies report changes in NGAL with AKI or kidney surgery, and they often report urinary NGAL changes (or both urinary and serum NGAL) (450). Urinary NGAL may be the biomarker that performs best in the very acute setting, but serum NGAL performs equally well/ better after only a few hours. In the very acute setting, obtaining a urine sample may be a challenge (451, 452). NGALs role in more chronic disease remains unclear, but it's potential as a prediction tool for AKI is shown in many studies (449). Our patients were not admitted in an acute setting, and we chose to measure NGAL in serum and not in
urine. At the time of our studies, urinary NGAL testing was considered to be more unstable and less informative than serum NGAL.

A Danish company, Bioporto, has recently developed an NGAL urinary dipstick quick test similar to a streptest or pregnancy test, it is approved for clinical use in Europe, and is hoping for FDA approval for use in the US. In a newly published study on Covid 19 patients, there was an independent relationship between elevated urinary NGAL and severe clinical outcomes. The dipstick correlated with ELISAbased measurements, and could be a helpful tool in emergency rooms in the future (453). It has not yet been approved in Europe.

# Vitamin D:

Vitamin D was measured in the laboratory of biochemistry at SUS in studies 1, 2 and 3, and at OUS for study 4.

At SUS vitamin D was measured en bloc for each of the studies. Serum 25(OH)D was quantified by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization with 4-phenyl-1,2,4triazoline-3,5-dione reagent (PTAD; Sigma-Aldrich, St.Louis, Mo, USA), and analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection. The analysis is incorporated in the routine laboratory workflow and is available for routine measurement (423, 427).

At OUS, 25(OH) D was measured in fresh serum samples continuosly as patients came to their 8-week evaluations. 25-OH Vitamin D2 and 25-OH Vitamin D3 were analysed separately, but the total 25(OH) D was used in the analyses. 25-OH Vitamin D2 and 25-OH Vitamin D3 are separated from possible interferences by reversed-phase liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection (426).

#### Seasonal variation in vitamin D levels

The major source of vitamin D is cutaneous production by exposure to UVBirradiation of 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin. Inadequate exposure to UVB is a major cause of vitamin D deficiency (454). The production of vitamin D in the skin is proportional to sunlight-exposure, and it varies with season and geographic location (latitude) (455). In Norway, solar angle and weather conditions are most favorable for vitamin D synthesis between May and September (455). In addition to sunlight, diet, skin pigmentation and lifestyle factors such as sunseeking behavior influence vitamin D levels (455).

Vitamin D deficiency is an increasingly recognized condition worldwide, and transplant recipients are at particularly high risk (194, 456). Transplant recipients are instructed to avoid sunlight exposure to minimize the risk of developing skin cancer due to immonusuppressive medication (457).

A Polish study, on 71 long-term transplant recipients, found vitamin D deficiency in 96% during the winter, and in 89% during the summer. None of the participants took vitamin D supplements (272). 105 long-term kidney transplant recipients were included in a study from the dermatology department at OUS, Norway. Vitamin D levels were measured in February and August 2013. Low vitamin D levels were frequent, but less frequent than reported in earlier studies from other countries. Seasonal variations were very modest, and not evident in patients that did not travel to southern latitudes in the last three months before blood sampling. When excluding the "travelers" there was no significant seasonal variation detected (271). 75% of 103 Israeli kidney transplant recipients had vitamin D deficiency (<30nmol/L) in a cross-sectional study, with no difference between testing in summer- and wintertime (458). Kidney transplant recipients living closer to the Equator are exposed to more UVB radiation than patients living in Norway and northern Europe, but a Danish study found similar results as the Egyptian study (459).

In study 2 patients were included 10 weeks post transplant, and vitamin D levels were measured at this "set" time, without consideration of season. In a subanalysis, we

divided the patients into 4 groups based on which season it was when they measured vitamin D. We did not find any significant differences when repeating the Kaplan Meier and Cox analyses in the four different seasonal subgroups.

We then divided the year into "summer" and "winter" according to sun exposure, and we did not find a significant difference between the two seasons, figure 25. The patients included during the fall-months are fewer compared with the other seasons, most likely because one does not plan for LD-transplantation during the summer holiday.



**Figure 25.** Vitamin D measurements (divided by 3 main groups) measured summer and winter. Created from data from study 2. Not previously published.

## **Discussion of the results:**

#### Kidney donation:

For patients with ESRD, a successful kidney transplantation is the best treatment choise. A transplantation offers improved survival and improved quality of life, compared to treatment with dialysis (52). With an increasing number of patients on the organ donation waiting list, the use of living donor donations is essential to keep the waiting list stable. The key advantages are that the recipients may be transplanted preemptively (before dialysis) or the time in dialysis is reduced. Reports on better results with living donors compared with deceased donors supports an effort for the recruitement of living donors (460). Some new studies show less difference between graft survival after living vs deceased donor transplantations than reported earlier (461, 462), this could be due to advances in immunosuppression regimes and changes in handling of deceased donor organs. Changes in donor criteria, with the acceptance of donors with well-treated hypertension and donors with a history of kidney stones may result in poorer graft survival (461, 463, 464). In Norway, the results after living donor transplantation is still significantly better than after deceased donor transplantations, figure 26 (5).



**Figure 26.** Graft survival in norwegian first-time kidney transplant recipients *Reprinted with permission from the NRR (5).* 

As nephrologists we promote living kidney donations, but with reports of increased risk of CKD development and a shorter life-expectancy, a careful selection of the donor is important. The donors need to be well informed prior to transplantation, and this new prognostic information is implemented in the information from OUS which is mandatory for all potential donors.

In the general population, reduced GFR is associated with CVD and death (12), but the association between reduced GFR and adverse events could be due to other cardiovascular risk factors that the reduced GFR in itself. Kidney donors are ideal subjects to study the relationship between GFR and CVD, since they are thoroughly screened before kidney donation, and all other potential risk factors are investigated. A few prospective studies have investigated the cardiovascular effects of kidney donation. Altmann et al studied kidney donors with CMR before kidney donation and after 1 year, they found increased LV mass, reduction in diastolic function and elevated procollagen type III, a biomarker of cardiac fibrosis (465). Moody et al found increased LV mass, increased aortic stiffness, elevated iPTH, CRP, cardiac troponin and microalbuminuria 1 year post kidney donation, but after 5 year there was no significant difference in LV mass or blood pressure in kidney donors vs controls. Serum urate and FGF23 remained elevated after 5 years (289). Kasiske et al also found no effect of kidney donation on peripheral blood pressure or PWV, but small artery elasticity was significantly reduced in kidney donors. They also found elevated iPTH, homocystein and uric acid 9 years after donation. These factors have been associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes and may themselves have direct adverse effects on LV geometry (466). In a Norwegian study, Haugen et al found significantly increased risk of ischaemic heart disease after kidney donation, but no increased risk of cancer or cerebrovascular events. The long follow-up is a strength of the study, and the controls were matched, and persons with comorbidities were excluded (87). The above mentioned studies provide insight into the potential mechanisms by which adverse cardiovascular effects of kidney donation may be mediated. Other studies do not suppert these findings, Price et al did not find an association between kidney donation and change in cardiovascular structure and

function after 5 years of follow-up based on CMR and PWV measurements in donors and controls (467).

In our first study, we found that long-term kidney donors have significantly higher levels of NGAL than healthy controls. The donors had eGFR >60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, and were included 5-38 years after donation (median 15 years) (422). The elevated NGAL levels could be associated with the renal hyperfiltration seen in the remaining kidney after kidney donation. It is possible that these changes are present many years post-transplant. The elevated NGAL levels may also reflect the partial loss of renal function seen post kidney-donation. There is not much data on NGAL and kidney donors, at least not long-term studies. One study found that high serum NGAL 7 days after donor nephrectomy was predictive of lower eGFR 6 months after kidney donation (119). In 76 healthy living kidney donors, urinary NGAL (uNGAL) and serum NGAL (sNGAL) were measured preoperatively and regularly over the next 6 months. uNGAL was highest on postoperative day 1, and became stable on day 3. sNGAL was highest on day 7, and stabilized 1 month postoperatively. There was no association between uNGAL and postoperative creatinine levels (450). NGAL is a potential biomarker for predicting donors at risk of developing CKD and premature mortality postoperatively, and this should be tested prospectively in a much larger cohort. In accordance with many publications, we found that iFGF23 levels have an inverse relationship to eGFR, and the level of sKlotho declines when eGFR declines. However, we found no significant difference in sKlotho and iFGF23 levels between long-term kidney donors and controls.

With increasing evidence suggesting that donors are subjected to a long-term health risk when compared with matched controls, a special focus in the donor selection process is necessary. Studies on the long-term risks are coming, and they must continue. The ideal study includes donors and controls from the time of donation, with the control group being subjected to the same screening procedures as the donors. A long observation period would be necessary to obtain a sufficient number of events and adequate power, since most donors are relatively young (on average 48 years old the last decade in Norway), and they are healthy at time of donation.

## Vitamin D and kidney transplant recipients:

In study 2, we found that vitamin D sufficiency (25(OH)D >50 nmol/L) 10 weeks post-transplant was associated with better graft and overall patient survival, better kidney graft function, and significantly less interstitial fibrosis in the kidney grafts, compared with patients with vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency. Furthermore, the association between vitamin D levels and all outcomes persisted in adjusted analysis with predetermined conventional risk markers (423). In study 4 we found that patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) at 8 weeks post-transplant had significantly reduced graft- and patient survival compared with patients with vitamin D levels >30 nmol/L. sKlotho and iFGF23 at 8 weeks showed no significant association with graft- or overall survival (426).

25(OH)D deficiency is common in patients referred for kidney transplantation. Prevalence varies across cohorts, reflecting different supplementation policies, sunshine exposure, and comorbidity. After a successful transplantation and restored kidney function, many transplant recipients remain 25(OH)D insufficient. This may, in part, be related to avoidance of sunexposure post-transplant to avoid skin cancer (271, 423, 468), as well as insufficient vitamin D supplementation before and after transplantation, increased vitamin D catabolism induced by immunosuppressive drugs (270, 458, 469). In study 2, serum creatinine decreased during the first year post-transplant, and there were fewer patients with significant fibrosis in the 1-year protocol biopsy in patients with vitamin D sufficiency compared with the other groups. Berchtold et al showed that high iPTH, low vitamin D, and  $T_{50}$  were associated with interstitial fibrosis and vascular lesions in the kidney grafts, independently of eGFR, supporting our findings (423, 470). Others have found an association between low 25(OH)D levels at time of transplantation and/ or a few months post-transplant, and a higher risk of DGF (269), rejection (471, 472), increased interstitial fibrosis (268), increased proteinuria (473, 474) and lower eGFR (258, 268, 471, 475, 476). Low 25(OH)D measured on average 6 years posttransplant was in another study independently associated with increased mortality and a higher annual decline in eGFR (477). There are conflicting reports on the link

between vitamin D deficiency and acute rejections (269, 471, 478, 479), study 2 is in accordance with Ban and Falkiewicz, with higher incidence of acute rejection in the group with vitamin D deficiency (269, 423, 479). Mehotra et al recently found a link between vitamin D deficiency and low VDR-activity before kidney transplantation, and the development of donor specific antibodies as well as decreased eGFR 12 months post-transplant (480). Vitamin D affects the adaptive immune system, with suppression of T-lymphocyt proliferation and modulation of cytokine production and differentiation, and weakening of the antigen presenting cells (481, 482). Vitamin D also influence the innate immune system by enhancing the antimicrobial activities of monocytes, macrophages and natural killer cells (483). These effects may explain why vitamin D deficiency may increase the risk of rejection and opportunistic infections (484). There are reports on vitamin D deficiency and increased risk of cytomegalo- and BK virus infections in transplant recipients (485, 486). We did not have data on opportunistic infections in our studies. Severe vitamin D deficiency may also be associated with post-transplant diabetes mellitus (487). It is a matter of debate if vitamin D is just a marker of poor health in general in these patients, making them predisposed for increased mortality and graft failure, or if low vitamin D triggers a cascade of events leading to the actual findings. Due to the design of studies 2 and 4, it is unfortunately not possible to investigate a cause-effect relationship.

Given the high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in kidney transplant recipients, many studies have tried to clarify if correction of this deficiency can contribute to better bone health, improved graft survival, reduced cardiovascular risk, fewer infections and lower mortality. The interventional studies on vitamin D supplementation in kidney transplant recipients have given conflicting results. This may be attributed to differences in patient selection, use of vitamin D supplementation, time since transplantation and more. A direct comparison of the results is difficult. On one hand, vitamin D supplementation post-transplant was associated with decreased iPTH levels (488-490), reduced rejection rates (491, 492), better graft function (493) and improved graft survival (492, 494, 495). And yet another study did not find improved renal function or better protection against rejection in kidney transplant recipients receiving vitamin D supplementation the first year post-transplant (496). The above mentioned trials were observational studies.

The VITA-D study randomized 200 adult kidney transplant recipients with vitamin D deficiency (<50 nmol/L) to treatment with oral vitamin D3 or placebo (497). With 1year follow-up, they did not find improved short-term outcome. The results have not been published, but they were presented in the EDTA-ERA conference in 2015 (498). Another intervention study with paricalcitol, a synthetic vitamin D analogue, posttransplant found a reduction in iPTH but not in vascular health, or influence on allograft gene expression (499). Among kidney transplant recipients, studies have not showed a consistent association between vitamin D deficiency and CVD or malignancies (500-502), but a small study found that paricalcitol reduced proteinuria in kidney transplant recipients (503). This is supported in a more recent study who also found that therapy with paricalcitol, as an add-on to RAAS inhibition, reduced proteinuria in kidney transplant recipients with moderate CKD and mild proteinuria (504). A brief intervention study with paricalcitol 2 to 4 weeks prior to scheduled abdominal aneurysm repair resulted in a significant reduction in CD4+ T-helper cells, and reduction in CD3+ T cells, as well as reduction in IL-2, IL-4, and IL-10 in the aneurysm wall samples (505). These findings support that paricalcitol as a VDR agonist may have effects on local inflammation. Downregulation of the inflammatory response may also explain the association between vitamin D levels in kidney transplant patients and the risk for interstitial fibrosis, graft failure, and death. Larger, randomized studies are needed to confirm if paricalcitol has potential nefroprotective effects in kidney transplant recipients.

The VITALE study is a prospective randomized study that will evaluate the effect of high and low dose vitamin D supplementation in 640 kidney transplant recipients, with focus on fractures, diabetes mellitus, CV events, cancer and mortality (506). The results are not published yet, but in an abstract presented at the 2019 EDTA-ERA congress as preliminary results were presented. They found that the currently recommended doses of vitamin D supplementation are not sufficient to protect

against fractures post-transplant. They found no difference between high and low dose in the risk of developing diabetes mellitus, CV events cancer and mortality. High dose treatment was well tolerated, and there was not increased risk of vascular calcification or elevated phosphate or calcium levels (507).

The CANDLE-KIT study was a two-by-two, open-label, randomized trial that recruited 153 kidney transplant recipients at least 12 months post transplant, examining the effects of anemia correction and vitamin D supplementation. Inclusion criteria did not include vitamin levels, but hemoglobin <10.5 g/dL and eGFR 16-60 ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. 2-year decline in eGFR was smaller in the high hemoglobin group, but did not differ in the cholecalciferol vs control group, suggesting aggressive anemia correction as a potential target to preserve kidney grafts (508). A randomized clinical trial in 180 Japanese kidney transplant recipients receiving cholecalciferol or placebo from 1 month to 1 year post-transplant did not find beneficial effects of cholecalciferol on change in eGFR, in histology or on urinary biomarkers related to kidney damage 1-year post-transplant. There was no long-term follow-up. The treatment was efficient in achieving sufficient vitamin D levels, and the treatment was well-tolerated (509).

From prior studies, it is known that vitamin D deficiency increases the levels of FGF23 and decreases the levels of Klotho. High FGF23 levels are associated with increased mortality and CV death, and low Klotho with aging and mortality (138). In study 4 we explored the the relationship between Klotho and FGF23 in transplant recipients with different levels of vitamin D. Patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) had reduced graft- and patient survival compared with the group that had vitamin D levels  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L in the early post-transplant phase. sKlotho and iFGF23 at 8 weeks showed no significant association with survival. High age, high HbA1c, low hemoglobin and low vitamin D levels were associated with reduced graft survival, and high age, high HbA1c and low vitamin D levels were associated with reduced grafts at the end of follow-up, had higher eGFR at both 8 weeks and 1 year post transplant

than the patients who died or lost their kidney. The "survivors" were almost 10 years younger at the time of transplantation (426).

In our study the median iFGF23 levels declined from 8 weeks to 1 year posttransplant, but were still higher than in normal controls at 1 year, suggesting a significant difference between kidney transplant recipients and healthy individuals. The mean sKlotho levels increased from 8 weeks to 1 year, but were still lower than in normal controls at 1 year. The kidney rescipients in this study trended towards the sKlotho and iFGF23 levels measured in healty controls as time passed, which is in accordance with an increase in eGFR in the same period of time (426).

Vitamin D is a hot topic in research and in everyday life, in patients with and without kidney disease, and in the general population. There is overwhelming evidence on the negative effects of vitamin D deficiency. Low vitamin D is connected to demineralization of bones which in turn leads to increased risk of fractures (510). Low vitamin D is associated with hypertension in animal studies, and a direct effect on the renin-angiotensine-aldosterone axis has been found (192). Human trials, on the other hand, have not found an association between vitamin D supplementation and reduced blood pressure, and vitamin D is not recommended as a part of the antihypertensive treatment (511). Vitamin D is important for brain function, and vitamin D deficiency is also associated with several neurological diseases such as multiple sclerosis, stroke, Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (512). Low vitamin D levels is associated with increased risk of cancer and a decreased survival rate (513). Vitamin D has antiproliferative, antiinflammatory and antifibrotic properties, which could be beneficial in the treatment of certain types of cancers (513, 514). Vitamin D is important for the immune system, and activate immune cells to fight viral and bacterial infections (515).

There is ongoing debate as to wether vitamin D should be considered a supplement, a prophylactic or as treatment for multiple disorders. Many clinical trials have showed positive effects of vitamin D supplements on overall health, and is has been suggested as a possible treatment for several diseases, including cancer (513, 514) and CVD

(516). However, this has not been documented in RCTs to date (372, 517, 518). The results are inconclusive, and could be explained by too short follow-up time and small study-sizes with low statistical power (510).

When looking at systematic reviews and metanalysis on vitamin D in kidney transplant recipients the conclusion seems to be that vitamin D deficiency is associated with advese outcomes following transplantation, with higher mortality, lower graft function, more proteinuria and more rejection episodes (205, 484, 519). If vitamin D therapy ameliorates these outcomes is a matter of debate, but vitamin D supplementation is inexpensive, easy to use, and it does not seem to harm a kidney transplant recipient with low levels of vitamin D. If calcium levels are monitored to avoid hypercalcemia, vitamin D supplementation is safe in kidney transplant recipients (520). Patients with ESRD waiting for a transplant should also have their vitamin D levels assessed, and supplementation should be considered if vitamin D deficiency is discovered. Normal vitamin D status at time of transplantation can reduce the chance of acute rejection, and should be relatively easy to achieve (519). Vitamin D levels should be measured regularly after transplantation, yearly monitoring should be adequate (205).

The debate on vitamin D also entails a discussion on wether there is a causality between low vitamin D and disease or if it just an association. Observational studies do not meet the criteria to establish a cause-and effect relationship. Low levels of vitamin D may reflect chronic illness or poor health in general. Having in mind the multiple effects of vitamin D, serum levels have to be evaluated in clinical practice, and deficiency should be treated, to improve general health and support our fight against diseases (515). Large, well-designed RCTs will most likely shed more light on the vitamin D debate in the future, and at this time we lack compelling evidence to recommend mandatory vitamin D supplementation to all kidney transplant recipients. But overall, the opinion is that vitamin D deficiency should be supplemented (190).

## FGF23 and acute MI

In study 3, we found that iFGF23 levels were significantly decreased prior to, and at 2 days following primary PCI in subjects with a first-time STEMI successfully revascularized. iFGF23 levels normalized on day 7 in patients without heart failure. There was a gradual increase in iFGF23 levels, above normal levels, during one-year follow-up in patients with signs and/or symptoms of heart failure during the acute phase of the MI despite the use of aldosterone antagonist. We found no direct relationship between iFGF23 levels and infarct size, myocardial volumes- or function measured by CMR, or with systemic markers of MI, inflammation, collagen turnover or LV remodeling. Taken together, the present findings suggest that the early suppression of systemic iFGF23 levels in the acute phase of MI is not directly related to the size of myocardial injury or myocardial reperfusion. Interestingly, the largest reduction in iFGF23 levels occurred in the group of patients without evidence of acute LV dysfunction, potentially suggesting that the iFGF23 reduction in the acute phase of MI may represent a physiological response to counteract myocardial failure (424).

Our findings are in accordance with clinical data from Takahashi et al who found lower levels of FGF23 in MI patients compared with controls, looking at 44 patients with acute MI who underwent PCI. They followed 22 patients with echocardiography 6 months post MI and found an association between high FGF23 and low EF at 6 months (521). Our study extends these observations to a larger population and a longer duration of one year of follow-up, using cardiac MRI to quantify the size of MI and function; also including a large number of biomarkers of collagen turnover (424).

Increased FGF23 levels in subjects with acute heart failure or LV dysfunction following acute MI has also have been reported by others. Fuernau et al. measured FGF23 in patients with acute MI complicated by cardiogenic shock. They found that non-survivors had significantly higher FGF23 levels at 1, 2 and 3 days post MI. The negative prognostic association between FGF23 and adverse outcomes was only significant in patients with creatinine levels above median at admittance (522). Poss et al. found significantly higher levels of FGF23 in patients with cardiogenic shock, compared with patients with uncomplicated MI. Elevated FGF23 was associated with poor outcome (523). Reindl et al. looked at 88 consecutive patients with acute MI who underwent PCI. They used CMR at 2 days and 4 months post MI, and found elevated FGF23 levels in the 13% who developed LV remodeling (524). A recent study on patients with left coronary artery disease undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery found that the preoperative FGF23 level was correlated with cumulative rate major adverse cardiac and cerebrovascular events. The authors suggested FGF23 as a potential prognostic biomarker in patients with coronary artery disease (525). Our findings are in line with these previous reports, demonstrating higher systemic FGF23 levels in subjects with the clinically worst prognosis. However, our subjects were healthier than many of the included individuals in the above mentioned studies. Our study adds to the findings described above, demonstrating that there is no direct relationship between systemic levels of FGF23 in the acute phase of an MI and the infarct size, LV mass, LV volumes or LVEF assessed by CMR. Our findings show a reduction in FGF23 levels immediately following an acute MI, which may be a normal, physiological compensatory respons to MI. Elevated FGF23 levels may represent increased aldosterone levels which is a poor prognostic sign, and elevated aldosterone leads to increased FGF23 (353, 424). Our findings are in apparent contrast to the increasing number of publications suggesting that iFGF23 have direct myocardial actions that may be relevant in the acute MI (424).

In a mouse model using transverse aortic constriction to increase FGF23 levels, Slavic et al found that the aldosterone receptor blocker spironolactone normalized serum FGF23 levels by recurring bony FGF23 transcription (352). In patients with non-ischemic heart failure without CKD, both FGF23 levels and serum aldosterone levels correlated with degree of systolic dysfunction (526). FGF23 expression is upregulated by aldosterone in vitro as well as in mice treated with DOCA leading to hypertension and end-organ damage (353). These findings indicate that aldosterone stimulates bone-mediated FGF23 synthesis. This is consistent with our findings where the group of patients with heart failure, treated with an aldosterone antagonist, had higher FGF23 compared with patients without heart failure. The level of FGF23 might have been even higher in these patients without treatment with an aldosterone antagonist (424).

In a recently published study, a mouse model with intracardiac FGF23 synthesis was used to investigate how cardiac FGF23 affects cardiac remodeling and function in healthy mice. They did not find increased LVH in this mouse model, suggesting that FGF23 excess alone does not affect the heart (527). These results differ from other studies that suggest a direct link between FGF23 and LVH (160), but the methods differ between the two studies, and the last word on FGF23 effects in the heart has not been spoken.

It has been established that high FGF23 levels increase the risk of MI after adjustment for established CV risk factors (528). But is has yet not been determined if a reduction of FGF23 levels in patients with high CV risk levels could influence the risk of MI (440).

#### **Clinical implications / Prognostic value:**

Several therapies exist to target abnormalities seen in CKD-MBD, some with better documentation than others. The different treatment strategies also influence FGF23 and Klotho levels. There are several points for possible interventions. Standardized and more experimental treatment strategies are reviewed below.

## Phosphate binders

Circulating FGF23 levels are associated with dietary phosphate load (529). Phosphate is reduced in dialysis, and phosphate levels can be influenced by reduced dietary intake, which is suggested as a first intervention in the KDIGO guidelines (184, 530). Oral phosphate binders represent the principal treatment strategy to treat hyperphosphatemia, they work by reducing the absorption of dietary phosphate in the gastrointestinal tractus (531). In the early years of dialysis, aluminum salts were used as an efficient phosphatebinder (532). It was discovered that patients receiving aluminum containing substances showed elevated aluminum levels in plasma, and some of them presented with symptoms of dialysis encephalopathy, osteomalacia and anaemia, which is related to the toxic effects of aluminum (532, 533).

Aluminum containing phosphatebinders were then replaced by calcium-based phosphatebinders in the 1980s (532). Calcium carbonate reduces phosphate levels, and for many years, calcium-based phosphate binders were widely used to control hyperphosphatemia and hyperparathyroidism in patients with ESRD (534, 535). In 2002, a comparison between calcium-based phosphate binders to the newly-developed polymer sevelamer was published. Calcium-based phosphate binders and non-calcium containing phosphate binders provided equal phosphate control in HD patients, but the use of calcium salts to correct hyperphosphatemia led to hypercalcemia and progressive coronary artery and aortic calcification, while treatment with the non-calcium containing sevelamer did not show similar calcification (536). These results changed the standardized treatment in Norway, and in 2020, 1480 patients included in the NRR were treated with non calcium-based phosphate binders, and progressive treatment with calcium-based phosphate binders, and

69 were treated with a combination of both types of phosphate binders. Non-calcium based phosphatebinders can be used in all ESRD patients with hyperphosphatemia. KDIGO guidelines recommend avoiding hypercalcemia, they also suggest restricting the dose of calcium-based phosphatebinders (184). Phosphatebinders are taken with every meal (537), and it adds a lot of pills to the patients' already very high pill burden. For some patients, this is very challenging. When used properly, the use of calcium-based phosphate binders increase FGF23 levels (538), while non-calcium phosphatebinders are associated with improved control of SHPT and a modest reduction in FGF23 even in patients without hyperphosphatemia (539).

Recent studies indicate beneficial effects of treatment with ferric citrate as a phosphate binder, with a reduction in both phosphate and FGF23 levels (540), but ferric citrate is not commonly used in Norway. The phosphate transporter nicotinamide (niacin, vitamin B3) has also shown beneficial effects on phosphate levels (541) and reduction in FGF23 levels in mice (542). In CKD patients, nicotinamide monotherapy (543) or in combination with a phosphate binder (544) did not influence phosphate levels and other markers of mineral metabolism significantly. Magnesium has also been shown to reduce phosphate in CKD patients with elevated phosphate levels, but less efficiently than the standard treatments. Many patients experience diarrhea as a side effect (532, 545). Another approach to control phosphate levels is to target the phosphate absorption and reabsorption in the renal tubules directly using a phosphate transporter inhibitor (546), and the promotion of increased phosphate excretion might be beneficial to combine with "standard" medication inhibiting intestinal absorption (547).

In a large metanalysis from 2018, the effects of phosphatebinders on biochemical, musculoskeletal and cardiovasvular morbidity as well as death were reviewed. The conclusion in patients with CKD stage 5 was that sevelamer might lower the incidence of death (all causes) when compared to calcium-based binders, but there was no clinically significant benefit on CV death, MI, stroke or coronary artery calcification. In CKD stages 2-5 the effects on mortality and morbidity were inconclusive, and the adverse effects were dominating (548).

## Vitamin D

In observational studies vitamin D therapy has been linked with improved survival in patients with CKD and ESRD, despite the increased levels of calcium and phosphate following vitamin D therapy (549, 550). In an RCT on patients with CKD stages 4 and 5, paricalcitol (activated vitamin D2 analogue) did not reduce LV mass after 48 weeks of treatment (551).

Calcitriol, the synthetic analogue of vitamin D3, blocks FGF23-induced activation of FGFR4 and the growth of cardiomyocytes in cell cultures. Calcitriol has also been shown to reduce FGF23 expression, FGFR4-induced PLC<sub>3</sub>/ calcineurin/ NFAT signaling and LVH in rats (552). Vitamin D increases Klotho expression and reduces calcification in mice with CKD (553), suggesting that vitamin D treatment could have a positive effect on the Klotho deficiency present in patients with CKD. Taken together, a combination of VDR activation and FGF23/ FGFR4 blocade could be a future treatment strategy.

## PTH

Calcimimetics are approved for the treatment of hyperparathyroidism in patients on dialysis. Calcimimetics activate the CaSR and inhibit PTH secretion. They are termed "calcimimetics" because they mimic or potentiate the effects of extracellular calcium on the parathyroid glands (554), which leads to reduced levels of PTH and sequentially reduced levels of FGF23 (555, 556). In secondary analysis of the EVOLVE trial, an >30% reduction of FGF23 in patients randomized to cinecalcet was associated with reduced CV mortality (557). The two available calcimimtics are cinacalcet with a p.o. administration and etecalcid with an i.v. administration. Their efficiency have been compared in an RCT, and both significantly reduced PTH in patients in dialysis. Patient preference (i.v. vs. p.o. treatment) and price should be taken into concideration when chosing strategy (558). In pre-dialysis CKD a

significant reduction in FGF23 levels is reported, but poor effect on PTH-levels and high portion of patients developing hypocalcemia and hyperphosphatemia is reported. Calcimimetics are not lisenced for use in pre-dialysis CKD patients (559, 560).

# Old strategies to influence Klotho and FGF23:

Intensified HD treatment (561), pre-emptive transplantation (562), reduced inflammation (563, 564) and treatment of iron deficiency (565, 566) are possible targets for reducing FGF23 in HD patients. To increase Klotho one may consider exercise (567), angiotensin-receptor antagonists (568) and statins (569). The medical indications for these approaches are well established, however, they are not considered to be novel, direct targets for FGF23 and Klotho.

# New ways to taget FGF23 and Klotho:

There is no human equivalent to a Klotho-knockout animal model, but there are examples of alterations in Klotho expression. For example, the missense mutation H193R leads to a point mutation in the Klotho gene, causing decreased Klotho, inducing hyperphosphatemia, hypercalcemia, elevated PTH, FGF23 and vitamin D levels. The mutation results in skeletal osteopenia and tumoral calcinosis with ectopic and vascular calcification (570). On the other hand, overexpression of the Klotho-gene resulted in hyperparathyroidism and hypophosphataemic rickets, with high levels of FGF23 (153). One study examined Klotho gene variations in large cohorts, and found that certain klotho genotypes are associated with decreased cognitive ability throughout life (571). There are not many examples of Klotho dysregulation in humans, but it seems like minor alterations may increase the risk of disease (572).

The development of drugs acting via Klotho is theoretically a promising new strategy for treating CKD patients, but it is still at an early stage.

Mice with αKlotho deficiency display features similar to mice with CKD, such as hyperphosphatemia, high FGF23 levels, and high CV morbidity and mortality (247). Exogenous Klotho-supplementation may be a novel therapy to delay or inhibit CKD progression, but so far this has only been tested successfully in animal models (573).

In animal models, the administration of a Klotho-gene (an adeno-associated virus containing mouse full-length cDNA) reversed many of the traits seen in Klotho-deficient mice, with a longer life-span and weight gain (574), improved kidney function after AKI (575) prevented the progression of hypertension and kidney damage (576) and protected against uremic cardiomyopathy (577) and cardiac fibrosis (578). Although gene therapy is effective in animal studies, its safety in humans has not been established, and to my knowledge, human, clinical trials are not in the pipeline. There seems to be a rationale to explore the therapeutic benefits of exogenous Klotho supplementation in the future.

Both ageing and CKD are associated with high levels of FGF23 and low levels of Klotho (123, 577, 579). An age-related physiological decline may, in part, be secondary to increased levels of FGF23 and decreased levels of Klotho (580). If this is the case, one could assume that sKlotho acts as an inhibitor of Klotho-independent actions of FGF23 by inhibiting FGF23/FGFR4 signalling by binding to the FGFR4-receptor, or by interfering with FGF23 as a decoy receptor (580). This means that the development of a Klotho-mimetic is a possible therapeutic option in the treatment of CKD (310). However, it remains unclear if Klotho is protective for the heart and kidneys in the absence of increased FGF23, or if Klotho administration could be used as an anti-ageing therapy in all individuals, independently of FGF23 levels.

The discovery of the structure of Klotho:FGF23:FGFR1 in a 1:1:1 relationship has provided new insight into the dynamics between the factors. This might reveal new therapeutic options for patients with CKD with drugs targeting the Klotho:FGF23:FGFR1 complex directly (581). Small molecules that enhance Klotho expression have been identified, with Klotho transcription activators showing the most promise, demonstrating an effect on FGF23 signalling. These compunds can serve as a starting point for research into pharmacological tools to modulate Klotho in vivo (572).

The use of anti FGF23 monoclonal antibodies such as burosumab (approved to treat x-linked hypophosphatemia) cause severe side-effects in patients with CKD by

decreasing phosphaturia (582). FGF23 neutralization with monoclonal antibodies has been shown to increase hyperphoshatemia and increase vascular calcification and mortality in rat models (583, 584).

Several studies have shown that repetitive administration of FGF23 in mice induces cardiac hypertrophy within days (160, 351, 585). FGFR-blocade is efficient in reversing LVH in rodents (160, 586), but results in hyperphosphatemia, ectopic calcium deposition and cardiac toxicity (587). These studies reflect that some systemic FGF23 effects are necessary, such as avoidance of hyperphosphatemia.

Selectively blocking the cardiac FGFR4 sounds like an ideal target from a pharmacological perspective, with a drug blocking the FGFR responsible for the adverse cardiac effects on FGF23, not FGFR1 which is critical for maintaining normal phosphate levels (310). FGFR4-antibodies have been shown to inhibit FGF23 induced hypertrophia in rat cardiomyocytes, and it decreased LVH in a nephrectomy rat model (154). Little is known whether FGFR4 blocking prevents or reverses cardiac fibrosis (588), but development of these agents could be a real possibility in the future of nephrology. FGF signaling is dysregulated in many cancer types, and FGFR activation is relevant in carcinogenesis (589). Several FGFR-inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies are currently being developed for use in oncology, and evidence suggest that FGFR-inhibitors may present antitumor activity (589, 590). In CKD a partial FGFR inhibition might be a potential mechanism to reduce the effects of very high levels of FGF23, but a full inhibition will most likely cause severe adverse effects. The fact that these drugs are being developed for use in oncology, opens the door for similar drugs being developed for use in CKD (310).

Another possibility is to target FGF23 synthesis in bone, and recently it has been suggested that the sodium-phosphate cotransporter PiT2 found in bone is a possible regulator of FGF23 synthesis. Targeting PiT2 could potentially reduce FGF23 synthesis in hyperphosphatemic disorders like CKD (591).

Recent studies show that FGF23 can activate cardiac fibroblasts, but the mechanism and its role in the development of fibrosis is not completely understood (143, 588,

592). As cardiac fibroblasts do not express Klotho, the alternative pathway through FGFR4 and the PLCs/ calcineurin/ NFAT alternate pathway is likely (160, 161, 552).

Oxidative stress is a major cause of MI, and MI cause local and systemic oxidative stress (593). Oxygen free radicals may damage myocardial cells and induce apoptosis and necrosis (171). Antioxidants inhihit post MI oxidative stress and improve the disease progression (593). In a rat model of MI, the Klotho-gene's antioxidative properties were explored. The Klotho-gene was injected in rats with MI to explore the effects of Klotho. They found that overexpression of the Klotho gene can repair some of the damage to myocardial tissue caused by post MI oxidative stress (594), thus finding a method to increase Klotho-levels post MI could be a possible new method to treat MI.

The osteocyte protein dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1) has been suggested as a new target to control FGF23. In animal models DMP1 reduced FGF23, prevented LVH, corrected bone mass reduction and improved survival. But, as an adverse effect, DMP1 significantly increased phosphate levels (595). DMP1 combined with phosphate lowering therapy could be a potential new therapeutic approach.

Patients with CKD or ESRD are at increased risk for cardiac arrhythmias, due to the structural changes in their hearts. Studies with implanted loop recorders suggest that bradyarytmias are the main causes of sudden cardiac deaths in these patients, and not tachyarrythmias as one might expect (596). The precise causes of these deaths are yet to be established. Klotho has been found in the sinoatrial node of mice, and klotho-deficient mice have sinoatrial dysfunction and a higher rate of bradyarrythmias (597), suggesting that Klotho deficiency may play a role in the bradyarrythmias of patients with ESRD. FGF23 interrupts intracellular calcium cycling in the cardiomyocyte, increasing the risk for arrhythmias (347). In a rat model, the administration of FGF23 to rat cardiomyocytes caused rhythm alterations and contractile dysfunction, but administration of klotho or a FGFR-blocker reduced the pro-arrythmic activity (598). One study found that the genetic deletion of FGFR1 in mice lead to hypertension and LVH. This suggests that FGFR1 in the renal tubules play a physiological role in

regulating systemic blood pressure, and that these receptors could be a new potential target for treating hypertension (599).

## Calcification inhibitors:

In homeostatic conditions, pro-calcifying stimuli are counterbalanced by several inhibitors. If these inhibitors are deficient or inactive, the result may be faster and more severe calcification (323). Matrix Gla Protein (MGP) is produced in VSMCs, and has a high affinity for hydroxyapatite crystals and calcium. MGP also inhibits VSMC differentiation (600). MGP is activated via a vitamin K dependent carboxylation, and MGP levels are associated with vitamin K status. MGP is consideres a predictor of calcification in CKD patients (601). Vitamin K deficiency is common in CKD patients and in kidney transplant recipients. These patients usually have low levels of MGP, which is associated with increased mortality (602). Anticoagulation with the vitamin K antagonist warfarin leads to reduced MGP activation and accelerated calcification in CKD patients significantly reduced MGP levels, suggesting a possible effect on vascular calcification (604). Treatment with vitamin K could be beneficial in patients with both CKD and transplant recipients, but so far the results are inconclusive, and some studies are ongoing (605-608).

Magnesium is another potential calcification inhibitor in patients with CKD. Magnesium preventes VSMC differentiation and calcification in vitro (609, 610). Magnesium supplementation reduced vascular calcification in rats (611), and coronary artery calcification in patients with high CVD-risk. The study was terminated prematurely due to efficacy (612). These promising results could be relevant in kidney transplant recipients, but trials are needed before a conclusion can be made. Magnesium supplementation could be an easy, inexpensive and safe preventive approach (323).

The ongoing research on FGF23, Klotho and other possible interventions is a constantly evolving field, and more questions must be answered before therapeutic intervensions are ready for clinical use.

#### **Strenghts and limitations**

#### Paper 1

Restriction and matching are the main methods of preventing confounding in an observational cohort study. Restriction is used in this study by having selected kidney donors with an eGFR  $\geq 60 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$  to reduce confounding by reduced kidney function. We did not perform any matching. To further examine the results, we compared the 15 controls with the lowest eGFR (mean 87 and range 73-96  $ml/min/1.73 m^2$ ) to the 15 donors with the best eGFR (mean 88 and range 81-103) ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>). The NGAL levels were nonsignificantly higher in donors than in controls (86 vs. 105 ng/ml), showing a trend toward higher NGAL levels in a small sample. This finding supports - but does not confirm - that the increased level of NGAL in kidney donors is associated with the donation, and is not only the result of reduced postoperative kidney function. If, however, the increase in NGAL in this population of donors is the result of reduced kidney function, NGAL levels may still be important as a biomarker for people at risk of increased morbidity and mortality after donation. The small number of patients included in this study is a limitation, and prospective studies are needed to evaluate these biomarkers as prognostic markers in kidney donors (422).

#### Paper 2

The investigated cohort of transplanted patients represents the whole Norwegian cohort, without any selection bias with only one transplantation center. The NRR shows close to 100% national patient and data coverage. Routine laboratory samples were analyzed in the same laboratory both 10 weeks and 1 year post-transplant (OUS, RH), and all the renal biopsies were performed and examined in the same department. The median follow-up period of 83 months is longer than in most other studies, and very few patients did not meet at the 1-year investigation. We found a significant association between vitamin D levels 10 weeks post-transplant and death, and vitamin D levels and graft loss showed a trend toward a significant association with a near-significant p-value. We believe that this may be due to a power problem, and that the

association would be more significant with a higher number of included patients. Unfortunately, DGF is not registered in the NRR; thus, we have not been able to include this possible confounder in the multivariate analyses. The study is, however, an observational study, and the conclusion is hypothesis generating. Most patients were caucasians, and the results cannot be extrapolated to transplanted patients with other ethnicities (423).

## Paper 3

The study explores a relatively small sample size, which makes it susceptible to the impact of biological heterogeneity, but the trial was designed with strict selection criteria to reduce the number of confounders. The cohort represents a unique and homogenous patient sample. When dividing into two groups based on the presence or absence of acute heart failure, we faced a power-problem since the group with the additional treatment contained only 8 patients, meaning that the data provide trends rather than statistically significant data (424).

#### Paper 4

The median follow-up period of 89 months is longer than in most other studies. The reporting to the NRR is close to 100%, which gives complete data on the patients with a functioning graft after 7 years. The patients were all included at the same time after transplantation which is a strength in the comparability of the patients and the results. The sample size is a limitation, and it is difficult to draw definite conclusions due to a relatively low power, and the results only show trends. Vitamin D, iFGF23 and sKlotho only measured twice, and a longitudinal profile may have added additional information. The number of events (graft loss or death) are low, and we pooled the two events in the survival analyses (426).

# 6. Conclusions and future prospects

Biomarkers in CKD can help us assess disease severity, predict progression and outcome, determine CVD risk and metabolic abnormalities in CKD patients. The pathophysiology in CKD is complex, and involves many processes during its progression. Comorbidity is present in almost all patients with CKD, and underlying renal disease must also be taken into consideration. A single biomarker is probably insufficient to meet all of those expectations, but maybe a panel of biomarkers could be useful in the future.

Improved understanding in all aspects of CKD development is likely to enable the development of novel therapeutic interventions capable of reducing the risks associated with CKD/ ESRD, and to optimize the treatment for the individual patient.

NGAL is a biomarker that has been widely studied in different clinical settings, and NGAL plasma has been suggested as a candidate biomarker of AKI in patients hospitalized in intensive care units if the analysis is done shortly after admittance (613). Since there is a relationship between elevated urinary NGAL and severe clinical outcomes, the dipstick developed for emergency rooms could also be used in intensive care settings. The relationship between plasma and urinary NGAL tests, as well as their clinical usefulness should be studied more in the future. NGAL as a possible predictive biomarker for kidney injury in potential kidney donors would also be interesting to explore further.

The discovery of FGF23 and Klotho and their effects on CKD-MBD is a good example of how even well-studied processes are susceptible to new contributions, which improve knowledge and possibly also develop new targeted therapies with a potential clinical benefit. FGF23 is a potential new CKD biomarker with high value because of its early increase that preceed the increase of both PTH and phosphate. This could benefit the patient, since FGF23 rises before symptom occur. Thus, lifestyle changes and medical treatment could be initiated earlier. FGF23 is also a prognostic biomarker of CKD progression, CV morbidity and all-cause mortality in patients with CKD (440). FGF23 is both a predictor and a major player in the

pathogenesis of CKD and CVD, and therapies aimed at FGF23 control could influence the future of nephrology. Klotho is an early predictor of renal injury, but studies suggest that Klotho ameliorates acute renal injury (575) as well as the progression of CKD in glomerulonephritis (122). Klotho could, theroretically, function as a renal- and cardiovascular- protective factor.

Vitamin D deficiency is associated with adverse short- and long-term outcomes after kidney transplantation. The clinical effects and the optimal supplementation is unknown, and a large, well-designed RCTs will most likely shed more light on the vitamin D debate in the future. At this time we lack compelling evidence to recommend mandatory vitamin D supplementation to all kidney transplant recipient.

Taken together, a combination of Klotho supplementation, VDR activation and FGF23/FGFR4 blocade could be a future treatment strategy. The development of SGLT2 inhibitors showed us that medications might have other effects than the intended one. Instead of a revolution for patients with diabetes mellitus type 2, it proved itself as a promising drug class for patients with heart failure and patients with proteinuria. Other new therapies might also surprise us in the future.

# References

1. Hallan S, Astor B, Lydersen S. Estimating glomerular filtration rate in the general population: the second Health Survey of Nord-Trondelag (HUNT II). Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2006;21(6):1525-33.

2. Levin A, Stevens PE. Summary of KDIGO 2012 CKD Guideline: behind the scenes, need for guidance, and a framework for moving forward. Kidney Int. 2014;85(1):49-61.

3. Meguid El Nahas A, Bello AK. Chronic kidney disease: the global challenge. Lancet. 2005;365(9456):331-40.

4. Levin A, Tonelli M, Bonventre J, Coresh J, Donner JA, Fogo AB, et al. Global kidney health 2017 and beyond: a roadmap for closing gaps in care, research, and policy. Lancet. 2017;390(10105):1888-917.

5. NRR. Annual report 2021 The Norwegian Renal Registry. 2022.

6. Causes of chronic kidney disease 2016 [https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/kidney-disease/chronic-kidney-disease-ckd/causes.

7. Jha V, Garcia-Garcia G, Iseki K, Li Z, Naicker S, Plattner B, et al. Chronic kidney disease: global dimension and perspectives. Lancet. 2013;382(9888):260-72.

8. Ayodele OE, Alebiosu CO. Burden of chronic kidney disease: an international perspective. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2010;17(3):215-24.

9. Hallan SI, Øvrehus MA, Romundstad S, Rifkin D, Langhammer A, Stevens PE, et al. Longterm trends in the prevalence of chronic kidney disease and the influence of cardiovascular risk factors in Norway. Kidney Int. 2016;90(3):665-73.

 Viau A, El Karoui K, Laouari D, Burtin M, Nguyen C, Mori K, et al. Lipocalin 2 is essential for chronic kidney disease progression in mice and humans. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(11):4065-76.
 Rhee CM, Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology: Spotlight on CKD deaths—increasing mortality worldwide. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2015;11(4):199-200.

12. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(13):1296-305.

 Matsushita K, van der Velde M, Astor BC, Woodward M, Levey AS, de Jong PE, et al. Association of estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9731):2073-81.

14. Jankowski J, Floege J, Fliser D, Böhm M, Marx N. Cardiovascular Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease: Pathophysiological Insights and Therapeutic Options. Circulation. 2021;143(11):1157-72.

15. Keith DS, Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Brown JB, Smith DH. Longitudinal follow-up and outcomes among a population with chronic kidney disease in a large managed care organization. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164(6):659-63.

16. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002;39(2 Suppl 1):S1-266.

17. Hallan SI, Orth SR. The KDOQI 2002 classification of chronic kidney disease: for whom the bell tolls. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(9):2832-6.

18. KDIGO guidelines 2012. 2012. Contract No.: <u>https://kdigo.org/wp-</u>content/uploads/2017/02/KDIGO 2012 CKD GL.pdf.

19. Epstein M. Aging and the kidney. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1996;7(8):1106-22.

20. Kanasaki K, Kitada M, Koya D. Pathophysiology of the aging kidney and therapeutic interventions. Hypertens Res. 2012;35(12):1121-8.

21. O'Hare ÂM, Choi AI, Bertenthal D, Bacchetti P, Garg AX, Kaufman JS, et al. Age affects outcomes in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18(10):2758-65.

22. Liu P, Quinn RR, Lam NN, Elliott MJ, Xu Y, James MT, et al. Accounting for Age in the Definition of Chronic Kidney Disease. JAMA Intern Med. 2021.

23. Delanaye P, Jager KJ, Bökenkamp A, Christensson A, Dubourg L, Eriksen BO, et al. CKD: A Call for an Age-Adapted Definition. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(10):1785-805.

24. Melsom T, Norvik JV, Enoksen IT, Stefansson V, Mathisen UD, Fuskevåg OM, et al. Sex Differences in Age-Related Loss of Kidney Function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2022.

25. Hannedouche T, Chauveau P, Kalou F, Albouze G, Lacour B, Jungers P. Factors affecting progression in advanced chronic renal failure. Clin Nephrol. 1993;39(6):312-20.

26. Jungers P, Chauveau P, Descamps-Latscha B, Labrunie M, Giraud E, Man NK, et al. Age and gender-related incidence of chronic renal failure in a French urban area: a prospective epidemiologic study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1996;11(8):1542-6.

27. Faqah A, Jafar TH. Control of blood pressure in chronic kidney disease: how low to go? Nephron Clin Pract. 2011;119(4):c324-31; discussion c31-2.

28. Taylor KS, McLellan J, Verbakel JY, Aronson JK, Lasserson DS, Pidduck N, et al. Effects of antihypertensives, lipid-modifying drugs, glycaemic control drugs and sodium bicarbonate on the progression of stages 3 and 4 chronic kidney disease in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2019;9(9):e030596.

29. Iseki K. Chronic kidney disease: Proteinuria as a predictor of rapid eGFR decline. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2013;9(10):570-1.

 Turin TC, James M, Ravani P, Tonelli M, Manns BJ, Quinn R, et al. Proteinuria and rate of change in kidney function in a community-based population. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;24(10):1661-7.
 Hallan SI, Ritz E, Lydersen S, Romundstad S, Kvenild K, Orth SR. Combining GFR and albuminuria to classify CKD improves prediction of ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(5):1069-77.

 Atkinson MA, Ng DK, Warady BA, Furth SL, Flynn JT. The CKiD study: overview and summary of findings related to kidney disease progression. Pediatr Nephrol. 2021;36(3):527-38.

33. Ruggenenti P, Perna A, Gherardi G, Benini R, Remuzzi G. Chronic proteinuric nephropathies: outcomes and response to treatment in a prospective cohort of 352 patients with different patterns of renal injury. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000;35(6):1155-65.

34. Wright JT, Jr., Bakris G, Greene T, Ágodoa LY, Appel LJ, Charleston J, et al. Effect of blood pressure lowering and antihypertensive drug class on progression of hypertensive kidney disease: results from the AASK trial. Jama. 2002;288(19):2421-31.

35. Ravindran S, Munusamy S. Renoprotective mechanisms of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors against the progression of diabetic kidney disease. J Cell Physiol. 2021.

36. Cai T, Ke Q, Fang Y, Wen P, Chen H, Yuan Q, et al. Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibition suppresses HIF-1α-mediated metabolic switch from lipid oxidation to glycolysis in kidney tubule cells of diabetic mice. Cell Death Dis. 2020;11(5):390.

 Li J, Neal B, Perkovic V, de Zeeuw D, Neuen BL, Arnott C, et al. Mediators of the effects of canagliflozin on kidney protection in patients with type 2 diabetes. Kidney Int. 2020;98(3):769-77.
 Pereira MJ, Eriksson JW. Emerging Role of SGLT-2 Inhibitors for the Treatment of Obesity. Drugs. 2019;79(3):219-30.

39. Lawrence L, Menon V, Kashyap S. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes of Newer Anti-Diabetic Medications in High-Risk Patients. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2018;20(8):65.

40. Rabizadeh S, Nakhjavani M, Esteghamati A. Cardiovascular and Renal Benefits of SGLT2 Inhibitors: A Narrative Review. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2019;17(2):e84353.

41. Ferro EG, Pitt B, Bhatt DL. SGLT-2 inhibitors in heart failure: Time for broader eligibility and earlier initiation. Cleve Clin J Med. 2021;88(11):601-6.

42. Heidenreich PA, Bozkurt B, Aguilar D, Allen LA, Byun JJ, Colvin MM, et al. 2022 AHA/ACC/HFSA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2022;145(18):e895-e1032.

43. Del Vecchio L, Beretta A, Jovane C, Peiti S, Genovesi S. A Role for SGLT-2 Inhibitors in Treating Non-diabetic Chronic Kidney Disease. Drugs. 2021;81(13):1491-511.

44. group E-KC. Empagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. New England Journal of Medicine. 2022.

45. Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R, Chertow GM, Greene T, Hou FF, et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(15):1436-46.

46. Zannad F, Ferreira JP, Pocock SJ, Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: a meta-analysis of the EMPEROR-Reduced and DAPA-HF trials. Lancet. 2020;396(10254):819-29.

47. Grune J, Beyhoff N, Smeir E, Chudek R, Blumrich A, Ban Z, et al. Selective Mineralocorticoid Receptor Cofactor Modulation as Molecular Basis for Finerenone's Antifibrotic Activity. Hypertension. 2018;71(4):599-608.

 Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Anker SD, Pitt B, Ruilope LM, Rossing P, et al. Effect of Finerenone on Chronic Kidney Disease Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(23):2219-29.
 Pitt B, Filippatos G, Agarwal R, Anker SD, Bakris GL, Rossing P, et al. Cardiovascular Events with Finerenone in Kidney Disease and Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2021;385(24):2252-63.

50. KDIGO: Diabetes in CKD. www.kidney-internationalorg. 2022;102(55).

51. Shrestha B, Haylor J, Raftery A. Historical perspectives in kidney transplantation: an updated review. Prog Transplant. 2015;25(1):64-9, 76.

52. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Knoll G, Bello A, Browne S, Jadhav D, et al. Systematic review: kidney transplantation compared with dialysis in clinically relevant outcomes. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(10):2093-109.

53. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY, et al. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(23):1725-30.

54. Thorsby E. [Transplantation medicine in Norway through 50 years]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2006;126(24):3305-10.

Hamilton D. Kidney Transplantation-Principles and Practice, 8th Edition. 8 ed: Elsevier; 2019.
 Bauer AC, Franco RF, Manfro RC. Immunosuppression in Kidney Transplantation: State of

the Art and Current Protocols. Curr Pharm Des. 2020;26(28):3440-50.

57. Briggs JD. Causes of death after renal transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2001;16(8):1545-9.

58. Borel JF, Feurer C, Gubler HU, Stähelin H. Biological effects of cyclosporin A: a new antilymphocytic agent. Agents Actions. 1976;6(4):468-75.

59. Tribe HT. The discovery and development of cyclosporin. Mycologist. 1998;12(1):20-2.

60. Tang IY, Meier-Kriesche HU, Kaplan B. Immunosuppressive strategies to improve outcomes of kidney transplantation. Semin Nephrol. 2007;27(4):377-92.

61. Albano L, Banas B, Klempnauer JL, Glyda M, Viklicky O, Kamar N. OSAKA trial: a randomized, controlled trial comparing tacrolimus QD and BD in kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2013;96(10):897-903.

62. Vincenti F, Jensik SĆ, Filo RS, Miller J, Pirsch J. A long-term comparison of tacrolimus (FK506) and cyclosporine in kidney transplantation: evidence for improved allograft survival at five years. Transplantation. 2002;73(5):775-82.

63. Jensik SC. Tacrolimus (FK 506) in kidney transplantation: three-year survival results of the US multicenter, randomized, comparative trial. FK 506 Kidney Transplant Study Group. Transplant Proc. 1998;30(4):1216-8.

64. Webster AC, Woodroffe RC, Taylor RS, Chapman JR, Craig JC. Tacrolimus versus ciclosporin as primary immunosuppression for kidney transplant recipients: meta-analysis and meta-regression of randomised trial data. Bmj. 2005;331(7520):810.

65. Maripuri S, Kasiske BL. The role of mycophenolate mofetil in kidney transplantation revisited. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2014;28(1):26-31.

66. Sollinger HW. Mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in primary cadaveric renal allograft recipients. U.S. Renal Transplant Mycophenolate Mofetil Study Group. Transplantation. 1995;60(3):225-32.

67. Meier-Kriesche HU, Ojo AO, Leichtman AB, Punch JD, Hanson JA, Cibrik DM, et al. Effect of mycophenolate mofetil on long-term outcomes in African american renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2000;11(12):2366-70.

Kajiwara M, Masuda S. Role of mTOR Inhibitors in Kidney Disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(6).
 Scherer MN, Banas B, Mantouvalou K, Schnitzbauer A, Obed A, Krämer BK, et al. Current concepts and perspectives of immunosuppression in organ transplantation. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2007;392(5):511-23.

70. Steiner RW, Awdishu L. Steroids in kidney transplant patients. Semin Immunopathol. 2011;33(2):157-67.

71. Vincenti F, Larsen C, Durrbach A, Wekerle T, Nashan B, Blancho G, et al. Costimulation blockade with belatacept in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(8):770-81.

72. Vincenti F, Rostaing L, Grinyo J, Rice K, Steinberg S, Gaite L, et al. Belatacept and Long-Term Outcomes in Kidney Transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(4):333-43.

Martin ST, Powell JT, Patel M, Tsapepas D. Risk of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder associated with use of belatacept. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2013;70(22):1977-83.
Lamb KE, Lodhi S, Meier-Kriesche HU. Long-term renal allograft survival in the United

States: a critical reappraisal. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(3):450-62.

75. Meier-Kriesche HU, Schold JD, Srinivas TR, Kaplan B. Lack of improvement in renal allograft survival despite a marked decrease in acute rejection rates over the most recent era. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(3):378-83.

76. Hariharan S, Johnson CP, Bresnahan BA, Taranto SE, McIntosh MJ, Stablein D. Improved graft survival after renal transplantation in the United States, 1988 to 1996. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(9):605-12.

77. Lodhi SA, Lamb KE, Meier-Kriesche HU. Improving long-term outcomes for transplant patients: making the case for long-term disease-specific and multidisciplinary research. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(10):2264-5.

78. Heldal K, Leivestad T, Hartmann A, Svendsen MV, Lien BH, Midtvedt K. Kidney transplantation in the elderly--the Norwegian experience. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008;23(3):1026-31.

79. Boudville N, Prasad GV, Knoll G, Muirhead N, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Yang RC, et al. Metaanalysis: risk for hypertension in living kidney donors. Ann Intern Med. 2006;145(3):185-96.

80. Garg AX, Muirhead N, Knoll Ğ, Yang RC, Prasad GV, Thiessen-Philbrook H, et al. Proteinuria and reduced kidney function in living kidney donors: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Kidney Int. 2006;70(10):1801-10.

81. Gaston RS, Kumar V, Matas AJ. Reassessing medical risk in living kidney donors. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(5):1017-9.

82. Mjoen G, Hallan S, Hartmann A, Foss A, Midtvedt K, Oyen O, et al. Long-term risks for kidney donors. Kidney Int. 2014;86(1):162-7.

83. Muzaale AD, Massie AB, Wang MC, Montgomery RA, McBride MA, Wainright JL, et al. Risk of end-stage renal disease following live kidney donation. Jama. 2014;311(6):579-86.

84. Fehrman-Ekholm I, Elinder CG, Stenbeck M, Tydén G, Groth CG. Kidney donors live longer. Transplantation. 1997;64(7):976-8.

85. Garg AX, Meirambayeva A, Huang A, Kim J, Prasad GV, Knoll G, et al. Cardiovascular disease in kidney donors: matched cohort study. Bmj. 2012;344:e1203.

86. Segev DL, Muzaale AD, Caffo BS, Mehta SH, Singer AL, Taranto SE, et al. Perioperative mortality and long-term survival following live kidney donation. Jama. 2010;303(10):959-66.

 Haugen ÅJ, Hallan S, Langberg NE, Dahle DO, Pihlstrøm H, Birkeland KI, et al. Increased risk of ischaemic heart disease after kidney donation. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2022;37(5):928-36.
 Mjøen G, Maggiore U, Kessaris N, Kimenai D, Watschinger B, Mariat C, et al. Long-term

risks after kidney donation: How do we inform potential donors? A survey from descartes and EKITA transplantation working groups. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2021;36(9):1742-53.

89. Organ trafficking and transplant tourism and commercialism: the Declaration of Istanbul. Lancet. 2008;372(9632):5-6.

90. Veileder. Nyredonasjon fra levende giver

Utvelgelse og oppfølging av giver. In: Helsedirektoratet, editor. 2012.

91. Foley RN. Clinical epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic kidney disease. J Ren Care. 2010;36 Suppl 1:4-8.

92. Johansen KL, Chertow GM, Foley RN, Gilbertson DT, Herzog CA, Ishani A, et al. US Renal Data System 2020 Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of Kidney Disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis. 2021;77(4 Suppl 1):A7-a8.

93. Bjornstad P, Karger AB, Maahs DM. Measured GFR in Routine Clinical Practice-The Promise of Dried Blood Spots. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2018;25(1):76-83.

94. Inker LA, Titan S. Measurement and Estimation of GFR for Use in Clinical Practice: Core Curriculum 2021. Am J Kidney Dis. 2021;78(5):736-49.

95. Shahbaz H, Gupta M. Creatinine Clearance. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing

Copyright © 2021, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2021.

96. Hallan SI, Gansevoort RT. Moderator's view: Estimating glomerular filtration rate—the past, present and future. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation. 2013;28(6):1404-6.

97. Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron. 1976;16(1):31-41.

98. Levey AS, Bosch JP, Lewis JB, Greene T, Rogers N, Roth D. A more accurate method to estimate glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine: a new prediction equation. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group. Ann Intern Med. 1999;130(6):461-70.

99. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF, 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150(9):604-12.

100. Miller WG, Kaufman HW, Levey AS, Straseski JA, Wilhelms KW, Yu HE, et al. National Kidney Foundation Laboratory Engagement Working Group Recommendations for Implementing the CKD-EPI 2021 Race-Free Equations for Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate: Practical Guidance for Clinical Laboratories. Clin Chem. 2022;68(4):511-20.

101. Hundemer GL, White CA, Norman PA, Knoll GA, Tangri N, Sood MM, et al. Performance of the 2021 Race-Free CKD-EPI Creatinine- and Cystatin C-Based Estimated GFR Equations Among Kidney Transplant Recipients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2022.

102. Ferraro PM, Lombardi G, Gambaro G. Impact of the new, race-free CKD-EPI equation on prevalence and clinical outcomes of CKD in northeastern Italy: the INCIPE study. J Nephrol. 2022;35(6):1767-9.

103. Ferguson TW, Komenda P, Tangri N. Cystatin C as a biomarker for estimating glomerular filtration rate. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2015;24(3):295-300.

104. Ginsberg JM, Chang BS, Matarese RA, Garella S. Use of single voided urine samples to estimate quantitative proteinuria. N Engl J Med. 1983;309(25):1543-6.

105. Fisher H, Hsu CY, Vittinghoff E, Lin F, Bansal N. Comparison of associations of urine proteincreatinine ratio versus albumin-creatinine ratio with complications of CKD: a cross-sectional analysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2013;62(6):1102-8.

106. Wu MT, Lam KK, Lee WC, Hsu KT, Wu CH, Cheng BC, et al. Albuminuria, proteinuria, and urinary albumin to protein ratio in chronic kidney disease. J Clin Lab Anal. 2012;26(2):82-92.

107. Schiffl H, Lang SM. Update on biomarkers of acute kidney injury: moving closer to clinical impact? Mol Diagn Ther. 2012;16(4):199-207.

108. Smith ER, McMahon LP, Holt SG. Fibroblast growth factor 23. Ann Clin Biochem. 2014;51(Pt 2):203-27.

109. Bolignano D, Donato V, Coppolino G, Campo S, Buemi A, Lacquaniti A, et al. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) as a marker of kidney damage. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008;52(3):595-605.

110. Allen RA, Erickson RW, Jesaitis AJ. Identification of a human neutrophil protein of Mr 24 000 that binds N-formyl peptides: co-sedimentation with specific granules. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1989;991(1):123-33.

111. Liu Q, Ryon J, Nilsen-Hamilton M. Uterocalin: a mouse acute phase protein expressed in the uterus around birth. Mol Reprod Dev. 1997;46(4):507-14.

112. Ronco C. N-GAL: diagnosing AKI as soon as possible. Crit Care. 2007;11(6):173.

113. Mitsnefes MM, Kathman TS, Mishra J, Kartal J, Khoury PR, Nickolas TL, et al. Serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as a marker of renal function in children with chronic kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol. 2007;22(1):101-8.

114. Smith ER, Lee D, Cai MM, Tomlinson LA, Ford ML, McMahon LP, et al. Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin may aid prediction of renal decline in patients with non-proteinuric Stages 3 and 4 chronic kidney disease (CKD). Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(6):1569-79.

115. Bolignano D, Lacquaniti A, Coppolino G, Donato V, Campo S, Fazio MR, et al. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) and progression of chronic kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4(2):337-44.

116. Malyszko J, Malyszko JS, Bachorzewska-Gajewska H, Poniatowski B, Dobrzycki S, Mysliwiec M. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is a new and sensitive marker of kidney function in chronic kidney disease patients and renal allograft recipients. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(1):158-61.

117. Salamzadeh J, Sahraee Z, Nafar M, Parvin M. Delayed graft function (DGF) after living donor kidney transplantation: a study of possible explanatory factors. Ann Transplant. 2012;17(3):69-76.

118. Parikh CR, Jani A, Mishra J, Ma Q, Kelly C, Barasch J, et al. Urine NGAL and IL-18 are predictive biomarkers for delayed graft function following kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2006;6(7):1639-45.

119. Yoon YE, Cho YI, Kim SY, Lee HH, Huh KH, Kim YS, et al. Plasma Neutrophil Gelatinaseassociated Lipoprotein in Living Kidney Donors. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(3):738-41.

120. Mori K, Nakao K. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as the real-time indicator of active kidney damage. Kidney Int. 2007;71(10):967-70.

121. Ronco C, Legrand M, Goldstein SL, Hur M, Tran N, Howell EC, et al. Neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin: ready for routine clinical use? An international perspective. Blood Purif. 2014;37(4):271-85.

122. Hu MC, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Secreted klotho and chronic kidney disease. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;728:126-57.

123. Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. Nature. 1997;390(6655):45-51.

124. Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. Science. 2005;309(5742):1829-33.

125. Kuro-o M. Klotho as a regulator of oxidative stress and senescence. Biol Chem. 2008;389(3):233-41.

 Zhu L, Stein LR, Kim D, Ho K, Yu GQ, Zhan L, et al. Klotho controls the brain-immune system interface in the choroid plexus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115(48):E11388-e96.
 Torres PU, Prie D, Molina-Bletry V, Beck L, Silve C, Friedlander G. Klotho: an antiaging protein involved in mineral and vitamin D metabolism. Kidney Int. 2007;71(8):730-7.

128. Zou D, Wu W, He Y, Ma S, Gao J. The role of klotho in chronic kidney disease. BMC Nephrol. 2018;19(1):285.

129. Drueke TB, Massy ZA. Circulating Klotho levels: clinical relevance and relationship with tissue Klotho expression. Kidney Int. 2013;83(1):13-5.

130. Fernandez-Fernandez B, Izquierdo MC, Valiño-Rivas L, Nastou D, Sanz AB, Ortiz A, et al. Albumin downregulates Klotho in tubular cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2018;33(10):1712-22.

131. Moreno JA, Izquierdo MC, Sanchez-Niño MD, Suárez-Alvarez B, Lopez-Larrea C, Jakubowski A, et al. The inflammatory cytokines TWEAK and TNFα reduce renal klotho expression through NFκB. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(7):1315-25.

132. Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Quinones H, Griffith C, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho deficiency causes vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(1):124-36.

133. Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Quinones H, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Klotho deficiency is an early biomarker of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and its replacement is protective. Kidney Int. 2010;78(12):1240-51.

134. Donate-Correa J, Matos-Perdomo E, González-Luis A, Martín-Olivera A, Ortiz A, Mora-Fernández C, et al. The Value of Klotho in Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation. 2022.

135. Kim HR, Nam BY, Kim DW, Kang MW, Han JH, Lee MJ, et al. Circulating alpha-klotho levels in CKD and relationship to progression. Am J Kidney Dis. 2013;61(6):899-909.

136. Pavik I, Jaeger P, Ebner L, Wagner CA, Petzold K, Spichtig D, et al. Secreted Klotho and FGF23 in chronic kidney disease Stage 1 to 5: a sequence suggested from a cross-sectional study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(2):352-9.

137. Shimamura Y, Hamada K, Inoue K, Ogata K, Ishihara M, Kagawa T, et al. Serum levels of soluble secreted alpha-Klotho are decreased in the early stages of chronic kidney disease, making it a probable novel biomarker for early diagnosis. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2012;16(5):722-9.

138. Lu X, Hu MC. Klotho/FGF23 Axis in Chronic Kidney Disease and Cardiovascular Disease. Kidney Dis (Basel). 2017;3(1):15-23.

139. Seiler S, Wen M, Roth HJ, Fehrenz M, Flugge F, Herath E, et al. Plasma Klotho is not related to kidney function and does not predict adverse outcome in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2013;83(1):121-8.

140. Lin Y, Huang J, Zhou M, Pan C, Shan A, Zhou C. Association of serum klotho levels with different-staged vascular calcification status in patients with maintenance hemodialysis. BMC Nephrol. 2022;23(1):374.

141. Memmos E, Sarafidis P, Pateinakis P, Tsiantoulas A, Faitatzidou D, Giamalis P, et al. Soluble Klotho is associated with mortality and cardiovascular events in hemodialysis. BMC Nephrol. 2019;20(1):217.

142. Itoh N, Ornitz DM. Fibroblast growth factors: from molecular evolution to roles in development, metabolism and disease. J Biochem. 2011;149(2):121-30.

143. Faul C. Cardiac actions of fibroblast growth factor 23. Bone. 2017;100:69-79.

144. Itoh N, Ornitz DM. Functional evolutionary history of the mouse Fgf gene family. Dev Dyn. 2008;237(1):18-27.

145. Goldfarb M, Schoorlemmer J, Williams A, Diwakar S, Wang Q, Huang X, et al. Fibroblast growth factor homologous factors control neuronal excitability through modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels. Neuron. 2007;55(3):449-63.

146. Kharitonenkov A. FGFs and metabolism. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9(6):805-10.

147. Ito S, Kinoshita S, Shiraishi N, Nakagawa S, Sekine S, Fujimori T, et al. Molecular cloning and expression analyses of mouse betaklotho, which encodes a novel Klotho family protein. Mech Dev. 2000;98(1-2):115-9.

148. Hu MC, Śhiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. Annu Rev Physiol. 2013;75:503-33.

149. White KE, Carn G, Lorenz-Depiereux B, Benet-Pages A, Strom TM, Econs MJ. Autosomaldominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) mutations stabilize FGF-23. Kidney Int. 2001;60(6):2079-86.

150. Kuro OM. Ageing-related receptors resolved. Nature. 2018;553(7689):409-10.

151. Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. Nature. 2006;444(7120):770-4.

152. Bai X, Miao D, Li J, Goltzman D, Karaplis AC. Transgenic mice overexpressing human fibroblast growth factor 23 (R176Q) delineate a putative role for parathyroid hormone in renal phosphate wasting disorders. Endocrinology. 2004;145(11):5269-79.

153. Brownstein CA, Adler F, Nelson-Williams C, lijima J, Li P, Imura A, et al. A translocation causing increased alpha-klotho level results in hypophosphatemic rickets and hyperparathyroidism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(9):3455-60.

154. Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of Cardiac Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor 4 Causes Left Ventricular Hypertrophy. Cell Metab. 2015;22(6):1020-32.

155. Gutierrez O, Isakova T, Rhee E, Shah A, Holmes J, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 mitigates hyperphosphatemia but accentuates calcitriol deficiency in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(7):2205-15.

156. Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(6):584-92.

157. Wolf M. Update on fibroblast growth factor 23 in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2012;82(7):737-47.

158. Wolf M, Molnar MZ, Amaral AP, Czira ME, Rudas A, Ujszaszi A, et al. Elevated fibroblast growth factor 23 is a risk factor for kidney transplant loss and mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(5):956-66.

159. Isakova T, Wahl P, Vargas GS, Gutierrez OM, Scialla J, Xie H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is elevated before parathyroid hormone and phosphate in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2011;79(12):1370-8.

160. Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(11):4393-408.

161. Leifheit-Nestler M, Große Siemer R, Flasbart K, Richter B, Kirchhoff F, Ziegler WH, et al. Induction of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2016;31(7):1088-99.

 Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Odörfer KI, Erben RG. Experimental Myocardial Infarction Upregulates Circulating Fibroblast Growth Factor-23. J Bone Miner Res. 2015;30(10):1831-9.
 Wilkins BJ, Dai YS, Bueno OF, Parsons SA, Xu J, Plank DM, et al. Calcineurin/NFAT coupling participates in pathological, but not physiological, cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res. 2004;94(1):110-8.

164. Erben RG. Pleiotropic Actions of FGF23. Toxicol Pathol. 2017;45(7):904-10.

165. Milovanova LY, Milovanov YS, Kudryavtseva DV, Markina MM, Milovanova SY, Kozlovskaya LV, et al. [Role of the morphogenetic proteins FGF-23 and Klotho and the glycoprotein sclerostin in the assessment of the risk of cardiovascular diseases and the prognosis of chronic kidney disease]. Ter Arkh. 2015;87(6):10-6.

 Mirza MA, Larsson A, Lind L, Larsson TE. Circulating fibroblast growth factor-23 is associated with vascular dysfunction in the community. Atherosclerosis. 2009;205(2):385-90.
 Hu X, Ma X, Pan X, Hao Y, Luo Y, Lu Z, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is associated with the presence of coronary artery disease and the number of stenotic vessels. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2015;42(11):1152-7.

168. Seiler S, Rogacev KS, Roth HJ, Shafein P, Emrich I, Neuhaus S, et al. Associations of FGF-23 and sKlotho with cardiovascular outcomes among patients with CKD stages 2-4. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;9(6):1049-58.

169. Sarmento-Dias M, Santos-Araújo C, Poínhos R, Oliveira B, Silva IS, Silva LS, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy, not with uremic vasculopathy in peritoneal dialysis patients. Clin Nephrol. 2016;85(3):135-41.

170. Richter B, Haller J, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Klotho modulates FGF23-mediated NO synthesis and oxidative stress in human coronary artery endothelial cells. Pflugers Arch. 2016;468(9):1621-35.

171. Bagatini MD, Martins CC, Battisti V, Gasparetto D, da Rosa CS, Spanevello RM, et al. Oxidative stress versus antioxidant defenses in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Heart Vessels. 2011;26(1):55-63.

172. Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Gurnani P, Nandi A, Kurosu H, et al. Regulation of oxidative stress by the anti-aging hormone klotho. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(45):38029-34.

173. Saito Y, Yamagishi T, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, et al. Klotho protein protects against endothelial dysfunction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998;248(2):324-9.

174. Saito Y, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Suzuki T, Iida A, Shiraki-Iida T, et al. In vivo klotho gene delivery protects against endothelial dysfunction in multiple risk factor syndrome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;276(2):767-72.

175. Silswal N, Touchberry CD, Daniel DR, McCarthy DL, Zhang S, Andresen J, et al. FGF23 directly impairs endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation by increasing superoxide levels and reducing nitric oxide bioavailability. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2014;307(5):E426-36.

176. Scialla JJ, Lau ŴL, Reilly MP, Isakova T, Yang HY, Crouthamel MH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is not associated with and does not induce arterial calcification. Kidney Int. 2013;83(6):1159-68.

177. Lindberg K, Olauson H, Amin R, Ponnusamy A, Goetz R, Taylor RF, et al. Arterial klotho expression and FGF23 effects on vascular calcification and function. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e60658.
178. Faul C, Wolf M. Hunt for the culprit of cardiovascular injury in kidney disease. Cardiovasc Res. 2015;108(2):209-11.

179. Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Extrarenal effects of FGF23. Pediatr Nephrol. 2017;32(5):753-65.

180. Peacock M. Calcium metabolism in health and disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5 Suppl 1:S23-30.

181. Vodopivec DM, Thomas DD, Palermo NE, Steenkamp DW, Lee SL. Looking for the Outsider. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(23):2275-81.

182. Goodman WG, Jüppner H, Salusky IB, Sherrard DJ. Parathyroid hormone (PTH), PTHderived peptides, and new PTH assays in renal osteodystrophy. Kidney Int. 2003;63(1):1-11.

183. Taniguchi M, Tokumoto M, Matsuo D, Motoyama K, Sugitani A, Kuroki S, et al. Persistent hyperparathyroidism in renal allograft recipients: vitamin D receptor, calcium-sensing receptor, and apoptosis. Kidney Int. 2006;70(2):363-70.

184. KDIGO 2017 Clinical Practice Guideline Update for the Diagnosis, Evaluation, Prevention, and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease-Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD). Kidney Int Suppl (2011). 2017;7(1):1-59.

185. Wolf G. The discovery of vitamin D: the contribution of Adolf Windaus. J Nutr. 2004;134(6):1299-302.

186. Cranney A, Weiler HA, O'Donnell S, Puil L. Summary of evidence-based review on vitamin D efficacy and safety in relation to bone health. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;88(2):513s-9s.

187. Demay MB. The good and the bad of vitamin D inactivation. J Clin Invest. 2018;128(9):3736-8.

188. Ormsby RT, Findlay DM, Kogawa M, Anderson PH, Morris HA, Atkins GJ. Analysis of vitamin D metabolism gene expression in human bone: evidence for autocrine control of bone remodelling. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2014;144 Pt A:110-3.

189. Iida K, Shinki T, Yamaguchi A, DeLuca HF, Kurokawa K, Suda T. A possible role of vitamin D receptors in regulating vitamin D activation in the kidney. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(13):6112-6.

190. Ponticelli C, Sala G. Vitamin D: a new player in kidney transplantation? Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2014;10(10):1375-83.

191. Ng JY, Hilal Á, Maini I. What traditional, complementary, and integrative medicine recommendations exist across osteoporosis clinical practice guidelines? A systematic review and quality assessment. Integr Med Res. 2022;11(2):100803.

192. Legarth C, Grimm D, Wehland M, Bauer J, Krüger M. The Impact of Vitamin D in the Treatment of Essential Hypertension. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(2).

193. Herrmann M, Farrell CL, Pusceddu I, Fabregat-Cabello N, Cavalier E. Assessment of vitamin D status - a changing landscape. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2017;55(1):3-26.

194. Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2011;96(7);1911-30.

195. Institute of Medicine Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D, Calcium. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. In: Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, Del Valle HB, editors. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) Copyright © 2011, National Academy of Sciences.; 2011.

196. Zittermann A, Schleithoff SS, Koerfer R. Vitamin D insufficiency in congestive heart failure: why and what to do about it? Heart Fail Rev. 2006;11(1):25-33.

197. Robinson JK, Friedewald JJ, Desai A, Gordon EJ. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Mobile Medical App for Kidney Transplant Recipients: Effect on Use of Sun Protection. Transplant Direct. 2016;2(1).

198. Mathieu C. Vitamin D and diabetes: Where do we stand? Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015;108(2):201-9.

199. Wang TJ, Pencina MJ, Booth SL, Jacques PF, Ingelsson E, Lanier K, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and risk of cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2008;117(4):503-11.

200. Garland CF, Garland FC, Gorham ED, Lipkin M, Newmark H, Mohr SB, et al. The role of vitamin D in cancer prevention. Am J Public Health. 2006;96(2):252-61.

201. Mendy A, Apewokin S, Wells AA, Morrow AL. Factors Associated with Hospitalization and Disease Severity in a Racially and Ethnically Diverse Population of COVID-19 Patients. medRxiv. 2020.

202. Pilz S, Grübler M, Gaksch M, Schwetz V, Trummer C, Hartaigh B, et al. Vitamin D and Mortality. Anticancer Res. 2016;36(3):1379-87.

203. Caini S, Boniol M, Tosti G, Magi S, Medri M, Stanganelli I, et al. Vitamin D and melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancer risk and prognosis: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(15):2649-58.

204. Elamin MB, Abu Elnour NO, Elamin KB, Fatourechi MM, Alkatib AA, Almandoz JP, et al. Vitamin D and cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(7):1931-42.

205. Koimtzis G, Stefanopoulos L, Brooker V, Geropoulos G, Chalklin CG, Gupta S, et al. The Role of Vitamin D in Kidney Transplantation Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Life. 2022;12(10):1664.

206. Zhang Y, Kong J, Deb DK, Chang A, Li YC. Vitamin D receptor attenuates renal fibrosis by suppressing the renin-angiotensin system. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;21(6):966-73.

Schwarz U, Amann K, Orth SR, Simonaviciene A, Wessels S, Ritz E. Effect of 1,25 (OH)2 vitamin D3 on glomerulosclerosis in subtotally nephrectomized rats. Kidney Int. 1998;53(6):1696-705.
 Liu LJ, Lv JC, Shi SF, Chen YQ, Zhang H, Wang HY. Oral calcitriol for reduction of proteinuria in patients with IgA nephropathy: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;59(1):67-74.

209. de Zeeuw D, Agarwal R, Amdahl M, Audhya P, Coyne D, Garimella T, et al. Selective vitamin D receptor activation with paricalcitol for reduction of albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes (VITAL study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9752):1543-51.

210. Al Nozha OM. Vitamin D and extra-skeletal health: causality or consequence. Int J Health Sci (Qassim). 2016;10(3):443-52.

211. Berndt T, Kumar R. Novel mechanisms in the regulation of phosphorus homeostasis. Physiology (Bethesda). 2009;24:17-25.

212. Ritter CS, Slatopolsky E. Phosphate Toxicity in CKD: The Killer among Us. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;11(6):1088-100.

213. Santamaría R, Díaz-Tocados JM, Pendón-Ruiz de Mier MV, Robles A, Salmerón-Rodríguez MD, Ruiz E, et al. Increased Phosphaturia Accelerates The Decline in Renal Function: A Search for Mechanisms. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):13701.

214. Mendes M, Resende L, Teixeira A, Correia J, Silva G. Blood pressure and phosphate level in diabetic and non-diabetic kidney disease: Results of the cross-sectional "Low Clearance Consultation" study. Porto Biomed J. 2017;2(6):301-5.

 Mohammad J, Scanni R, Bestmann L, Hulter HN, Krapf R. A Controlled Increase in Dietary Phosphate Elevates BP in Healthy Human Subjects. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(8):2089-98.
 Foley RN, Collins AJ, Herzog CA, Ishani A, Kalra PA. Serum phosphate and left ventricular

hypertrophy in young adults: the coronary artery risk development in young adults study. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2009;32(1):37-44.

217. Voelkl J, Lang F, Eckardt KU, Amann K, Kuro OM, Pasch A, et al. Signaling pathways involved in vascular smooth muscle cell calcification during hyperphosphatemia. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2019;76(11):2077-91.

218. Adeney KL, Siscovick DS, Ix JH, Seliger SL, Shlipak MG, Jenny NS, et al. Association of serum phosphate with vascular and valvular calcification in moderate CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(2):381-7.

219. Robinson TF, Cohen-Gould L, Factor SM, Eghbali M, Blumenfeld OO. Structure and function of connective tissue in cardiac muscle: collagen types I and III in endomysial struts and pericellular fibers. Scanning Microsc. 1988;2(2):1005-15.
220. Lopez B, Gonzalez A, Diez J. Circulating biomarkers of collagen metabolism in cardiac diseases. Circulation. 2010;121(14):1645-54.

221. Manhenke C, Ueland T, Jugdutt BI, Godang K, Aukrust P, Dickstein K, et al. The relationship between markers of extracellular cardiac matrix turnover: infarct healing and left ventricular remodelling following primary PCI in patients with first-time STEMI. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(6):395-402.

remodelling following primary PCI in patients with first-time STEIMI. Eur Heart J. 2014;35(6):395-402.
222. Leask A, Abraham DJ. The role of connective tissue growth factor, a multifunctional matricellular protein, in fibroblast biology. Biochem Cell Biol. 2003;81(6):355-63.

223. Chen Z, Zhang N, Chu HY, Yu Y, Zhang ZK, Zhang G, et al. Connective Tissue Growth

Factor: From Molecular Understandings to Drug Discovery. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2020;8:593269.
pubmedIto Y, Aten J, Bende RJ, Oemar BS, Rabelink TJ, Weening JJ, et al. Expression of connective tissue growth factor in human renal fibrosis. Kidney Int. 1998;53(4):853-61.
Meng XM, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY. TGF-β: the master regulator of fibrosis. Nat Rev

Nephrol. 2016;12(6):325-38.

226. Branton MH, Kopp JB. TGF-beta and fibrosis. Microbes Infect. 1999;1(15):1349-65.

227. Merrill JM-M, Otoniel. Neurobiology of cytokines, Methods in Neurosciences. 17, Part B1993. p. 243-66.

. 228. Kubiczkova L, Sedlarikova L, Hajek R, Sevcikova S. TGF-β - an excellent servant but a bad master. J Transl Med. 2012;10:183.

Ma TT, Meng XM. TGF-β/Smad and Renal Fibrosis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2019;1165:347-64.
 Schumacher D, Alampour-Rajabi S, Ponomariov V, Curaj A, Wu Z, Staudt M, et al. Cardiac FGF23: new insights into the role and function of FGF23 after acute myocardial infarction.
 Cardiovasc Pathol. 2019;40:47-54.

231. Moe S, Drueke T, Cunningham J, Goodman W, Martin K, Olgaard K, et al. Definition, evaluation, and classification of renal osteodystrophy: a position statement from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int. 2006;69(11):1945-53.

232. Čannata-Andía J, Carrillo-López N, Ferreira A. Bone in CKD, a Fascinating Evolving Topic. Calcif Tissue Int. 2021;108(4):407-9.

233. Levin A, Bakris GL, Molitch M, Smulders M, Tian J, Williams LA, et al. Prevalence of abnormal serum vitamin D, PTH, calcium, and phosphorus in patients with chronic kidney disease: results of the study to evaluate early kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2007;71(1):31-8.

234. Covic A, Vervloet M, Massy ZA, Torres PU, Goldsmith D, Brandenburg V, et al. Bone and mineral disorders in chronic kidney disease: implications for cardiovascular health and ageing in the general population. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(4):319-31.

235. Block GA, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Levin NW, Port FK. Association of serum phosphorus and calcium x phosphate product with mortality risk in chronic hemodialysis patients: a national study. American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. 1998;31(4):607-17.

 Cozzolino M, Dusso AS, Slatopolsky E. Role of calcium-phosphate product and boneassociated proteins on vascular calcification in renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001;12(11):2511-6.
 London GM, Marchais SJ, Guerin AP, Metivier F. Arteriosclerosis, vascular calcifications and cardiovascular disease in uremia. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2005;14(6):525-31.

238. Moe SM, O'Neill KD, Duan D, Ahmed S, Chen NX, Leapman SB, et al. Medial artery calcification in ESRD patients is associated with deposition of bone matrix proteins. Kidney Int. 2002;61(2):638-47.

239. Shanahan CM. Mechanisms of vascular calcification in CKD-evidence for premature ageing? Nat Rev Nephrol. 2013;9(11):661-70.

240. Lau WL, Ix JH. Clinical detection, risk factors, and cardiovascular consequences of medial arterial calcification: a pattern of vascular injury associated with aberrant mineral metabolism. Semin Nephrol. 2013;33(2):93-105.

241. London GM, Guerin AP, Marchais SJ, Metivier F, Pannier B, Adda H. Arterial media calcification in end-stage renal disease: impact on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2003;18(9):1731-40.

242. Braun J, Oldendorf M, Moshage W, Heidler R, Zeitler E, Luft FC. Electron beam computed tomography in the evaluation of cardiac calcification in chronic dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 1996;27(3):394-401.

243. Lunyera J, Scialla JJ. Update on Chronic Kidney Disease Mineral and Bone Disorder in Cardiovascular Disease. Semin Nephrol. 2018;38(6):542-58.

244. Komaba H, Kakuta T, Fukagawa M. Diseases of the parathyroid gland in chronic kidney disease. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2011;15(6):797-809.

245. Hu MC, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. The emerging role of Klotho in clinical nephrology. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27(7):2650-7.

246. Naveh-Many T, Silver J. The Pas de Trois of Vitamin D, FGF23, and PTH. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2017;28(2):393-5.

247. Hu MC, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Klotho and chronic kidney disease. Contrib Nephrol. 2013;180:47-63.

248. Ho LT, Sprague SM. Percutaneous bone biopsy in the diagnosis of renal osteodystrophy. Semin Nephrol. 2002;22(3):268-75.

249. Martin KJ, Olgaard K, Coburn JW, Coen GM, Fukagawa M, Langman C, et al. Diagnosis, assessment, and treatment of bone turnover abnormalities in renal osteodystrophy. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004;43(3):558-65.

250. Sista SK, Arum SM. Management of adynamic bone disease in chronic kidney disease: A brief review. J Clin Transl Endocrinol. 2016;5:32-5.

251. Sherrard DJ. Aplastic bone: a nondisease of medical progress. Adv Ren Replace Ther. 1995;2(1):20-3.

252. Evenepoel P. Recovery versus persistence of disordered mineral metabolism in kidney transplant recipients. Semin Nephrol. 2013;33(2):191-203.

253. Evenepoel P, Van Den Bergh B, Naesens M, De Jonge H, Bammens B, Claes K, et al. Calcium metabolism in the early posttransplantation period. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4(3):665-72.

254. Vangala C, Pan J, Cotton RT, Ramanathan V. Mineral and Bone Disorders After Kidney Transplantation. Frontiers in Medicine. 2018;5(211).

255. Bleskestad IH, Bergrem H, Leivestad Ť, Góransson LG. Intact parathyroid hormone levels in renal transplant patients with normal transplant function. Clin Transplant. 2011;25(5):E566-70.

256. Evenepoel P, Meijers BK, de Jonge H, Naesens M, Bammens B, Claes K, et al. Recovery of hyperphosphatoninism and renal phosphorus wasting one year after successful renal transplantation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;3(6):1829-36.

257. Economidou D, Dovas S, Papagianni A, Pateinakis P, Memmos D. FGF-23 Levels before and after Renal Transplantation. J Transplant. 2009;2009:379082.

258. Mehrotra S, Sharma RK, Patel MR. Vitamin D, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D, FGF23, and Graft Function after Renal Transplantation. Indian J Nephrol. 2019;29(4):242-7.

259. Pande S, Ritter CS, Rothstein M, Wiesen K, Vassiliadis J, Kumar R, et al. FGF-23 and sFRP-4 in chronic kidney disease and post-renal transplantation. Nephron Physiol. 2006;104(1):p23-32.

260. Kubota M, Hamasaki Y, Hashimoto J, Aoki Y, Kawamura T, Saito A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23-Klotho and mineral metabolism in the first year after pediatric kidney transplantation: A single-center prospective study. Pediatr Transplant. 2022:e14440.

261. Evenepoel P, Naesens M, Claes K, Kuypers D, Vanrenterghem Y. Tertiary 'hyperphosphatoninism' accentuates hypophosphatemia and suppresses calcitriol levels in renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2007;7(5):1193-200.

262. Tan SJ, Crosthwaite A, Langsford D, Obeysekere V, Ierino FL, Roberts MA, et al. Mineral adaptations following kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2017;30(5):463-73.

263. Bleskestad IH, Thorsen IS, Jonsson G, Skadberg O, Bergrem H, Goransson LG. Soluble Klotho and intact fibroblast growth factor 23 in long-term kidney transplant patients. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;172(4):343-50.

264. Malyszko J, Koc-Zorawska E, Matuszkiewicz-Rowinska J, Malyszko J. FGF23 and Klotho in relation to markers of endothelial dysfunction in kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2014;46(8):2647-50.

265. Sánchez Fructuoso AI, Maestro ML, Pérez-Flores I, Valero R, Rafael S, Veganzones S, et al. Serum level of fibroblast growth factor 23 in maintenance renal transplant patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27(11):4227-35.

266. Baia LC, Humalda JK, Vervloet MG, Navis G, Bakker SJ, de Borst MH. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and cardiovascular mortality after kidney transplantation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;8(11):1968-78.

267. Tartaglione L, Pasquali M, Rotondi S, Muci ML, Leonangeli C, Farcomeni A, et al. Interactions of sclerostin with FGF23, soluble klotho and vitamin D in renal transplantation. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0178637.

268. Bienaime F, Girard D, Anglicheau D, Canaud G, Souberbielle JC, Kreis H, et al. Vitamin D status and outcomes after renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;24(5):831-41.

269. Falkiewicz K, Boratynska M, Speichert-Bidzińska B, Magott-Procelewska M, Biecek P, Patrzalek D, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D deficiency predicts poorer outcome after renal transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(8):3002-5.

270. Balcázar-Hernández L, Vargas-Ortega G, González-Virla B, Cruz-López M, Rodríguez-Gómez R, Espinoza-Pérez R, et al. Biochemical Characteristics of Bone Mineral Metabolism before and throughout the First Year after Kidney Transplantation, Persistent Hyperparathyroidism, and Risk Factors in a Latin Population. Int J Endocrinol. 2020;2020:6913506.

271. Rizvi SM, Velerød MB, Thorsby PM, Helsing P. Vitamin D in Norwegian renal transplant recipients: A longitudinal study with repeated measurements in winter and summer. Eur J Dermatol. 2015;25(3):234-9.

272. Wilimborek J, Nowicki M, Kurnatowska I. Seasonal Variation of Vitamin D Status in Long-Term Kidney Transplant Recipients. Transplant Proc. 2017;49(9):2086-91.

273. Van de Cauter J, Sennesael J, Haentjens P. Long-term evolution of the mineral metabolism after renal transplantation: a prospective, single-center cohort study. Transplant Proc. 2011;43(9):3470-5.

274. Sadideen H, Covic A, Goldsmith D. Mineral and bone disorder after renal transplantation: a review. Int Urol Nephrol. 2008;40(1):171-84.

275. Hasparyk UG, Vigil FMB, Bartolomei VS, Nunes VM, Simões ESAC. Chronic Kidney Disease-Mineral Bone Disease Biomarkers in Kidney Transplant Patients. Curr Med Chem. 2022;29(31):5230-53.

276. Rao M, Jain P, Ojo T, Surya G, Balakrishnan V. Fibroblast Growth Factor and Mineral Metabolism Parameters among Prevalent Kidney Transplant Patients. Int J Nephrol. 2012;2012:490623.

277. Torregrosa JV, Barros X. Management of hypercalcemia after renal transplantation. Nefrologia. 2013;33(6):751-7.

278. Brandenburg VM, Politt D, Ketteler M, Fassbender WJ, Heussen N, Westenfeld R, et al. Early rapid loss followed by long-term consolidation characterizes the development of lumbar bone mineral density after kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2004;77(10):1566-71.

279. Carlini RG, Rojas É, Weisinger JR, Lopez M, Martinis R, Arminio A, et al. Bone disease in patients with long-term renal transplantation and normal renal function. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000;36(1):160-6.

280. Ball AM, Gillen DL, Sherrard D, Weiss NS, Emerson SS, Seliger SL, et al. Risk of hip fracture among dialysis and renal transplant recipients. Jama. 2002;288(23):3014-8.

281. Neves CL, dos Reis LM, Batista DG, Custodio MR, Graciolli FG, Martin Rde C, et al. Persistence of bone and mineral disorders 2 years after successful kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2013;96(3):290-6.

282. Lam NN, Lentine KL, Levey AS, Kasiske BL, Garg AX. Long-term medical risks to the living kidney donor. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2015;11(7):411-9.

283. Lenihan CR, Busque S, Derby G, Blouch K, Myers BD, Tan JC. Longitudinal study of living kidney donor glomerular dynamics after nephrectomy. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(3):1311-8.

284. Flanigan WJ, Burns RO, Takacs FJ, Merrill JP. Serial studies of glomerular filtration rate and renal plasma flow in kidney transplant donors, identical twins, and allograft recipients. Am J Surg. 1968;116(5):788-94.

285. Lam NN, Lloyd A, Lentine KL, Quinn RR, Ravani P, Hemmelgarn BR, et al. Changes in kidney function follow living donor nephrectomy. Kidney Int. 2020;98(1):176-86.

286. Young A, Nevis IF, Geddes C, Gill J, Boudville N, Storsley L, et al. Do biochemical measures change in living kidney donors? A systematic review. Nephron Clin Pract. 2007;107(3):c82-9.

287. Ponte B, Trombetti A, Hadaya K, Ernandez T, Fumeaux D, Iselin C, et al. Acute and long term mineral metabolism adaptation in living kidney donors: a prospective study. Bone. 2014;62:36-42.

288. Tan SJ, Hewitson TD, Hughes PD, Holt SG, Toussaint ND. Changes in Markers of Mineral Metabolism After Living Kidney Donation. Transplant Direct. 2017;3(4):e150.

289. Moody WE, Ferro CJ, Edwards NC, Chue CD, Lin EL, Taylor RJ, et al. Cardiovascular Effects of Unilateral Nephrectomy in Living Kidney Donors. Hypertension. 2016;67(2):368-77.

290. Kasiske BL, Kumar R, Kimmel PL, Pesavento TE, Kalil RS, Kraus ES, et al. Abnormalities in biomarkers of mineral and bone metabolism in kidney donors. Kidney Int. 2016;90(4):861-8.

291. Westerberg PA, Ljunggren O, Larsson TE, Wadström J, Linde T. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and mineral metabolism after unilateral nephrectomy. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(12):4068-71.

292. Young A, Hodsman AB, Boudville N, Geddes C, Gill J, Goltzman D, et al. Bone and mineral metabolism and fibroblast growth factor 23 levels after kidney donation. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;59(6):761-9.

293. Àkimoto T, Kimura T, Watanabe Y, Ishikawa N, Iwazu Y, Saito O, et al. The impact of nephrectomy and renal transplantation on serum levels of soluble Klotho protein. Transplant Proc. 2013;45(1):134-6.

294. Hiemstra TF, Smith JC, Lim K, Xu D, Kulkarni S, Bradley JA, et al. Effect of kidney donation on bone mineral metabolism. PLoS One. 2020;15(7):e0235082.

295. Meera Gupta GO, Madhumati Rao, Roberto Gedaly, Hartmut H. Malluche, Javier A. Neyra. The Role of Alterations in Alpha-Klotho and FGF-23 in Kidney Transplantation and Kidney Donation. Front Med. 2022;9:1-13.

296. World Health Organization cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(10):e1332-e45.

297. Liu M, Li XC, Lu L, Cao Y, Sun RR, Chen S, et al. Cardiovascular disease and its relationship with chronic kidney disease. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2014;18(19):2918-26.

298. Stevens PE, O'Donoghue DJ, de Lusignan S, Van Vlymen J, Klebe B, Middleton R, et al. Chronic kidney disease management in the United Kingdom: NEOERICA project results. Kidney Int. 2007;72(1):92-9.

299. Thompson S, James M, Wiebe N, Hemmelgarn B, Manns B, Klarenbach S, et al. Cause of Death in Patients with Reduced Kidney Function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(10):2504-11.

300. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Culleton B, House A, Rabbat C, Fok M, et al. Chronic kidney disease and mortality risk: a systematic review. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17(7):2034-47.

301. Escobar C, Aranda U, Palacios B, Capel M, Sicras A, Sicras A, et al. Epidemiology, clinical profile, management, and two-year risk complications among patients with chronic kidney disease in Spain. Nefrologia (Engl Ed). 2021.

302. Levey AS, de Jong PE, Coresh J, El Nahas M, Astor BC, Matsushita K, et al. The definition, classification, and prognosis of chronic kidney disease: a KDIGO Controversies Conference report. Kidney Int. 2011;80(1):17-28.

303. Currie G, Delles C. Proteinuria and its relation to cardiovascular disease. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis. 2013;7:13-24.

304. Visseren FLJ, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Bäck M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur Heart J. 2021;42(34):3227-337.

305. Cebrian A, Escobar C, Aranda U, Palacios B, Capel M, Sicras A, et al. The 2021 European Society of Cardiology Cardiovascular Disease Prevention Guidelines: adding albuminuria to the SCORE scale increases the prevalence of very high/high cardiovascular risk among patients with chronic kidney disease. Clin Kidney J. 2022;15(6):1204-8.

306. Baigent C, Landray MJ, Reith C, Emberson J, Wheeler DC, Tomson C, et al. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with simvastatin plus ezetimibe in patients with chronic kidney disease (Study of Heart and Renal Protection): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9784):2181-92.

307. Segall L, Nistor I, Covic A. Heart failure in patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic integrative review. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:937398.

308. Raggi P, Boulay A, Chasan-Taber S, Amin N, Dillon M, Burke SK, et al. Cardiac calcification in adult hemodialysis patients. A link between end-stage renal disease and cardiovascular disease? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39(4):695-701.

309. Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Kent GM, Martin CJ, Murray DC, et al. Clinical and echocardiographic disease in patients starting end-stage renal disease therapy. Kidney Int. 1995;47(1):186-92.

310. Law JP, Price AM, Pickup L, Radhakrishnan A, Weston C, Jones AM, et al. Clinical Potential of Targeting Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 and αKlotho in the Treatment of Uremic Cardiomyopathy. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(7):e016041.

Park M, Hsu CY, Li Y, Mishra RK, Keane M, Rosas SE, et al. Associations between kidney function and subclinical cardiac abnormalities in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(10):1725-34.
 Mall G, Huther W, Schneider J, Lundin P, Ritz E. Diffuse intermyocardiocytic fibrosis in uraemic patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1990;5(1):39-44.

 Aoki J, Ikari Y, Nakajima H, Mori M, Sugimoto T, Hatori M, et al. Clinical and pathologic characteristics of dilated cardiomyopathy in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 2005;67(1):333-40.
 Cooper LT, Baughman KL, Feldman AM, Frustaci A, Jessup M, Kuhl U, et al. The role of endomyocardial biopsy in the management of cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association, the American College of Cardiology, and the European Society of Cardiology. Endorsed by the Heart Failure Society of America and the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;50(19):1914-31.

315. Shroff RC, Shanahan CM. The vascular biology of calcification. Semin Dial. 2007;20(2):103-9.

316. London GM. Mechanisms of arterial calcifications and consequences for cardiovascular function. Kidney Int Suppl (2011). 2013;3(5):442-5.

317. Monroy MA, Fang J, Li S, Ferrer L, Birkenbach MP, Lee IJ, et al. Chronic kidney disease alters vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2015;20:784-95.

318. Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Yoon C, Gales B, Sider D, et al. Coronary-artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(20):1478-83.

319. Hansson GK, Robertson AK, Söderberg-Nauclér C. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Pathol. 2006;1:297-329.

320. Spagnoli LG, Bonanno E, Sangiorgi G, Mauriello A. Role of inflammation in atherosclerosis. J Nucl Med. 2007;48(11):1800-15.

321. Schinke T, Karsenty G. Vascular calcification--a passive process in need of inhibitors. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2000;15(9):1272-4.

322. Moe SM, Drüeke T, Lameire N, Eknoyan G. Chronic kidney disease-mineral-bone disorder: a new paradigm. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2007;14(1):3-12.

323. Podestà MA, Cucchiari D, Ciceri P, Messa P, Torregrosa JV, Cozzolino M. Cardiovascular calcifications in kidney transplant recipients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2022;37(11):2063-71.

324. Shetty M, Chowdhury Y, Yegneswaran B. Calcific uremic arteriolopathy. Cleve Clin J Med. 2018;85(8):584-5.

325. Brandenburg VM, Evenepoel P, Floege J, Goldsmith D, Kramann R, Massy Z, et al. Lack of evidence does not justify neglect: how can we address unmet medical needs in calciphylaxis? Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2016;31(8):1211-9.

326. Brandenburg VM, Sinha S. Calciphylaxis: Another Piece of the Puzzle. Am J Nephrol. 2017;46(5):427-8.

327. Ureña-Torres P, D'Marco L, Raggi P, García-Moll X, Brandenburg V, Mazzaferro S, et al. Valvular heart disease and calcification in CKD: more common than appreciated. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2020;35(12):2046-53.

328. Sasakawa Y, Okamoto N, Fujii M, Kato J, Yuzawa Y, Inaguma D. Factors associated with aortic valve stenosis in Japanese patients with end-stage kidney disease. BMC Nephrol. 2022;23(1):129.

329. Àlhaj E, Alhaj N, Rahman I, Niazi TO, Berkowitz R, Klapholz M. Uremic cardiomyopathy: an underdiagnosed disease. Congest Heart Fail. 2013;19(4):E40-5.

330. Glassock RJ, Pecoits-Filho R, Barberato SH. Left ventricular mass in chronic kidney disease and ESRD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;4 Suppl 1:S79-91.

331. Epstein M, Freundlich M. The intersection of mineralocorticoid receptor activation and the FGF23-Klotho cascade: a duopoly that promotes renal and cardiovascular injury. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2022;37(2):211-21.

332. Souma N, Isakova T, Lipiszko D, Sacco RL, Elkind MS, DeRosa JT, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 and Cause-Specific Mortality in the General Population: The Northern Manhattan Study. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2016;101(10):3779-86.

333. Ix JH, Katz R, Kestenbaum BR, de Boer IH, Chonchol M, Mukamal KJ, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and death, heart failure, and cardiovascular events in community-living individuals: CHS (Cardiovascular Health Study). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60(3):200-7.

334. Kendrick J, Cheung AK, Kaufman JS, Greene T, Roberts WL, Smits G, et al. FGF-23 associates with death, cardiovascular events, and initiation of chronic dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(10):1913-22.

335. Kestenbaum B, Sachs MC, Hoofnagle AN, Siscovick DS, Ix JH, Robinson-Cohen C, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiovascular disease in the general population: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circ Heart Fail. 2014;7(3):409-17.

336. Lutsey PL, Alonso A, Selvin E, Pankow JS, Michos ED, Agarwal SK, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and incident coronary heart disease, heart failure, and cardiovascular mortality: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2014;3(3):e000936.

337. Unsal A, Kose Budak S, Koc Y, Basturk T, Sakaci T, Ahbap E, et al. Relationship of fibroblast growth factor 23 with left ventricle mass index and coronary calcificaton in chronic renal disease. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2012;36(1):55-64.

338. Andrukhova O, Bayer J, Schüler C, Zeitz U, Murali SK, Ada S, et al. Klotho Lacks an FGF23-Independent Role in Mineral Homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res. 2017;32(10):2049-61.

339. Marçais C, Maucort-Boulch D, Drai J, Dantony E, Carlier MC, Blond E, et al. Circulating Klotho Associates With Cardiovascular Morbidity and Mortality During Hemodialysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(9):3154-61.

340. Navarro-González JF, Donate-Correa J, Muros de Fuentes M, Pérez-Hernández H, Martínez-Sanz R, Mora-Fernández C. Reduced Klotho is associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease. Heart. 2014;100(1):34-40.

341. Forster RE, Jurutka PW, Hsieh JC, Haussler CA, Lowmiller CL, Kaneko I, et al. Vitamin D receptor controls expression of the anti-aging klotho gene in mouse and human renal cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;414(3):557-62.

342. Muñoz-Castañeda JR, Rodelo-Haad C, Pendon-Ruiz de Mier MV, Martin-Malo A, Santamaria R, Rodriguez M. Klotho/FGF23 and Wnt Signaling as Important Players in the Comorbidities Associated with Chronic Kidney Disease. Toxins (Basel). 2020;12(3).

343. Cano FJ, Freundlich M, Ceballos ML, Rojo AP, Azocar MA, Delgado O, et al. Longitudinal FGF23 and Klotho axis characterization in children treated with chronic peritoneal dialysis. Clin Kidney J. 2014;7(5):457-63.

344. Gutierrez OM, Januzzi JL, Isakova T, Laliberte K, Smith K, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. Circulation. 2009;119(19):2545-52.

345. Scialla JJ, Xie H, Rahman M, Anderson AH, Isakova T, Ojo A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiovascular events in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25(2):349-60.

346. Sharma S, Patel NR, Hanudel MR, Ix JH, Salusky IB, Nguyen KL. Plasma FGF23 is associated with left atrial remodeling in children on hemodialysis. Pediatr Nephrol. 2022.

347. Touchberry CD, Green TM, Tchikrizov V, Mannix JE, Mao TF, Carney BW, et al. FGF23 is a novel regulator of intracellular calcium and cardiac contractility in addition to cardiac hypertrophy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013;304(8):E863-73.

348. Faul C. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and the heart. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2012;21(4):369-75.

349. Shobeiri N, Pang J, Adams MA, Holden RM. Cardiovascular disease in an adenine-induced model of chronic kidney disease: the temporal link between vascular calcification and haemodynamic consequences. J Hypertens. 2013;31(1):160-8.

350. Hao H, Ma S, Zheng C, Wang Q, Lin H, Chen Z, et al. Excessive fibroblast growth factor 23 promotes renal fibrosis in mice with type 2 cardiorenal syndrome. Aging (Albany NY). 2021;13(2):2982-3009.

351. Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. EMBO Mol Med. 2014;6(6):744-59.

352. Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, Becirovic A, Handschuh S, Baierl A, et al. Genetic Ablation of Fgf23 or Klotho Does not Modulate Experimental Heart Hypertrophy Induced by Pressure Overload. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):11298.

353. Zhang B, Umbach AT, Chen H, Yan J, Fakhri H, Fajol A, et al. Up-regulation of FGF23 release by aldosterone. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016;470(2):384-90.

354. Pathare G, Anderegg M, Albano G, Lang F, Fuster DG. Elevated FGF23 Levels in Mice Lacking the Thiazide-Sensitive NaCl cotransporter (NCC). Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3590.

355. Khouzam RN, Dishmon DA, Farah V, Flax SD, Carbone LD, Weber KT. Secondary hyperparathyroidism in patients with untreated and treated congestive heart failure. Am J Med Sci. 2006;331(1):30-4.

356. Tomaschitz A, Ritz E, Pieske B, Rus-Machan J, Kienreich K, Verheyen N, et al. Aldosterone and parathyroid hormone interactions as mediators of metabolic and cardiovascular disease. Metabolism. 2014;63(1):20-31.

357. Lind L, Ljunghall S. Serum calcium and the ECG in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. J Electrocardiol. 1994;27(2):99-103.

358. Mizobuchi M, Ogata H, Koiwa F. Secondary Hyperparathyroidism: Pathogenesis and Latest Treatment. Ther Apher Dial. 2019;23(4):309-18.

359. Andersson P, Rydberg E, Willenheimer R. Primary hyperparathyroidism and heart disease--a review. Eur Heart J. 2004;25(20):1776-87.

360. Pepe J, Cipriani C, Curione M, Biamonte F, Colangelo L, Danese V, et al. Reduction of arrhythmias in primary hyperparathyroidism, by parathyroidectomy, evaluated with 24-h ECG monitoring. Eur J Endocrinol. 2018;179(2):117-24.

361. Stefenelli T, Mayr H, Bergler-Klein J, Globits S, Woloszczuk W, Niederle B. Primary hyperparathyroidism: incidence of cardiac abnormalities and partial reversibility after successful parathyroidectomy. Am J Med. 1993;95(2):197-202.

362. Smogorzewski M, Zayed M, Zhang YB, Roe J, Massry SG. Parathyroid hormone increases cytosolic calcium concentration in adult rat cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol. 1993;264(6 Pt 2):H1998-2006.

363. Bogin E, Massry SG, Harary I. Effect of parathyroid hormone on rat heart cells. J Clin Invest. 1981;67(4):1215-27.

364. Navarro-García JA, Fernández-Velasco M, Delgado C, Delgado JF, Kuro OM, Ruilope LM, et al. PTH, vitamin D, and the FGF-23-klotho axis and heart: Going beyond the confines of nephrology. Eur J Clin Invest. 2018;48(4).

365. Shang D, Xie Q, Ge X, Yan H, Tian J, Kuang D, et al. Hyperphosphatemia as an independent risk factor for coronary artery calcification progression in peritoneal dialysis patients. BMC Nephrol. 2015;16:107.

366. Bodyak N, Ayus JC, Achinger S, Shivalingappa V, Ke Q, Chen YS, et al. Activated vitamin D attenuates left ventricular abnormalities induced by dietary sodium in Dahl salt-sensitive animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(43):16810-5.

367. Bae S, Yalamarti B, Ke Q, Choudhury S, Yu H, Karumanchi SA, et al. Preventing progression of cardiac hypertrophy and development of heart failure by paricalcitol therapy in rats. Cardiovasc Res. 2011;91(4):632-9.

368. Bae S, Singh SS, Yu H, Lee JY, Cho BR, Kang PM. Vitamin D signaling pathway plays an important role in the development of heart failure after myocardial infarction. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2013;114(8):979-87.

369. Czaya B, Seeherunvong W, Singh S, Yanucil C, Ruiz P, Quiroz Y, et al. Cardioprotective Effects of Paricalcitol Alone and in Combination With FGF23 Receptor Inhibition in Chronic Renal Failure: Experimental and Clinical Studies. Am J Hypertens. 2019;32(1):34-44.

370. Dobnig H, Pilz S, Scharnagl H, Renner W, Seelhorst U, Wellnitz B, et al. Independent association of low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d levels with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168(12):1340-9.

371. Theodoratou E, Tzoulaki I, Zgaga L, Ioannidis JP. Vitamin D and multiple health outcomes: umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of observational studies and randomised trials. Bmj. 2014;348:g2035.

372. A Mheid I, Quyyumi AA. Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease: Controversy Unresolved. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(1):89-100.

373. Gupta J, Mitra N, Kanetsky PA, Devaney J, Wing MR, Reilly M, et al. Association between albuminuria, kidney function, and inflammatory biomarker profile in CKD in CRIC. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;7(12):1938-46.

374. Milovanova LY, Taranova MV, Milovanova SY, Kozlovskaya Lysenko LV, Pasechnik AI, Kozlov VV, et al. Cardiovascular remodeling as a result of fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23)/Klotho imbalance in patients with CKD. Int Urol Nephrol. 2022;54(7):1613-21.

375. Maréchal C, Coche E, Goffin E, Dragean A, Schlieper G, Nguyen P, et al. Progression of coronary artery calcification and thoracic aorta calcification in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012;59(2):258-69.

376. Wolf M, Weir MR, Kopyt N, Mannon RB, Von Visger J, Deng H, et al. A Prospective Cohort Study of Mineral Metabolism After Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation. 2016;100(1):184-93.

377. Naganuma T, Takemoto Y, Uchida J, Nakatani T, Kabata D, Shintani A. Hypercalcemia Is a Risk Factor for the Progression of Aortic Calcification in Kidney Transplant Recipients. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2019;44(4):823-34.

378. Benz K, Hilgers KF, Daniel C, Amann K. Vascular Calcification in Chronic Kidney Disease: The Role of Inflammation. Int J Nephrol. 2018;2018:4310379.

379. Cozzolino M, Mangano M, Stucchi A, Ciceri P, Conte F, Galassi A. Cardiovascular disease in dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2018;33(suppl\_3):iii28-iii34.

380. Jenssen T, Hartmann A. Post-transplant diabetes mellitus in patients with solid organ transplants. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2019;15(3):172-88.

381. Ventura-Aguiar P, Campistol JM, Diekmann F. Safety of mTOR inhibitors in adult solid organ transplantation. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2016;15(3):303-19.

382. Cook LG, Chiasson VL, Long C, Wu GY, Mitchell BM. Tacrolimus reduces nitric oxide synthase function by binding to FKBP rather than by its calcineurin effect. Kidney Int. 2009;75(7):719-26.

383. Kim DH, Lee KC, Han SY. Cyclosporin A Aggravates Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Under High-Glucose Conditions with a Calcifying Medium. Ann Transplant. 2018;23:112-8.

384. Sotomayor CG, Benjamens S, Gomes-Neto AW, Pol RA, Groothof D, Te Velde-Keyzer CA, et al. Bone Mineral Density and Aortic Calcification: Evidence for a Bone-vascular Axis After Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation. 2021;105(1):231-9.

385. Messaoudi S, Azibani F, Delcayre C, Jaisser F. Aldosterone, mineralocorticoid receptor, and heart failure. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2012;350(2):266-72.

386. Bertocchio JP, Warnock DG, Jaisser F. Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and blockade: an emerging paradigm in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2011;79(10):1051-60.

387. Barrera-Chimal J, Bonnard B, Jaisser F. Roles of Mineralocorticoid Receptors in Cardiovascular and Cardiorenal Diseases. Annu Rev Physiol. 2022;84:585-610.

388. Belden Z, Deiuliis JA, Dobre M, Rajagopalan S. The Role of the Mineralocorticoid Receptor in Inflammation: Focus on Kidney and Vasculature. Am J Nephrol. 2017;46(4):298-314.

389. Hundemer GL, Curhan GC, Yozamp N, Wang M, Vaidya A. Cardiometabolic outcomes and mortality in medically treated primary aldosteronism: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(1):51-9.

390. Monticone S, Sconfienza E, D'Ascenzo F, Buffolo F, Satoh F, Sechi LA, et al. Renal damage in primary aldosteronism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2020;38(1):3-12.

391. Bomback AS, Kshirságar AV, Amamoo MA, Klemmer PJ. Change in proteinuria after adding aldosterone blockers to ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers in CKD: a systematic review. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008;51(2):199-211.

392. Verma A, Vaidya A, Subudhi S, Waikar SS. Aldosterone in chronic kidney disease and renal outcomes. European Heart Journal. 2022.

393. Jaffe IZ, Mendelsohn ME. Angiotensin II and aldosterone regulate gene transcription via functional mineralocortocoid receptors in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. Circ Res. 2005;96(6):643-50.

394. Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Feger M, Kratschmar DV, Castor T, Mia S, et al. Involvement Of Vascular Aldosterone Synthase In Phosphate-Induced Osteogenic Transformation Of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):2059.

395. Shroff RC, McNair R, Skepper JN, Figg N, Schurgers LJ, Deanfield J, et al. Chronic mineral dysregulation promotes vascular smooth muscle cell adaptation and extracellular matrix calcification. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;21(1):103-12.

396. Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, Després JP, Gordon-Larsen P, Lavie CJ, et al. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2021;143(21):e984-e1010.

397. Huby AC, Antonova G, Groenendyk J, Gomez-Sanchez CE, Bollag WB, Filosa JA, et al. Adipocyte-Derived Hormone Leptin Is a Direct Regulator of Aldosterone Secretion, Which Promotes Endothelial Dysfunction and Cardiac Fibrosis. Circulation. 2015;132(22):2134-45.

398. Freundlich M, Li YC, Quiroz Y, Bravo Y, Seeherunvong W, Faul C, et al. Paricalcitol downregulates myocardial renin-angiotensin and fibroblast growth factor expression and attenuates cardiac hypertrophy in uremic rats. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27(5):720-6.

399. Tsuji K, Maeda T, Kawane T, Matsunuma A, Horiuchi N. Leptin stimulates fibroblast growth factor 23 expression in bone and suppresses renal 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 synthesis in leptin-deficient mice. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25(8):1711-23.

400. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(21):2588-605.

401. Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C, May M, Anderson SG, Benjamin EJ, et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635 subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63(7):636-46. 402. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, Redón J, Zanchetti A, Böhm M, et al. 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). J Hypertens. 2013;31(7):1281-357.

403. Pasch A, Farese S, Gräber S, Wald J, Richtering W, Floege J, et al. Nanoparticle-based test measures overall propensity for calcification in serum. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(10):1744-52.

404. Bertolone DT, Gallinoro E, Esposito G, Paolisso P, Bermpeis K, De Colle C, et al. Contemporary Management of Stable Coronary Artery Disease. High Blood Press Cardiovasc Prev. 2022;29(3):207-19.

405. Lawton JS, Tamis-Holland JE, Bangalore S, Bates ER, Beckie TM, Bischoff JM, et al. 2021 ACC/AHA/SCAI Guideline for Coronary Artery Revascularization: Executive Summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;79(2):197-215.

406. Ezekowitz J, McAlister FA, Humphries KH, Norris CM, Tonelli M, Ghali WA, et al. The association among renal insufficiency, pharmacotherapy, and outcomes in 6,427 patients with heart failure and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44(8):1587-92.

407. Smilowitz NR, Gupta N, Guo Y, Mauricio R, Bangalore S. Management and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in patients with chronic kidney disease. Int J Cardiol. 2017;227:1-7.

408. Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, et al. 2018
ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. EuroIntervention. 2019;14(14):1435-534.
409. Skalsky K, Shiyovich A, Steinmetz T, Kornowski R, Chronic Renal Failure and

Cardiovascular Disease: A Comprehensive Appraisal. J Clin Med. 2022;11(5).

410. Lima JA, Judd RM, Bazille A, Schulman SP, Atalar E, Zerhouni EA. Regional heterogeneity of human myocardial infarcts demonstrated by contrast-enhanced MRI. Potential mechanisms. Circulation. 1995;92(5):1117-25.

411. Kim RJ, Fieno DS, Parrish TB, Harris K, Chen EL, Simonetti O, et al. Relationship of MRI delayed contrast enhancement to irreversible injury, infarct age, and contractile function. Circulation. 1999;100(19):1992-2002.

412. Rajappan K, Bellenger NG, Anderson L, Pennell DJ. The role of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2000;2(3):241-52.

413. Cardiac MRI Contrast Agents Carry Low Risk of Adverse Events. Diagnostic and Interventional Cardiology; 2020 Oct 29, 2020.

414. Bellin MF, Van Der Molen AJ. Extracellular gadolinium-based contrast media: an overview. Eur J Radiol. 2008;66(2):160-7.

415. Uhlig J, Al-Bourini O, Salgado R, Francone M, Vliegenthart R, Bremerich J, et al. Gadolinium-based Contrast Agents for Cardiac MRI: Use of Linear and Macrocyclic Agents with Associated Safety Profile from 154 779 European Patients. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging. 2020;2(5):e200102.

416. McCrohon JA, Moon JC, Prasad SK, McKenna WJ, Lorenz CH, Coats AJ, et al. Differentiation of heart failure related to dilated cardiomyopathy and coronary artery disease using gadolinium-enhanced cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Circulation. 2003;108(1):54-9.

417. Reiter T, Ritter O, Prince MR, Nordbeck P, Wanner C, Nagel E, et al. Minimizing risk of nephrogenic systemic fibrosis in cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012;14(1):31.

418. Bull S, White SK, Piechnik SK, Flett AS, Ferreira VM, Loudon M, et al. Human non-contrast T1 values and correlation with histology in diffuse fibrosis. Heart. 2013;99(13):932-7.

419. Rutherford E, Talle MA, Mangion K, Bell E, Rauhalammi SM, Roditi G, et al. Defining myocardial tissue abnormalities in end-stage renal failure with cardiac magnetic resonance imaging using native T1 mapping. Kidney Int. 2016;90(4):845-52.

420. Edwards NC, Moody WÉ, Chue CD, Ferro CJ, Townend JN, Steeds RP. Defining the natural history of uremic cardiomyopathy in chronic kidney disease: the role of cardiovascular magnetic resonance. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;7(7):703-14.

421. Hayer MK, Radhakrishnan A, Price AM, Liu B, Baig S, Weston CJ, et al. Defining Myocardial Abnormalities Across the Stages of Chronic Kidney Disease: A Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020;13(11):2357-67.

422. Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Jonsson G, Skadberg Ø, Gøransson LG. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Fibroblast Growth Factor 23, and Soluble Klotho in Long-Term Kidney Donors. Nephron Extra. 2016;6(3):31-9.

423. Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Åsberg A, Hartmann A, Skadberg Ø, Brede C, et al. Vitamin D as a risk factor for patient survival after kidney transplantation: A prospective observational cohort study. Clinical Transplantation. 2019;33(5):e13517.

424. Thorsen IS, Gøransson LG, Ueland T, Aukrust P, Manhenke CA, Skadberg Ø, et al. The relationship between Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and cardiac MRI findings following primary PCI in patients with acute first time STEMI. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc. 2021;33:100727.

425. Pitt B, Remme W, Zannad F, Neaton J, Martinez F, Roniker B, et al. Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(14):1309-21.

426. Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Åsberg A, Jonsson G, Skadberg Ø, Heldal K, et al. Vitamin D, Klotho and Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 are independent of vitamin D, and unlike vitamin D, are not associated with graft- and patient survival after kidney transplantasjon. unpublished. 2023.

427. Naesgaard PA, León De La Fuente RA, Nilsen ST, Woie L, Aarsland T, Brede C, et al. Serum 25(OH)D is a 2-year predictor of all-cause mortality, cardiac death and sudden cardiac death in chest pain patients from Northern Argentina. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e43228.

428. Dahle DO, Eide IA, Åsberg A, Leivestad T, Holdaas H, Jenssen TG, et al. Aortic Stiffness in a Mortality Risk Calculator for Kidney Transplant Recipients. Transplantation. 2015;99(8):1730-7.
429. Solez K, Colvin RB, Racusen LC, Haas M, Sis B, Mengel M, et al. Banff 07 classification of renal allograft pathology: updates and future directions. Am J Transplant. 2008;8(4):753-60.

430. Bergestuen DŠ, Gravning J, Haugaa KH, Sahakyan LG, Aakhus S, Thiis-Evensen E, et al. Plasma CCN2/connective tissue growth factor is associated with right ventricular dysfunction in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:6.

431. Ueland T, Lekva T, Otterdal K, Dahl TB, Olarescu NC, Jørgensen AP, et al. Increased serum and bone matrix levels of transforming growth factor {beta}1 in patients with GH deficiency in response to GH treatment. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011;165(3):393-400.

432. Geistanger A, Arends S, Berding C, Hoshino T, Jeppsson JO, Little R, et al. Statistical methods for monitoring the relationship between the IFCC reference measurement procedure for hemoglobin A1c and the designated comparison methods in the United States, Japan, and Sweden. Clin Chem. 2008;54(8):1379-85.

433. Yamazaki Y, Imura A, Urakawa I, Shimada T, Murakami J, Aono Y, et al. Establishment of sandwich ELISA for soluble alpha-Klotho measurement: Age-dependent change of soluble alpha-Klotho levels in healthy subjects. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;398(3):513-8.

434. Heijboer AC, Blankenstein MA, Hoenderop J, de Borst MH, Vervloet MG. Laboratory aspects of circulating α-Klotho. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(9):2283-7.

435. Smith ER, Cai MM, McMahon LP, Holt SG. Biological variability of plasma intact and Cterminal FGF23 measurements. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(9):3357-65.

436. Smith ER, Ford ML, Tomlinson LA, Weaving G, Rocks BF, Rajkumar C, et al. Instability of fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23): implications for clinical studies. Clin Chim Acta. 2011;412(11-12):1008-11.

437. Smith ER, McMahon LP, Holt SG. Method-specific differences in plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 measurement using four commercial ELISAs. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2013;51(10):1971-81.
438. van Ballegooijen AJ, Rhee EP, Elmariah S, de Boer IH, Kestenbaum B. Renal Clearance of Mineral Metabolism Biomarkers. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27(2):392-7.

439. Denker M, Boyle S, Anderson AH, Appel LJ, Chen J, Fink JC, et al. Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study (CRIC): Overview and Summary of Selected Findings. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10(11):2073-83.

440. Fauconnier C, Roy T, Gillerot G, Roy C, Pouleur AC, Gruson D. FGF23: Clinical usefulness and analytical evolution. Clin Biochem. 2019;66:1-12.

441. Donate-Correa J, Muros de Fuentes M, Mora-Fernández C, Navarro-González JF. Pathophysiological implications of fibroblast growth factor-23 and Klotho and their potential role as clinical biomarkers. Clin Chem. 2014;60(7):933-40.

442. Heijboer AC, Levitus M, Vervloet MG, Lips P, ter Wee PM, Dijstelbloem HM, et al. Determination of fibroblast growth factor 23. Ann Clin Biochem. 2009;46(Pt 4):338-40.

443. van Helden J, Weiskirchen R. Technical and diagnostic performance of a new fully automated immunoassay for the determination of intact fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23). Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2018;78(7-8):584-90.

444. Yamazaki Y, Okazaki R, Shibata M, Hasegawa Y, Satoh K, Tajima T, et al. Increased circulatory level of biologically active full-length FGF-23 in patients with hypophosphatemic rickets/osteomalacia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(11):4957-60.

445. Yamashita H, Yamashita T, Miyamoto M, Shigematsu T, Kazama JJ, Shimada T, et al. Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-23 in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;151(1):55-60.

446. Ito N, Fukumoto S, Takeuchi Y, Yasuda T, Hasegawa Y, Takemoto F, et al. Comparison of two assays for fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-23. J Bone Miner Metab. 2005;23(6):435-40.

447. Souberbielle JC, Prié D, Piketty ML, Rothenbuhler A, Delanaye P, Chanson P, et al. Evaluation of a New Fully Automated Assay for Plasma Intact FGF23. Calcif Tissue Int. 2017;101(5):510-8.

448. Pedersen KR, Ravn HB, Hjortdal VE, Nørregaard R, Povlsen JV. Neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL): validation of commercially available ELISA. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2010;70(5):374-82.

449. Schmidt-Ott KM, Mori K, Li JY, Kalandadze A, Cohen DJ, Devarajan P, et al. Dual action of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18(2):407-13.

450. Yoon YE, Lee HH, Na JC, Han WK. Prospective assessment of urinary neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipoprotein in living kidney donors: toward understanding differences between chronic kidney diseases of surgical and medical origin. BJU Int. 2019;123(5):869-76.

451. Li YM, Li Y, Yan L, Wang H, Wu XJ, Tang JT, et al. Comparison of urine and blood NGAL for early prediction of delayed graft function in adult kidney transplant recipients: a meta-analysis of observational studies. BMC Nephrol. 2019;20(1):291.

452. Matsa R, Ashley E, Sharma V, Walden AP, Keating L. Plasma and urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in the diagnosis of new onset acute kidney injury in critically ill patients. Crit Care. 2014;18(4):R137.

453. KatherineXu N, AbrahamLevitman, AlexaCorker, SatoruKudose, AndrewYaeh, UddhavNeupane, JacobStevens, RosemarySampogna, Angela M.Mills, VivetteD'Agati, SumitMohan, KrzysztofKiryluk, JonathanBarasch. Elevated Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin Is Associated With the Severity of Kidney Injury and Poor Prognosis of Patients With COVID-19.

Kidney International Reports. 2021.

454. Glerup H, Mikkelsen K, Poulsen L, Hass E, Overbeck S, Thomsen J, et al. Commonly recommended daily intake of vitamin D is not sufficient if sunlight exposure is limited. J Intern Med. 2000;247(2):260-8.

455. O'Neill CM, Kazantzidis A, Ryan MJ, Barber N, Sempos CT, Durazo-Arvizu RA, et al. Seasonal Changes in Vitamin D-Effective UVB Availability in Europe and Associations with Population Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D. Nutrients. 2016;8(9).

456. Marcén R, Ponte B, Rodríguez-Mendiola N, Fernández-Rodriguez A, Galeano C, Villafruela JJ, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in kidney transplant recipients: risk factors and effects of vitamin D3 supplements. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(6):2388-90.

457. Reichrath J. Dermatologic management, sun avoidance and vitamin D status in organ transplant recipients (OTR). J Photochem Photobiol B. 2010;101(2):150-9.

458. Eyal Ö, Aharon M, Safadi R, Elhalel MD. Serum vitamin D levels in kidney transplant recipients: the importance of an immunosuppression regimen and sun exposure. Isr Med Assoc J. 2013;15(10):628-33.

459. Ewers B, Gasbjerg A, Moelgaard C, Frederiksen AM, Marckmann P. Vitamin D status in kidney transplant patients: need for intensified routine supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;87(2):431-7.

460. Matas AJ, Smith JM, Skeans MA, Thompson B, Gustafson SK, Schnitzler MA, et al. OPTN/SRTR 2012 Annual Data Report: kidney. Am J Transplant. 2014;14 Suppl 1:11-44.

461. Yohanna S, Naylor KL, McArthur E, Lam NN, Austin PC, Habbous S, et al. A Propensity Score-weighted Comparison of Outcomes Between Living and Standard Criteria Deceased Donor Kidney Transplant Recipients. Transplantation. 2020;104(11):e317-e27.

462. Yu MY, Yu BC, Kim YC, Min SI, Ha J, Yang J, et al. Trend, not severity, of acute kidney injury affects graft outcome in deceased donor kidney transplantation. Clin Transplant. 2018;32(12):e13431.

463. Young A, Kim SJ, Speechley MR, Huang A, Knoll GA, Prasad GV, et al. Accepting kidneys from older living donors: impact on transplant recipient outcomes. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(4):743-50.

464. Lentine KL, Kasiske BL, Levey AS, Adams PL, Alberú J, Bakr MA, et al. KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline on the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors. Transplantation. 2017;101(8S Suppl 1):S1-s109.

465. Altmann Ü, Böger CA, Farkas S, Mack M, Luchner A, Hamer OW, et al. Effects of Reduced Kidney Function Because of Living Kidney Donation on Left Ventricular Mass. Hypertension. 2017;69(2):297-303.

466. Kasiske BL, Anderson-Haag TL, Duprez DA, Kalil RS, Kimmel PL, Pesavento TE, et al. A prospective controlled study of metabolic and physiologic effects of kidney donation suggests that donors retain stable kidney function over the first nine years. Kidney Int. 2020;98(1):168-75.

467. Price AM, Moody WE, Stoll VM, Vijapurapu R, Hayer MK, Biasiolli L, et al. Cardiovascular Effects of Unilateral Nephrectomy in Living Kidney Donors at 5 Years. Hypertension. 2021;77(4):1273-84.

468. Beique LC, Kline GA, Dalton B, Duggan K, Yilmaz S. Predicting deficiency of vitamin D in renal transplant recipients in northern climates. Transplantation. 2013;95(12):1479-84.

469. McGregor R, Li G, Penny H, Lombardi G, Afzali B, Goldsmith DJ. Vitamin D in renal transplantation - from biological mechanisms to clinical benefits. Am J Transplant. 2014;14(6):1259-70.

470. Berchtold L, Ponte B, Moll S, Hadaya K, Seyde O, Bachtler M, et al. Phosphocalcic Markers and Calcification Propensity for Assessment of Interstitial Fibrosis and Vascular Lesions in Kidney Allograft Recipients. PLoS One. 2016;11(12):e0167929.

471. Obi Y, Hamano T, Ichimaru N, Tomida K, Matsui I, Fujii N, et al. Vitamin D deficiency predicts decline in kidney allograft function: a prospective cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(2):527-35.

472. Lee JR, Dadhania D, August P, Lee JB, Suthanthiran M, Muthukumar T. Circulating levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and acute cellular rejection in kidney allograft recipients. Transplantation. 2014;98(3):292-9.

473. Filipov JJ, Zlatkov BK, Dimitrov EP, Svinarov DA. Higher 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels Are Associated With Lower Proteinuria in Kidney Transplant Recipients. Exp Clin Transplant. 2016;14(6):629-33.

474. Lee DR, Kong JM, Cho KI, Chan L. Impact of vitamin D on proteinuria, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular parameters in kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2011;43(10):3723-9.
475. Sezer S, Yavuz D, Canoz MB, Ozdemir FN, Haberal M. Vitamin D status, bone mineral

density, and inflammation in kidney transplantation patients. Transplant Proc. 2009;41(7):2823-5.
Mehrotra S, Sharma R, Gupta A, Prasad N, Bhadauria D, Kaul A, et al. Low 25(OH) Vitamin-D levels are associated with inferior graft function in living related kidney transplant recipients. Journal of Renal Injury Prevention. 2018;7:224-9.

477. Keyzer CA, Riphagen IJ, Joosten MM, Navis G, Muller Kobold AC, Kema IP, et al. Associations of 25(OH) and 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D with long-term outcomes in stable renal transplant recipients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(1):81-9.

478. Zimmerman D, House AA, Kim SJ, Booth RA, Zhang T, Ramsay T, et al. The Risk of Acute Rejection Following Kidney Transplant by 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Status: A Prospective Cohort Study. Can J Kidney Health Dis. 2017;4:2054358117699822.

479. Ban TH, Kim JH, Jang HB, Lee YS, Choi BS, Park CW, et al. Clinical effects of pre-transplant serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level on post-transplant immunologic and non-immunologic outcomes in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Immunol. 2017;40:51-6.

480. Mehrotra S, Sharma RK, Mayya M. Vitamin D Receptor Activity, Vitamin D Status, and Development of De-novo Donor-specific Antibody after Renal Transplantation. Indian J Nephrol. 2020;30(2):72-6.

481. Tang J, Zhou R, Luger D, Zhu W, Silver PB, Grajewski RS, et al. Calcitriol suppresses antiretinal autoimmunity through inhibitory effects on the Th17 effector response. J Immunol. 2009;182(8):4624-32.

482. Adorini L, Penna G. Induction of tolerogenic dendritic cells by vitamin D receptor agonists. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2009(188):251-73.

483. Chirumbolo S, Bjørklund G, Sboarina A, Vella A. The Role of Vitamin D in the Immune System as a Pro-survival Molecule. Clin Ther. 2017;39(5):894-916.

484. Yin S, Wang X, Li L, Huang Z, Fan Y, Song T, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and impact on clinical outcomes after kidney transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutr Rev. 2022;80(4):950-61.

485. Moscarelli L, Antognoli G, Buti E, Dervishi E, Fani F, Caroti L, et al. 1,25 Dihydroxyvitamin D circulating levels, calcitriol administration, and incidence of acute rejection, CMV infection, and polyoma virus infection in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2016;30(10):1347-59.

486. Rech MA, Fleming JN, Moore CL. 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency and opportunistic viral infections after kidney transplant. Exp Clin Transplant. 2014;12(2):95-100.

487. Le Fur A, Fournier MC, Gillaizeau F, Masson D, Giral M, Cariou B, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is an independent risk factor for PTDM after kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2016;29(2):207-15.
488. Courbebaisse M, Thervet E, Souberbielle JC, Zuber J, Eladari D, Martinez F, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on the calcium-phosphate balance in renal transplant patients. Kidney Int. 2009;75(6):646-51.

489. Barros X, Rodríguez NY, Fuster D, Rodas L, Esforzado N, Mazza A, et al. Comparison of two different vitamin D supplementation regimens with oral calcifediol in kidney transplant patients. J Nephrol. 2016;29(5):703-9.

490. Wissing KM, Broeders N, Moreno-Reyes R, Gervy C, Stallenberg B, Abramowicz D. A controlled study of vitamin D3 to prevent bone loss in renal-transplant patients receiving low doses of steroids. Transplantation. 2005;79(1):108-15.

491. Tanaci N, Karakose H, Guvener N, Tutuncu NB, Colak T, Haberal M. Influence of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 as an immunomodulator in renal transplant recipients: a retrospective cohort study. Transplant Proc. 2003;35(8):2885-7.

492. Özdemir BH, Özdemir AA, Sezer S, Çolak T, Haberal M. Influence of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human leukocyte antigen-DR expression, macrophage infiltration, and graft survival in renal allografts. Transplant Proc. 2011;43(2):500-3.

493. Uyar M, Sezer S, Arat Z, Elsurer R, Ozdemir FN, Haberal M. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) therapy is protective for renal function and prevents hyperparathyroidism in renal allograft recipients. Transplant Proc. 2006;38(7):2069-73.

494. O'Herrin JK, Hullett DA, Heisey DM, Sollinger HW, Becker BN. A retrospective evaluation of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) and its potential effects on renal allograft function. Am J Nephrol. 2002;22(5-6):515-20.

495. Namir Y, Cohen MJ, Haviv YS, Slotki I, Shavit L. Vitamin D levels, vitamin D supplementation, and prognosis in patients with chronic kidney disease EClin Nephrol. 2016;86(10):165-74.

496. Courbebaisse M, Xu-Dubois YC, Thervet E, Prié D, Zuber J, Kreis H, et al. Cholecalciferol supplementation does not protect against renal allograft structural and functional deterioration: a retrospective study. Transplantation. 2011;91(2):207-12.

497. Thiem U, Heinze G, Segel R, Perkmann T, Kainberger F, Mühlbacher F, et al. VITA-D: cholecalciferol substitution in vitamin D deficient kidney transplant recipients: a randomized, placebocontrolled study to evaluate the post-transplant outcome. Trials. 2009;10:36.

498. Thiem Ursula KA US-G, Thomas P, et al. VITA-D STUDY: OUTCOME OF A 1-YEAR RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL TO EVALUATE VITAMIN D3 SUPPLEMENTATION IN VITAMIN D DEFICIENT RENAL TRANSPLANT PATIENTS. EDTA/ERA; London, UK 28-31 May 20152015.

499. Pihlstrøm HK, Gatti F, Hammarström C, Eide IA, Kasprzycka M, Wang J, et al. Early introduction of oral paricalcitol in renal transplant recipients. An open-label randomized study. Transpl Int. 2017;30(8):827-40.

500. Ugalde-Altamirano J, Álvarez Villegas D, Revuelta I, Coloma A, Torregrosa JV. Relationship Between Vitamin D Blood Levels and Cancer Development in Renal Transplant Patients: A Case-Control Study. Transplant Proc. 2016;48(9):2959-61.

501. Marcén R, Jimenez S, Fernández-Rodriguez A, Galeano C, Villafruela JJ, Gomis A, et al. Are low levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases or malignancies in renal transplantation? Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27 Suppl 4:iv47-52.

502. Ducloux D, Courivaud C, Bamoulid J, Kazory A, Dumoulin G, Chalopin JM. Pretransplant serum vitamin D levels and risk of cancer after renal transplantation. Transplantation. 2008;85(12):1755-9.

503. Gonzalez E, Rojas-Rivera J, Polanco N, Morales E, Morales JM, Egido J, et al. Effects of oral paricalcitol on secondary hyperparathyroidism and proteinuria of kidney transplant patients. Transplantation. 2013;95(7):e49-52.

504. Garofalo C, Secondulfo C, Apicella L, Bilancio G, De Nicola L, Minutolo R, et al. Antiproteinuric effect of paricalcitol in kidney transplant recipients with severe proteinuria: a prospective cohort study. J Nephrol. 2022;35(7):1943-5.

505. Nieuwland AJ, Kokje VB, Koning OH, Hamming JF, Szuhai K, Claas FH, et al. Activation of the vitamin D receptor selectively interferes with calcineurin-mediated inflammation: a clinical evaluation in the abdominal aortic aneurysm. Lab Invest. 2016;96(7):784-90.

506. Courbebaisse M, Alberti C, Colas S, Prié D, Souberbielle JĆ, Treluyer JM, et al. VITamin D supplementation in renAL transplant recipients (VITALE): a prospective, multicentre, double-blind, randomized trial of vitamin D estimating the benefit and safety of vitamin D3 treatment at a dose of 100,000 UI compared with a dose of 12,000 UI in renal transplant recipients: study protocol for a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Trials. 2014;15:430.

507. Courbebaisse M ea. Non-skeletal and skeletal effects of high doses versus minimum recommended intake of vitamin D3 in renal transplant recipients in a prospective, multicenter, double-blind, randomized study. EDTA-ERA; Budapest2019.

508. Obi Y, Ichimaru N, Sakaguchi Y, Iwadoh K, Ishii D, Sakai K, et al. Correcting anemia and native vitamin D supplementation in kidney transplant recipients: a multicenter, 2 × 2 factorial, open-label, randomized clinical trial. Transpl Int. 2021;34(7):1212-25.

509. Doi Y, Tsujita M, Hamano T, Obi Y, Namba-Hamano T, Tomosugi T, et al. The effect of cholecalciferol supplementation on allograft function in incident kidney transplant recipients: A randomized controlled study. Am J Transplant. 2021;21(9):3043-54.

510. Zmijewski MA. Vitamin D and Human Health. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(1).

511. Beveridge LA, Struthers AD, Khan F, Jorde R, Scragg R, Macdonald HM, et al. Effect of Vitamin D Supplementation on Blood Pressure: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Incorporating Individual Patient Data. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(5):745-54.

512. Moretti R, Morelli ME, Caruso P. Vitamin D in Neurological Diseases: A Rationale for a Pathogenic Impact. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(8).

513. Liu W, Zhang L, Xu HJ, Li Y, Hu CM, Yang JY, et al. The Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Vitamin D in Tumorigenesis. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(9).

514. Ciebiera M, Włodarczyk M, Ciebiera M, Zaręba K, Łukaszuk K, Jakiel G. Vitamin D and Uterine Fibroids-Review of the Literature and Novel Concepts. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(7).

515. Gruber-Bzura BM. Vitamin D and Influenza-Prevention or Therapy? Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(8).
516. Lee W, Kang PM. Vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular disease: Is there a role for vitamin D therapy in heart failure? Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2010;11(3):309-14.

517. Brinkley DM, Ali OM, Zalawadiya SK, Wang TJ. Vitamin D and Heart Failure. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2017;14(5):410-20.

518. Zittermann A, Pilz S. Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease: An Update. Anticancer Res. 2019;39(9):4627-35.

519. Mirzakhani M, Mohammadkhani S, Hekmatirad S, Aghapour S, Gorjizadeh N, Shahbazi M, et al. The association between vitamin D and acute rejection in human kidney transplantation: A systematic review and meta-analysis study. Transpl Immunol. 2021;67:101410.

520. Messa P, Regalia A, Alfieri CM. Nutritional Vitamin D in Renal Transplant Patients: Speculations and Reality. Nutrients. 2017;9(6).

521. Takahashi H, Ozeki M, Fujisaka T, Morita H, Fujita SI, Takeda Y, et al. Changes in Serum
Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction. Circ J. 2018;82(3):767-74.
522. Fuernau G, Pöss J, Denks D, Desch S, Heine GH, Eitel I, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: a biomarker substudy of the Intraaortic Balloon Pump in Cardiogenic Shock II (IABP-SHOCK II) trial. Crit Care. 2014;18(6):713.

523. Pöss J, Mahfoud F, Seiler S, Heine GH, Fliser D, Böhm M, et al. FGF-23 is associated with increased disease severity and early mortality in cardiogenic shock. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2013;2(3):211-8.

524. Reind M, Reinstadler SJ, Feistritzer HJ, Mueller L, Koch C, Mayr A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 as novel biomarker for early risk stratification after ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Heart. 2017;103(11):856-62.

525. Wang F, Ma R, Wang C. Perioperative variation in serum FGF-23 level and its correlation with MACCE risk in unprotected left main coronary artery disease patients receiving coronary artery bypassing grafting. Front Surg. 2022;9:937342.

526. Imazu M, Takahama H, Asanuma H, Funada A, Sugano Y, Ohara T, et al. Pathophysiological impact of serum fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with nonischemic cardiac disease and early chronic kidney disease. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2014;307(10):H1504-11. 527. Leifheit-Nestler M, Wagner MA, Richter B, Piepert C, Eitner F, Böckmann I, et al. Cardiac

Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 Excess Does Not Induce Left Ventricular Hypertrophy in Healthy Mice. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021;9:745892.

528. di Giuseppe R, Kühn T, Hirche F, Buijsse B, Dierkes J, Fritsche A, et al. Plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 and risk of cardiovascular disease: results from the EPIC-Germany case-cohort study. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015;30(2):131-41.

529. Ferrari SL, Bonjour JP, Rizzoli R. Fibroblast growth factor-23 relationship to dietary phosphate and renal phosphate handling in healthy young men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(3):1519-24.

530. Sigrist M, Tang M, Beaulieu M, Espino-Hernandez G, Er L, Djurdjev O, et al.
Responsiveness of FGF-23 and mineral metabolism to altered dietary phosphate intake in chronic kidney disease (CKD): results of a randomized trial. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(1):161-9.
531. Cozzolino M, Ketteler M, Wagner CA. An expert update on novel therapeutic targets for hyperphosphatemia in chronic kidney disease: preclinical and clinical innovations. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2020;24(5):477-88.

532. Mohammed I, Hutchison AJ. Oral phosphate binders for the management of serum phosphate levels in dialysis patients. J Ren Care. 2009;35 Suppl 1:65-70.

533. Zumkley H, Bertram HP, Lison A, Knoll O, Losse H. Aluminum, zinc and copper concentrations in plasma in chronic renal insufficiency. Clin Nephrol. 1979;12(1):18-21.

534. Slatopolsky E, Weerts C, Lopez-Hilker S, Norwood K, Zink M, Windus D, et al. Calcium carbonate as a phosphate binder in patients with chronic renal failure undergoing dialysis. N Engl J Med. 1986;315(3):157-61.

535. Malluche HH, Monier-Faugère MC. Hyperphosphatemia: pharmacologic intervention yesterday, today and tomorrow. Clin Nephrol. 2000;54(4):309-17.

536. Chertow GM, Burke SK, Raggi P. Sevelamer attenuates the progression of coronary and aortic calcification in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 2002;62(1):245-52.

537. Block GA, Wheeler DC, Persky MS, Kestenbaum B, Ketteler M, Spiegel DM, et al. Effects of phosphate binders in moderate CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(8):1407-15.

538. Han N, Hong SH, Kim YS, Kim DK, Kim IW, Ji E, et al. Effect of additive calcium administration on FGF23 levels in patients with mild chronic kidney disease treated with calcitriol: a randomized, open-labeled clinical trial. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2017;13:999-1007.

539. Oliveira RB, Cancela AL, Graciolli FG, Dos Reis LM, Draibe SA, Cuppari L, et al. Early control of PTH and FGF23 in normophosphatemic CKD patients: a new target in CKD-MBD therapy? Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5(2):286-91.

540. Block GA, Pergola PE, Fishbane S, Martins JG, LeWinter RD, Uhlig K, et al. Effect of ferric citrate on serum phosphate and fibroblast growth factor 23 among patients with nondialysis-dependent chronic kidney disease: path analyses. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2019;34(7):1115-24.

541. Eto N, Miyata Y, Ohno H, Yamashita T. Nicotinamide prevents the development of hyperphosphataemia by suppressing intestinal sodium-dependent phosphate transporter in rats with adenine-induced renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2005;20(7):1378-84.

542. Reilly AM, Gray AK, Moe SM, Ichikawa S. Nicotinamide treatment in a murine model of familial tumoral calcinosis reduces serum Fgf23 and raises heart calcium. Bone. 2014;67:139-44.
543. Malhotra R, Katz R, Hoofnagle A, Bostom A, Rifkin DE, McBride R, et al. The Effect of Extended Release Niacin on Markers of Mineral Metabolism in CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;13(1):36-44.

544. Ix JH, Isakova T, Larive B, Raphael KL, Raj DS, Cheung AK, et al. Effects of Nicotinamide and Lanthanum Carbonate on Serum Phosphate and Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 in CKD: The COMBINE Trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(6):1096-108.

545. Sakaguchi Y, Hamano T, Isaka Y. Magnesium and Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease: Benefits Beyond Cardiovascular Protection? Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2018;25(3):274-80.

546. Thomas L, Xue J, Murali SK, Fenton RA, Dominguez Rieg JA, Rieg T. Pharmacological Npt2a Inhibition Causes Phosphaturia and Reduces Plasma Phosphate in Mice with Normal and Reduced Kidney Function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(11):2128-39.

547. Vogt I, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. FGF23 and Phosphate-Cardiovascular Toxins in CKD. Toxins (Basel). 2019;11(11).

548. Ruospo M, Palmer SC, Natale P, Craig JC, Vecchio M, Elder GJ, et al. Phosphate binders for preventing and treating chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;8(8):Cd006023.

549. Shoben AB, Rudser KD, de Boer IH, Young B, Kestenbaum B. Association of oral calcitriol with improved survival in nondialyzed CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19(8):1613-9.

550. Teng M, Wolf M, Ofsthun MN, Lazarus JM, Hernán MA, Camargo CA, Jr., et al. Activated injectable vitamin D and hemodialysis survival: a historical cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(4):1115-25.

551. Thadhani R, Appelbaum E, Pritchett Y, Chang Y, Wenger J, Tamez H, et al. Vitamin D therapy and cardiac structure and function in patients with chronic kidney disease: the PRIMO randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2012;307(7):674-84.

552. Leifheit-Nestler M, Grabner A, Hermann L, Richter B, Schmitz K, Fischer DC, et al. Vitamin D treatment attenuates cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling and hypertrophy in uremic rats. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017;32(9):1493-503.

553. Lau WL, Leaf EM, Hu MC, Takeno MM, Kuro-o M, Moe OW, et al. Vitamin D receptor agonists increase klotho and osteopontin while decreasing aortic calcification in mice with chronic kidney disease fed a high phosphate diet. Kidney Int. 2012;82(12):1261-70.

554. Nagano N. Pharmacological and clinical properties of calcimimetics: calcium receptor activators that afford an innovative approach to controlling hyperparathyroidism. Pharmacol Ther. 2006;109(3):339-65.

555. Block GA, Bushinsky DA, Cunningham J, Drueke TB, Ketteler M, Kewalramani R, et al. Effect of Etelcalcetide vs Placebo on Serum Parathyroid Hormone in Patients Receiving Hemodialysis With Secondary Hyperparathyroidism: Two Randomized Clinical Trials. Jama. 2017;317(2):146-55.

556. Sprague SM, Wetmore JB, Gurevich K, Da Roza G, Buerkert J, Reiner M, et al. Effect of Cinacalcet and Vitamin D Analogs on Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 during the Treatment of Secondary Hyperparathyroidism. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10(6):1021-30.

557. Moe SM, Chertow GM, Parfrey PS, Kubo Y, Block GA, Correa-Rotter R, et al. Cinacalcet, Fibroblast Growth Factor-23, and Cardiovascular Disease in Hemodialysis: The Evaluation of Cinacalcet HCI Therapy to Lower Cardiovascular Events (EVOLVE) Trial. Circulation. 2015;132(1):27-39.

558. Block GA, Bushinsky DA, Cheng S, Cunningham J, Dehmel B, Drueke TB, et al. Effect of Etelcalcetide vs Cinacalcet on Serum Parathyroid Hormone in Patients Receiving Hemodialysis With Secondary Hyperparathyroidism: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. 2017;317(2):156-64.

559. Charytan C, Coburn JW, Chonchol M, Herman J, Lien YH, Liu W, et al. Cinacalcet hydrochloride is an effective treatment for secondary hyperparathyroidism in patients with CKD not receiving dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005;46(1):58-67.

560. Chonchol M, Locatelli F, Abboud HE, Charytan C, de Francisco AL, Jolly S, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to assess the efficacy and safety of cinacalcet HCl in participants with CKD not receiving dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2009;53(2):197-207.

561. Zaritsky J, Rastogi A, Fischmann G, Yan J, Kleinman K, Chow G, et al. Short daily hemodialysis is associated with lower plasma FGF23 levels when compared with conventional hemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(2):437-41.

562. Barros X, Torregrosa JV, Martínez de Osaba MJ, Casals G, Paschoalin R, Durán CE, et al. Earlier decrease of FGF-23 and less hypophosphatemia in preemptive kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2012;94(8):830-6.

563. David V, Francis C, Babitt JL. Ironing out the cross talk between FGF23 and inflammation. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2017;312(1):F1-f8.

564. Rodríguez-Ortiz ME, Díaz-Tocados JM, Muñoz-Castañeda JR, Herencia C, Pineda C, Martínez-Moreno JM, et al. Inflammation both increases and causes resistance to FGF23 in normal and uremic rats. Clin Sci (Lond). 2020;134(1):15-32.

565. Babitt JL, Sitara D. Crosstalk between fibroblast growth factor 23, iron, erythropoietin, and inflammation in kidney disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2019;28(4):304-10.

566. Block GA, Block MS, Smits G, Mehta R, Isakova T, Wolf M, et al. A Pilot Randomized Trial of Ferric Citrate Coordination Complex for the Treatment of Advanced CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(8):1495-504.

567. Tan SJ, Chu MM, Toussaint ND, Cai MM, Hewitson TD, Holt SG. High-intensity physical exercise increases serum  $\alpha$ -klotho levels in healthy volunteers. J Circ Biomark. 2018;7:1849454418794582.

568. Yoon HE, Ghee JY, Piao S, Song JH, Han DH, Kim S, et al. Angiotensin II blockade upregulates the expression of Klotho, the anti-ageing gene, in an experimental model of chronic cyclosporine nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011;26(3):800-13.

569. Kuwahara N, Sasaki S, Kobara M, Nakata T, Tatsumi T, Irie H, et al. HMG-CoA reductase inhibition improves anti-aging klotho protein expression and arteriosclerosis in rats with chronic inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis. Int J Cardiol. 2008;123(2):84-90.

570. Ichikawa S, Imel EA, Kreiter ML, Yu X, Mackenzie DS, Sorenson AH, et al. A homozygous missense mutation in human KLOTHO causes severe tumoral calcinosis. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(9):2684-91.

571. Deary IJ, Harris SE, Fox HC, Hayward C, Wright AF, Starr JM, et al. KLOTHO genotype and cognitive ability in childhood and old age in the same individuals. Neurosci Lett. 2005;378(1):22-7.
572. King GD, Chen C, Huang MM, Zeldich E, Brazee PL, Schuman ER, et al. Identification of

novel small molecules that elevate Klotho expression. Biochem J. 2012;441(1):453-61.

573. Neyra JA, Hu MC. alphaKlotho and Chronic Kidney Disease. Vitam Horm. 2016;101:257-310.

574. Shiraki-lida T, lida A, Nabeshima Y, Anazawa H, Nishikawa S, Noda M, et al. Improvement of multiple pathophysiological phenotypes of klotho (kl/kl) mice by adenovirus-mediated expression of the klotho gene. J Gene Med. 2000;2(4):233-42.

575. Sugiura H, Yoshida T, Tsuchiya K, Mitobe M, Nishimura S, Shirota S, et al. Klotho reduces apoptosis in experimental ischaemic acute renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2005;20(12):2636-45.

576. Wang Y, Sun Z. Klotho gene delivery prevents the progression of spontaneous hypertension and renal damage. Hypertension. 2009;54(4):810-7.

577. Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble Klotho Protects against Uremic Cardiomyopathy Independently of Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 and Phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(5):1150-60.

578. Suassuna PGA, Cherem PM, de Castro BB, Maquigussa E, Cenedeze MA, Lovisi JCM, et al. αKlotho attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and increases myocardial fibroblast growth factor 21 expression in uremic rats. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2020;245(1):66-78.

579. Kuro OM. The Klotho proteins in health and disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2019;15(1):27-44. 580. Richter B, Faul C. FGF23 Actions on Target Tissues-With and Without Klotho. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:189.

581. Chen G, Liu Y, Goetz R, Fu L, Jayaraman S, Hu MC, et al. α-Klotho is a non-enzymatic molecular scaffold for FGF23 hormone signalling. Nature. 2018;553(7689):461-6.

582. Perwad F, Portale AA. Burosumab Therapy for X-Linked Hypophosphatemia and Therapeutic Implications for CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;14(7):1097-9.

583. Hasegawa H, Nagano N, Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Iijima K, Fujita T, et al. Direct evidence for a causative role of FGF23 in the abnormal renal phosphate handling and vitamin D metabolism in rats with early-stage chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2010;78(10):975-80.

584. Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(7):2543-53.

585. Han X, Cai C, Xiao Z, Quarles LD. FGF23 induced left ventricular hypertrophy mediated by FGFR4 signaling in the myocardium is attenuated by soluble Klotho in mice. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2020;138:66-74.

586. Di Marco GS, Reuter S, Kentrup D, Grabner A, Amaral AP, Fobker M, et al. Treatment of established left ventricular hypertrophy with fibroblast growth factor receptor blockade in an animal model of CKD. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(11):2028-35.

587. Yanochko GM, Vitsky A, Heyen JR, Hirakawa B, Lam JL, May J, et al. Pan-FGFR inhibition leads to blockade of FGF23 signaling, soft tissue mineralization, and cardiovascular dysfunction. Toxicol Sci. 2013;135(2):451-64.

588. Leifheit-Nestler M, Haffner D. Paracrine Effects of FGF23 on the Heart. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:278.

589. Dieci MV, Arnedos M, Andre F, Soria JC. Fibroblast growth factor receptor inhibitors as a cancer treatment: from a biologic rationale to medical perspectives. Cancer Discov. 2013;3(3):264-79.

590. Katoh M. Therapeutics Targeting FGF Signaling Network in Human Diseases. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2016;37(12):1081-96.

591. Bon N, Frangi G, Sourice S, Guicheux J, Beck-Cormier S, Beck L. Phosphate-dependent FGF23 secretion is modulated by PiT2/Slc20a2. Mol Metab. 2018;11:197-204.

592. Hao H, Li X, Li Q, Lin H, Chen Z, Xie J, et al. FGF23 promotes myocardial fibrosis in mice through activation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Oncotarget. 2016;7(40):64649-64.

593. LeBaron TW, Kura B, Kalocayova B, Tribulova N, Slezak J. A New Approach for the Prevention and Treatment of Cardiovascular Disorders. Molecular Hydrogen Significantly Reduces the Effects of Oxidative Stress. Molecules. 2019;24(11).

594. Xu Z, Zheng S, Feng X, Cai C, Ye X, Liu P. Klotho gene improves oxidative stress injury after myocardial infarction. Exp Ther Med. 2021;21(1):52.

595. Dussold C, Gerber C, White S, Wang X, Qi L, Francis C, et al. DMP1 prevents osteocyte alterations, FGF23 elevation and left ventricular hypertrophy in mice with chronic kidney disease. Bone Res. 2019;7:12.

596. Roy-Chaudhury P, Tumlin JA, Koplan BA, Costea AI, Kher V, Williamson D, et al. Primary outcomes of the Monitoring in Dialysis Study indicate that clinically significant arrhythmias are common in hemodialysis patients and related to dialytic cycle. Kidney Int. 2018;93(4):941-51.

597. Takeshita K, Fujimori T, Kurotaki Y, Honjo H, Tsujikawa H, Yasui K, et al. Sinoatrial node dysfunction and early unexpected death of mice with a defect of klotho gene expression. Circulation. 2004;109(14):1776-82.

598. Navarro-García JA, Delgado C, Fernández-Velasco M, Val-Blasco A, Rodríguez-Sánchez E, Aceves-Ripoll J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 promotes rhythm alterations and contractile dysfunction in adult ventricular cardiomyocytes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2019;34(11):1864-75.
599. Han X, Ross J, Kolumam G, Pi M, Sonoda J, King G, et al. Cardiovascular Effects of Renal Distal Tubule Deletion of the FGF Receptor 1 Gene. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(1):69-80.

600. Cozzolino M, Cianciolo G, Podestà MA, Ciceri P, Galassi A, Gasperoni L, et al. Current Therapy in CKD Patients Can Affect Vitamin K Status. Nutrients. 2020;12(6).

601. Jaminon AMG, Dai L, Qureshi AR, Evenepoel P, Ripsweden J, Söderberg M, et al. Matrix Gla protein is an independent predictor of both intimal and medial vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):6586.

 Keyzer CA, Vermeer C, Joosten MM, Knapen MH, Drummen NE, Navis G, et al. Vitamin K status and mortality after kidney transplantation: a cohort study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2015;65(3):474-83.
 Nguyen PT, Coche E, Goffin E, Beguin C, Vlassenbroek A, Devuyst O, et al. Prevalence and determinants of coronary and aortic calcifications assessed by chest CT in renal transplant recipients. Am J Nephrol. 2007;27(4):329-35.

604. Caluwé R, Vandecasteele S, Van Vlem B, Vermeer C, De Vriese AS. Vitamin K2 supplementation in haemodialysis patients: a randomized dose-finding study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(7):1385-90.

605. Witham MD, Lees JS, White M, Band M, Bell S, Chantler DJ, et al. Vitamin K Supplementation to Improve Vascular Stiffness in CKD: The K4Kidneys Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020;31(10):2434-45.

606. Fusaro M, Tondolo F, Gasperoni L, Tripepi G, Plebani M, Zaninotto M, et al. The Role of Vitamin K in CKD-MBD. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2022;20(1):65-77.

607. Grzejszczak P, Kurnatowska I. Role of Vitamin K in CKD: Is Its Supplementation Advisable in CKD Patients? Kidney Blood Press Res. 2021;46(5):523-30.

608. Lees JS, Mangion K, Rutherford E, Witham MD, Woodward R, Roditi G, et al. Vitamin K for kidney transplant organ recipients: investigating vessel stiffness (ViKTORIES): study rationale and protocol of a randomised controlled trial. Open Heart. 2020;7(2).

609. Louvet L, Büchel J, Steppan S, Passlick-Deetjen J, Massy ZA. Magnesium prevents phosphate-induced calcification in human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2013;28(4):869-78.

610. Montes de Oca A, Guerrero F, Martinez-Moreno JM, Madueño JA, Herencia C, Peralta A, et al. Magnesium inhibits Wnt/β-catenin activity and reverses the osteogenic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e89525.

611. Diaz-Tocados JM, Peralta-Ramirez A, Rodríguez-Ortiz ME, Raya AI, Lopez I, Pineda C, et al. Dietary magnesium supplementation prevents and reverses vascular and soft tissue calcifications in uremic rats. Kidney Int. 2017;92(5):1084-99.

612. Sakaguchi Y, Hamano T, Obi Y, Monden C, Oka T, Yamaguchi S, et al. A Randomized Trial of Magnesium Oxide and Oral Carbon Adsorbent for Coronary Artery Calcification in Predialysis CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(6):1073-85.

613. Nath CK, Rajkhowa P, Barman B, Barman H, Dutta A, Pala S, et al. Plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL): A candidate biomarker to detect early acute kidney injury (AKI) for at-risk intensive care admissions. J Family Med Prim Care. 2022;11(7):3681-6.



Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39 DOI: 10.1159/000450621 Published online: October 12, 2016

© 2016 The Author(s) Published by S. Karger AG, Basel www.karger.com/nne



This article is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND) (http://www.karger.com/Services/OpenAccessLicense). Usage and distribution of modified material requires written permission.

# **Original Paper**

# Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Fibroblast Growth Factor 23, and Soluble Klotho in Long-Term Kidney Donors

Inga Strand Thorsen<sup>a</sup> Inger Hjørdis Bleskestad<sup>a</sup> Grete Jonsson<sup>b</sup> Øyvind Skadberg<sup>b</sup> Lasse Gunnar Gøransson<sup>a, c</sup>

Departments of <sup>a</sup>Internal Medicine and <sup>b</sup>Medical Biochemistry, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, and <sup>c</sup>Department of Clinical Medicine (K1), University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

# **Key Words**

Kidney donors · Biomarkers · Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin · Klotho · Fibroblast growth factor 23 · Vitamin D · Kidney transplantation

### Abstract

**Background:** The best treatment for end-stage renal disease (ESRD) is kidney transplantation. Twenty-seven percent of transplantations in Norway are from living donors. Recent studies have shown an increased risk of ESRD and increased mortality in donors. The aim of this study was to determine if the levels of the new biomarkers neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), soluble Klotho (sKlotho), and fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) are changed in kidney donors with normal kidney function defined as an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) >60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> compared to patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) stages 3-5 and healthy controls. *Methods:* This is a cross-sectional, observational, single-center study including 35 kidney donors with an eGFR  $\geq$ 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> 5 years after donation, 22 patients with CKD stage 3 (eGFR 30-59 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), 18 patients with CKD stage 4 (eGFR 15-29 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), 20 patients with CKD stage 5 (eGFR <15 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), and 35 controls comparing levels of biomarkers in long-term kidney donors with those in CKD patients and healthy controls. Results: The level of log NGAL was significantly higher in donors than in healthy controls (2.02  $\pm$  0.10 vs. 1.89  $\pm$  0.10 ng/ml; p < 0.001), and the level increased with declining kidney function. The log FGF23 level was nonsignificantly higher in donors than in controls, but it significantly increased with declining kidney function. The log sKlotho levels were significantly lower in patients with CKD stages 4 and 5 than in controls, but no difference was revealed between controls and donors. Conclusion: Kidney donors have significantly higher levels of NGAL than healthy controls after a median of 15 years (range 5-38). NGAL could be a valuable diagnostic marker in the future. FGF23 and sKlotho were not significantly different between donors and controls. © 2016 The Author(s)

Published by S. Karger AG, Basel

Inga Strand Thorsen Department of Internal Medicine Stavanger University Hospital PB 8100, NO-4068 Stavanger (Norway) E-Mail inga.strand @ gmail.com/ings@sus.no





Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39	
DOI: 10.1159/000450621	© 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Base www.karger.com/nne

#### Introduction

In Norway the prevalence of chronic kidney disease (CKD) is 10.2% according to the second Health Survey of Nord-Trøndelag [1]. The same prevalence is reported from the USA [2]. CKD is characterized by progressive destruction of the renal parenchyma and loss of functional nephrons [3]. Only a group of patients with CKD stages 3–4 develop end-stage renal disease (ESRD) with the need for dialysis or transplantation [4].

The best treatment for ESRD is kidney transplantation. In 2013, 246 kidney transplantations were performed in Norway, of which 68 (27.6%) were from a living donor [5]. The short- and long-term effects of unilateral nephrectomy on living donors have been an important issue for more than 60 years. A living donor must undergo a medically unnecessary procedure, and safety concerns have always been the focus of attention. The short-term risk is well established with a 0.03% risk of mortality and <1% risk of major morbidity [6]. The loss of renal mass from unilateral nephrectomy in living kidney donors is associated with compensatory changes in the remaining kidney [7], and a rapid compensatory increase in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) in the remaining kidney is well documented [8].

Earlier studies claimed that living kidney donors neither have an increase in all-cause mortality nor an increased risk of ESRD compared to the general population. However, donors are selected from a group of very healthy individuals thoroughly screened for conditions such as hypertension and kidney and coronary diseases, and they do not reflect the general population. New studies comparing donors with equally healthy controls indicate an increased risk of metabolic derangements particularly involving calcium homeostasis, kidney failure, and mortality [9, 10].

The function of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) is largely unknown, but NGAL is associated with cellular stress, acute kidney injury, and CKD [11, 12]. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) has an important role in calcium-phosphate metabolism, and FGF23 levels rise quickly as kidney function declines [13]. Soluble Klotho (sKlotho) is linked to aging and CKD progression. These biomarkers have a known association with CKD progression, but they are not adequately explored in long-term kidney donors [14]. The aim of this study was to determine if the levels of the new biomarkers NGAL, sKlotho, and FGF23 are changed in kidney donors with normal kidney function defined as an estimated GFR (eGFR) >60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> compared to healthy controls and patients with CKD.

## Subjects and Methods

The study is a cross-sectional, observational, single-center trial. Donors and patients with CKD stages 3 and 4 were identified in a local database containing all patients visiting the outpatient clinic at the renal unit of Stavanger University Hospital. Patients were included in connection with planned appointments and after giving informed consent. Patients with CKD stage 5 were all recruited from the hemodialysis unit. Patients with severe comorbidity and a limited life expectancy, as well as previously parathyroidectomized patients, were excluded. We included donors with an eGFR  $\geq$ 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> to avoid confounding with regard to the levels of the new biomarkers from reduced eGFR, and only patients with a follow-up of >5 years after donor nephrectomy. The time since nephrectomy varied from 5 to 38 years (median 15). We included 35 kidney donors with an eGFR  $\geq$ 60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, 22 patients with CKD stage 3 (eGFR 30–59 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), 18 patients with CKD stage 4 (eGFR 15–29 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), and 20 patients with CKD stage 5 (eGFR <15 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>).

Thirty-five healthy controls were recruited from among colleagues and friends who regarded themselves as healthy. All patients and controls were older than 18 years. Written



informed consent was obtained from all patients, donors, and controls prior to their inclusion. The study adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Regional Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee Western Norway.

Routine hematological and biochemical analyses, including hemoglobin, creatinine, calcium, phosphate, intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), albumin, and electrolytes, were performed at the hospital's analytical laboratory. Urine samples were analyzed for albumin, creatinine, calcium, and phosphate in all participants except ESRD patients.

NGAL was analyzed in EDTA plasma, whereas 25(OH) vitamin D, sKlotho, and FGF23 were analyzed in serum. Serum and EDTA plasma were separated from blood cells within 1 h after collection by centrifugation for 15 min at 2,500 g at 4°C, and stored in aliquots at  $-76^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

The eGFR was estimated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation [15]. Serum phosphate (reference range: females 0.85–1.44 mmol/l; males 13–49 years 0.78–1.52 mmol/l,  $\geq$ 50 years 0.69–1.31 mmol/l), total serum calcium (reference range 2.15–2.55 mmol/l), and albumin (reference range: 0–39 years 36–48 g/l, 40–69 years 36–45 g/l,  $\geq$ 70 years 34–45 g/l) were analyzed using Architect c16000TM (Abbott Diagnostics, Abbott Park, Ill., USA). Albumin-corrected serum calcium (reference range: females <54 years 2.17–2.52 mmol/l,  $\geq$ 55 years 2.20–2.62 mmol/l; males 2.17–2.56 mmol/l) was calculated as follows: serum calcium + 0.02 × (41.3 – serum albumin). iPTH (reference range: 1.6–8.5 pmol/l) was determined using an intact PTH assay from Abbott Diagnostics, analyzed on an Architect i2000SR (Abbott Diagnostics).

Serum iFGF23 and sKlotho were measured by commercially available ELISA kits from Kainos Laboratories Inc. (Tokyo, Japan) and IBL (Immuno-Biological Laboratories GmbH, Hamburg, Germany), respectively. Freshly thawed samples were measured in duplicate, and the reproducibility of the methods was monitored by analyzing 3–5 aliquots of a serum control with each assay. The intra- and interassay coefficients of variation for sKlotho were <15%, and for iFGF23 they were <7 and <11%, respectively. The level of iFGF23, measured with the Kainos ELISA kit, in 104 healthy adults from Japan was reported to be in the range of 8.2–54.3 ng/l [16], and a reference range of 10–50 ng/l has been suggested based on these results [17]. sKlotho, measured by the IBL ELISA kit in serum from 142 healthy subjects, was reported to range from 239 to 1,266 pg/ml, with a mean of  $562 \pm 146$  pg/ml, in the original publication on the method [18]. Reference ranges for males of 252–652 pg/ml and for females of 177–804 pg/ml in a healthy Danish population were recently published using the same ELISA kit [19]. Serum 25(OH) vitamin D was quantified by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization with 4-phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3,5-dione reagent (PTAD; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Mo., USA), and analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection [20]. Levels of serum 25(OH) vitamin D are deficient below 50 nmol/l, insufficient between 50 and 75 nmol/l, and sufficient above 75 nmol/l [21]. The NGAL concentration in EDTA plasma was measured with a commercially available ELISA kit, with microwells precoated with a monoclonal antibody raised against human NGAL (KIT 036; Bio-Porto Diagnostics, Gentofte, Denmark). The analyses were performed in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol. Freshly thawed samples were measured in duplicate, and the reproducibility of the method was monitored by analyzing 4 duplicates of a plasma control with each assay. The intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <10 and <8%, respectively [22].

The urine samples were analyzed for concentrations of creatinine (reference range: 4.5–20.0 mmol/l), albumin, calcium (reference range: 2.0–9.0 mmol/l), and phosphate. The fractional excretion of phosphate (FePO<sub>4</sub>) was calculated as follows: (urine phosphate × serum creatinine) × 100/(serum phosphate × urine creatinine). The reference range for FePO<sub>4</sub> in healthy subjects is reported to be 0–20% [23]. The fractional excretion of calcium (FeCa<sub>3</sub>) was calculated as follows: (urine calcium × serum creatinine) × 100/(serum calcium × urine creatinine).



Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39	
DOI: 10.1159/000450621	© 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Basel www.karger.com/nne

#### Table 1. Baseline characteristics

Group	Control (n = 35)	Donor (n = 35)	CKD stage 3 (n = 22)	CKD stage 4 (n = 18)	CKD stage 5 (HD) (n = 20)	p value
Age, years	43.6±13.1	56.5±9.4	62.7±16.7	61.7±17.1	70.9±16.6	< 0.001
Sex - male/female, n	16/19	21/14	15/7	11/7	12/8	0.102
NGAL, ng/ml	97.6±18.3	110.6±31.7	209.2±67.5	459.5±111.3	1,012.6±374.1	< 0.001
log NGAL, ng/ml	$1.89 \pm 0.10$	$2.02 \pm 0.10$	$2.3 \pm 0.15$	$2.65 \pm 0.12$	$2.98 \pm 0.17$	< 0.001
FGF23, pg/ml	51.8 (25.9-90)	62.6 (6.6-112)	97.5 (44-308)	337.0 (139-11,000)	806.0 (121-16,100)	< 0.001
sKlotho, pg/ml	725.4 (458-1,222)	669.3 (409-1,161)	597.8 (449-979)	460.8 (288-790)	377.6 (223-784)	< 0.001
25(OH) vitamin D, nmol/l	58.67±25.2	76.4±17.0	44.01±19.4	53.55±22.5	59.65±29.5	< 0.001
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	99.0±13.1	75.8±12.3	43.7±9.8	19.1±5.8	7.3±2.6	< 0.001
Creatinine, µmol/l	73.1±12.6	90.3±16.3	$141.0 \pm 28.1$	280.1±84.2	621.2±203.6	< 0.001
Albumin-corrected calcium, µmol/l	$2.4 \pm 0.07$	$2.41 \pm 0.06$	2.46±0.13	$2.45 \pm 0.13$	$2.5 \pm 0.18$	0.006
iPTH, pmol/l	$5.82 \pm 2.47$	7.1±2.29	13.63±13.19	32.73±24.34	47.43±46.86	< 0.001
Phosphate, mmol/l	$1.12 \pm 0.17$	1.06±0.19	$1.11 \pm 0.16$	$1.35 \pm 0.27$	$1.46 \pm 0.49$	< 0.001
Urine phosphate, mmol/l	16.4 (2.4-49.9)	25.8 (2.6-50.7)	17.2 (4.1-31.8)	13.7 (6.5-27.8)	nn	0.001
Urine calcium, mmol/l	2.84±2.06	1.96±1.09	1.53±1.11	0.77±0.12	nn	< 0.001
Urine albumin/creatinine, mg/mmol	0.61 (0.18-30.8)	2.3 (0.1-19.9)	21.5 (2.0-2,000.0)	198 (3.3-1,753.0)	nn	< 0.001
FePO <sub>4</sub>	12.0 (4.0-22.9)	22.7 (3.1-41.9)	30.5 (19.9-56.9)	47.9 (31.6-69.1)	nn	< 0.001
FeCa <sub>3</sub>	0.84 (0.20-2.5)	0.78 (0.16-1.73)	0.79 (0.35 - 3.03)	1.13 (0.43-3.15)	nn	0.025

Laboratory results are given as means  $\pm$  SD of normally distributed data, and as medians (ranges) of non-normally distributed data. p values display differences between groups, using one-way ANOVA for numeric values and the  $\chi^2$  test for the categorical value 'sex'. Urine values in CKD stage 5 are marked as 'nn', because the included patients were on HD and had very limited urine production, which is why no urine samples were obtained. HD = Hemodialysis.

#### Statistical Analysis

All variables normally distributed are expressed as means ± standard deviations. Other distributed data are expressed as medians and ranges. NGAL, sKlotho, and FGF23 were logarithmically transformed to obtain normal distributions.

The variables were compared by one-way ANOVA. The Mann-Whitney U test and Kruskal-Wallis test gave similar results. We used a multiple regression model with the biomarkers NGAL, FGF23, and sKlotho as dependent variables to explore the possible effects of the independent variables age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, phosphate, iPTH, albumin-corrected calcium, creatinine, and the other 2 biomarkers on the dependent variables. NGAL, FGF23, and sKlotho were used as dependent variables in 3 different models. We excluded nonsignificant variables using a backward selection model. We performed the analysis on the complete study population to ensure an adequate sample size.

The level of statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 22.0.

#### Results

The baseline characteristics are given in table 1. The mean age of the controls was significantly lower than that of the other groups, and the mean age of the patients with CKD stage 5 was significantly higher.

The levels of log NGAL were significantly different between all groups, showing increasing levels with declining kidney function (fig. 1). Post hoc testing showed a significantly higher level of log NGAL in donors than in healthy controls (p < 0.01). Post hoc testing also showed differences between controls and patients with CKD stages 3–5 and between each group of patients with CKD stages 3, 4, and 5. There was no association between NGAL levels and time since nephrectomy, NGAL levels and age, or NGAL levels and 1st-degree relationship between donors and recipients. In a multiple regression analysis using log NGAL as the dependent variable and age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, phosphate, iPTH, albumin-corrected calcium, log sKlotho, log FGF23, and creatinine as independent variables, only creatinine remained in the model using a backward selection model.





Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39

50621 © 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Basel www.karger.com/nne

Thorsen et al.: Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Fibroblast Growth Factor 23, and Soluble Klotho in Long-Term Kidney Donors



**Fig. 1.** Boxplot showing the distribution of plasma log NGAL in the different groups. The levels of log NGAL are significantly different between the groups. CKD = Chronic kidney disease.

log FGF23 levels were nonsignificantly higher in donors than in controls – and, as expected, log FGF23 levels increased significantly with declining kidney function. In a multiple regression analysis using log FGF23 as the dependent variable and age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, creatinine, phosphate, albumin-corrected calcium, iPTH, log sKlotho, and log NGAL as independent variables, only serum phosphate, albumin-corrected calcium, and iPTH remained in the model using a backward selection model.

There was no difference in log sKlotho levels between controls and kidney donors. log sKlotho levels declined with declining kidney function, and the log sKlotho levels were significantly lower in patients with CKD stages 4 and 5 than in controls. There was no difference in log sKlotho levels between donors and controls. In a multiple regression analysis, there was no association between log sKlotho levels and age, sex, 25(OH) vitamin D, phosphate, iPTH, albumin-corrected calcium, log NGAL, or log FGF23. Creatinine was the only variable remaining in a backward selection model.

The kidney donors had an eGFR  $\geq 60 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ , but the eGFR was significantly lower and creatinine significantly higher than in the control group. In comparison to healthy controls, living kidney donors had significantly higher levels of iPTH (p = 0.03), significantly higher fractional urinary excretion of phosphate (p < 0.001), nonsignificantly lower serum phosphate (p = 0.23), and similar serum calcium levels. The donors also had significantly higher 25(OH) vitamin D levels than all the other groups. 25(OH) vitamin D levels were significantly lower in patients with CKD stage 3, with 73% of the patients having serum levels <50 nmol/l.

## Discussion

Long-term kidney donors with an eGFR >60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> have significantly increased levels of NGAL compared to controls as well as to patients with CKD stages 3–5 after 5–38 years (median 15). Levels of NGAL and FGF23 have an inverse association with eGFR, and the level of sKlotho declines when the eGFR declines.

NGAL was originally isolated from the supernatant of activated neutrophilic granulocytes [24, 25]. NGAL is also produced in other types of tissue, such as the kidneys. The function



Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39	
DOI: 10.1159/000450621	© 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Basel

of NGAL is largely unknown, but NGAL is increased in cells under 'stress' – for instance, during infections, inflammation, degeneration, or neoplastic transformation [11]. NGAL is associated with reduced kidney function in patients with CKD [12]. It is also associated with reduced kidney function in kidney transplant patients, and it is increased in stable transplant patients with subclinical tubulitis [26]. Studies of delayed kidney graft function have shown an association between delayed kidney graft function and urinary levels of NGAL and interleukin-18 on the first day after transplantation [27, 28]. Interleukin-18 is a proinflammatory cytokine and a marker of oxidative stress [29]. The increased levels of NGAL in our kidney donors may reflect a state of increased cellular 'stress' which can induce cardiovascular disease (CVD) and kidney failure.

In a prospective observational cohort study on patients with CKD stage 3 or 4, urinary NGAL was associated with an independent higher risk of death and initiation of renal replacement therapy [30]. In another study, plasma and urinary levels of NGAL were independent predictors of CKD progression even after adjusting for eGFR [31].

The hypothesis called the 'forest fire theory' claims that the increase in NGAL in CKD patients is the result of a sustained production of 'inflamed' but vital tubular cells, whereas reduced kidney function is a general loss of functional cells and nephrons. NGAL may therefore represent a real-time biomarker for ongoing kidney damage [32].

Immediately following a unilateral nephrectomy, renal blood flow increases by approximately 40%. This is associated with glomerular hypertrophy and an increase in renocortical volume. Adaptive hyperfiltration by the remaining kidney is maintained at a constant level for at least 6–8 years after donation [33]. Renal hyperfiltration is associated with an increased risk of developing hypertension and CVD, and there is an association between renal hyperfiltration and decline in eGFR [34]. This may in part explain the increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality among living donors.

In a recent study by Yoon et al. [35], NGAL levels 1 week after donor nephrectomy, but not preoperative NGAL levels, were associated with an eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> 6 months postoperatively. This supports our hypothesis that increased NGAL levels in kidney donors may be a biomarker for an increased risk of development of CKD.

FGF23 is a phosphaturic hormone with an important role in calcium-phosphate metabolism. FGF23 increases phosphate excretion, and FGF23 levels rise quickly as kidney function declines [13].

Increased levels of FGF23 are associated with increased mortality in hemodialysis patients [36], as well as in patients with CKD stages 2–4 [37] and kidney transplant patients [38]. Increased FGF23 levels combined with a reduced GFR predicts rapid progression toward ESRD [39, 40]. Observational studies reported independent associations of elevated serum phosphate and FGF23 levels with risk of ESRD, CVD, and death. Excessive phosphate induces arterial calcification, and increased FGF23 probably reflects the phosphate load of the body [41]. Donor Nephrectomy Outcomes Research (DONOR) Network investigators found increased FGF23 levels 6 months after donation in an unselected group of donors [42]. In our study, the FGF23 levels were nonsignificantly increased in donors compared to controls, probably reflecting the subgroup of donors with well-preserved kidney function or a power problem.

There was no significant difference in levels of sKlotho between donors and controls, probably reflecting a near-normal eGFR in the donors. There was, however, a significant decrease in serum sKlotho in patients with CKD stages 4 and 5 compared to donors. Ever since its discovery about 15 years ago, sKlotho has been linked to reduced kidney function. sKlotho was originally identified as an antiaging protein, but at a later stage it has been shown to possess a number of biological functions [14]. sKlotho is expressed in different organs, but mostly in kidney tissue, especially in the distal tubular cells [43]. sKlotho was reported to be

# KARGER



Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39	
DOI: 10.1159/000450621	© 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Basel
	www.karger.com/nne

37

closely associated with CKD progression [44–46], but another study found stable sKlotho levels in patients with CKD stages 2–4 [47]. Our results support the work of Pavik et al. [45], with a significant decrease in sKlotho in CKD stages 4 and 5, but it is still unclear if the serum levels of sKlotho reflect tissue Klotho.

# Strengths and Limitations

The commercially available methods for the measurement of sKlotho differ in quality; thus, results may be difficult to compare between studies. The IBL kit used in this study showed a within-run variation of 4%, with good agreement between serum and EDTA plasma in a study of the 3 different Klotho assays available [48].

Restriction and matching are the main methods of preventing confounding in an observational cohort study. Restriction is used in this study by having selected kidney donors with an eGFR  $\geq$  60 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> to reduce confounding by reduced kidney function. We did not perform any matching. To further examine the results, we compared the 15 controls with the lowest eGFR (mean 87 and range 73–96 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>) to the 15 donors with the best eGFR (mean 88 and range 81–103 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>). The NGAL level was nonsignificantly higher in donors than in controls (86 vs. 105 ng/ml), showing a trend toward higher NGAL levels in a small sample. This finding supports – but does not confirm – that the increased level of NGAL in kidney donors is associated with the donation, and is not only the result of reduced post-operative kidney function. If, however, the increase in NGAL in this population of donors is the result of reduced kidney function, NGAL levels may still be important as a biomarker for people at risk of increased morbidity and mortality after donation.

The small number of patients included in this study is a limitation, and prospective studies are needed to evaluate these biomarkers as prognostic markers in kidney donors.

# Conclusion

Long-term kidney donors have significantly higher levels of NGAL than healthy controls. This may reflect a partial loss of renal function in kidney donors as compared with a healthy control group. Renal hyperfiltration as a consequence of nephrectomy may induce cellular stress. NGAL is a potential biomarker for predicting donors at increased risk of developing CKD and premature mortality postoperatively. FGF23 levels have an inverse relationship to eGFR, and the level of sKlotho declines when eGFR declines; however, there is no significant difference in sKlotho and FGF23 levels between long-term kidney donors and controls. The hypothesis using NGAL as a prognostic marker for kidney donors should be tested prospectively in a larger cohort.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Geir Egil Eide, Biostatistician, PhD, Centre for Clinical Research, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway, for statistical advice. The study was supported by an educational grant from Stavanger University Hospital and a grant from the Norwegian Society of Nephrology.



Nephron Extra 2016;6:31–39	
DOI: 10.1159/000450621	© 2016 The Author(s). Published by S. Karger AG, Basel www.karger.com/nne

# **Authors' Contributions**

- I.S. Thorsen: study design, recruiting patients, data collection, data analysis, and preparing the manuscript
- I.H. Bleskestad: data analysis and revision of the manuscript
- G. Jonsson: collecting and analyzing laboratory samples and revision of the manuscript
- Ø. Skadberg: analyzing laboratory samples and revision of the manuscript
- L.G. Gøransson: study design, data collection, data analysis, and preparing the manuscript
- All authors read and approved the final manuscript

# **Disclosure Statement**

The authors declare no conflicts of interests.

## References

- 1 Hallan S, Astor B, Lydersen S: Estimating glomerular filtration rate in the general population: the second Health Survey of Nord-Trøndelag (HUNT II). Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006;21:1525–1533.
- 2 Levin A, Stevens PE: Summary of KDIGO 2012 CKD Guideline: behind the scenes, need for guidance, and a framework for moving forward. Kidney Int 2014;85:49–61.
- 3 Viau A, El Karoui K, Laouari D, et al: Lipocalin 2 is essential for chronic kidney disease progression in mice and humans. J Clin Invest 2010;120:4065–4076.
- 4 Hallan SI, Ritz E, Lydersen S, Romundstad S, Kvenild K, Orth SR: Combining GFR and albuminuria to classify CKD improves prediction of ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20:1069–1077.
- 5 Leivestad T: Annual report 2014. The Norwegian Renal Registry. http://www.nephro.no/nnr/AARSM2014.pdf.
- 6 Segev DL, Muzzale AD, Caffo BS, Mehta SA, Singer AL, Taranto SE, McBride MA, Montgomery RA: Perioperative mortality and long-term survival following live kidney donation. JAMA 2010;303:959–966.
- 7 Lam NN, Lentine KL, Levey AS, Kasiske BL, Garg AX: Long-term medical risks to the living kidney donor. Nat Rev Nephrol 2015;11:411–419.
- 8 Flanigan WJ, Burns RO, Takacs FJ, Merrill JP: Serial studies of glomerular filtration rate and renal plasma flow in kidney transplant donors, identical twins, and allograft recipients. Am J Surg 1968;116:788–794.
- 9 Gaston RS, Kumar V, Matas AJ: Reassessing medical risk in living kidney donors. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;26: 1017–1019.
- 10 Mjøen G, Hallan S, Hartmann A, Foss A, Midtvedt K, Øyen O, Reisæter A, Pfeffer P, Jenssen T, Leivestad T, Line PD, Øvrehus M, Dale DO, Pihlstrøm H, Holme I, Dekker FW, Holdaas H: Long-term risks for kidney donors. Kidney Int 2014;86:162–167.
- 11 Liu Q, Ryon J, Nilsen-Hamilton M: Uterocalin: a mouse acute phase protein expressed in the uterus around birth. Mol Reprod Dev 1997;46:507–514.
- 12 Mitsnefes MM, Kathman TS, Mishra J, Kartal J, Khoury PR, Nickolas TL, Barasch J, Devarajan P: Serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as a marker of renal function in children with chronic kidney disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2007;22:101–108.
- 13 Gutierrez O, Isakova T, Rhee E, et al: Fibroblast growth factor-23 mitigates hyperphosphatemia but accentuates calcitriol deficiency in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:2205–2215.
- 14 Kuoro-o M: Klotho and aging. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1790:1049–1058.
- 15 Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang Y, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Greene T, Coresh J: A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2009;150:604–612.
- 16 Yamazaki Y, Okazaki R, Shibata M, et al: Increased circulatory level of biologically active full-length FGF-23 in patients with hypophosphatemic rickets/osteomalacia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:4957–4960.
- 17 Yamashita H, Yamashita T, Miyamoto M, et al: Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-23 in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism. Eur J Endocrinol 2004;151:55–60.
- 18 Yamazaki Y, Imura A, Urakawa I, et al: Establishment of sandwich ELISA for soluble α-Klotho measurement: age-dependent change of soluble α-Klotho levels in healthy subjects. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2010; 398:513–518.
- 19 Pedersen L, Pedersen SM, Brasen CL, Rasmussen LM: Soluble serum Klotho levels in healthy subjects. Comparison of two different immunoassays. Clin Biochem 2013;46:1079–1083.
- 20 Naesgaard PA, León De La Fuente RA, Nilsen ST, Woie L, Aarsland T, Brede C, Staines H, Nilsen DW: Serum 25(OH)D is a 2-year predictor of all-cause mortality, cardiac death and sudden cardiac death in chest pain patients from Northern Argentina. PLoS One 2012;7:e43228.





- 21 Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, Murad MH, Weaver CM: Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1911–1930.
- 22 Pedersen KR, Ravn HB, Hjortdal VE, Nørregaard R, Povlsen JV: Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL): validation of commercially available ELISA. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2010;70:374–382.
- 23 Burnett SM, Gunawardene SC, Bringhurst FR, Jüppner H, Lee H, Finkelstein JS: Regulation of C-terminal and intact FGF-23 by dietary phosphate in men and women. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21:1187–1196.
- 24 Allen RA, Erickson RW, Jesaitis AJ: Identification of a human neutrophil protein of *M*<sub>r</sub> 24 000 that binds *N*-formyl peptides: co-sedimentation with specific granules. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989;991:123–133.
- 25 Bolignano D, Donato V, Coppolino G, Campo S, Buemi A, Lacquaniti A, Buemi M: Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) as a marker of kidney damage. Am J Kidney Dis 2008;52:595–605.
- 26 Malyszko J, Malyszko JS, Bachorzewska-Gajewska, Poniatowski B, Dobrzycki S, Mysliwiec M: Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin is a new and sensitive marker of kidney function in chronic kidney disease patients and renal allograft recipients. Transplant Proc 2009;41:158–161.
- 27 Salanzadeh J, Sahraee Z, Nafar M, Parwin M: Delayed graft function (DGF) after living donor kidney transplantation: a study of possible explanatory factors. Ann Transplant 2012;17:69–76.
- 28 Parikh CR, Jani A, Mishra J, Ma Q, Kelly C, Barasch J, Edelstein CL, Devarajan P: Urine NGAL and IL-18 are predictive biomarkers for delayed graft function following kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 2006;6: 1639–1645.
- 29 Izquierdo MJ, Cavia M, Muñiz P, de Francisco AL, Arias M, Santos J, Abaigar P: Paricalcitol reduces oxidative stress and inflammation in hemodialysis patients. BMC Nephrol 2012;13:159.
- 30 Smith ER, Lee D, Cai MM, Tomlinson LA, Ford ML, McMahon LP, Holt SG: Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin may aid prediction of renal decline in patients with non-proteinuric Stages 3 and 4 chronic kidney disease (CKD). Nephrol Dial Transplant 2013;28:1569–1579.
- 31 Bolignano D, Lacquaniti A, Coppolino G, Donato V, Campo S, Fazio MR, Nicicia G, Buemi M: Neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL) and progression of chronic kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;4:337–344.
- 32 Mori K, Nakao K: Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as the real-time indicator of active kidney damage. Kidney Int 2007;71:967–970.
- 33 Lenihan CR, Busque S, Derby G, Blouch K, Myers BD, Tan JC: Longitudinal study of living kidney donor glomerular dynamics after nephrectomy. J Clin Invest 2015;125:1311–1318.
- 34 Park M, Yoon E, Lim YH, Kim H, Choi J, Yoon HJ: Renal hyperfiltration as a novel marker of all-cause mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;26:1426–1433.
- 35 Yoon YE, Chi YI, Kin SY, Lee HH, Huh KH, Kim YS, Han WK: Plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipoprotein in living kidney donors. Transplant Proc 2016;48:738–741.
- 36 Gutiérrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, Smith K, Lee H, Thadhani R, Jüppner H, Wolf M: Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med 2008;359:584–592.
- 37 Wolf M: Update on fibroblast growth factor 23 in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 2012;82:737-747.
- 38 Wolf M, Molnar MZ, Amaral AP, Czira ME, Rudas A, Ujszaszi A, Kiss I, Rosivall L, Kosa J, Lakatos P, Kovesdy CP, Musci I: Elevated fibroblast growth factor 23 is a risk factor for kidney transplant loss and mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;22:956–966.
- 39 Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, Wahl P, et al: Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. JAMA 2011;305:2432–2439
- 40 Kendrick J, Cheung AK, Kaufman JS, Greene T, Roberts WL, Smits G, Chondrol M: FGF-23 associates with death, cardiovascular events, and initiation of chronic dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;22:1913–1922.
- 41 Isakova T, Ix JH, Sprague SM, Raphael KL, Fried L, Gassman JJ, Raj D, Cheung AK, Kusek JW, Flessner MF, Wolf M, Block GA: Rationale and approaches to phosphate and fibroblast growth factor 23 reduction in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;26:2328–2339.
- 42 Young A, Hodsman AB, Boudville N, Geddes C, Gill J, Goltzman D, Jassal SV, Klarenbach S, et al: Bone and mineral metabolism and fibroblast growth factor 23 levels after kidney donation. Am J Kidney Dis 2012;59:761–769.
- 43 Hu MC, Kuro-o M, Moe OW: The emerging role of Klotho in clinical nephrology. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27:2650–2657.
- 44 Kim HR, Nam BY, Kim DW, Kang HW, Han JH, Lee MJ, Shin DH, Doh FM, Koo HM, et al: Circulating  $\alpha$ -klotho levels in CKD and relationship to progression. Am J Kidney Dis 2013;61:899–909.
- 45 Pavik I, Jaeger P, Ebner L, Wagner CA, Petzold K, Spichtig D, Poster D, Wüthrich RP, Russmann S, Serra AL: Secreted Klotho and FGF23 in chronic kidney disease Stage 1 to 5: a sequence suggested from a cross-sectional study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2013;28:352–359.
- 46 Shinamura Y, Hamada K, Inoue K, Ogata K, Ishihara M, Kagawa T, Inoue M, et al: Serum levels of soluble secreted α-Klotho are decreased in the early stages of chronic kidney disease, making it a probable novel biomarker for early diagnosis. Clin Exp Nephrol 2012;16:722–729.
- 47 Seiler S, Wen M, Roth HJ, Fehrenz M, Flügge F, Herath E, Weihrauch A, Fliser D, Heine GH: Plasma Klotho is not related to kidney function and does not predict adverse outcome in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 2013;83:121–128.
- 48 Heijboer AC, Blankenstein MA, Hoenderop J, de Borst MH, Vervloet MG; NIGRAM Consortium: Laboratory aspects of circulating α-Klotho. Nephrol Dial Trasplant 2013;28:2283–2287.

39



IJC Heart & Vasculature 33 (2021) 100727



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# IJC Heart & Vasculature



# The relationship between Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and cardiac MRI findings following primary PCI in patients with acute first time STEMI



Inga Strand Thorsen <sup>a,b,1,\*</sup>, Lasse G. Gøransson <sup>a,b,1</sup>, Thor Ueland <sup>c,d,1</sup>, Pål Aukrust <sup>c,d,e,1</sup>, Cord A. Manhenke <sup>f,1</sup>, Øyvind Skadberg <sup>g,1</sup>, Grete Jonsson <sup>g,1</sup>, Stein Ørn <sup>f,1</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

<sup>b</sup> Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

<sup>c</sup> Institute of Clinical Medicine, Medical Faculty, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

<sup>d</sup> Research Institute of Internal Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

<sup>e</sup> Section of Clinical Immunology and Infectious Diseases, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

f Department of Cardiology, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

<sup>g</sup> Department of Medical Biochemistry, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 December 2020 Received in revised form 22 January 2021 Accepted 25 January 2021

Keywords: FGF23 ST-elevation myocardial infarction Heart failure

#### ABSTRACT

*Background:* Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) is a regulator of mineral metabolism, that has been linked to myocardial remodeling including development of left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis. The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between intact FGF23 (iFGF23), myocardial infarct size and LV remodeling following a first acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI).

Methods and results: Forty-two consecutive patients with first-time STEMI, single vessel disease, successfully treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention were included. Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging was performed at day 2, 1 week, 2 months and 1 year post MI, and blood samples were drawn at admittance and at the same time points as the CMRs. The cohort was divided according to the presence or not of heart failure post MI. In the total cohort, iFGF23 (mean ± SD) was significantly lower at day 0 (33.7 ± 20.6 pg/ml) and day 2 (31.5 ± 23.4 pg/ml) compared with a reference interval based on 8 healthy adults (43.9 pg/ml ± 19.0 pg/ml). iFGF23 increased to normal levels (55.8 ± 23.4 pg/ml) seven days post MI. In the subset of patients with signs of acute heart failure, FGF23 was higher at all measured timepoints, reaching significantly higher FGF23 levels at 2 months and 1 year following revascularization.

*Conclusion:* There was a reduction in iFGF23 levels during the acute phase of MI, with a normalization at seven days following revascularization. During one-year follow-up, there was a gradual increase in iFGF23 levels in patients with heart failure.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### 1. Introduction

Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) is a circulating phosphaturic molecule secreted mainly from osteocytes in bone, acting on the kidney and parathyroid glands to regulate the phosphatehomeostasis and vitamin D metabolism. FGF23 is also implicated

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Internal Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Gerd-Ragna Bloch Thorsens Gate 8, 4011 Stavanger, Norway.

E-mail address: inga.strand@gmail.com (I.S. Thorsen).

in the sodium-phosphate cotransport in the proximal tubule in the kidney. Circulating FGF23 increases early in the development of chronic kidney disease (CKD), and FGF23 has emerged a powerful predictor of adverse outcomes in patients with CKD, and a potential target for medical therapy in these disorders [1–3].

Several studies have also demonstrated an association between high levels of FGF23, cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality irrespective of the presence of CKD [3–6]. To this end, the pathophysiological role of FGF23 in cardiac disease has not been established. A recent study has suggested that cardiac myelofibroblasts are the main source of FGF23 within the myocardium [7], and persistent elevation of FGF23 has been associated with

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcha.2021.100727

2352-9067/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This author takes responsibility for all aspects of the reliability and freedom from bias of the data presented and their discussed interpretation

myocardial remodeling including the induction of left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis [8].

In contrast to chronic FGF23 elevation, the role of FGF23 in the setting of acute myocardial damage, such as myocardial infarction (MI) is less clear. FGF23 may induce positive ionotropic effects through alterations in intracellular calcium handling in cardiomyocytes [9]. This may potentially contribute to a compensatory enhancement of contractility in non-infarcted myocardium following acute MI. In animal models, FGF23 is upregulated in myofibroblasts following MI, suggesting a potential physiologic role of FGF23 in the acute phase of a MI [7]. Simultaneously, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) was found to be the strongest inhibitor of FGF23 expression, indicating the presence of counterregulatory mechanisms attenuating the effects of FGF23. Moreover, activated macrophages and dendritic cells express high levels of FGF23, linking this mediator to inflammation. Hence, current data suggest that FGF23 reflects different aspects of myocardial injury and healing at different time-points following acute MI. However, although elevated FGF23 was found to be negatively associated with adverse outcomes and heart failure after MI [5,10], the impact of FGF23 on post-MI remodeling is still unclear. In particular, few studies have addressed the dynamic relationship between myocardial remodeling and FGF23 following acute MI.

The aim of this study was therefore to investigate the timedependent changes in FGF23 and the relationship between circulating FGF23 levels and MI size, LV remodeling and systemic biomarkers of inflammation and collagen turnover following MI.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Study population and study design

This is a single center observational study including patients with a first-time ST-elevation MI (STEMI) due to an occlusion of a single, large coronary artery, successfully revascularized with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (pPCI), assessed by cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) at 4 time-points during the first year following infarction: at 2 days, 1 week, 2 months and 1 year. The CMR examinations were used to assess infarct size and left ventricular (LV) volumes and ejection fraction (LVEF). Blood samples were drawn at admittance (before revascularization), and at the same time points as the CMRs.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria have previously been described [11]. In brief 42 patients with their first-time STEMI (typical chest pain and ST-elevations on ECG) were recruited if they had acute proximal/ mid-occluded single vessel disease and went through a successful revascularization (pPCI) defined as TIMI 3 flow, and no significant residual stenosis. Patients were excluded if they had evidence of previous MI based on history, ECG or angiography, or if they had more than single vessel disease on angiography or CMR. Patients were excluded if they had co-morbidities such as chronic atrial fibrillation, malignancies, autoimmune disorders or infectious diseases, as well as reinfarction during the first week or contraindications against CMR. All patients were treated according to standard percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) procedure, with aspirin, clopidogrel, heparin and statins. Post-MI patients were treated according to current guidelines with ACE inhibitor/angiotensin receptor blockers, diuretics and betablockers. They were treated with an aldosterone antagonist if indicated, in accordance with the criteria used in the EPHESUS study. Patients with left ventricular dysfunction as documented by a left ventricular ejection fraction of 40 percent or lower, and heart failure as documented by the presence of pulmonary rales, chest radiography showing pulmonary venous congestion. In patients with diabetes who met the criteria for left ventricular dysfunction after acute myocardial infarction, symptoms of heart failure did not have to be demonstrated, since such patients have an increased risk of cardiovascular events similar to that of nondiabetic patients with symptoms of heart failure.[12]. None of our 8 patients receiving aldosterone antagonist, were started because of diabetes. They all had EF < 40% and clinical signs of heart failure. We divided the cohort according to the presence or absence of heart failure post MI, using +/- indication for aldosterone antagonist to divide the group.

The Regional Ethics Committee at the University of Bergen approved the study, and all the patients gave their written informed consent prior to inclusion. The investigation was performed according to the principles in the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### 2.2. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging

The CMR images were ECG-gated and obtained during breath holding. Patients were scanned in a supine position by a 1.5 T whole body scanner (Intera™ R10, Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) using a dedicated cardiac coil. Resting LV function was determined with cine images using a steady-state free precession technique. For first-pass perfusion, a turbo field echo sequence with three short-axis slices per heartbeat (prospective triggering) and a selective saturation recovery prepulse was used. Gadolinium-based contrast agent (Omniscan<sup>™</sup>, Amersham Health, Little Chalfont, UK) was given at a dose of 0.075 mmol/kg. Immediately following the completion of the first-pass imaging, another 0.175 mmol/kg of contrast agent was infused, and 10-15 min following the latter infusion-delayed hyper enhancement images were acquired. All post- processing was performed on the View Forum<sup>™</sup> Software (Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) in a random, blinded fashion. Assessment of body surface indexed end-diastolic (LVEDVi), end-systolic (LVEDVSi), and EF was done by short-axis volumetry. Infarct size was assessed manually with plainimetry on each short-axis slice by delineating the hyper enhanced area from the non-enhanced myocardium [13].

#### 2.3. Blood sampling protocol

Venous blood samples were collected on admission to the hospital, immediately prior to PCI, and 2 days, 7 days, 2 months and 1 year following MI. The pyregen-free blood collection tubes were immediately immersed in melting ice (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid-containing tubes, plasma) or placed in room temperature (tubes without any additives, serum) and centrifuged within 20 min at 2500g for 20 min to obtain platelet-poor plasma, or centrifuged at 1000g for 10 min after coagulation (serum). All samples were stored at -50 °C and thawed only once. Biomarkers were analyzed in one run, after the study was completed.

#### 2.4. Biomarkers

Plasma **iFGF23** was measured by commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from Immutopics International, San Clemente, CA, USA. Freshly thawed samples were measured in duplicates, and the reproducibility of the method monitored by analyzing 4 aliquots of a control with each assay. Intra- and inter-assay coefficient of variation for iFGF23 was <8%. The reference interval for iFGF23 based on 8 healthy adults measured in the same laboratory was on average 43.9 pg/ ml (±19.0 pg/ml). Serum levels of connective tissue growth factor (s-**CTGF**) were determined by a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [14]. The concentration of transforming growth factor b1 (**TGF-b1**) was measured by EIA (R&D Systems) [15]. Serum **25(OH) vitamin D** were quantified by liquid– liquid extraction, derivatization with 4-phenyl-1,2,4-triazoline-3, 5-dione reagent (PTAD, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and analysis by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection [16]. In this study, levels of serum 25 (OH) vitamin D are termed deficient < 30 nmol/l (<12 ng/mL), insufficient at 30–50 nmol/L (12–20 ng/mL), sufficient at >50 nmol/L (>20 ng/mL) [17].

Amino-terminal propeptide of procollagen type I (PINP), aminoterminal propeptide of procollagen type III (PIINP) and carboxyterminal type I telopeptid (CITP) as markers of extracellular matrix (ECM) remodelling were analysed using a radioimmunoassay from Orion Diagnostica (Finland). The lower detection limit was 2.0 ng/ mL for PINP, 0.20 ng/mL for PIIINP and 0.50 ng/mL for CITP respectively.

C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations were measured by a particle enhanced immunoturbidimetric method with the use of Roche ModularP automated clinical chemistry analyser (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland) and reagents of Tina-quant Creactive protein (latex) assay (Roche Diagnostics), reference range 0-7 mg/L. Creatinine was analysed on Roche Modular P, enzymatic colorimetric assay (CREA plus), (ref.range 60-105 µmol/L for men and 45-90 µmol/L for women), calcium was analyzed on Roche Modular P using colorimetric assay (ref.range 2.15-2.55 mmol/L), inorganic phosphorus (phosphate) was analyzed on Roche modular P (ref.range 0.85-1.44 mmol/L). Troponin T (TnT) concentrations were measured on Roche Elecsys 2010 (Roche Diagnostics), with the immunoassay Troponin T (Roche Diagnostics), using biotinylated monoclonal troponin T-specific antibody and a monoclonal troponin T-specific antibody labelled with ruthenium forming a sandwich complex, reference range  $< 14 \,\mu$ g/L. N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) was measured with a Roche Diagnostics NT-proBNP assay on an Elecsys 2010 analyser, reference range 0-100 pg/mL. Plasma intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH) was determined using an intact PTH assay from Abbot Diagnostics, analyzed on Architect i2000SR (Abbott Diagnostics), reference range 1.6-8.5 pmol/L.

#### 2.5. Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were assessed by standard descriptive statistics. Data are expressed as mean ± SD for normally distributed data or median and range for non-normally distributed data. Area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for each biomarker at different time points during 1-year follow-up, and correlations were measured cumulatively. ANOVA was used to test for differences between the variables measured at multiple time points, with Bonferroni post-hoc testing where appropriate. Univariate correlations were performed using non-parametric methods (Spearman). Non-parametric tests (Mann-Whitney U, Kruskal-Wallis) were used to test for differences between groups. A two-tailed p-value of <0.05 was considered significant. SPSS version 24.0 was used for statistical analysis.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. iFGF and markers of extracellular matrix turn over following MI

The mean (SD) age was 58 (12) years, 34 males and 8 females, Mean (SD) BMI was 27.2 (3.4), mean (SD) blood pressure was systolic 140 (27) mmHg, and diastolic 84 (20) mmHg. 10 patients were previously treatment for hypertension, 3 were diabetic, 20 were current smokers. Mean (SD) creatinine levels were 74.9 (17.4) µmol/L.

Several significant patterns were revealed comparing the pattern during follow-up in MI patients. First, iFGF23 was significantly lower day 0 and day 2 compared with the levels measured in healthy adults, with a significant increase in concentrations during follow-up reaching levels comparable/higher than healthy adults on day 7 with the highest concentrations at 1 year, Fig. 1.

Second, type I collagen degradation marker (CITP) increased significantly from day 0 to day 2, and remained elevated throughout the observation period indicating a prolonged increased collagen type I degradation following MI. Third, in contrast to this pattern, type I collagen production marker (PINP) showed a late, significant increase from day 0 reaching the highest level at 1 year, suggesting a slower increase in collagen type I synthesis. Fourth, collagen type III production marker (PIIINP) showed a rapid increase during the first week, with persistent elevation for the rest of the observation period, suggesting a rapid increase in type III collagen synthesis. Finally, there was no significant changes during follow-up in 25 (OH) vitamin D, CTGF, TGF-β, creatinine, calcium, phosphate and PTH levels, Table 1. There was no correlation between iFGF23 levels and the other biomarkers at any time-points. However, there was a strong correlation between the AUC of FGF23 and CTGF during the 1-year follow-up (r = 0.53, p < 0.01).

#### 3.2. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging following MI

CMR findings are listed in Table 1. In the whole group of patients there was a significant reduction in infarct size from 16.1 to 9.8 g/m<sup>2</sup> (p < 0.001) and myocardial mass from 66.0 g/m<sup>2</sup> to 58.3 g/m<sup>2</sup> (p = 0.002) from day 1 to 1 year post MI. LV ejection fraction (EF) increased from 47.2% at baseline to 52.7% at one year follow-up (p < 0.001). Left ventricular end systolic volume (LVESVi) and left ventricular end diastolic volume (LVEDVi) did not change significantly, Table 1. In the group as a whole, there was no correlation between iFGF23 levels and the CMR findings at any time-points.

# 3.3. FGF23 levels in patients with impaired post-MI myocardial function in the acute phase

As previously described in methods, the studied cohort was divided according to the presence or absence of LV dysfunction or heart failure during the acute course of the MI. A total of 8 patients had LVEF < 40% and signs of acute heart failure. These patients had larger infarct sizes, lower EF and increased end diastolic- and end systolic volume on MRI, Fig. 2.

All the patients with heart failure (n = 8) were treated with aldosterone antagonists following revascularization. iFGF23 levels were higher at all time-points in this group compared with the other patients (n = 34), and significantly higher at day 60 (70.6  $\pm$  2 3.7 pg/ml vs 51.7  $\pm$  21.2 pg/ml, p = 0.025) and 1 year (83.7  $\pm$  41. 8 pg/ml vs 52.0  $\pm$  18.9 pg/ml, p = 0.019) following MI, Fig. 3. Absolute change in iFGF23 levels from baseline to 1 year follow up was 40.0 pg/ml in the heart failure group, and 21.0 pg/ml in the no heart failure group.

In the patients with acute heart failure, there was a significant correlation between the AUC of the iFGF23 concentrations 7 days post MI and CMR findings on day 7, with LVEF (r = -0.76, p < 0.05), infarcted mass (r = 0.75, p < 0.05) and infarct size in percent of LV mass (r = 0.71, 0 < 0.05).

#### 4. Discussion

In the present study we show a significant reduction in systemic iFGF23 levels in the very early phase of acute MI followed by a gradual increase during follow-up reaching the highest levels after one year. Notably, patients with heart failure during the acute phase following MI had a significantly higher iFGF23 concentration from day 7 post MI. In contrast, no direct relationship was found



Fig. 1. iFGF23 measurements at the different timepoints, Mean  $\pm$  SD in red. Y-axis: iFGF23, X-axis: time, "p < 0.05, compared with reference interval of 43.9 pg/ml ( $\pm$ 19.0 pg/ml). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

between iFGF23 levels and infarct size, myocardial volumes- or function measured by cardiac MRI. There was no correlation with other systemic markers of MI, inflammation, collagen turnover or LV remodeling. Taken together, the present findings suggest that the early suppression of systemic iFGF23 levels in the acute phase of MI is not directly related to the size of myocardial injury or myocardial reperfusion. Interestingly, the largest reduction in iFGF23 levels occurred in the group of patients without evidence of acute LV dysfunction, potentially suggesting that the iFGF23 reduction in the acute phase of MI may represent a physiological response to counteract myocardial failure.

Our findings are in accordance with clinical data from Takahashi et al who found lower levels of FGF23 in MI patients compared with controls, looking at 44 patients with acute MI who underwent PCI. They followed 22 patients with echocardiography 6 months post MI and found an association between high FGF23 and low EF at 6 months [18]. Our study extends these observations to a larger population and a longer duration of one year of follow-

#### Table 1

Biomarkers and MRI results.

IJC Heart & Vasculature 33 (2021) 100727

up, using cardiac MRI to quantify the size of MI and function; also including a large number of biomarkers of collagen turnover.

We found increased FGF 23 levels in subjects with acute heart failure or LV dysfunction following acute MI as also have been reported by others. Fuernau et al. measured FGF23 in patients with acute MI complicated by cardiogenic shock [19]. They found nonsurvivors to have significantly higher FGF23 levels at 1, 2 and 3 days post MI. However, the negative prognostic association of FGF23 with adverse outcomes was only significant in patients with creatinine levels above median at admittance [19]. Poss et al. found significantly increased levels of FGF23 in patients with cardiogenic shock, compared with patients with uncomplicated MI [8]. Reindl et al. looked at 88 patients with acute MI who also underwent PCI. They found higher FGF23 levels in patients who developed LV remodeling (13%) on MRI, examined 2 days and 4 months post MI [20]. Our findings are in line with these previous reports, demonstrating higher systemic FGF23 levels in subjects with the clinically worst prognosis. However, our study adds to these findings demonstrating that there is no direct relationship between systemic levels of FGF23 in the acute phase of an MI and the infarct size, LV mass, LV volumes or LVEF assessed by CMR.

Our findings are in apparent contrast to the increasing number of publications suggesting that iFGF23 have direct myocardial actions that may be relevant in the acute MI [7,21]. FGF23 has been shown to induce LV hypertrophy independently of the most common FGF23 receptor complex consisting of Klotho/ FGF23 receptor. by activating FGF receptor 4 (FGFR4) and subsequently the calcineurin/ nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) signaling in vivo and in vitro [22,23]. In situations with decreased FGF23 post MI, calcitriol levels increase leading to a blockade of the NFAT signaling pathway. This is possibly a protective mechanism attenuating the development of LV hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis. It may be speculated that in large MIs, this downregulation is overturned into upregulation of FGF23 and enhanced development of fibrosis post-MI with increased levels of local produced FGF23 and an upregulation of FGFR4 in the myocardium secondary to inflammation [24].

In vitro data also indicate that FGF23 stimulate proliferation and migration of fibroblasts essential to development of replacement fibrosis necessary for normal scar healing and the prevention of wound rupture [25]. In the acute phase a downregulation of FGF23 might protect the heart from developing scarring and fibro-

Laboratory parameters	Day 0	Day 2	Day 7	Day 60	Day 365	p-value (ANOVA)
iFGF23 (pg/ml)	33.4 ± 18.5	31.5 ± 23.4	54.7 ± 23.1	55.3 ± 22.7	58.0 ± 27.3	<0.001
25 (OH)D	51.9 ± 19.7	48.6 ± 18.1	51.3 ± 19.1	51.7 ± 18.8	54.4 ± 19.6	0.641
(nmol/l)						
CITP (ng/mL)	3.0 ± 1.4	4.1 ± 1.6	4.0 ± 1.8	4.4 ± 3.1	4.6 ± 2.5	0.006
PINP (ng/mL)	37.9 ± 17.0	37.9 ± 16.4	37.7 ± 16.0	46.0 ± 19.3	57.1 ± 46.0	0.002
PIIINP (ng/mL)	4.1 ± 1.3	4.9 ± 1.7	4.9 ± 1.6	4.6 ± 1.3	4.9 ± 1.5	0.083
CRP (mg/L)	5.5 ± 7.5	46.1 ± 45.7	17.3 ± 26.2	2.2 ± 1.8	1.8 ± 2.1	< 0.001
TnT (µg/mL)	0.16 ± 0.24	7.14 ± 5.18	4.25 ± 3.25	3.46 ± 2.83	3.13 ± 2.47	< 0.001
TGF-β (ng/mL)	19.7 ± 7.2	21.1 ± 6.6	23.3 ± 7.1	21.1 ± 6.4	22.0 ± 5.3	0.163
CTGF (ng/mL)	134.3 ± 66.3	140.8 ± 81.4	158.5 ± 183.3	163.7 ± 209.9	130.9 ± 71.6	0.749
NT-proBNP	12.9 (2.5-345.7)	157.0 (24.7-1556.0)	55.4 (14.4-886.4)	34.9 (7.7-446.0)	-	< 0.001
CMR						
Myocardial mass (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	66.0 ± 10.1	65.2 ± 10.2	59.8 ± 10.9	58.3 ± 12.5	0.002
Infarcted myocardium (g/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	16.1 ± 7.4	13.7 ± 6.9	10.5 ± 6.5	9.8 ± 6.6	< 0.001
Infarct size (%)	-	24 ± 9	21 ± 9	17 ± 8	16 ± 8	< 0.001
LVEF	-	47.2 ± 9.0	50.2 ± 7.9	52.9 ± 9.5	52.7 ± 10.6	0.020
LVEDVI (mL/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	90.0 ± 13.6	90.1 ± 15.5	89.6 ± 16.5	91.1 ± 21.9	0.996
LVESVI (mL/m <sup>2</sup> )	-	48.5 ± 12.8	45.9 ± 12.8	45.6 ± 16.8	44.9 ± 19.9	0.614

Normally distributed values are expressed as mean ± SD.

iFGF23 = intact fibroblast growth factor 23, 25 (OH)D = 25-hydroxyvitamin D, CITP = C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen, PINP = Amino terminal propeptide of type II procollagen, PINP = amino terminal propeptide of type III procollagen, CRP = C-reactive protein, TnT = troponine T, TGF- $\beta$  = transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , CTGF = connective tissue growth factor, NT-proBNP = N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide, EF = ejection fraction, LVEDVI = left ventricular end diastolic volume per m<sup>2</sup>, LVESVI = left ventricular end systolic volume per m<sup>2</sup>.

Inga Strand Thorsen, L.G. Gøransson, T. Ueland et al.

IJC Heart & Vasculature 33 (2021) 100727



Fig. 2. (A) Ejection fraction, (B) infarct size, (C) left ventricular end diastolic volume per  $m^2$ , (D) left ventricular end systolic volume per  $m^2$  in patients without heart failure and with heart failure on treatment with an aldosterone antagonist post MI expressed as mean (95% CI), \*p < 0.05.



Fig. 3. FGF23 levels in patients without heart failure and with heart failure on treatment with an aldosterone antagonist post MI, mean and 95% CI. Y-axis: iFGF23 concentration, X-axis: time, \*p < 0.05.

sis by increasing the level of calcitriol and thereby blocking the  $PC_Y/C/NFAT$  signaling pathway for FGF23 in the myocardium [9]. Inflammation might be a mechanism linking FGF23 to cardiovascular disease [26]. It has been shown that FGF23 in cardiac fibroblasts, is upregulated in systemic inflammation [24]. Herein we found a significantly increased CRP (p < 0.001) at day 2 and day 7 post-MI, Table 1, but there was no significant difference between CRP levels in the 2 groups of patients in our study, questioning the link between FGF23 and inflammation in clinical MI.

Slavic et al have identified aldosterone as an important stimulator of bony FGF23 transcription, where blockade with spironolactone normalized serum FGF23 levels and bone transcription [27]. Serum aldosterone levels correlated with FGF23 in patients with non-ischemic heart failure [28]. Aldosterone increased FGF23 levels in vitro as well as in mice treated with deoxycorticosterone acetat (DOCA) leading to hypertension and end-organ damage [29]. These findings indicate that aldosterone stimulates bone-mediated FGF23 synthesis. This is consistent with our findings where the group of patients with heart failure, treated with an aldosterone antagonist, had higher FGF23 compared with patients without heart failure. The level of FGF23 might have been even higher in these patients without treatment with an aldosterone antagonist.

#### 5. Strengths and limitations

The study explores a relatively small sample size, which makes it susceptible to the impact of biological heterogeneity, but the trial was designed with strict selection criteria to reduce the number of confounders. The cohort represents a unique and homogenous patient sample. When dividing into two groups based on the presence or absence of acute heart failure, we faced a power-problem since the group with the additional treatment contained only 8 patients, meaning that the data provide trends more than statistically significant data.

#### 6. Conclusion

iFGF23 levels were significantly decreased prior to, and at 2 days following pPCI in subjects with a first-time STEMI successfully revascularized. iFGF23 levels normalized on day 7 in patients without heart failure. There was a gradual increase in iFGF23 levels, above normal levels, during one-year follow-up in patients with signs and/or symptoms of heart failure during the acute phase of the MI despite the use of aldosterone antagonist.

#### Funding

This research was funded by a phd grant to Inga Strand Thorsen from the Western Norway Health Authorities (grant number F-10028/912030).

#### Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors report no relationships that could be construed as a conflict of interest.

#### References

- [1] D. Fliser, B. Kollerits, U. Neyer, D.P. Ankerst, K. Lhotta, A. Lingenhel, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) predicts progression of chronic kidney disease: the Mild to Moderate Kidney Disease (MMKD) Study, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.: JASN 18 (2007) 2600–2608.
- [2] T. İsakova, H. Xie, W. Yang, D. Xie, A.H. Anderson, J. Scialla, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease, JAMA 305 (2011) 2432–2439.

- [3] J. Kendrick, A.K. Cheung, J.S. Kaufman, T. Greene, W.L. Roberts, G. Smits, et al., FGF-23 associates with death, cardiovascular events, and initiation of chronic dialvisi, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.; IXSN 22 (2011) 1913–1922.
- [4] B.D. Parker, LJ. Schurgers, V.M. Brandenburg, R.H. Christenson, C. Vermeer, M. Ketteler, et al., The associations of fibroblast growth factor 23 and uncarboxylated matrix Gla protein with mortality in coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul Study, Ann. Intern. Med. 152 (2010) 640–648.
- [5] J.M. ter Maaten, A.A. Voors, K. Damman, P. van der Meer, S.D. Anker, J.G. Cleland, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 is related to profiles indicating volume overload, poor therapy optimization and prognosis in patients with new-onset and worsening heart failure, Int. J. Cardiol. 253 (2018) 84–90.
- [6] M. Jiang, D. Gong, Y. Fan, Elevated fibroblast growth factor-23 and risk of cardiovascular disease or mortality in the general population: A meta-analysis, Int. J. Cardiol. 222 (2016) 342–345.
- [7] D. Schumacher, S. Alampour-Rajabi, V. Ponomariov, A. Curaj, Z. Wu, M. Staudt, et al., Cardiac FGF23: new insights into the role and function of FGF23 after acute myocardial infarction, Cardiovasc. Pathol. 40 (2019) 47–54.
- [8] N. Itoh, H. Ohta, Pathophysiological roles of FGF signaling in the heart, Front. Physiol. 4 (2013) 247.
- [9] C.D. Touchberry, T.M. Green, V. Tchikrizov, J.E. Mannix, T.F. Mao, B.W. Carney, et al., FGF23 is a novel regulator of intracellular calcium and cardiac contractility in addition to cardiac hypertrophy, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metabolism 304 (2013) E863–E873.
- [10] J. Poss, F. Mahfoud, S. Seiler, G.H. Heine, D. Fliser, M. Bohm, et al., FGF-23 is associated with increased disease severity and early mortality in cardiogenic shock, Eur. Heart J. Acute Cardiovasc. Care 2 (2013) 211–218.
  [11] S. Orn, C. Manhenke, O.J. Greve, A.I. Larsen, V.V. Bonarjee, T. Edvardsen, et al.,
- [11] S. Orn, C. Manhenke, O.J. Greve, A.I. Larsen, V.V. Bonarjee, T. Edvardsen, et al., Microvascular obstruction is a major determinant of infarct healing and subsequent left ventricular remodelling following primary percutaneous coronary intervention, Eur. Heart J. 30 (2009) 1978–1985.
- B. Pitt, W. Remme, F. Zannad, J. Neaton, F. Martinez, B. Roniker, et al., Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction, New Engl. J. Med. 348 (2003) 1309–1321.
   C. Manhenke, T. Ueland, B.I. Jugdutt, K. Godang, P. Aukrust, K. Dickstein, et al.,
- [13] C. Manhenke, T. Ueland, B.I. Jugdutt, K. Godang, P. Aukrust, K. Dickstein, et al., The relationship between markers of extracellular cardiac matrix turnover: infarct healing and left ventricular remodelling following primary PCI in patients with first-time STEMI, Eur. Heart J. 35 (2014) 395–402.
- [14] D.S. Bergestuen, J. Gravning, K.H. Haugaa, L.G. Sahakyan, S. Aakhus, E. Thiis-Evensen, et al., Plasma CCN2/connective tissue growth factor is associated with right ventricular dysfunction in patients with neuroendocrine tumors, BMC Cancer 10 (2010) 6.
- [15] T. Ueland, T. Lekva, K. Otterdal, T.B. Dahl, N.C. Olarescu, A.P. Jorgensen, et al., Increased serum and bone matrix levels of transforming growth factor {beta}1 in patients with GH deficiency in response to GH treatment, Eur. J. Endocrinol./ Eur. Federation Endocrine Soc. 165 (2011) 393–400.
- [16] P.A. Naesgaard, R.A. LeonDeLaFuente, S.T. Nilsen, L. Woie, T. Aarsland, C. Brede, et al., Serum 25(OH)D is a 2-year predictor of all-cause mortality, cardiac death and sudden cardiac death in chest pain patients from Northern Argentina, PLoS One 7 (2012) e43228.
- [17] Health NIo. Vitamin D summary. https://odsodnihgov/factsheets/VitaminD-HealthProfessional/. National Institutes of Health, 2016.
- [18] H. Takahashi, M. Özeki, T. Fujisaka, H. Morita, S.I. Fujita, Y. Takeda, et al., Changes in serum fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with acute myocardial infarction, Circ. J. 82 (2017) 767–774.
- [19] G. Fuernau, J. Poss, D. Denks, S. Desch, G.H. Heine, I. Eitel, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: a biomarker substudy of the Intraaortic Balloon Pump in Cardiogenic Shock II (IABP-SHOCK II) trial, Critical care (London, England). 18 (2014) 713.
- [20] M. Reindl, S.J. Reinstadler, H.J. Feistritzer, L. Mueller, C. Koch, A. Mayr, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 as novel biomarker for early risk stratification after ST-elevation myocardial infarction, Heart 103 (2017) 856–862.
- [21] O.M. Gutierrez, J.L. Januzzi, T. Isakova, K. Laliberte, K. Smith, G. Collerone, et al., Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease, Circulation 119 (2009) 2545–2552.
- [22] C. Faul, Cardiac actions of fibroblast growth factor 23, Bone (2016).
- [23] A. Grabner, A.P. Amaral, K. Schramm, S. Singh, A. Sloan, C. Yanucil, et al., Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy, Cell Metab. 22 (2015) 1020–1032.
- [24] L. Yan, M.A. Bowman, Chronic sustained inflammation links to left ventricular hypertrophy and aortic valve sclerosis: a new link between S100/RAGE and FGF23, Inflammation Cell Signal. 1 (2014) e279.
- [25] H. Hao, X. Li, Q. Li, H. Lin, Z. Chen, J. Xie, et al., FGF23 promotes myocardial fibrosis in mice through activation of beta-catenin, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 64649–64664 [26] B. Dai, V. David, A. Martin, J. Huang, H. Li, Y. Liao, et al., A comparative
- [26] B. Dai, V. David, A. Martin, J. Huang, H. Li, Y. Jiao, et al., A comparative transcriptome analysis identifying FGF23 regulated genes in the kidney of a mouse CKD model, PLoS ONE 7 (2012) e44161.
- [27] S. Slavic, K. Ford, M. Modert, A. Becirovic, S. Handschuh, A. Baierl, et al., Genetic ablation of Fgf23 or klotho does not modulate experimental heart hypertrophy induced by pressure overload, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 11298.
   [28] M. Imazu, H. Takahama, H. Asanuma, A. Funada, Y. Sugano, T. Ohara, et al.,
- [28] M. Imazu, H. Takahama, H. Asanuma, A. Funada, Y. Sugano, T. Ohara, et al., Pathophysiological impact of serum fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with nonischemic cardiac disease and early chronic kidney disease, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 307 (2014) H1504–H1511.
- [29] B. Zhang, A.T. Umbach, H. Chen, J. Yan, H. Fakhri, A. Fajol, et al., Up-regulation of FGF23 release by aldosterone, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 470 (2016) 384–390.

# Article 4. Accepted for publication July 2023, Transplantation Direct

Klotho and Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 are independent of vitamin D, and unlike vitamin D, are not associated with graft- and patient survival after kidney transplantion

Inga Strand Thorsen, MD <sup>1,2</sup>, Inger Hjørdis Bleskestad, MD, Phd <sup>1</sup>, Anders Åsberg, Phd <sup>3,4,5</sup>, Grete Jonsson, Phd <sup>6</sup>, Øyvind Skadberg, MD <sup>6</sup>, Kristian Heldal, MD, Phd <sup>3,7</sup>, Lasse Gunnar Gøransson, MD, Phd <sup>1,2</sup>

1 Department of Internal Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

2 Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

3 Department of Transplantation Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

4 Department of Pharmaceutical Biosciences, School of Pharmacy, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

5 Norwegian Renal Registry, Oslo, Norway

6 Department of Medical Biochemistry, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

7 Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Corresponding author:

Inga Strand Thorsen, ings@sus.no

Inga Strand Thorsen, Department of Internal Medicine, Stavanger University Hospital, Gerd Ragna Bloch Thorsens gate 8, 4011 Stavanger
## Authorship page:

Inga S Thorsen participated in the design of the study, data analysis, writing and reviewing the manuscript. Inger H Bleskestad participated in critically reviewing the article. Anders Åsberg participated in the design of the study, supplying data from the Norwegian Renal Registry, data analysis and critically reviewing the article. Grete Jonsson and Øyvind Skadberg participated in the analysis of Klotho and FGF23, and critically reviewing the article. Lasse G Gøransson participated in making the study design, data analysis, writing and critically reviewing the analysis, writing and critically reviewing the manuscript.

All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

The research has been funded via a Phd grand to Inga Strand Thorsen from the Western Norway Regional Health Authority (Helse Vest).

## Abbreviations:

BMI	body mass index
BP	blood pressure
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CKD-MBD	chronic kidney disease-mineral bone disorder
CVD	cardiovascular disease
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
ESRD	end stage renal disease
FGF23	Fibroblast Growth Factor 23
Hba1c	glycosylated hemoglobin
iFGF23	intact Fibroblast Growth Factor 23
iPTH	intact parathyroid hormone
MR	mineralcorticoid receptor
NRR	Norwegian Renal Registry
OUS-RH	Oslo University Hospital, Rikshospitalet
PWV	pulse wave velocity
SD	standard deviation
sKlotho	soluble α-Klotho
SUS	Stavanger University Hospital
Тх	transplantation

## Abstract

#### Introduction:

Short-term survival after kidney transplantation is excellent, but long-term survival remains suboptimal. The aim of the study was to explore the relationship between soluble  $\alpha$ -Klotho (sKlotho) and intact Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (iFGF23) measured 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant with long-term graft- and patient survival in a cohort of kidney transplant recipients with deficient and non-deficient vitamin D (25(OH)D) levels.

### Subjects and methods:

Vitamin D, sKlotho and iFGF23 were measured 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant in 132 recipients transplanted between November 2012 and October 2013.

#### Results:

Of the 132 kidney transplant recipients, 49 had deficient vitamin D levels (<30 nmol/L), 83 had non-deficient vitamin D levels (≥30 nmol/L) at eight weeks posttransplant. Mean age was 51 years and median follow-up was 7.4 years. At 1 year post-transplant, vitamin D increased significantly. There were no significant difference in sKlotho- or iFGF23 levels between the two vitamin D groups neither at 8 weeks nor 1 year. sKlotho increased significantly and iFGF23 decreased significantly in the whole cohort. During follow-up, there were 36 graft losses (27%) and 27 deaths (20%). 94% of the transplant recipients with non-deficient vitamin D levels were alive with a well-functioning graft after 5 years using Kaplan-Meier survival estimates, compared with 84% of the patients with deficient vitamin D levels (p=0.014). Klotho and FGF23 levels did not influence graft- and patient survival.

## Conclusion:

In this nation-wide cohort of kidney transplant recipients, long-term graft- and patient survival were significantly better in patients with vitamin  $D \ge 30$  nmol/L 8 weeks post-transplant compared with those with vitamin D <30 nmol/L. sKlotho levels increased and iFGF23 levels decreased from 8 weeks to 1 year post-transplant. Klotho and FGF23 levels were not associated with graft- and patient survival.

### Introduction

Kidney transplantation is the preferred renal replacement therapy for most patients with end stage renal disease (ESRD) <sup>1,2</sup>. Observational studies show that a successful kidney transplantion is associated with a substantial reduction in the risk of mortality and cardiovascular events, as well as a relevant improvent in quality of life, compared with patients remaining in dialysis <sup>1,2</sup>. Short-term results after kidney transplantation have become excellent during recent decades, but long-term prognosis has not improved substantially since the 1990s <sup>3</sup>. The mortality risk in transplant recipients is still very high compared with the general population, and five-year survival after transplantation is actually comparable to the prognosis associated with many invasive malignancies <sup>4</sup>. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the number one cause of death, followed by malignant diseases and infections <sup>5</sup>.

Chronic kidney disease-mineral bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is a term that describes a broad clinical syndrome that develops as a systemic disorder of mineral and bone due to CKD. The syndrome manifests in bone and mineral abnormalities, histological bone disease, calcification of vasculature and soft tissues, and increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality <sup>6</sup>.

Vitamin D is a steroid hormone with many effects in the human body. One of the most important roles of vitamin D is to maintain skeletal calcium homeostasis. 25(OH)D is the form of vitamin D measured in serum, and reflects body stores <sup>7</sup>. Increased PTH secretion induce calcitriol formation. Calcitriol, on the other hand, inhibits the synthesis and secretion of PTH, providing negative feedback regulation of calcitriol <sup>8</sup>. The levels of vitamin D are hypothesized to affect the immune system and may have protective effects against cancer <sup>9</sup>, CVD <sup>10</sup>, infection <sup>11</sup> and mortality <sup>9</sup>.

Vitamin D deficiency can result in reduced bone density, osteoporosis and increased risk of fractures <sup>12</sup>.

Arterial stiffness kan be estimated by measuring pulse wave velocity (PWV), which is the velocity at which the blood pressure pulse propagates through the circulatory system. PWV is the gold standard for a non-invasive evaluation of arterial stiffness <sup>13</sup>. Increased PWV predicts future cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality independently of conventional risk factors<sup>14</sup>. Calcification of central arterial vessels contributes to increased PWV. PWV is recognized as an indicator of target organ damage and a useful additional test in the investigation of hypertension <sup>14</sup>.

Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) is a circulating phosphaturic hormone secreted mainly from osteocytes in bone, acting on the kidneys and parathyroid glands to regulate the phosphate-metabolism and vitamin D metabolism <sup>15</sup>. Circulating FGF23 increases early in the development of CKD to increase phosphate excretion <sup>15</sup>. At a certain point, this mechanism is overloaded, and in dialysis patients, FGF23 levels are increased up to 1000 times the normal range <sup>16</sup>. FGF23 is synthesized as an inactive form, and is activated when a signal peptide is cleaved off, and the active form, the intact FGF23 (iFGF23) peptide is formed <sup>17</sup>. FGF23 inhibits 1-α-hydroxylase in the kidney which leads to reduced vitamin D levels <sup>18</sup>. Elevated FGF23 levels are also associated with CVD <sup>19</sup>, mortality <sup>19</sup> and reduced graft-function post-transplant <sup>20</sup>. FGF23 can be measured with different immunoassays, where some measure iFGF23, and others measure C-terminal FGF23 <sup>21</sup>. In this study we measured iFGF23.

Klotho was discovered in 1997 as an anti-ageing membrane protein in a mouse model of human ageing. In animal studies Klotho has kidney protective characteristics, participates in the calcium-phosphate homeostasis, in addition to anti-

ageing and cardiovascular protective properties <sup>22</sup>. The Klotho gene encodes a transmembrane protein called α-Klotho that contains a short intracellular domain and an extracellular domain. Klotho protein exists in several forms including the membrane bound full-length form, and a soluble circulating form (sKlotho) <sup>23</sup>. The membrane bound Klotho acts as a co-receptor for FGF23, and the tissue specific Klotho expression influence the organ specific effects of FGF23<sup>22,23</sup>. sKlotho is present in the blood, urine and cerebrospinal fluid where it performs a multitude of functions, but the details are not fully understood <sup>23</sup>. sKlotho was measured in the present study. sKlotho is stimulated by vitamin D receptor activators <sup>24</sup> and by inhibition of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system <sup>25</sup>. sKlotho levels are down-regulated in the presence of albuminuria, inflammation and acute kidney injury <sup>26</sup>. sKlotho are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events and mortality in patients with CKD and ESRD <sup>28</sup>.

In a previous study <sup>29</sup>, we found better long-term graft- and patient survival in 762 first-time kidney transplant recipients with vitamin D sufficiency compared with patients with vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. The aim of this study was to explore the relationship between sKlotho and iFGF23 measured 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant with long-term graft and patient survival in two groups of kidney transplant recipients with deficient and non-deficient vitamin D levels 8 weeks post-transplant.

#### Patients and methods

This is a prospective, observational cohort study including 132 kidney transplant recipients transplanted between November 19, 2012 and October 31, 2013. In Norway, solid organ transplantation is centralized to one center, Oslo University

Hospital, Rikshospitalet (OUS-RH). A total of 236 patients received a single kidney transplant in the same period, 170 from a deceased donor and 66 from a living donor. Thirtyfour of the 236 were re-transplantations. Eight weeks post-transplant all patients are subjected to an in-depth investigation at the laboratory for Renal Physiology at OUS-RH where vitamin D levels were analysed and blood samples biobanked. We randomly selected 132 transplant recipients based on vitamin D levels only without taking any other information into consideration. Patients with a functioning kidney graft 1 year post-transplant are invited to OUS-RH for clinical examination and laboratory follow-up. One hundred and twenty-eight of the 132 patients included (97%) attended the 1 year follow-up.

Standard immunosuppression regimen included basiliximab and methylprednisolone induction. The maintenance immunosuppression consisted of a calcineurin inhibitor (tacrolimus or cyclosporine) in combination with mycophenolate and prednisolone <sup>30</sup>. National guidelines regulate the immunosuppressive protocol, and the follow-up is done by the local nephrologists after the first 8 weeks post-transplant.

In the routine in-depth investigation 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant, vital signs, blood pressure (BP) and blood samples for clinical chemistry were obtained. All patients were examined with aortic (carotid-femoral) PWV using SphygmoCore®. The blood samples were collected after an overnight of fasting (food, drugs and other beverages than water), and routine laboratory samples including 25(OH) D were analyzed in fresh samples at the Department of Medical Biochemistry at the transplant center. Blood samples were also biobanked at -70°C in the Diagnostic and Treatment biobank "Nyrefysiologisk laboratorium" (Biobank nr 266-2005-142234) within one hour. Plasma samples for analysis of sKlotho and iFGF23 were obtained from the biobank and measured en bloc at Stavanger University Hospital (SUS). The

samples were only thawed once, and the biomarker results were not reported to the treating physicians.

Long-term outcomes from time of transplantation until graft failure, death or end of study March 01, 2022 were retrieved from the Norwegian Renal Registry (NRR) where annual data are collected on the entire Norwegian transplant population. The reporting to the NRR is closely monitored, and the coverage for individuals and annual data are >99.9% and 96-98%, respectively.

The study was approved by the Regional Medical and Health Research Comittee in South-East Norway (2014/455). Written and informed consent was obtained from all patients before any data or biological material was included in the NRR and the biobank at the transplant center.

Serum creatinine values were calibrated to the isotope dilution mass spectrometry method (reference range: females 45-90 µmol/L; males 60-105 µmol/L), and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using the original CKD Epidemiology Collaboration equation <sup>31</sup>.

HbA1c results were given in % and converted to mmol/mol using the formula: IFCC HbA1c mmol/mol= (10.931\*NGSP-HbA1c)-23.524 <sup>32</sup>.

25(OH)D, including both 25-OH Vitamin D2 and 25-OH Vitamin D3 was measured in fresh serum samples by reversed-phase liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection. We used the National Institute of Health definition for vitamin D levels, with vitamin D deficiency defined as serum 25(OH)D concentrations <30 nmol/L (<12 ng/mL) <sup>33</sup>, and we pooled insufficiency 30-50 nmol/L (12-20 ng/mL) and sufficiency >50 nmol/L (>20 ng/mL as non-deficient vitamin D levels (≥30 nmol/L) to increase the clinical relevance and the statistical power.

iFGF23 and sKlotho were measured in EDTA-plasma. iFGF23 was measured with the commercially available Human Intact FGF23 ELISA kits from Immutopics International (San Clemente: CA, USA) and sKlotho was measured with the commercially available human soluable alpha klotho ELISA kit from IBL (Immuno-Biological Laboratoires GmbH, Japan). Freshly thawed samples were analyzed in duplicates, and the mean value reported. Coefficients of variation between duplicates were <17% for sKlotho and <16% for iFGF23. The intra- and inter-assay variability of the methods were <11% and <12% for iFGF23, respectively, and <13% and <12% for sKlotho, respectively (n=3-6). iFGF23 in EDTA-plasma in 8 healthy adults measured in the same local laboratory was mean 44 ±19pg/mL <sup>34</sup>. sKlotho, measured by IBL ELISA kit in serum from 142 healthy subjects, was reported to range from 239 to 1266 pg/mL, with a mean of 562 ± 146 pg/mL, in the original publication on the method <sup>35</sup>. In a group of 35 healthy controls measured at SUS, serum sKlotho levels ranged from 458 to 1222 pg/mmol, with a median of 525 pg/mmol <sup>36</sup>. We did not analyze sKlotho in plasma from healthy controls, but a review article on sKlotho and healthy middle-aged adults reported plasma sKlotho levels in 14 studies averaged between 600 and 700 pg/mmol <sup>37</sup>. Another article analyzed sKlotho in serum and plasma in 3 different ELISA kits, one of them the IBL kit. They found that measurements in serum and EDTA plasma were in agreement <sup>38</sup>.

#### Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD) and skewed data as median and range.

To compare the different variable distribution between vitamin D groups, ANOVA was used in numeric variables and chi-square in categorical variables. ANOVA and paired

samples t-tests were used to compare variables measured at 8 weeks posttransplant and in the end of 2020.

Survival analysis was performed using Kaplan-Meier estimate and multivariable Cox proportional hazard analysis including iFGF23, sKlotho, vitamin D, delayed graft function (DGF), age, BMI, eGFR, HbA1c and haemoglobine measured at 8 weeks as independent variables. The selection of variables was based on clinical knowledge and previous publications, and the number of variables had to be limited due to the low number of events. The proportionality assumption was checked using a log-minus-log plot. Two different Cox regression models were performed using uncensored graft loss (death and death censored graft loss) and death as dependent variables.

To compare variables measured at 8 weeks and 1 year post-transplant, a 2 sided pvalue was estimated using paired sample t-test in normally distributed variables and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks test in not-normally distributed variables.

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26. P-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

#### iFGF23, sKlotho and vitamin D status 8 weeks post-transplant

Of the 132 selected kidney transplant recipients, 49 (37%) had 25(OH)D levels <30 nmol/L, 83 (63%) had 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$ 30 nmol/L. Mean age was 51.1 years ±12.6, 58% were male. There were no significant differences in iFGF23 levels (p=0.17) or sKlotho levels (p=0.37) between the vitamin D groups at 8 weeks, table 1. Median follow-up time was 7.4 (1.2-8.1) years.

#### iFGF23, sKlotho and vitamin D status 1 year post-transplant

In total 128 of the 132 patients attended the 1 year follow-up at the transplant center. In 4 of the 128 attendees, vitamin D was missing, all other measurements were registered. In the cohort as a whole, vitamin D increased from mean 43±20 nmol/L 8 weeks post-transplant to 60±26 nmol/L (p<0.001) 1 year post-transplant. Thirteen patients (11%) had 25(OH)D levels <30 nmol/L, and 111 patients (87%) had 25(OH)D levels ≥30 nmol/L 1 year post-transplant. In the whole group, iFGF23 levels decreased from median 110 (15-1990) pg/mL to 89 (32-727) pg/mL, (p<0.001) from 8 weeks to 1 year post-transplant. In the same period, sKlotho leves increased from mean 417±129 pg/mL to 637±207 pg/mL, (p<0.001), eGFR increased from mean 62±19 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> to 73±25 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, (p<0.001), and intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH) levels decreased from median 10.5 (2.3-132.2) µmol/L to 8.9 (2.3-72.5) µmol/L, (p<0.001), figure 1, table 2.

#### Graft survival

During the follow-up period, a total of 36 grafts were lost, 27 (75%) of these were due to death with a functioning graft. Overall, graft survival was significantly different between the two vitamin D groups. Twenty (41%) of the patients with vitamin D

deficiency (<30 nmol/L) at 8 weeks post-transplant suffered graft loss or death compared with 16 (19%) in the non-deficient vitamin D group ( $\geq$ 30 nmol/L), p= 0.007, table 3. There were no significant difference in age (p=0.901), PWV (p=0.521), systolic/diastolic BP (p=0.117/ p=0.328) or cholesterol levels (p=0.571) between the patients in the 2 groups of vitamin D levels.

The proportion of preemptive transplantations and living donors was higher in the group of patients with non-deficient vitamin D levels ( $\geq$ 30 nmol/L), and the patients with deficient vitamin D levels (<30 nmol/L) had longer time in dialysis before transplantation, and more DGF post-transplant, table 1.

Crude Kaplan Meier estimated 5 year uncesored graft survival was  $84\% \pm 5\%$  (SE) in the patients with deficient vitamin D levels, compared with  $94\% \pm 3\%$  in the patients with non-deficient vitamin D levels, (p= 0.014). After 7 years follow-up, the uncensored graft survival was  $74\% \pm 6\%$  and  $84\% \pm 4\%$ , respectively (p=0.007), figure 2.

In the Cox regression models with uncensored graft loss as the dependent variable, high age (p=0.04), high HbA1c (p=0.03), low hemoglobin (p=0.03) and low vitamin D (p=0.04) were associated with uncensored graft loss. In the Cox regression model with patient survival as the dependent variable, high age (p<0.001), high HbA1c (p=0.01) and low vitamin D (p=0.03) were associated with death. sKlotho, iFGF23, DGF and eGFR at 8 weeks were included as variables in both models, but had no impact on the dependent variables. Haemoglobine did not influence the model with death as dependent variable, table 4.

In the adjusted model, the patients with vitamin D levels ≥30 nmol/L nmol/L, had a hazard ratio for uncensored graft loss of 0.46 (0.23-0.95) compared with patients with

vitamin D levels <30 nmol/L. Using death as the main end-point, the patients with vitamin D  $\ge$ 30 nmol/L had a risk of death of 0.40 (0.17-0.92), compared with patients with vitamin D levels < 30 nmol/L, table 5.

At 8 weeks, PWV was median 9.1 (5.3-22.8) m/s. In the patients who died during follow up PWV was higher,11.4 (5.3-16.6) m/s, compared with 8.8 (5.6-22.8) m/s in the survivors, p=0.08. At 1 year the PWV was unchanged with a median of 9.2 (5.9-19) m/s.

#### 7 year patient follow-up

Ninety-six (73%) of the 132 patients still had a functioning graft 7 years posttransplant, 29 (59%) of the 49 patients with deficient vitamin D, and 67 ((81%) of the 83 patients with non-deficient vitamin D levels post-transplant, (p=0.007). Mean eGFR was 64 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, with no significant difference between the two vitamin D groups. iPTH remained elevated above the normal reference range in both groups with a higher mean level in the whole group of patients 7 years compared with 8 weeks post-transplant, median (range) 10.5  $\mu$ mol/L (2.3  $\mu$ mol/L-132.3  $\mu$ mol/L) at 8 weeks vs 11.0  $\mu$ mol/L (2.7  $\mu$ mol/L-44.7  $\mu$ mol/L) after 7 years.

#### Discussion

The main finding in the present study was that patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) 8 weeks post-transplant had reduced uncensored graft survival and reduced patient survival compared with the group that had vitamin D levels ≥30 nmol/L 8 weeks post-transplant. sKlotho and iFGF23 at 8 weeks showed no significant association with survival. High age, high HbA1c, low hemoglobin and low vitamin D levels were associated with reduced graft survival, and high age, high HbA1c and low vitamin D levels were associated with reduced patient survival.

Overall, the patients with functioning kidney grafts at the end of follow-up, had higher eGFR at both 8 weeks and 1 year post transplant than the patients who died or lost their kidney. The most plausible explanation to the finding of higher eGFR one year after transplantation is the toxicity due to mandatory co-trimoxazole treatment the first six months after transplantation. Somewhat higher calcineurin inhibitor levels in the early post-transplant phase may also contribute, at 8 weeks tacrolimus levels were  $6.2\mu$ g/L ±1.7 $\mu$ g/L compared with 5.9  $\mu$ g/L ±1.6  $\mu$ g/L at 1 year after transplantation, (p=0.043). The "survivors" were almost 10 years younger at the time of transplantation.

The biochemical parameters of mineral metabolism often remain abnormal in transplant recipients for years after transplantation with persistent hyperparathyroidism, hypophosphatemia and hypercalcemia <sup>39</sup>. One study including 52 kidney transplant recipients found that FGF23 levels were elevated before transplantation, but decreased to normal levels within 3 months post-transplant as eGFR normalized <sup>40</sup>. Another study reported elevated FGF23 levels 3 months post-transplant <sup>41</sup>, and others have showed persistently elevated FGF23 levels in transplant recipients 1 year post-transplant <sup>42</sup>. Even in kidney transplant recipients with a well-functioning graft >10 years post-transplant, the levels of FGF23 were increased compared with normal controls <sup>43</sup>. Elevated FGF23 post-transplant is associated with lower post-transplant eGFR <sup>20</sup>, and increased risk of graft loss <sup>44</sup>, cardiovascular <sup>19</sup> and all-cause mortality in long-term kidney transplant recipients <sup>44</sup>.

Serum Klotho decrease in the initial post-operative phase after transplantation, but increase rapidly after a successful kidney transplantation, with the highest levels at 12 months post-transplant <sup>42</sup>. One study showed that Klotho levels 7 days and 1 month post-transplant were similar to Klotho levels before transplantation, but levels

started to rise approximately 4 months post-transplant <sup>45</sup>. Another study on long-term surviving kidney transplant recipients (>10 years after transplantation) showed a non-significant decline in Klotho levels <sup>43</sup>, this might be as expected from 10 years of ageing.

In our study the median iFGF23 levels declined, but were still higher than in normal controls 1 year post-transplant <sup>34</sup>, suggesting a significant difference between kidney transplant recipients and healthy individuals. The mean sKlotho levels increased, but were still lower than in normal controls at 1 year <sup>36</sup>. One year post-transplant, the sKlotho levels trend towards healthy controls, most likely as a result of increased eGFR.

Patients with CKD and kidney transplant recipients have the same traditional risk factors for CVD as the general population, and also to disturbed mineral metabolism, including elevated levels of FGF23 and decreased levels of Klotho <sup>46</sup>. Elevated FGF23 levels and reduced Klotho levels are both associated with left ventricular hypertrophy and CKD progression <sup>47</sup>. Klotho reduces hypertension, attenuates tissue fibrosis, CKD progression and vascular calcification <sup>22,48</sup>. In our study, PWV remained unchanged from 8 weeks to 1 year post-transplant, and higher PWV was associated with mortality. It is possible that the interval between PWV measurements is too short, and that the arterial stiffness associated with ESRD might resolve some after a longer period of follow-up post-transplant. Another possibility is that the arterial stiffness associated with CKD is irreversible, remaining as a continous risk factor for CVD in the post-transplant period.

The kidney is the main source of Klotho, and the Klotho levels are low in CKD patients, but still present <sup>49</sup>. Exogenous Klotho supplementation may be a new therapeutic approach to delay CKD progression and the development of CVD in both

CKD patients and transplant recipients. So far it has only been tested successfully in animal models <sup>50</sup>. The development of a Klotho-mimetic to maintain or elevate serum Klotho levels could be a future nephroprotective therapeutic option <sup>51</sup>, but currently a well-functioning graft is the best prognostic marker for kidney transplant recipients.

Recently, mineralcorticoid receptor (MR) activation has emerged as a mediator for cardiovascular injury and CKD progression, in addition to Klotho deficiency and FGF23 excess. Mice exposed to mineralocorticoid deoxycorticosterone acetate displayed elevated FGF23 levels, hypertension and end-organ damage <sup>52</sup>. These changes were reversed by the administration of the MR- antagonists spironolactone and eplerenone <sup>52</sup>. In animal models, hyperphosphatemia was associated with upregulated aldosterone synthase, which is the terminal enzyme in the aldosterone biosynthesis pathway, leading to elevated aldosterone levels as a result of high phosphate levels <sup>53</sup>. Aldosterone inhibition using an aldosterone antagonist or an aldosterone synthase inhibitor may modify vascular calcification, and are possible candidates for improving cardiovascular outcomes in patients with CKD and kidney transplant recipients. There is an intricate interaction between increased iFGF23, reduced sKlotho, suboptimal vitamin D levels, increased aldosterone and several other factors interacting on the progression of CVD in kidney transplant recipients.

## Limitations

The patients were all included at the same time after transplantation which is a strength in the comparability of the patients and the results. The sample size is a limitation, and it is difficult to draw definite conclusions due to a relatively low power, and the results only show trends. The number of events (graft loss or death) are low, and we pooled the two events in the survival analyses. Vitamin D, iFGF23 and

sKlotho were only measured twice, and a longitudinal profile may have added additional information.

# Conclusion

In this study patients with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L) at 8 weeks posttransplant showed reduced graft- and patient survival compared with the patients having higher vitamin D levels post-transplant. iFGF23 and sKlotho measured 8 weeks post-transplant were not associated with graft- and patient survival.

# References

1. Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Knoll G, et al. Systematic review: kidney transplantation compared with dialysis in clinically relevant outcomes. *Am J Transplant*. Oct 2011;11(10):2093-109. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03686.x

2. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, et al. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. *The New England journal of medicine*. Dec 2 1999;341(23):1725-30. doi:10.1056/nejm199912023412303

3. Lamb KE, Lodhi S, Meier-Kriesche HU. Long-term renal allograft survival in the United States: a critical reappraisal. *Am J Transplant*. Mar 2011;11(3):450-62. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03283.x

4. Institute NC. *National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Statistics Review* 1975-2015. 2015. 2022, Jan 12.

https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975\_2015/browse\_csr.php?sectionSEL=35&pageSEL=sect\_35\_t able.01

5. Briggs JD. Causes of death after renal transplantation. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. Aug 2001;16(8):1545-9. doi:10.1093/ndt/16.8.1545

6. Cannata-Andía J, Carrillo-López N, Ferreira A. Bone in CKD, a Fascinating Evolving Topic. *Calcif Tissue Int*. Apr 2021;108(4):407-409. doi:10.1007/s00223-021-00821-8

7. Herrmann M, Farrell CL, Pusceddu I, Fabregat-Cabello N, Cavalier E. Assessment of vitamin D status - a changing landscape. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* Jan 1 2017;55(1):3-26. doi:10.1515/cclm-2016-0264

8. Iida K, Shinki T, Yamaguchi A, DeLuca HF, Kurokawa K, Suda T. A possible role of vitamin D receptors in regulating vitamin D activation in the kidney. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jun 20 1995;92(13):6112-6. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.13.6112

9. Pilz S, Grübler M, Gaksch M, et al. Vitamin D and Mortality. *Anticancer Res*. Mar 2016;36(3):1379-87.

10. Wang TJ, Pencina MJ, Booth SL, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and risk of cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. Jan 29 2008;117(4):503-11. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.107.706127

11. Ponticelli C, Sala G. Vitamin D: a new player in kidney transplantation? *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Oct 2014;10(10):1375-83. doi:10.1586/1744666x.2014.949674

12. Ng JY, Hilal A, Maini I. What traditional, complementary, and integrative medicine recommendations exist across osteoporosis clinical practice guidelines? A systematic review and quality assessment. *Integr Med Res.* Jun 2022;11(2):100803. doi:10.1016/j.imr.2021.100803

13. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, et al. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J*. Nov 2006;27(21):2588-605. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehl254

14. Mancia G, Fagard R, Narkiewicz K, et al. 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *J Hypertens*. Jul 2013;31(7):1281-357. doi:10.1097/01.hjh.0000431740.32696.cc

15. Gutierrez O, Isakova T, Rhee E, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 mitigates hyperphosphatemia but accentuates calcitriol deficiency in chronic kidney disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* Jul 2005;16(7):2205-15. doi:10.1681/asn.2005010052

16. Larsson T, Nisbeth U, Ljunggren O, Jüppner H, Jonsson KB. Circulating concentration of FGF-23 increases as renal function declines in patients with chronic kidney disease, but does not change in response to variation in phosphate intake in healthy volunteers. *Kidney Int*. Dec 2003;64(6):2272-9. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00328.x

17. Smith ER, McMahon LP, Holt SG. Fibroblast growth factor 23. *Ann Clin Biochem*. Mar 2014;51(Pt 2):203-27. doi:10.1177/0004563213510708

18. Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2013;75:503-33. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183727

19. Baia LC, Humalda JK, Vervloet MG, Navis G, Bakker SJ, de Borst MH. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and cardiovascular mortality after kidney transplantation. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. Nov 2013;8(11):1968-78. doi:10.2215/cjn.01880213

20. Malyszko J, Koc-Zorawska E, Matuszkiewicz-Rowinska J, Malyszko J. FGF23 and Klotho in relation to markers of endothelial dysfunction in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplant Proc.* Oct 2014;46(8):2647-50. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed.2014.09.015

 Heijboer AC, Cavalier E. The Measurement and Interpretation of Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) Concentrations. *Calcif Tissue Int*. Feb 2023;112(2):258-270. doi:10.1007/s00223-022-00987-9
 Drueke TB, Massy ZA. Circulating Klotho levels: clinical relevance and relationship with tissue

Klotho expression. *Kidney Int*. Jan 2013;83(1):13-5. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.370

23. Dalton GD, Xie J, An SW, Huang CL. New Insights into the Mechanism of Action of Soluble Klotho. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. 2017;8:323. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00323

24. Forster RE, Jurutka PW, Hsieh JC, et al. Vitamin D receptor controls expression of the antiaging klotho gene in mouse and human renal cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. Oct 28 2011;414(3):557-62. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.09.117

25. Kale A, Sankrityayan H, Anders HJ, Gaikwad AB. Klotho in kidney diseases: A crosstalk between the renin-angiotensin system and endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. Nov 26 2021;doi:10.1093/ndt/gfab340

26. Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Quinones H, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Klotho deficiency is an early biomarker of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury and its replacement is protective. *Kidney Int*. Dec 2010;78(12):1240-51. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.328

27. Pavik I, Jaeger P, Ebner L, et al. Secreted Klotho and FGF23 in chronic kidney disease Stage 1 to 5: a sequence suggested from a cross-sectional study. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. Feb 2013;28(2):352-9. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs460

28. Kim HR, Nam BY, Kim DW, et al. Circulating alpha-klotho levels in CKD and relationship to progression. *Am J Kidney Dis*. Jun 2013;61(6):899-909. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.01.024

29. Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Åsberg A, et al. Vitamin D as a risk factor for patient survival after kidney transplantation: A prospective observational cohort study. *Clin Transplant*. May 2019;33(5):e13517. doi:10.1111/ctr.13517

30. Heldal TF, Åsberg A, Ueland T, et al. Inflammation in the early phase after kidney transplantation is associated with increased long-term all-cause mortality. *Am J Transplant*. Aug 2022;22(8):2016-2027. doi:10.1111/ajt.17047

31. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* May 5 2009;150(9):604-12. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006

32. Geistanger A, Arends S, Berding C, et al. Statistical methods for monitoring the relationship between the IFCC reference measurement procedure for hemoglobin A1c and the designated comparison methods in the United States, Japan, and Sweden. *Clin Chem*. Aug 2008;54(8):1379-85. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2008.103556

33. Institute of Medicine Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D, Calcium. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. In: Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, Del Valle HB, eds. *Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D*. National Academies Press (US) Copyright © 2011, National Academy of Sciences.; 2011.

34. Thorsen IS, Gøransson LG, Ueland T, et al. The relationship between Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and cardiac MRI findings following primary PCI in patients with acute first time STEMI. *Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc*. Apr 2021;33:100727. doi:10.1016/j.ijcha.2021.100727

35. Yamazaki Y, Imura A, Urakawa I, et al. Establishment of sandwich ELISA for soluble alpha-Klotho measurement: Age-dependent change of soluble alpha-Klotho levels in healthy subjects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. Jul 30 2010;398(3):513-8. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.06.110

36. Thorsen IS, Bleskestad IH, Jonsson G, Skadberg Ø, Gøransson LG. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin, Fibroblast Growth Factor 23, and Soluble Klotho in Long-Term Kidney Donors. *Nephron Extra*. Sep-Dec 2016;6(3):31-39. doi:10.1159/000450621

37. Veronesi F, Borsari V, Cherubini A, Fini M. Association of Klotho with physical performance and frailty in middle-aged and older adults: A systematic review. *Exp Gerontol*. Oct 15 2021;154:111518. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2021.111518

38. Heijboer AC, Blankenstein MA, Hoenderop J, de Borst MH, Vervloet MG. Laboratory aspects of circulating α-Klotho. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association. Sep 2013;28(9):2283-7. doi:10.1093/ndt/gft236

39. Evenepoel P. Recovery versus persistence of disordered mineral metabolism in kidney transplant recipients. *Semin Nephrol*. Mar 2013;33(2):191-203.

doi:10.1016/j.semnephrol.2012.12.019

40. Mehrotra S, Sharma RK, Patel MR. Vitamin D, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D, FGF23, and Graft Function after Renal Transplantation. *Indian J Nephrol*. Jul-Aug 2019;29(4):242-247. doi:10.4103/ijn.IJN\_307\_18

41. Evenepoel P, Naesens M, Claes K, Kuypers D, Vanrenterghem Y. Tertiary 'hyperphosphatoninism' accentuates hypophosphatemia and suppresses calcitriol levels in renal transplant recipients. *Am J Transplant*. May 2007;7(5):1193-200. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01753.x

42. Tan SJ, Crosthwaite A, Langsford D, et al. Mineral adaptations following kidney transplantation. *Transpl Int*. May 2017;30(5):463-473. doi:10.1111/tri.12925

43. Bleskestad IH, Thorsen IS, Jonsson G, Skadberg O, Bergrem H, Goransson LG. Soluble Klotho and intact fibroblast growth factor 23 in long-term kidney transplant patients. *Eur J Endocrinol*. Apr 2015;172(4):343-50. doi:10.1530/eje-14-0457

44. Wolf M, Molnar MZ, Amaral AP, et al. Elevated fibroblast growth factor 23 is a risk factor for kidney transplant loss and mortality. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. May 2011;22(5):956-66. doi:10.1681/asn.2010080894

45. Kubota M, Hamasaki Y, Hashimoto J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23-Klotho and mineral metabolism in the first year after pediatric kidney transplantation: A single-center prospective study. *Pediatr Transplant*. Dec 5 2022:e14440. doi:10.1111/petr.14440

46. Francis A, Johnson DW, Melk A, et al. Survival after Kidney Transplantation during Childhood and Adolescence. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*. Mar 6 2020;15(3):392-400. doi:10.2215/cjn.07070619

47. Freundlich M, Gamba G, Rodriguez-Iturbe B. Fibroblast growth factor 23-Klotho and hypertension: experimental and clinical mechanisms. *Pediatr Nephrol*. Oct 2021;36(10):3007-3022. doi:10.1007/s00467-020-04843-6

48. Muñoz-Castañeda JR, Rodelo-Haad C, Pendon-Ruiz de Mier MV, Martin-Malo A, Santamaria R, Rodriguez M. Klotho/FGF23 and Wnt Signaling as Important Players in the Comorbidities Associated with Chronic Kidney Disease. *Toxins (Basel)*. Mar 16

2020;12(3)doi:10.3390/toxins12030185

 Cano FJ, Freundlich M, Ceballos ML, et al. Longitudinal FGF23 and Klotho axis characterization in children treated with chronic peritoneal dialysis. *Clin Kidney J*. Oct 2014;7(5):457-63. doi:10.1093/ckj/sfu074

50. Neyra JA, Hu MC. alphaKlotho and Chronic Kidney Disease. *Vitam Horm*. 2016;101:257-310. doi:10.1016/bs.vh.2016.02.007

51. Law JP, Price AM, Pickup L, et al. Clinical Potential of Targeting Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 and αKlotho in the Treatment of Uremic Cardiomyopathy. *J Am Heart Assoc*. Apr 7 2020;9(7):e016041. doi:10.1161/jaha.120.016041

52. Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, et al. Genetic Ablation of Fgf23 or Klotho Does not Modulate Experimental Heart Hypertrophy Induced by Pressure Overload. *Sci Rep.* Sep 12 2017;7(1):11298. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10140-4

53. Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Feger M, et al. Involvement Of Vascular Aldosterone Synthase In Phosphate-Induced Osteogenic Transformation Of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Sci Rep.* May 17 2017;7(1):2059. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-01882-2

## Visual abstract:

Klotho and FGF23 are independent of vitamin D, and unlike vitamin D, are not associated with graft- and patient survival after kidney transplantion



Variables	All patients	VitaminD <30	Vitamin D ≥30	p-value
	(n=132)	nmol/L (n=49)	nmol/L (n=83)	
Age, y	51.1±12.6	50.7±12.1	51.3±12.9	0.901
Sex m/f (% male)	77/55 (58%)	30/19 (61%)	47/63 (57%)	0.605
BMI (kg/m²)	25.1±4.2	25.0±4.2	25.1±4.2	0.789
Days in dialysis	239 (0-3871)	303 (0-3871)	188 (0-11549	0.019*
Living donor, n	33 (25%)	10 (20%)	23 (28%)	0.349
(%)				
First tx, n (%)	110 (83%)	39 (80%)	71 (86%)	0.309
Preemptive tx, n	43 (33%)	12 (24%)	31 (37%)	0.128
(%)				
DGF, n(%)	16 (12%)	11 (22%)	5 (6%)	0.005*
Vitamin D, nmol/L	42.6±19.9	22.2±5.6	54.6±15.1	<0.001*
sKlotho, pg/mL	417±129	404±115	424±138	0.369
iFGF23, pg/mL	110 (31-1990)	109 (49-1793)	111 (31-1990)	0.171
eGFR,	62±19	61±22	62±17	0.808
mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup>				
Creatinine,	116±40	121±48	113±34	0.299
µmol/L				
Hemoglobin, g/dL	12.0±1.3	11.9±1.2	12.0±1.4	0.651
Calcium, mmol/L	2.40±0.13	2.41±0.14	2.39±0.12	0.722
iPTH, µmol/L	10.5 (2.3-	11.3 (2.5-	9.9 (2.3-48.0)	0.032*
	132.3)	132.3)		
Phosphate,	0.93±0.28	0.95±0.30	0.86±0.27	0.594
mmol/L				
Albumin, g/L	41.6±2.9	41.0±3.3	41.8±2.6	0.096
HbA1c, mmol/mol	40.7±11.3	42.0±13.2	39.9±9.9	0.311

Table 1. Baseline characteristics 8 weeks post-transplant, for all patients as well as divided based on baseline plasma vitamin D levels (8 weeks post-transplant)

Median and range for dialysis duration, iFGF23 and iPTH, mean  $\pm$  SD for other normally distributed variables. ANOVA was used on numeric variables and chi-square on categorical variables. \*=significant difference between the groups (p≤0.05).

BMI, body mass index; DGF, delayed graft function; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; iFGF23, intact fibroblast growth factor 23; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; Tx, transplantation.

Variables	8 weeks (n=132)	1 year (n=128)	p-value
Age, y	51.1±12.6	52.5±12.3	-
Vitamin D, nmol/L	42.6±19.9	59.8±26.0	<0.001
sKlotho, pg/mL	417±129	637±207	< 0.001
iFGF23, pg/mL	110 (31-1990)	89 (32-727)	<0.001
eGFR, mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	62±19	73±25	<0.001
Creatinine, µmol/L	116±40	110±33	0.022
Calcium, mmol/L	2.40±0.13	2.43±0.19	0.093
iPTH, µmol/L	10.5 (2.3-132.3)	8.9 (2.3-72.5)	<0.001
HbA1c, %	40.7±11.3	45.2±16.0	<0.001
BMI	25.1±4.2	25.8±4.3	<0.001

Table 2: 8 weeks and 1 year data

Median and range for iFGF23 and iPTH, mean  $\pm$  SD for other normally distributed variables.

BMI, body mass index, eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; iFGF23, intact fibroblast growth factor 23; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone

2 sided p-value is estimated using paired sample t-test in normally distributed variables and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks test in not-normally distributed variables

	All patients (n=132)	VitaminD <30 nmol/L (n=49)	Vitamin D ≥ 30 nmol/L (n=83)	p-value
Death n (%) Death cencored graft loss n (%)	28 (21%) 11 (8%)	16 (33%) 6 (12%)	12 (14%) 5 (6%)	0.013* 0.212
Uncensored graft loss n (%)	36 (27%)	20 (41%)	16 (19%)	0.007*

ANOVA was used to explore the differences between the 2 groups. \*=significant difference between the groups ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

	Uncensored graft		Death	
	loss			
Variables	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value
sKlotho	1.000 (0.997-1.003)	0.847	0.999 (0.995-1.003)	0.506
iFGF 23	1.000 (0.999-1.001)	0.989	1.001 (1.000-1.002)	0.227
eGFR	1.005 (0.999-1.001)	0.620	1.008 (0.985-1.031)	0.499
HbA1c	1.029 (1.003-1.055)	0.028	1.039 (1.008-1.071)	0.013
Vitamin D	0.464 (0.228-0.947)	0.035	0.379 (0.171-0.921)	0.031
Hb	0.699 (0.505-0.967)	0.030	0.977 (0.648-1.472)	0.910
Age	1.036 (1.002-1.070)	0.037	1.082 (1.040-1.136)	<0.001
DGF	1.377 (0.579-3.276)	0.470	1.451 (0.542-3.890)	0.506

Table 4: Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals and p-values in the Cox regression models of graft and patient survival, respectively

Klotho, FGF23, eGFR, HbA1c, Hb, age and days in dialysis as continuous variables, DGF and vitamin D as categorical variables with no DGF and vitamin D deficiency as reference categories.

 Table 5: Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals in the unadjusted and the adjusted Cox regression models

Model	Uncensored		Death	
	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value
Unadjusted				
Vitamin D <30	reference		reference	
nmol/L				
Vitamin D ≥30	0.45 (0.23-	0.02	0.42 (0.2-0.89)	0.02
nmol/L)	0.86)			
Adjusted*				
Vitamin D (<30	reference		reference	
nmol/L)				
Vitamin D ≥ 30	0.46 (0.23-	0.04	0.40 (0.17-0.92)	0.03
nmol/L)	0.95)			

\* Adjusted for the following variables: Age, eGFR, sKlotho, iFGF23, DGF, Hb and HbA1c. All adjustment variables were set to their empirical means when computing the adjusted survival curves. Vitamin D as a categorical variable with vitamin D deficiency (<30 nmol/L as reference category)



Figure 1. Spaghettiplots illustrating changes in Klotho, FGF23, Vitamin D and eGFR from 8 weeks to 1 year post-transplant

Figure 2. Kaplan Meier plot showing uncensored graft survival in patients with deficient and non-deficient vitamin D levels



Figure 2

Number at risk:

	0	500	1000	1500	2000	2500 (days)
<30 nmol/L	49	48	47	43	40	36
≥30 nmol/L	83	82	81	81	75	70
(	1	In / days	- 6 6 - 11			

(vitamin D levels/ days of follow-up)





# uib.no

ISBN: 9788230848357 (print) 9788230856581 (PDF)